



# ALBANIAN JOURNAL OF ECONOMY AND BUSINESS

**1FUTURE ISSUE: CLIMATE AND SUSTAINABILITY** 



Natural Sciences, Social Sciences Engineering and Technology Biological Sciences Health Sciences Humanities and Arts Urban Planning and Design Agriculture and Food Systems Business and Management Energy and Resource Management Education and Communication

# UNIVERSITY OF TIRANA FACULTY OF ECONOMY

# THE ALBANIAN JOURNAL OF ECONOMY & BUSINESS

Scientific Journal of the Faculty of Economy

Special Issue No. 1 (March 2025)

Tirana, 2025

#### THE ALBANIAN JOURNAL OF ECONOMY & BUSINESS (ALJEB)

#### Special Issue No. 1 (March 2025)

Scientific Journal of the Faculty of Economy

Triannual Publication (3 times per year)

#### Publisher

Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana

#### Disclaimer

The views and opinions expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views and positions of the Faculty of the Economy. The Faculty of Economy assumes no responsibility regarding the accuracy and reliability of the information presented herein.

#### **ISSN Print 2219-3200**

Copyright © Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana. All rights reserved.

Address: Rruga Arben Broci 1 1001, Tirana

www.feut.edu.al

# **Editorial Board**

**Prof. Assoc. Dr. Bernard DOSTI**, Dean, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania

**Prof. Dr. Kozeta SEVRANI**, Chair of the Editorial Board, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania

Prof. Dr. Adriana TIRON-TUDOR, Babeş-Bolyai University, Romania

Prof. Dr. Anita MIRIJAMDOTTER, Linnaeus University, Sweden

**Prof. Dr. Anna MARIA CANDELA**, University of Bari "Aldo Moro", Italy **Prof. Dr. Arben ASLLANI**, The University of Tennessee at Chattanooga, USA

**Prof. Dr. Claus-Michael LANGENBAHN**, Koblenz University of Applied Sciences, Germany

**Prof. Dr. Dhori KULE**, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania **Prof. Dr. Dietmar MEYER**, Budapest University of Technology and Economics, Hungary

**Prof. Dr. Dorina KRIPA**, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania

**Prof. Dr. Edmond HAJRIZI**, University for Business and Technology, Kosova

Prof. Dr. Eugenio BRENTARI, University of Brescia, Italy

**Prof. Evelyne LANDE**, Doctor Honoris Causa, University of Poitiers, France

**Prof. Dr. Felix BRETENECKER**, Vienna University of Technology, Austria

**Prof. Dr. Gabriele MOOS,** Koblenz University of Applied Sciences, Germany

Prof. Dr. Gentiana SHARKU, University of Tirana, Albania

Prof. Dr. George DAFOULAS, Middlesex University, UK

Prof. Dr. Giampaolo VIGLIA, University of Portsmouth, England

Prof. Dr. Iraj HASHI, Staffordshire University, UK

Prof. Dr. Isak SHABANI, University of Prishtina, Kosova

Prof. Dr. Michael GRAF, University of Applied Sciences Worms, Germany

Prof. Dr. Paola SCHWIZER, SDA Bocconi School of Management, Italy

**Prof. Dr. Reiner OSBILD,** University of Applied Sciences Emden/Leer, Germany

**Prof. Dr. Skerdilajda ZANI,** University of Luxembourg, Luxembourg **Prof. Dr. Stewart KOWALSKI,** Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Norway

Prof. Dr. Sule YILDIRIM-YAYILGAN, Norwegian University of Science

and Technology, Norway

**Prof. Dr. Vera NEGRI ZAMAGNI,** Doctor Honoris Causa, University of Bologna, Italy

**Prof. Assoc. Dr. Etleva BAJRAMI**, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania

**Prof. Assoc. Dr. Etleva LESKAJ**, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania

Prof. Assoc. Dr. Fatma JAUPI, University of Tirana, Albania

Prof. Assoc. Dr. Kreshnik VUKATANA, University of Tirana, Albania

Prof. Assoc. Dr. Ledjon SHAHINI, University of Tirana, Albania

**Prof. Assoc. Dr. Mirdaim AXHAMI** Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania

Prof. Assoc. Dr. Mirela MITI (UJKANI), University of Tirana, Albania

The Albanian Journal of Economy & Business, with **ISSN 2219-3200**, is a continuation of Ekonomia & Biznesi. The journal is a scientific publication of the Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, and is published every four months.

All submitted articles are subject to a double-blind peer review process. Publication of articles in *The Albanian Journal of Economy & Business* is free of charge.

Manuscripts should be submitted to: aljeb@feut.edu.al

Author guidelines and other statements are available in: https://feut.edu.al/konferenca-botime/revista-shkencore/2096-albanian-journal-of-economy-and-business.

## Abstracting & Indexing

The Albanian Journal of Economy & Business is currently indexed in COBISS. AL.

#### **Editorial Committee**

Prof. Assoc. Dr. Fatma Jaupi (Editor-in-chief) fatmajaupi@feut.edu.al

Prof. Assoc. Dr. Albana Gorishti albanagorishti@feut.edu.al

Prof. Assoc. Dr. Elena Myftaraj (Tomori) elenatomori@feut.edu.al

Prof. Assoc. Dr. Elona Pojani elonapojani@feut.edu.al

Prof. Assoc. Dr. Enton Duro entonduro@feut.edu.al

## **Editorial Assistant**

MSc. Miranda Rapaj aljeb@feut.edu.al

# *1FUTURE ISSUE – CLIMATE AND SUSTAINABILITY*

# **Disclaimer:**

"Funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or EACEA. Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them." Lead Guest Editor

Henrik HASSEL, Lund University, Sweden

## **Guest Editorial Board**

Albana ÇAMI (HARSHOVA), University of Tirana, Albania Ana TROMBEVA GAVRILOSKA, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University, Skopje, North Macedonia Anni DASHO, Luarasi University, Albania Edisa NUKIĆ, University of Tuzla, Bosnia and Hercegovina Filippo MAGNI, Juav University of Venice, Italy Franziska ROTTIG, Eberswalde University for Sustainable Development, Germany Gentiana SHARKU, University of Tirana, Albania Giulia LUCERTINI, Iuav University of Venice, Italy Heike MOLITOR, Eberswalde University for Sustainable Development (HNEE), Germany Joana GJIPALAJ, Polytechnic University of Tirana, Albania Konalsi GJOKA, Polytechnic University of Tirana, Albania Leontiev CUCI, Luarasi University, Albania Meri CVETKOVSKA, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University, Skopje, North Macedonia Milos KNEZEVIC, University of Montenegro, Montenegro Mirzo SELIMIĆ, University College "CEPS-Center for Business Studies", Bosnia and Hercegovina Mo HAMZA, Lund University, Sweden Nermin PALIĆ, University College "CEPS-Center for Business Studies", Bosnia and Hercegovina Slobodan KOLAKOVIC, University of Novi Sad, Serbia Suzana DRAGANIC, University of Novi Sad, Serbia Zeljka BELJKAS, University of Montenegro, Montenegro Zvjezdan KARADŽIN, University of Tuzla, Bosnia and Hercegovina

**Guest Editorial Committee** 

**Brunilda KOSTA**, University of Tirana, Albania (Manuscript Editor) **Ljiljana POPOVIC**, University of Novi Sad, Serbia (Manuscript Editor) Brikena LEKA, University of Tirana, Albania Entela ÇOBANI, Polytechnic University of Tirana, Albania Kreshnik VUKATANA, University of Tirana, Albania Perseta GRABOVA, University of Tirana, Albania

## Preface

In recent decades, the discourse on sustainability and climate change has evolved from academic reflection to an urgent global priority. The interconnected nature of environmental, social, and economic systems highlights the pressing need for coordinated efforts to address climate-related challenges. Climate change, driven largely by human activities such as greenhouse gas emissions, deforestation, and industrialization, has already resulted in severe environmental disruptions. Rising global temperatures, shifting weather patterns, and the increasing frequency of extreme weather events will result in significantly increased risks to ecosystems, economies, and societies.

Recognizing the need for innovative solutions and interdisciplinary collaboration, the *Albanian Journal of Economy and Business* has dedicated this special issue "*IFuture Issue: Climate and Sustainability*" to exploring diverse research paths on sustainability and climate change. The contributions to this issue aim to bridge the gap between research and practical implementation, fostering dialogue among scholars, policymakers, and practitioners. A critical objective of this initiative is to enhance research output and scholarly engagement in the Western Balkans, where climate change and sustainability research remain underrepresented.

This special issue is an outcome of the "jOiNEd For sUsTainability - bUilding climate REsilient communities in WB and EU -*n1FUTURE* project", a project funded by the European Union in the framework of the Erasmus+ Program. Through an open-access model, the journal seeks to disseminate knowledge widely, making research accessible to a broader audience. The inclusion of interdisciplinary perspectives ensures that contributions span natural sciences, social sciences, engineering, business, health, and humanities, reflecting the multifaceted nature of sustainability challenges.

Guest Editorial Board

# The Albanian Journal of Economy & Business Special Issue, 2025

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

The Strategic Contribution of Green Intellectual Capital and Green Ambidexterity to Eco-Innovation in the Indonesian Manufacturing Sectors <i>Aisyah Pia Asrunputri, Vilah Silviatul Aliah</i>
Importance of Climate-related Risk Management from a Regulatory Perspective: What are the Challenges for the Albanian Banking Sector? <i>Albi Zylfo</i>
The Role of Governing Bodies and Value Chain Partners in the Transition to Sustainable Business Practices in a Developing Country- A Case Study of the Agro-Industry of Albania <i>Edea Zusi, Brunilda Kosta</i>
Comparative Analysis of Sustainability Practices in Western Balkans Edisa Nukic, Jelena Markovic, Elona Pojani, Perseta Grabova, Snezana Rutesic, Zeljka Beljkas, Nermin Palic, Mirzo Selimic
GIS-based Flood Vulnerability Assessment in Spreca River Basin Elvir Ferhatbegovic, Jelena Markovic, Edisa Nukic
Overview of Sustainability Practices in Higher Education Institutions in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Montenegro Entela Çobani, Joana Gjipalaj, Ledia Aleksi, Blerina Beqaj, Konalsi Gjoka, Oltion Marko
Hydroponic Farming in Albania: A Cost-Benefit Analysis of Sustainability and Innovation <i>Frida Kuçi</i>
Evaluation of the Governance of the Important Wetland Complexes Genti Kromidha, Emirjeta Adhami
Natura 2000 sites - A model for the protection of natural values Genti Kromidha, Emirjeta Adhami, Nihat Dragoti
Climate Variability in the Durmitor Region, Montenegro: A 30-year of Research

Application of Sensor Networks and Iot Devices for Monitoring Environmental Conditions Hadžib Salkić, Samir Ščetić
Successful Integration of Transfer-oriented Higher Education for Sustainable Development into Academic Teaching: A Case Study of a Future Festival Heike Molitor, Lea Fischer, Eva Greischel, Matthias Holzgreve, Jennifer Krah, Franziska Rottig
Economics for the 21 <sup>st</sup> Century: Integrating Climate Crisis and Ecological Issues in Teaching <i>Kladiola Gjini</i>
Exploring the Tirana Citizens' Intention to Use Shared Micro-mobility Practices: Case of a Private University from Albania, with a Consideration of Pro-environmental Practices <i>Klevisa Kapo, Alesia Makaj, Rikela Fusha, Megi Buza</i>
Assessing the Readiness of Self-Local Governments Units in Albania towards a Circular Economy Transition <i>Konalsi Gjoka, Teida Shehi, Kleant Semema</i>
The Impact of Buildings' Energy Consumption and Greenhouse Gasses Emissions on Air Pollution and Sustainability of the City of Skopje Liljana Dimevska Sofronievska, Meri Cvetkovska, Ana Trombeva Gavriloska, Teodora Mihajlovska
Psychological Barriers to Sustainable Tourism Choices: A Case from Albanian Tourism Industry <i>Mishela Rapo, Besjon Zenelaj</i>
Condition of Motor Vehicles Fleet in Canton Sarajevo and the Necessary Measures for Approaching the EU Green Deal and its Impact on Air Quality <i>Mustafic Ibrahim, Selimic Mirzo, Sakic Mario</i>
Green Practices in the Business Sector in Montenegro Snežana Rutešić, Željka Beljkaš, Miloš Knežević
The Role of European Higher Education Institutions (HEIs) in Advancing the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs): a Survey of Five Universities Vittoria Ridolfi, Giulia Lucertini, Filippo Magni, Henrik Hassel, Meri Cvetkovska, Franziska Rottig, Mirjana Laban

#### The Strategic Contribution of Green Intellectual Capital and Green Ambidexterity to Eco-Innovation in the Indonesian Manufacturing Sectors

Aisyah Pia ASRUNPUTRI<sup>1</sup>, Vilah Silviatul ALIAH<sup>2</sup>

# Abstract

In the pursuit of a green economy, Indonesia's manufacturing sectors must fulfil environmental responsibilities by accelerating the development of ecoinnovation. Manufacturing companies necessitate a strategic approach to adapt to these demands. This study aims to investigate the impact of green intellectual capital and green ambidexterity on eco-innovation in the Indonesian manufacturing sector. Data were collected through an online survey aimed at managers in Indonesia's manufacturing sectors and analysed using IBM SPSS Statistics 26. Multiple regression analysis is employed to investigate the relationship among variables. The results indicated that green intellectual capital significantly influences eco-innovation, with green human capital being the most robust predictor among all components of green intellectual capital. Green ambidexterity is essential for predicting ecoinnovation, with exploitative green ambidexterity being paramount for advancing eco-innovation in Indonesian manufacturing sectors. This research indicates that companies must consistently cultivate an innovative environment and acknowledge that the pursuit of eco-innovation is a collective endeavour involving all the stakeholders as intellectual actors in advancing eco-innovation.

**Keywords:** *Green Intellectual Capital, Green Ambidexterity, Eco-Innovation, Indonesian Manufacturing Sectors, Strategic Approach* 

**Jel code:** 013, 015, 032

# 1. Introduction

Indonesia's efforts to pursuit the development of green economy can have a positive impact, particularly on the development of environmentally friendly products, services, and business processes that are not only intended to meet environmental goals but also to strengthen and accelerate innovation in the national industry. Such innovation necessitates agility for businesses to change their strategic and operational approaches in order to gain a competitive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Lecturer, Universitas Islam As-Syafi'iyah, Faculty of Economics and Business, Department of Management, Indonesia; aisyahpia@gmail.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Student, Universitas Islam As-Syafi'iyah, Faculty of Economics and Business, Department of Management, Indonesia; sapillah1823@gmail.com

advantage and allocate existing resources to better product innovation. Green manufacturing principles can help manufacturers reduce negative environmental impacts by creating, transforming, and protecting long-term value (Deloitte, 2021).

Green manufacturing principles are followed by manufacturing companies that recognize the potential of eco-innovation to meet social responsibilities, protect the environment, and succeed economically. Eco-innovation helps achieve the sustainable development goals (SDGs) and meet market pressures that force companies to adopt green practices to combat climate change. Thus, companies must adopt resilient technologies and sustainable industrialization strategies to foster eco-innovation (Javed et al., 2024).

The motivation of the study is to examine the critical functions of green intellectual capital and green ambidexterity in fostering eco-innovation. Yong et al. (2023) studied the role of green intellectual capital in manufacturing sustainability. Individuals and organizations' eco-innovation-related intangible assets, knowledge, competencies, and relationships make up green intellectual capital. This concept includes green relational, structural, and human capital (Chen, 2008). Green intellectual capital can accelerate environmentally sustainable technological innovation, but the literature does not adequately address its importance in eco-innovation (Di Vaio et al., 2024). Green ambidexterity enables green manufacturing firms to enhance processes through the exploration of sustainable and innovative technologies and practices. Green ambidexterity synthesizes traditional and contemporary knowledge for advancement. Green ambidexterity fosters a learning-oriented mindset that harmonizes exploitative and exploratory innovation to integrate environmental sustainability, enabling organizations to identify new opportunities. Notwithstanding its advantages for eco-innovation, green ambidexterity remains inadequately comprehended (Javed et al., 2024).

Thus, the primary aim of this study is to address the research question: (1) Does green intellectual capital positively influence the advancement of ecoinnovation? (2) Does green ambidexterity positively influence the advancement of eco-innovation? A theoretical model was created using primary data from Indonesian manufacturing firms, particularly in Jakarta, from July to August 2024 to assess variable relationships. This study aims to provide empirical evidence on variable effects and improve sustainable manufacturing discourse.

This study examines the strategic role of green intellectual capital and green ambidexterity in promoting environmentally friendly innovation in Greater Jakarta's manufacturing sectors to fill these knowledge gaps. The study illuminates the strategic importance of companies' ability to leverage ecoinnovation and sustainable business processes while adapting to consumer demands. This research adheres to a systematic structure, commencing with an introduction, followed by **Section 2**, which is a literature review that elucidates the theoretical framework of the study to enhance the empirical examination of the research. **Section 3** encompasses the formulation of the research methodology employed. **Section 4** presents the research results derived from the analysis, while **Section 5** discusses the findings, articulates the primary conclusions, and outlines the research limitations along with recommendations for future studies.

# 2. Literature review

# 2.1. Theoretical background

# 2.1.1. Natural Resource-Based View

This study pertains to the concept of Natural Resources Based View (NRBV) developed by Harts (1995). Natural Resource-Based View originally came from the Resource-Based View (RBV) theory with a firm-centric approach (Andersén, 2021). According to the Natural Resources-Based View (NRBV) theory, firms with strong eco-innovation capabilities will have a competitive advantage (Suleman et al., 2024). Linking to the NRBV theory, green intellectual capital encapsulates the primary components (i.e., knowledge, systems, relationship dynamics) that shed light on eco-innovation, a company's ability to create environmentally friendly products, processes, or technologies (Marco-Lajara et al., 2023). Green ambidexterity also allows companies to explore and exploit environmental issues, boosting their competitiveness (Baquero, 2024).

# 2.1.2. Natural Resource Orchestration Theory

Resource Orchestration Theory (ROT) and Natural Resource Orchestration Theory (NROT) emphasize managers' role in achieving competitive advantage by understanding the organization's strengths and weaknesses (Sirmon et al., 2011). Meanwhile, NROT is used to evaluate green resources to improve resource utilization and innovation (Zhou et al., 2024). According to NROT, green intellectual capital helps companies identify intangible resources needed to improve environmental performance (Baquero, 2024). In this light, companies with high level of green ambidexterity can innovate sustainably because they exploit existing competencies while exploring new ones, making these two aspects of organizational learning inseparable (Asiaei et al., 2023).

# 2.2. Green intellectual capital

Intellectual capital is a collection of knowledge-based company resources (Jirakraisiri et al., 2021). Meanwhile, green intellectual capital transcends

traditional intellectual capital by emphasizing a commitment to environmentally sustainable practices (Anser et al., 2024) and is defined as the quantity of intangible resources pertaining to environmental protection or innovation (Wang & Juo, 2021). Green intellectual capital comprises three components: green human capital, green structural capital, and green relational capital.

# 2.2.1. Green human capital

Green human capital refers to the knowledge, skills, attitudes, behaviors, and communication skills possessed by company members that contribute to the development of innovations within the company (Xi et al., 2023). Green human capital is considered a factor that can accelerate eco-innovation development. This happens because with the higher the level of green human capital, the more available skills, innovations, capabilities, capacities and responsibilities in assurance and protection in the company which can later encourage these trained employees to achieve the company's sustainability goals (Ali et al., 2021).

*H1a.* Green human capital positively affects the development of ecoinnovation in Indonesian manufacturing sector.

# 2.2.2. Green relational capital

Green relational capital is the value of employee-public relations for environmental protection (Hina et al., 2024). Relational capital gives companies access to external resources and expertise to improve strategic collaboration and co-innovation with academia, industrial experts, and other stakeholders (Abdelfattah et al., 2024). Putri et al. (2024) explained that focusing on Indonesian manufacturing companies, green relational capital enhances solidarity with stakeholders, facilitates engagement with external suppliers or clients in research and development and reinforces ongoing experimentation.

*H1b*. Green relational capital positively affects the development of ecoinnovation in Indonesian manufacturing sector.

# 2.2.3. Green structural capital

Green structural capital encompasses various aspects of organizational operations, including procedures, processes, management philosophy, culture, intellectual property rights, information systems, information resources, and technology. Green structural capital constitutes a framework that underpins green human capital. This form of capital enhances companies' capacity to adapt to change by integrating sustainability principles and long-term perspectives. Effective corporate governance and environmental stewardship, manifested through systems, philosophy, and work ethic, can foster ecoinnovation and advance sustainable business practices (Wei et al., 2024).

*H1c.* Green structural capital positively affects the development of ecoinnovation in Indonesian manufacturing sector.



Figure 1. Theoretical framework

Source: Authors' work

## 2.3. Green ambidexterity

Ambidexterity refers to the capacity to excel in both established technologies and industries, as well as to thrive in emerging sectors, prompting companies to foster both exploratory and exploitative initiatives for environmental sustainability (Cheah & Tan, 2024). Green exploitation can motivate companies to invest in innovative eco-friendly technologies, thereby ensuring a competitive advantage in the industry. Exploratory abilities can enhance the creative cognition of employees, promoting the execution of innovative enhancements within an ecological context (Hafeez et al., 2024). Martínez-Falcó et al. (2024) emphasized that the two components of green ambidexterity, specifically green exploitation and green exploration, promote eco-innovation. The study elucidates that the implementation of eco-design and sustainable sourcing strategies in the manufacturing sector is facilitated by the utilization of the opportunities presented by the organization's capacity to exploit and explore avenues for innovation.

*H2a:* Green exploitation is positively related to eco-innovation. *H2b:* Green exploration is positively related to eco-innovation.

# 3. Methodology

This study employs a survey administered to managers in the manufacturing industries (specifically food, electronics, plastics, construction, and textiles) during the period of July to August 2024.

The manufacturing sectors were selected for this study based on their substantial research and development (R&D) investments, which exceed those of other sectors and account for over 50% of the total expenditure (United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2024). Furthermore, on a global scale, the manufacturing industry demonstrates the highest level of productivity, as evidenced by the significant proportion (57%) of green patents it generates in comparison to other sectors (United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2024).

This study utilizes the "10-times rule" formulated by Hair et al. (2014) and yielded a minimum sample size of 130. A structural equation model examines research variable relationships. Online surveys from manufacturing managers were conducted using Google Form. Online channels spread the survey, which received 307 responses over two months. Men make up 64% and women 36% in Table 1. The manufacturing industry employs 38.1% and 30.6% of 32-38, 25-31, and 25-31-year-olds. The study included high school graduates, undergraduates, and postgraduates, with 71.35% having postgraduate degrees. 34.2% worked in food and beverage, 13.3% electronics, 27.7% plastic, and textiles.

Demography		Frequency	Percentage
Gender	Male	196	64
	Female	111	36
Age	18-24	6	1.95
	25-31	94	30.6
	32-38	117	38.1
	39-45	53	17.26
	>45	37	12.05
Educationa	High school graduate /	2	0.6
l level diploma	diploma	86	28
	Undergraduate	219	71.35

 Table 1. Respondent Demography

	Postgraduate				
Work	<5	10	3.26		
experience (Vears)	5-10	89	29		
(10015)	>10	208	67.7		
Sector	Food & Beverage	105	34.2		
	Electronic	41	13.3		
	Plastic	85	27.7		
	Tarret:11a	76	21.8		
	Textille	/0	24.0		

#### Source: Authors'work

The measures were originally developed in English and then translated into Indonesian using a translation-backward translation approach. The ratings for all measures were determined using a five-point Likert scale, where a rating of 1 represented strong disagreement and a rating of 5 represented strong agreement.

Green intellectual capital was measured by Green Intellectual Capital instrument developed by Yong et al. (2023). The scale consists of three subscales: green human capital (two items, e.g., "Employees in our company have stronger competencies in environmental protection compared to employees in competing companies, green structural capital (two items, e.g., "Our company demonstrates more innovation in environmental protection.") and green relational capital (two items, e.g., "We can meet customer satisfaction related to environmental protection through our products or services.").

The assessment of green ambidexterity was conducted using a modified iteration of the scale created by Úbeda-García et al. (2022). The subdivision comprised of two subscales: green exploitation, which included two items, such as "Our company is actively improving environmentally friendly products, processes, and services," and green exploration, which also consisted of two items, such as "Our company is actively developing environmentally friendly products, processes, and services."

The assessment of eco-innovation was conducted using a scale that was originally developed by Mukhtar et al. (2023). Only six out of the original ten scales were evaluated in this study, specifically the scale titled "The raw materials utilized by our company result in minimal pollution".

# 4. Results & Discussion

# Results

Table 2 displays descriptive statistics, including means, standard deviations, correlations, and the main variables. The results demonstrate a positive correlation between green intellectual capital and eco-innovation. Moreover, there is a correlation between green ambidexterity and elevated levels of eco-innovation.

	Mean	SD	Reliability	1	2	3
1 Gree	en 3.7034	0.53680	0.960	1		
intellectual	3.5022	0.56453	0.805	0.753	1	
2 Greaterity	3.3603	0.54609	0.782	0.790	0.731	1
3 Eco-innovatio	n					

Table 2 Resul	ts of means	standard d	leviations	correlations	and reliabilities
Table 2. Resul	to of means	, stanuaru u	cviations,	conciations,	and remainings

Source: Authors 'work

## Hypothesis testing

The study employed linear regression analysis to ascertain the primary effects of the hypotheses formulated in this research. The results of the hypothesis tests presented in Table 3 demonstrate the impact of green intellectual capital and green ambidexterity on eco-innovation. The study discovered that there is a positive correlation between green intellectual capital and eco-innovation. This outcome corroborates hypothesis 1. The presence of green ambidexterity has a significant and positive impact on eco-innovation. This finding provides support for hypothesis 2.

	Unstand d coeff	dardize icients	Standardi zed coefficient s	t	Sig
Model	В	Std Error	Beta		

1	(Constant)	0.817	0.152		4.882	0.000
	Green human	0.758	0.138	0.566	3.554	0.000
	capital	0.690	0.162	0.493	3.765	0.000
	Green structural capital					
	Green relational capital	0.705	0.122	0.564	3.982	0.000
	Exploitative	0.822	0.129	0.435	4.091	0.000
	green ambidexterity	0.801	0.144	0.557	4.889	0.000
	Exploratory green ambidexterity					

**Note(s):** Dependent variable: Eco-innovation

Source: Authors 'work

The ANOVA results are displayed in Table 3. The regression coefficients of the explanatory variables have a positive impact on the relationship between the studied variables. The reliability and significance scores suggest that green intellectual capital and green ambidexterity have positive influence on ecoinnovation. Thus, the hypotheses were supported.

The aforementioned results indicate that each dimension of the variables positively influences eco-innovation. The findings indicate that green human capital (H1a = 0.758) is the most significant predictor of eco-innovation, succeeded by green relational capital (H1b = 0.705) and green structural capital (H1c = 0.690). Wang & Juo (2021) illustrates the endorsement of the aforementioned finding, which asserts that green human capital is essential for eco-innovation, owing to the expertise of employees that fosters the advancement of green human capital is more likely to succeed in eco-innovation development.

In the context of green ambidexterity, exploitative green ambidexterity demonstrates a more significant contribution to eco-innovation (H2a = 0.822) than exploratory green ambidexterity (H2b = 0.801). This finding suggests that the manufacturing sectors in Indonesia demonstrate a pronounced inclination towards exploitative strategic actions in response to foster eco-innovation. Moreover, companies in the manufacturing sectors tend to address stakeholder demands through short-term eco-friendly practices (Jakhar et al., 2020).

Model	R	R square	Adjusted R square	R square change	F change	Sig
1	0.887	0.632	0.628	0.632	189.533	0.000

 Table 4. Results of model summary

Source: Authors 'work

Table 4 presents a summary of the model derived from the regression test outcomes of this study, indicating an R-squared value of 0.632. The R-squared value demonstrates that the explanatory variables, green intellectual capital and green ambidexterity, account for 63% of the variation in eco-innovation, indicating the appropriateness of this research model.

# Discussion

This study investigates the impact of green intellectual capital on ecoinnovation. Consistent with Tram & Ngoc (2024), this demonstrates that companies with employees who have superior knowledge, capabilities, and management systems have higher innovation performance, particularly in terms of environmental management. Companies benefit greatly from the integration of intangible assets in addressing ecological challenges. Furthermore, companies that focus on eco-innovation policies create green assets that can improve their capabilities in terms of knowledge, structure, and relationships by incorporating factors related to the company's assets as well as employee pro-environmental behaviour.

Based on this study, out of a total of three (3) dimensions of green intellectual capital, Green human capital has the greatest influence on eco-innovation, particularly with the statement item with the highest value, "Employee contributions related to environmental protection are better than contributions made by employees in competing companies". This may happen due to the increasing level of environmental awareness in Indonesia's manufacturing industry. This is reflected in the survey conducted by Aswicahyono & Rafitrandi (2019). The survey focuses on the awareness of technology adoption among Indonesian manufacturing companies. The survey explained how respondents understood the importance of robots in their businesses. Respondents recognized the benefits of technology adoption and digitalization in the manufacturing industry, including (1) increased productivity, (2) energy efficiency, and (3) improved planning and budgeting performance. With a strong understanding of Indonesia's manufacturing industry, they have the opportunity to develop new business opportunities, reduce environmental

impact and improve social welfare through green technology (Ministry of Finance Republic of Indonesia, 2020a).

A good understanding of human resources related to environmental protection can also influence the use of raw materials that emit the least amount of pollution when processed by manufacturing companies. As coined by Mansoor et al. (2021), green human capital has a vital role in helping organizations achieve their eco-innovation performance. With the availability of skills, employees' ability to innovate, capacity and sense of responsibility can increase the chances of meeting the goals of eco-innovation.

Human capital is also considered as an organizational resource where organizational innovation is formed by the skills, competencies, and experience of employees who have the ability to innovate in the company. Previous literature underlines the need for organizations to enrich the knowledge and skills of employees to develop environmentally friendly processes and product innovation. So that when the company has a high level of green human capital, employees will tend to contribute more actively to environmental protection. Therefore, to improve the performance of eco-innovation, companies must develop green human capital to generate creative ideas and new opportunities (Marco-Lajara et al., 2023).

As for the second strongest dimension in this study, it is owned by green relational capital with the strongest statement item, namely, "Customer satisfaction related to environmental protection can be met by the company in the form of products or services". This means that the company can maintain good relationships with customers, as evidenced by the sufficient customer satisfaction related to environmentally friendly products or services provided by the company. As pointed out by Suhartanto et al. (2024), customer demand is changing, and companies are increasingly focusing on environmentally friendly products, processes, and services. Customers' environmental concerns stem from their intention to buy a product or service.

Wang et al. (2022) explain that this concern stems from environmental issues such as waste, deteriorating health, a lack of environmental responsibility, and wasteful energy consumption. With these concerns, customers are more critical in deciding which products to buy, such as looking for eco-labels on packaging or researching the CSR programs offered and carried out by product manufacturers. Customers do this to ensure that the company's environmental values align with the values they believe in, allowing them to maximize customer trust in companies or brands that have proven to fulfil their environmental responsibilities.

Green structural capital, as the third dimension of green intellectual capital, is thought to be quite supportive of the opportunity to create corporate ecoinnovation, particularly with regard to the statement item, "Our company is more innovative in terms of environmental protection than other companies". Environmental protection innovations are closely related to the company's use of energy-efficient production raw materials. One example of eco-innovation in Indonesia's cement industry is a collaboration between the government and industry players to promote the use of two types of green cement: Portland composite cement (PCC) and Portland pozzolana cement. Green cement has a lower clinker content. The production and use of PCC and PPC reduces carbon emissions by replacing clinker with other supporting materials. The Cement Association of Indonesia (ASI) estimates that PCC and PPC can help Indonesia reduce carbon emissions by up to 26% (Antara News, 2024).

Meanwhile, out of a total of two (2) dimensions of green ambidexterity, green exploitation play a role in accommodating the company's strategy to apply knowledge about the environment, capabilities, and also processes to optimize green products, processes or services is considered to be able to affect the company's success in managing waste. Cao et al. (2022) emphasize that companies with a high level of green exploitation are more likely to actively engage in meeting customer demand for green products, processes, or services. Green exploitation can also help businesses maintain their competitive advantage in the industry. This is consistent with a study by Shehzad et al. (2023), Green exploitation is the strongest predictor of increased eco-innovation in companies that develop environmentally friendly products, processes, and services. Green exploitation assists businesses in utilizing internal competencies and intangible resources, which are critical for organizations to develop eco-innovations.

Another aspect of green ambidexterity is green exploration, which assists businesses in developing fundamentally new knowledge. Green exploration makes it easier for businesses to discover new information, opportunities, and technologies. Green exploration-based innovation can put companies in a superior position in the industry, strengthen the company's green image, and create barriers that competitors find difficult to overcome (Cao et al., 2022). The study reveals that the strongest statement item belongs to "Our company actively develops environmentally friendly products, processes and services".

This findings further implies the influence of company's environmentally fiendly products, processes and services on the advancement of green product innovation. Putra et al. (2023) highlight the use of green extraction methods for natural products in Indonesia. Green extraction techniques are a set of methods for extracting beneficial components from natural products such as plants, herbs, and fruits. The techniques aim to reduce the negative effects of traditional extraction methods, especially those that use raw materials that are hazardous to human health and the environment.

# 5. Conclusions

Indonesian manufacturing sectors prioritize environmental issues, highlighting the importance of green intellectual capital and ambidexterity. Intangible assets from environmentally conscious companies can drive ecoinnovation and long-term sustainability.

Nonetheless, referring to the report of Ministry of Finance Republic of Indonesia (2020b), to promote green growth in the Indonesian economy, businesses, the government, and higher education institutions must take a proactive approach. Companies should focus on digital and green competence, encourage knowledge sharing, and provide green rewards. Strategic partnerships with government and academia are also necessary for lifelong eco-organizational learning.

This research presents numerous prospects for future investigation. Firstly, by examining the impact of green intellectual capital and green ambidexterity on different types of eco-innovation, specifically eco-product innovation and eco-process innovation, to determine if there is a positive correlation. Furthermore, by incorporating the endorsement of both internal and external stakeholders as a determinant of eco-innovation. Ultimately, by directing the attention towards lower-level employees as research respondents.

## References

Abdelfattah, F., Salah, M., Dahleez, K., Darwazeh, R., & Al Halbusi, H. (2024). The future of competitive advantage in Oman: Integrating green product innovation, AI, and intellectual capital in business strategies. International Journal of Innovation Studies, 8(2), 154–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijis.2024.02.001

Ali, W., Wen, J., Hussain, H., Khan, N. A., Younas, M. W., & Jamil, I. (2021). Does green intellectual capital matter for green innovation adoption? Evidence from the manufacturing SMEs of Pakistan. Journal of Intellectual Capital, 22(5), 868–888. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIC-06-2020-0204

Andersén, J. (2021). A relational natural-resource-based view on product innovation: Theinfluence of green product innovation and green suppliers on differentiation advantage insmallmanufacturingfirms.Technovation,104(102254).https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2021.102254

Anser, M. K., Naeem, M., Ali, S., Huizhen, W., & Farooq, S. (2024). From knowledge to profit: business reputation as a mediator in the impact of green intellectual capital on business performance. Journal of Intellectual Capital, 25(5), 1133–1153. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIC-01-2024-0025

Antara News. (2024). Decarbonizing cement to pursue green development. Antaranews.Com. https://en.antaranews.com/news/315678/decarbonizing-cement-to-pursue-green-development

Asiaei, K., O'Connor, N. G., Barani, O., & Joshi, M. (2023). Green intellectual capital and ambidextrous green innovation: The impact on environmental performance. Business Strategy and the Environment, 32(1), 369–386. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.3136

Aswicahyono, H., & Rafitrandi, D. (2019). Dampak Teknologi Disruptif dalam Sektor Manufaktur Indonesia.

https://smeru.or.id/sites/default/files/events/sesi\_1\_2\_haryo\_aswicahyono\_0.pdf

Baquero, A. (2024). Linking green entrepreneurial orientation and ambidextrous green innovation to stimulate green performance: a moderated mediation approach. Business Process Management Journal, 30(8), 71–98. https://doi.org/10.1108/BPMJ-09-2023-0703

Cao, C., Tong, X., Chen, Y., & Zhang, Y. (2022). How top management's environmental awareness affect corporate green competitive advantage: evidence from China. Kybernetes, 51(3), 1250–1279. https://doi.org/10.1108/K-01-2021-0065

Cheah, S. C., & Tan, C. L. (2024). External knowledge sourcing, organizational ambidexterity and manufacturing performance: a new insight for dynamic operation management. Benchmarking, 31(5), 1643–1666. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-11-2022-0695

Chen, Y. S. (2008). The positive effect of green intellectual capital on competitive advantages of firms. Journal of Business Ethics, 77(3), 271–286. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-006-9349-1

Deloitte. (2021). Sustainable manufacturing From Vision to action.

Di Vaio, A., Zaffar, A., & Chhabra, M. (2024). Intellectual capital and human dynamic capabilities in decarbonization processes for net-zero business models: an in-depth examination through a systematic literature review. Journal of Intellectual Capital, 25(7), 23–53. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIC-01-2024-0015

Hafeez, M., Yasin, I., Zawawi, D., Odilova, S., & Bataineh, H. A. (2024). Unleashing the power of green innovations: the role of organizational ambidexterity and green culture in achieving corporate sustainability. European Journal of Innovation Management. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJIM-04-2023-0274

Hair, J. F., Hult, G. T. M., Ringle, C. M., & Sartedt, M. (2014). A primer on partial least squares structural equation modeling. SAGE Publications Inc.

Harts, S. L. (1995). A Natural Resource View of the Firm. Academy of Management Review, 20(4), 986–1014. https://doi.org/10.2307/258963

Hina, K., Khalique, M., Shaari, J. A. N., Mansor, S. A., Kashmeeri, S., & Yaacob, M. R. bin. (2024). Nexus between green intellectual capital and the sustainability business performance of manufacturing SMEs in Malaysia. Journal of Intellectual Capital, 25(2–3), 233–252. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIC-11-2022-0226

Jakhar, S. K., Bhattacharya, A., Rathore, H., & Mangla, S. K. (2020). Stakeholder pressure for sustainability: Can 'innovative capabilities' explain the idiosyncratic response in the manufacturing firms? Business Strategy and the Environment, 29(6), 2635–2653. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2526 Javed, A., Li, Q., & Basit, A. (2024). Enhancing ambidextrous green innovation: the role of green supply chain integration, knowledge capabilities and technology dynamism in manufacturing. Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMTM-08-2024-0437

Jirakraisiri, J., Badir, Y. F., & Frank, B. (2021). Translating green strategic intent into green process innovation performance: the role of green intellectual capital. Journal of Intellectual Capital, 22(7), 43–67. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIC-08-2020-0277

Mansoor, A., Jahan, S., & Riaz, M. (2021). Does green intellectual capital spur corporate environmental performance through green workforce? Journal of Intellectual Capital, 22(5), 823–839. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIC-06-2020-0181

Marco-Lajara, B., Zaragoza-Sáez, P. C., Martínez-Falcó, J., & Sánchez-García, E. (2023). Does green intellectual capital affect green innovation performance? Evidence from the Spanish wine industry. British Food Journal, 125(4), 1469–1487. https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-03-2022-0298

Martínez-Falcó, J., Sánchez-García, E., Marco-Lajara, B., & Andreu, R. (2024). Green supply chain management and sustainable performance: exploring the role of circular economy capability and green ambidexterity innovation. British Food Journal, 126(11), 3985–4011. https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-01-2024-0062

Ministry of Finance Republic of Indonesia. (2020a). Innovate Indonesia Unlocking. https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/575806/innovate-indonesia-unlocking-growth.pdf

Ministry of Finance Republic of Indonesia. (2020b). INNOVATE INDONESIA UNLOCKING GROWTH THROUGH TECHNOLOGICAL TRANSFORMATION.

Mukhtar, B., Shad, M. K., Lai, F.-W., & Waqas, A. (2023). Empirical analysis of ESG-driven green innovation: the moderating role of innovation orientation. Management & Sustainability: An Arab Review. https://doi.org/10.1108/msar-08-2023-0043

Putra, N. R., Yustisia, Y., Heryanto, R. B., Asmaliyah, A., Miswarti, M., Rizkiyah, D. N., Yunus, M. A. C., Irianto, I., Qomariyah, L., & Rohman, G. A. N. (2023). Advancements and challenges in green extraction techniques for Indonesian natural products: A review. South African Journal of Chemical Engineering, 46(April), 88–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajce.2023.08.002

Putri, Y. A., Woodhead, K., & Sofia, I. P. (2024). UNVEILING THE PATH TO SUSTAINABLE SUCCESS: THE NEXUS OF INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL, INNOVATION, AND SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS PERFORMANCE IN INDONESIAN MANUFACTURING COMPANIES. International Journal of Contemporary Accounting, 6(1), 15–38. https://doi.org/10.25105/ijca.v6i1.19812

Shehzad, M. U., Zhang, J., Dost, M., Ahmad, M. S., & Alam, S. (2023). Linking green intellectual capital, ambidextrous green innovation and firms green performance: evidence from Pakistani manufacturing firms. Journal of Intellectual Capital, 24(4), 974–1001. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIC-02-2022-0032 Sirmon, D. G., Hitt, M. A., Ireland, R. D., & Gilbert, B. A. (2011). Resource orchestration to create competitive advantage: Breadth, depth, and life cycle effects. Journal of Management, 37(5), 1390–1412. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206310385695

Suhartanto, D., Dean, D., Amalia, F. A., & Triyuni, N. N. (2024). Attitude formation towards green products evidence in Indonesia: integrating environment, culture, and religion. Asia Pacific Business Review, 30(1), 94–114. https://doi.org/10.1080/13602381.2022.2082715

Suleman, A. R., Kyei-Frimpong, M., & Akwetey-Siaw, B. (2024). The role of green innovation in the relationship between green HRM practices and sustainable business performance; evidence from the mining industry. Asia-Pacific Journal of Business Administration. https://doi.org/10.1108/APJBA-09-2023-0471

Tram, N. H. M., & Ngoc, B. H. (2024). Environmental Foe or Friend: The Impact of Intellectual Capital and Ambidextrous Innovation on Environmental Performance. SAGE Open, 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440241256768

Úbeda-García, M., Marco-Lajara, B., Zaragoza-Sáez, P. C., Manresa-Marhuenda, E., & Poveda-Pareja, E. (2022). Green ambidexterity and environmental performance: The role of green human resources. Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management, 29(1), 32–45. https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.2171

United Nations Industrial Development Organization. (2024). **INDUSTRIAL** DEVELOPMENT REPORT 2024 - TURNING CHALLENGES INTO SUSTAINABLE SOLUTIONS: The New Era of Industrial Policy. https://www.unido.org/sites/default/files/unido-publications/2023-11/IDR24-OVERVIEW 1.pdf

Wang, C. H., & Juo, W. J. (2021). An Environmental policy of green intellectual capital: Green innovation strategy for performance sustainability. Business Strategy and the Environment, 30(7), 3241–3254. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2800

Wang, Y. M., Zaman, H. M. F., & Alvi, A. K. (2022). Linkage of Green Brand Positioning and Green Customer Value With Green Purchase Intention: The Mediating and Moderating Role of Attitude Toward Green Brand and Green Trust. SAGE Open, 12(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440221102441

Wei, F., Han, J., & Xu, W. (2024). Exploring the nexus between structural capital, carbon neutrality and sustainable competitiveness: Evidence from natural resource exploitation in the post-COVID-19 era. Resources Policy, 88(104392). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2023.104392

Xi, M., Fang, W., Feng, T., & Liu, Y. (2023). Configuring green intellectual capital to achieve ambidextrous environmental strategy: based on resource orchestration theory. Journal of Intellectual Capital, 24(5), 1184–1205. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIC-07-2022-0154

Yong, J. Y., Yusliza, M. Y., Ramayah, T., Farooq, K., & Tanveer, M. I. (2023). Accentuating the interconnection between green intellectual capital, green human resource management and sustainability. Benchmarking: An International, 30(8).

Zhou, Q., Wang, S., Ma, X., & Xu, W. (2024). Digital technologies and corporate green innovation: opening the "black box" of resource orchestration mechanisms. Sustainability

Accounting, Management and Policy Journal, 15(4), 884–912. https://doi.org/10.1108/SAMPJ-09-2023-0639

# Importance of Climate-related Risk Management from a Regulatory Perspective: What are the Challenges for the Albanian Banking Sector?

# Albi ZYLFO<sup>1</sup>

# Abstract

As climate-related risks increasingly influence global economic stability, banks must actively assess and manage these challenges to ensure sustainable operations. This paper aims to explore the main regulations of climate-related risks and their perceived importance from a regulatory perspective considering the challenges they bring for financial institutions. It highlights the importance of integrating climate risk into the banking sector's governance frameworks, risk identification, assessment, mitigating, and monitoring models. An evaluation of the relevant regulations that focus on climate-related risks is performed to evaluate current regulatory frameworks and industry best practices, to recommend a comprehensive approach for banks in Albania, to enhance their resilience towards climate-related threats. According to the relevant reports and guidelines, this can be achieved by adopting a robust climate risk disclosure practice and encouraging collaboration with stakeholders to promote sustainable finance. Embracing climate risk as a core component of risk management can not only mitigate potential losses but also build foundations for innovation and growth in an evolving regulatory environment.

Keywords: Climate change, Operational risk management, Natural disasters

**Jel code:** G18, Q54

# 1. Introduction

It is no surprise that climate change can significantly affect banks' loan portfolios. This is why climate change, and its consequences, have always been hot topics of discussion when drafting new regulations applicable to the banking sector. According to the European Banking Authority's final guidelines on the management of ESG risks, climate change, environmental degradation, biodiversity loss, social issues, and other environmental, social, and governance (ESG) factors pose considerable challenges to the economy (European Banking Authority, 2025).

European Central Bank in its role as a supervisor of European banks, considers climate change a source of financial risk and has been intensifying its quantitative work aimed at capturing climate-related risks to financial stability

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Operational Risk Expert at OTP Bank Albania, albizylfo@gmail.com

by estimating the financial system's exposures to these types of risks, upgrading banking sector scenario analysis and monitoring the developments in the financing of the green transition (European Central Bank, 2021). The Financial Stability Report (2021) emphasizes that the climate-related risks to euro area banks, funds, and insurers could be significant if climate change is not mitigated in an orderly manner. Additionally, the need for policy action is seen as essential to ensure the financial system's resilience to climate-related risks.

Considering the transversal nature of climate-related risks, it is expected that their impact on banks' risk profile will be significant, affecting all types of risks to which banking activity is exposed. The table below summarizes the main issues related to the effects of climate change on credit risk (Bandt, et al., 2023). The effects of climate-related events are measured in terms of lending spreads.

Type of	Climate-related events and their effect on the lending				
risk	spreads				
Credit Risk	<ul> <li>Agriculture loans:</li> <li>underestimation of the riskiness of loans when climate- related risks are not considered</li> <li>larger exposure of poor countries due to the importance of the agriculture sector in the GDP of these countries</li> <li>Floods:</li> <li>increase in the probability of default of a non-insured property</li> <li>increase in the interest rates</li> <li>Heat and Drought</li> <li>higher interest rates charged for borrowers located in drought-located areas</li> <li>Sea Level Rise (SLR)</li> <li>Higher interest rates charged for mortgages on residential real estate exposed to more SLR</li> </ul>				

Source: Basel Committee on Banking Supervision – The effects of climate change-related risks on banks: a literature review

Nevertheless, credit risk is only one of the main risks affected by climaterelated events and regulations. Non-financial risks such as operational risk – defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, and systems or external events (Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, 2003) – and sound management plays an important role when it comes to addressing environmental, social and governance issues. Bank for International Settlements (2021) highlights that climate risk drivers can be grouped into two main categories: 1) physical risks, which arise from the changes in weather and climate that impact the economy, and, 2) transition risks, which arise from the transition to a low-carbon economy. Furthermore, it mentions that climate risk drivers have several distinct features, including unprecedented frequencies, speeds, and intensities and the non-linear form that the risks are expected to take.

This paper aims to present an overview of the main regulations on climaterelated risks and explore the regulatory environment in Albania to identify the gaps that need to be addressed by financial institutions. In addition, the link between climate-related risks and operational risk management will be explored by going through the relevant regulations. The following sessions of this paper will provide some more details regarding the methodology used and then will dive deep into the relevant body of literature addressing issues of climate change risks from a regulatory perspective.

# 2. Methodology

This paper consists of exploratory research methods, involving an analysis of the relevant regulations that focus on climate-related risks. These regulations are developed by reputable international regulatory bodies and their guidelines set the standards for countries' local regulations. In this regard, the main reports and guidelines that address climate change risks published by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, European Banking Authority, European Central Bank, Financial Stability Authority, etc., are consulted.

In the context of the Albanian banking sector, regulations developed by the national supervisory authority (Bank of Albania) tend to be in line with international regulations. In most cases, these regulations tend to address more extreme situations of climate change effects, focusing on managing disasters and recovery. Analyzing the requirements of these regulations will help to draw conclusions and recommendations on the importance of proper management of climate-related risks.

# 3. Literature review

# *i.* Operational risk management and climate change risks faced by the banking sector

Climate change and its consequences can pose significant threats to banking activities. For this reason, climate change risks are often treated as operational risks. The official taxonomy of operational risks consisting of seven main categories, has a dedicated category of risks related to damage to physical assets, whose definition links climate change to operational risk (detailed in the table below).

Event-type category (Level 1)	Definition	Activity examples (Level 3)	
Internal fraud	-	-	
External fraud	-	-	
Employment			
practices and	-	-	
workplace safety			
Clients, products, and			
business practices	-	-	
Damages to physical assets	Losses arising from loss or damage to physical assets from natural disasters or other events	<ol> <li>Natural disaster losses</li> <li>Human losses from external sources (terrorism, vandalism)</li> </ol>	
Business disruption and system failures	-	-	
Execution, delivery,			
and process	-	-	
management			

Source: Basel Committee on Banking Supervision – Calculation of RWA for operational risk

Natural disasters due to climate change are a growing concern for risk managers due to the difficulties that represent the assessment of their impact and probability. In the meantime, the impact of this change is more visible than ever and their impact on the operational risk profiles of firms can be broad. Grimwade (2022) considers extreme weather events, gradual/chronic changes to the Earth's climate, and weakened control effectiveness as the main physical risks related to climate change. Even though the weather cannot be controlled, it can still be monitored, and operational risk should consider weather risks during risk assessment (Girling, 2013). Elements such as the location of a branch or main office of a firm might significantly change the level of exposure to the risks related to weather and their assessment might lead to a residual risk level that may require developing action plans.

When assessing the potential losses due to natural disasters, the best practices in operational risk management offer a wide range of tools. A useful one applied by most banks is scenario analysis, which goes through several steps starting from preparation and ending in the incorporation of results into the capital requirements calculations. Scenario assessment is the most challenging task in the scenario analysis process (Chapelle, 2018).

According to the roadmap on the management and supervision of climaterelated financial risks in the financial sector, the most direct effects of physical hazards on banks are through direct effects of the hazard on banks' branch networks, and consequently on the operational risk of the bank, as well as through the exposure of bank's loan portfolio to these risks and consequently an increase of credit risk (Bank of Albania, 2023). According to the report, progress has been made by most banks in integrating climate risks into the operational risk management framework. Physical risks are being considered when defining business continuity plans and cover the most relevant physical risks through insurance which are not for climate-related and environmental risks specifically but that do cover damages stemming from these risks.

# *ii.* Regulatory trends on climate change risks for the banking sector

The World Economic Forum has raised the alert of climate risks the world may be facing in its report on global risks published in 2024 (World Economic Forum, 2024). Among the key findings, it has listed a deteriorating global outlook based on its analysis through four structural forces deemed to be shaping the materialization and management of global risks over the next decade. Moreover, this report states that the environmental risks could hit the point of no return. These findings are based on the results of the Forum's Global Risk Perception Survey (GRPS). Since this risk is transversal, banking supervisors have also emphasized the importance of its proper management.

In its Overview of Pillar 2 supervisory review practices and approaches, BCBS has highlighted the importance of integrating climate-related risks into the supervisory review process (Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, 2019). It stresses the importance of banks' awareness of climate-related risks as well as the expectations from the supervisors to address the prudential risk from climate change through their existing risk management frameworks. Several supervisors are preparing to embed climate-related risks in the supervisory approach.

According to the European Central Bank, climate change affects the safety of the banking sector through physical risks, such as extreme weather events, as well as transition risks, such as uncertainties relating to the shift towards a low-carbon economy (European Central Bank, 2024). It reaffirms its role as a supervisor of banks operating in Europe and its role to ensure that the banks detect, manage, and disclose risks properly, including those stemming from climate change by helping them become more resilient to prevent adverse events that may impact the banking sector and financial system. The European Banking Authority has also launched an EU-wide pilot exercise on climate risk that aims to map banks' exposures to climate risk and to provide insight into the green estimation efforts banks have carried out. Among the main results published in its report, it is mentioned that more than half of banks' exposures are allocated to sectors that might be sensitive to transition risk (European Banking Authority, 2021). In addition, the scenario analysis shows that the impact of climate-related risks across banks has different magnitudes and is concentrated in some sectors. Financial disclosure for climate-related risks is an urgent challenge in all business sectors, including the financial
sector (Chiba, Mori, & Shimizu, 2017). However, potential financial risks posed by climate change to the financial sector have not been adequately understood while the financial risks are more likely to be significant. In 2015, the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). In 2023, the Financial Stability Board (FSB) whose role is the promotion of international financial stability, announced that the TCFD work was completed (International Financial Reporting Standards, 2024). This Task Force has issued recommendations around four thematic areas that represent core elements of how organizations operate: governance, strategy, risk management, and metrics and targets (Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, 2017). Regarding governance, TCFD recommends the disclosure of the organization's governance around climate-related risks and opportunities by describing the board's oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities as well as describing management's role in assessing and managing climate-related risks and opportunities. When it comes to strategy, TCFD recommends the disclosure of the actual and potential impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities for the organization's businesses, strategy, and financial planning where such information is material by describing the climate-related risks and opportunities that the organization has identified, describing the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities for the organization's business strategy and financial planning and describing the resilience of the organization's strategy, taking into consideration different climate-related scenarios. While the first two recommendations have a more holistic approach, the third and the fourth ones offer a more practical approach. About risk management, organizations must disclose the methodologies they apply during the climate-risk identification, assessment, and management process by specifically describing how these processes are integrated into the organization's overall risk management. This is done by disclosing the metrics and targets used to assess and manage relevant climate-related risks and opportunities (fourth recommendation).

Many banks have committed to adopting a business model that is aligned with the goals of the Paris Agreement, and they have already achieved several commitments in several ways. Analysis of industry-authored documents, press statements, and SEC disclosure reveals that banks are adopting a range of private governance measures to address climate change that converge around eight types of measures adopted by at least two major banks operating in the U.S. such as: 1) reducing the firm's footprint, 2) portfolio analysis and negative screens, 3) financing clean technology, 4) providing equity/advisory services, 5) climate philanthropy, 6) developing climate "best practices" through voluntary associations, 7) developing market mechanisms for carbon emissions reductions, and 8) improving reporting and disclosure of climate risk (Light & Skinner, 2021). The Prudential Regulation Authority in England highlights three unique characteristics that pose challenges for firms in managing them effectively (Bank of England, 2021). According to this report, these risks are systemic, meaning that they affect every customer, every corporation, in all sectors, and all geographies, with correlated, non-linear, irreversible impacts. Climate change risks are simultaneously uncertain and yet totally foreseeable, meaning that the exact combination of physical and transition risks that will emerge is uncertain. Finally, the size and balance of the future risks we face will be determined by actions we start to take now which means that once physical risks begin to manifest systemically, it will already be too late to reverse many effects through reductions.

The ways through which Banks will address climate change will occupy the agendas of board and shareholder meetings in the forthcoming years. Since banks have a social aspect to their purpose, they must intermediate lending to remain profitable and maintain the welfare of their shareholders but also contribute to the development of the economy. Nevertheless, pursuing ambitious climate change policies will remain a challenge, since it cannot be met through adopting conventional risk regulations only, but by considering both qualitative and quantitative analysis of the effects associated with these changes (Heyvaert, 2011).

Regarding the regulatory framework for climate change risks in Albania, the Bank of Albania published in August 2024 the Guidelines on Financial Risks Related to Climate and Environment. These guidelines aim to better prepare the banking sector in Albania to assess, measure, manage, and control financial risks related to climate and environment. This will be achieved by orienting banks to address on an effective and comprehensive basis climate-related financial risks when assessing and implementing their business strategy. Local guidelines also set clear expectations when it comes to the increase of human resources that will be responsible for analyzing climate change. In compliance with international guidelines, other expectations refer to defining proper models to be used by the banks during self-assessment processes as well as increasing transparency and disclosing the information and data for climaterelated risks (Bank of Albania, 2024). According to the guidelines, when reviewing their risk appetite, banks develop appropriate risk indicators and set appropriate limits for climate-related environmental risks at counterparts, sectors, and geographical areas. Specifically for operational risk management, it is advised that the banks should assess the impact of physical risks arising from climate change on their operations, including their ability to quickly restore their capacity to continue providing services to customers. They should also consider the impact of climate change on the provision of critical functions whenever those are assessed. Due to the reputational damage that operational risks may cause, banks should also consider the extent to which

the nature of the activities they carry out may affect the reputation of the organization in the future.

#### 4. Analysis & Discussion

International regulations and guidelines raise awareness of the potential impacts of climate-related risks and highlight the importance of taking the necessary measures to address these risks in a proactive way by financial institutions. This is easier said than done and there are difficulties that banks face when developing strategies and implementing measures to address these risks. These difficulties appear to be present in several dimensions but mostly relate to the fact that the impacts of climate-related issues on organizations are not always clear or direct and the assessment of the potential impact as well as ensuring that the material issues are reflected in financial filings may be challenging (Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, 2017).

Limited knowledge of issues that relate to climate may be a potential reason when it comes to incorporating impact assessment in respective policies. This is because major climate-related risks have not materialized in the history of humankind, nevertheless, successive natural disasters may serve as a relevant early warning indicator of what can follow. Under these circumstances, there is a vast amount of speculation regarding the real effects of climate change which is oftentimes used for political reasons and manipulation of public opinion.

On the other hand, the fact that banks are profit-oriented organizations and risk management is not a profit but a cost center, justifies to some extent their need to focus mainly on near-term risks to the detriment of long-term vision. This is further amplified by what was mentioned in the previous paragraph – the fact that these risks are not considered probable, it is not deemed necessary to invest in managing them.

Finally, it is difficult to quantify the costs of climate-related issues. In addition to the first two points stated above, not being able to assess the impact of climate-related risks with confidence while the scenarios are considered remote, makes it difficult for organizations to perceive the benefits of proper risk management.

#### 5. Conclusions and Recommendations

Climate-related risks build up an important block of operational risks, and as so, their proper management is important for financial institutions. Financial institutions must incorporate climate-related risks during the Risk and Controls Self-Assessment exercise to provide a complete view of all the potential threats that the institution may face. They should develop tools and methodologies that contribute to all stages of climate risk management –

starting from the identification of potential scenarios that are specific depending on where the institution is located, continuing with the assessment of potential impacts, development of mitigation measures, and continuous monitoring. Furthermore, regarding the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosure, the disclosure of the governance of these risks is necessary for stakeholders to better understand the bank's exposure and risk management practices and will also fulfill the expectations set by supervisors.

Banks should develop proper strategies that aim to address the impacts of these risks in the long term. Implementation of these strategies should be done by ensuring the right tone from the top and should include all organizational levels. Key Performance Indicators should be implemented to monitor the effectiveness of policies and procedures that ensure the follow-up of the strategy while Key Risk Indicators should be implemented as key metrics to forecast potential threats. This will enable a continuous monitoring and proactive attitude toward emerging climate-related risks.

Banks should assess climate-related risks when developing new products, offering new services, or consider expanding into new markets. This can be achieved by having a proactive risk management approach incorporated into change management. Opinions from both business areas and risk experts can be an added value in assessing these risks before they materialize.

Banks should develop proper scenario analysis methodologies that aim to evaluate with significant levels of confidence the impact that climate-related scenarios can have on their risk profile. As per recommendations issued by the European Banking Authority (2025), banks should develop forward-looking approaches and perform scenario analysis to identify business risks and opportunities, assess the vulnerabilities of their portfolios to physical and transition risks, and test their resilience to the potential negative impacts of ESG factors, with special attention paid to climate change. This can be achieved using bottom-up and top-down approaches when identifying potential scenarios. The results should be incorporated into the calculations of the capital requirements to ensure that adverse potential impacts are absorbed and do not threaten the existence of the organization.

Finally, banks should consider climate-related issues when developing business continuity management policies. This is achieved by first identifying the potential threats that the institution may face that stem from climate change and then developing strategies and concrete plans for facing unexpected situations. This would provide the continuity of operations in case climaterelated scenarios materialize and ensure effective crisis management without creating disruptions in the organization's operations.

#### References

Bandt, O. d., Kuntz, L.-C., Pankratz, N., Pegoraro, F., Solheim, H., Sutton, G., . . . Xia, D. (2023). The effects of climate change-related risks on banks: a literature review. Basel Committee on Banking Supervision.

Bank of Albania. (2023). STRATEGY-ROADMAP - The management and supervision of climate-related financial risks in the financial sector. Tirana: Bank of Albanai.

Bank of Albania. (2024). Guideline on climate-related and environmental risks. Tirana: Bank of Albania.

Bank of England. (2021). Climate-related financial risk management and the role of capital requirements. London: Bank of England.

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. (2003). Sound Practices for the Management and Supervision of Operational Risk. Bank for International Settlements.

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. (2019). Overview of Pillar 2 supervisory review practices and approaches. Basel Committee on Banking Supervision.

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. (2021). Climate-related risk drivers and their transmission channels. Basel Committee on Banking Supervision.

Chapelle, A. (2018). Operational Risk Management: Best Practices in the Financial Services Industry. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Chiba, Y., Mori, N., & Shimizu, N. (2017). Strengthening the Integration of Climate Risks in the Banking Sector. Hayama: Institute for Global Environmental Strategies.

European Banking Authority. (2021). Mapping climate risk: Main findings from the EU-wide pilot exercise. European Banking Authority.

European Banking Authority. (2025). Consultation Paper - Draft Guidelines on ESG Scenario Analysis. European Banking Authority.

European Banking Authority. (2025). Guidelines on the management of environmental, social, and governance (ESG) risks. European Banking Authority.

European Central Bank. (2021). Financial Stability Review. European Central Bank.

European Central Bank. (2024, 11 10). Climate change and banking supervision. RetrievedfromEuropeanCentralBank|BankingSupervision:https://www.bankingsupervision.europa.eu/about/climate/html/index.en.html

Girling, P. (2013). Operational Risk Management: A Complete Guide to a Successful Operational Risk Framework. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Grimwade, M. (2022). Ten Laws of Operational Risk. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Heyvaert, V. (2011). Governing Climate Change: Towards a New Paradigm for Risk Regulation. The Modern Law Review, 817-844.

International Financial Reporting Standards. (2024, 11 10). ISSB and TCFB. Retrieved from IFRS: https://www.ifrs.org/sustainability/tcfd/

Light, S. E., & Skinner, C. P. (2021). Banks and Climate Governance. Columbia Law Review, 1895-1956.

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures. (2017). Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures. Basel: Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures.

World Economic Forum. (2024). The Global Risks Report 2024. World Economic Forum.

#### The Role of Governing Bodies and Value Chain Partners in the Transition to Sustainable Business Practices in a Developing Country- A Case Study of the Agro-Industry of Albania

Edea ZUSI<sup>1</sup>, Brunilda KOSTA<sup>2</sup>

#### Abstract

Global value chains (GVCs) are facing growing scrutiny regarding their environmental sustainability. Since many GVC operations are based in developing countries, it's essential to understand the factors influencing the sustainability of the GVC participant businesses in developing countries. Our study examines the roles of governing entities and value chain partners on the sustainability of agro-industrial businesses in Albania. Through 12 interviews with business executives, academics, governing body representatives, and a consultant, we find upstream (local) partners have a negative impact, downstream (foreign) partners to have a positive impact, governmental structures a slightly negative impact, and international organizations a positive impact. This study contributes to GVC sustainability literature and offers practical insights for Albanian businesses and policymakers looking to expedite the country's sustainable development.

**Keywords:** *sustainability, global value chains, agro-industry, developing economy.* 

# 1. Introduction

Amid the rapid pace of globalization, it is no longer only trade that spans borders, but also the issues that come with it. Of such issues, sustainability is a notable one. Global value chains (GVCs) are facing increasing scrutiny when it comes to their operations and their environmental responsibility. Furthermore, in part thanks to GVCs, sustainability is a pressing concern, as well as opportunity, worldwide, including and even highlighting developing countries (Pulver, 2007). For this reason, it is imperative to study sustainability in the context of these developing countries.

Abundant evidence shows that participation in global value chains (GVCs) offers significant benefits to developing countries, including increased regional connectivity, enhanced economic productivity, and export diversification (Kowalski et al., 2015), (Raei et al., 2019). While the economic impacts of GVC participation are well-documented, less is known about the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Master of Science in Business Administration, University of Amsterdam, Netherlands, edea.zusi@student.uva.nl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Professor, Faculty of Economy, University of Tirana, Albania, brunildakosta@feut.edu.al

sustainability practices of companies in these developing countries, with existing studies offering mixed optimistic and pessimistic results (Pulver, 2007). Notably, a company's environmental sustainability in developing nations is influenced by specific external conditions (Pulver, 2007). This paper aims to investigate the sustainability efforts of GVC-participating businesses in developing countries, focusing on how external conditions, such as governing bodies and value chain partners, promote or hinder these efforts (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Research question diagram



Figure 2. Diagram of focal business and its value chain partners

In this paper, "governing bodies" encompass national governmental structures as well as NGOs or supranational bodies such as the EU, while "value chain partners" include upstream partners, which are usually made up of local suppliers, and downstream partners, in this case explicitly made up of foreign importers (Figure 2). The reason for studying these two groups of stakeholders together is that value chain partners are unique for a specific business, while governing bodies are unique for a specific country. Combined, they can create a somewhat comprehensive picture of the external environment or conditions these focal businesses are operating in, for any given country, and how this environment affects their sustainability efforts.

In pursuit of the exploratory aim of this research paper, interviews are conducted with representatives of exporting companies in Albania's agroindustrial sector and other relevant stakeholders. According to Jovanović et al. (2021), the challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic have shifted supply chain trends, highlighting the Western Balkans' potential for nearshoring. Therefore, due to the possibility of GVCs expanding in this region, studying a developing country in this region enhances the relevance of this paper. The agro-industrial sector is particularly significant as a key economic pillar and a major driver of environmental concerns (Schiller-Merkens & Machin, 2023). In Albania, there is a growing awareness of sustainability issues, supported by various international and local initiatives promoting sustainable (business) practices. However, it is essential to gather business perspectives and assess how business owners perceive the current situation.

The rest of this paper is structured as follows: The literature review outlines the variables used and relevant academic literature. The context explains the current situation in Albania. The methodology section details the data collection and analysis methods. The analysis and discussion section presents results for each stakeholder group. This section also connects the findings to existing literature while discussing implications, limitations, and future research avenues. Finally, the conclusion summarizes the findings and offers closing thoughts.

#### 2. Theoretical framework

For this paper, sustainability is defined as "development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (Brundtland, 1987, p. 292), with a focus on environmental sustainability. In global value chains (GVCs), sustainability is becoming increasingly important as an answer to rising stakeholder concerns. Simultaneously, GVCs involve complex multi-stakeholder interactions across different countries, meaning that businesses within them are subject to unique pressures, requirements, and structures inherent to the country in which they operate (Buckley & Liesch, 2023). These country-specific conditions mean that sustainability initiatives and requirements affecting businesses are largely influenced by the governing bodies in each location (Dybvig & Spatt, 1983). Public governance, as a representative of governing bodies, is shown to correlate positively with a country's sustainability (Handoyo, 2018), and international political bodies like the EU have a significant impact on regional sustainability goals and enforcement (Selin & VanDeveer, 2015).

In addition to governing bodies, other businesses in the GVC play a key role in influencing the sustainability practices of each participant business (Lee, 2010). Power asymmetries and varying levels of coordination within GVCs also affect individual business efforts toward sustainability (Gereffi et al., 2005). According to Buckley & Liesch (2023), three factors affect a GVC participant's tendency to address negative externalities: awareness of externalities driven by GVC integration, motivation to address them driven by GVC accountability, and the capability to implement changes, driven by GVC leadership. This suggests that value chain partners, particularly those with more power, have a considerable influence on the sustainability of other participants. Thus, stakeholders like governing bodies and value chain partners play a major role in a business's sustainability journey (Rebs et al., 2019). Studying the exact effect of their role in the context of a developing country can help further the sustainability agenda.

Studies also show that governmental pressure is linked to improved sustainable supply chain performance (Rebs et al., 2019), while other findings report significant results on the influence of political, economic, or ecological stakeholders on sustainable practices in different sectors (Sharma & Henriques, 2005) (Bulgacov et al., 2015). Meanwhile, a study in Portugal found that only a few CEOs mentioned stakeholders like the state, suppliers, or society as relevant actors in corporate sustainability (Rego et al., 2019), suggesting the importance of exploring these dynamics in various socioeconomic and political contexts. Literature reviews also present mixed findings on stakeholder influence on sustainability and management practices (Haleem et al., 2022). Large multinational enterprises (MNEs) within GVCs often extend their influence to enhance sustainability efforts among value chain partners (Lee, 2010). However, due to significant heterogeneity across countries, including varying regulatory levels (Scherer, 2016), business responses to sustainability pressures differ greatly (Scherer et al., 2013b). It is, therefore, necessary to study different environments individually. The Western Balkans is a relatively unexplored area in this regard, and with trends pointing to increasing GVC activity (Jovanović et al., 202), (Mandras & Salotti, 2020), studying this region adds relevance to the paper. In addition, agricultural products are among the dominant products in the trade basket within the Western Balkans. For this reason, as well as the importance of industry improvement in pursuing further growth (OECD,2019), it is of most value to study the agro-industrial sector in this area.

#### Contextual background

Albania is progressively embracing circular economy principles to transition from a linear model to a more sustainable and regenerative system. This shift is driven by environmental challenges, economic opportunities, and alignment commitment with the Green Agenda for the Western Balkans (Regional Cooperation Council, 2020). A pivotal development is the OECD's Roadmap towards Circular Economy of Albania, which identifies areas for reform such as circular business models for SMEs and economic instruments to promote sustainable consumption and production (OECD, 2024). Furthermore, according to the 2023 Balkan Barometer Business Opinion (2023), factors like regulatory compliance and supply chain pressures could encourage businesses toward sustainable solutions, highlighting the importance of studying the related actors. In agriculture, circular economy efforts are in early stages, with ongoing efforts to transition towards a more sustainable sector. Agriculture remains a cornerstone of Albania's economy, contributing significantly to employment (around 40%) and GDP (20%) (World Bank, 2024). A study on livestock farming identifies policy gaps, economic constraints, and technological limitations as barriers to circularity, stressing the need for supportive policies, education, and collaboration (Marku et al., 2024). Numerous governing bodies, including the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development, GIZ Albania, FAO Albania, and UNDP Albania, are working to promote sustainability in Albanian agriculture. Yet, the impact of these entities from the business perspective remains largely unexamined and warrants further research.

#### 3. Methodology

To address the research question, a qualitative study was conducted, ideal for capturing perceptions about the phenomena under examination. Twelve interviews were conducted to gather a comprehensive understanding of stakeholders' perceived impact on sustainability in the agro-industrial sector. Of these, four involved executive officers from Albanian export companies focused on medicinal plants, olive oil, and animal byproducts-industries representing some of the biggest agricultural exports of the country. The companies were already implementing sustainable practices, as verified through both online research and discussions with the interviewees. Four additional interviews were held with representatives from governing bodies, including the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development, the Circular Economy Directorate within the Ministry of Tourism and Environment, the Albanian Investment Development Agency (AIDA) under the Ministry of Economy, Culture, and Innovation and GIZ Albania, an international organization engaged in economic development, training and employment, climate, and good governance. Three more interviews involved academics with a background in sustainability from the University of Tirana, who provided a semi-external view. Finally, one interview was conducted with a consultant from a sustainability-consulting organization in Amsterdam, adding a specialized external perspective. While business representatives' views were central to the research question, insights from other stakeholders provided balance and cross-verification of perspectives.

Half of the interviews were semi-structured and conducted in person or through video meetings, allowing flexibility to explore responses in greater depth and formulate theories reliably. This format also enabled adjusting questions for the not good English speakers and for the interviews conducted in Albanian. The remaining interviews were written responses, providing convenience to interviewees. These responses were generally appropriate, with some participants offering additional documents for clarity. The interviewees, aged 25-62, were two-thirds female and one-third male, providing a reasonably representative sample.

Each interview included 9-12 questions, tailored to the interviewee's position. Initial questions focused on describing the business or institution, understanding of sustainability, and general views on sustainability in Albania and the agro-industrial sector, serving as a warm-up and validation of their sustainability knowledge. Subsequent questions centered on current sustainability initiatives, either specific to the organization or known by academics, and were highly relevant to the research question for government bodies. The core section of each interview contained 5-6 questions about the role of governing bodies and value chain members in the sustainability efforts of the focal business, followed by 1-2 broader questions about suggestions and together with the written responses they were hand-coded according to the grounded theory method developed by Glaser & Strauss (1999). An example of questions for business representatives can be found in the appendix.

#### 4. Analysis & Discussion

After analyzing the interviews, two main subunits for both governing bodies and value chain partners emerged. The findings from the analysis are separated according to these subunits. Governing bodies are divided into Albanian governmental structures and international organizations, while value chain partners were divided into upstream (local suppliers) and downstream (foreign importers). Figure 3 below shows the explanatory scheme of the results.



#### Figure 3. Explanatory scheme of results

\*Stakeholders and focal business represented by the green rectangles \*\*Findings represented by the purple ovals

## 5. Role of Value Chain Partners

#### 5.1. Downstream value chain partners

Downstream value chain partners connect Albanian businesses in this study to global value chains, introducing sustainability impacts beyond domestic experiences. A key finding was that, in the agro-industrial sector, foreign value chain partners led to notable sustainability improvements; a point confirmed by nearly all stakeholders interviewed.

Businesses mentioned how the positive impact of these foreign partners could either be direct or indirect. As for direct impact, the most prevalent answer was knowledge sharing. The foreign partners are often bigger companies with more experience in the market and in issues of sustainability. Thus, their knowledge is usually very valued in a developing country such as Albania. Only one business mentioned the direct impact of financial support.

The indirect impact of foreign partners on sustainability was equally, if not more, significant. Businesses noted that their sustainability improvements often resulted from exporting to foreign markets, primarily in the EU or USA, where stricter standards prevail, rather than from specific partner support. The study by Lee et al. (2012) also attests to the big impact that the quality standards in agrifood GVCs have on the operations of businesses in developing countries. Rising to meet these standards oftentimes requires sustainable practices to be implemented. Another indirect impact of foreign partners is providing enough stability of demand and income for the businesses in Albania to allow them to be able to think long-term and strategically, and in this way including sustainability concerns in their business's strategies. According to the Balkan Barometer study (2023) supply chain pressure was one factor that can improve the implementation of environmentally sustainable practices. Our findings further elaborate on this idea by specifying that it is the downstream (foreign) part of the supply chain, at least for exporting companies, that has a positive impact, directly and indirectly

#### 5.2. Upstream Value Chain Partners

Upstream value chain partners unfortunately negatively impact the sustainability of exporting businesses. Each company interviewed relies on local Albanian suppliers, but due to challenges like informality in agriculture, farmers' lack of education, and limited government support (which is discussed further down), exporters bear the responsibility for ensuring sustainable practices. As a result, they invest significant time and resources in training and monitoring suppliers' sustainable practices, making it both costly

and challenging to secure sustainably sourced inputs and diverting resources from potentially higher-impact internal sustainability initiatives.

## 5.3. Role of Governing Bodies

While between governmental structures and international organizations there seemed to be quite a difference, there were also two findings from the interviews that were more universal. The first one was that, in general, businesses perceive – as well as are perceived by academics - to have undertaken most of their sustainability initiatives individually. There seems to be an overbearing sentiment of generally sparse possibilities to them being supported in increasing their sustainability efforts.

The second general finding is that businesses require better facilitation that is tailored to local context. This adaptation to the local context was strongly stressed also by the consultant interviewed, who stressed multiple times that whatever support any governing body could offer, it had to take into consideration the local context. Further on the same thing was found to be a concern among businesses too. In line with our findings, Ansell et al. (2022) and Pupphachai & Zuidema (2012) also stress the importance of localizing sustainability goals so that they can reflect local needs, norms & values, and contextual circumstances.

## 5.4. Governmental structures

Governmental structures, unfortunately, appear to have a limited positive impact on business sustainability, even bordering on a negative effect. While some sustainability initiatives do exist, as noted by all interviewees and evidenced by the recent establishment of formal bodies like the Circular Economy Directorate, tangible outcomes remain minimal. Though goodwill appears to be present, numerous challenges seem to diminish the effectiveness of these initiatives. Interviews with government representatives also acknowledge the obstacles in implementation. On the other hand, as sustainability initiatives are relatively new in Albania, these challenges may be part of a learning curve, potentially leading to more effective government support in the future. The main pain points highlighted include regulatory issues, lack of expertise, inadequate support structures, and limited financial backing. This also confirms some of the findings from the OECD (2024) report mentioned previously.

Regulatory frameworks were noted as a hindrance to sustainable development in Albania, described as incomplete and inconsistent, creating challenges for both businesses and international organizations. While improvements are underway, partly with support from international organizations and academics, much remains to be done to make these frameworks clear and effective as a true roadmap for businesses on what to do and importantly, what not to do. Additionally, enforcement of these regulations is seen as inefficient and uneven. Although enforcing regulations is resource-intensive, it is essential to support and secure sustainable development in the business sector.

Furthermore, a perceived lack of qualification among government officials was a major concern for most interviewees. Although the concept of sustainability is relatively new within government structures and may contribute to this, it is crucial for institutions to enhance the skills and knowledge of their personnel in this area. Ineffective public governance can leave businesses feeling unsupported in their sustainability efforts. This concern was evident during the interviews with government representatives as well. The responses of these representatives were noticeably less detailed compared to those from businesses, ranging from vague and standard and theoretical to indirect, literature-based answers rather than direct insights. Without further knowledge as to the reason why they chose to respond like this, it can be indirectly deduced that the perceived lack of qualification claimed by the business representatives might be true.

Support structures were seen as inadequate for promoting business sustainability, with infrastructure for green transportation and waste management frequently highlighted. The lack of proper infrastructure forces businesses to invest in building it themselves before making sustainability investments, increasing costs and extending ROI timelines, sometimes making the whole venture financially unviable. Equally important are educational and training support structures in sustainable agriculture. These would relieve export businesses of the burden of training suppliers, allowing them to focus on higher-impact investments rather than ensuring supply chain compliance. Lastly, the government should support businesses by facilitating the process of joining international markets, as participation in global value chains was seen as beneficial for sustainability. Governmental efforts should include providing necessary support, such as ensuring product safety documentation for exports to regions like the EU.

Finally, financial support is a common request from businesses looking to become more sustainable. Initial sustainability investments are often expensive, particularly when involving structural changes such as new production lines for waste management or installing solar panels. While these investments may or may not become profitable over time, their benefits extend beyond business to society, the environment, and the local economy. Moreover, businesses that pioneer positive, impactful solutions can accelerate such development within the country. For these reasons, businesses and academics feel there should be increased government financial support for sustainability efforts. Although some support exists, especially in more formalized sectors like olive oil, there remains a significant gap between what is provided and what is needed.

While Rebs et al. (2019) illustrated the positive impact of governmental pressure on sustainable value chain management, it seems that for that impact to manifest it is crucial for the right policies, structures, and competencies to be in place. Without them, any amount of pressure can lead to negative instead of positive consequences.

#### 5.5. International organizations

Despite the opinion of sparse general support, after diving deeper both businesses and academics perceived international organizations as helpful and having a positive impact. While concerns about corruption and incompetence exist, as supported by incidents like the recent IPARD agricultural fund mismanagement scandal (Erebara, 2024), optimism about their efforts to aid businesses and drive change was evident. All interviewees reported successful firsthand experiences with such organizations. Key positive impacts, also backed by the international organization representative, included knowledge sharing, financial and technical support, and regulatory expertise. Notably, these organizations not only assist businesses but also aid the government in developing effective regulatory frameworks.

Attaining support from international organizations can be described as challenging but achievable. While all interviewees reported successful collaborations, the process was neither easy nor always successful. However, the positive impact was clear, with all businesses noting direct benefits from these organizations. This is in line with literature that supports the positive role international organizations play in furthering the sustainability agenda (Ponte,2019). While Ponte emphasizes the growing influence of GVCs in steering this agenda, the role of international organizations and states remains crucial for facilitative, regulatory, and distributive interventions.

#### 5.6. Collaboration

A key finding noted by all 12 interviewees was insufficient collaboration. This collaboration could be between any and all 3 parties: businesses themselves, government and international organizations. This lack of collaboration hinders stakeholders' ability to contribute effectively to sustainability efforts, as synergies formed through cooperation are essential. Increased knowledge sharing and resource pooling are needed for businesses to receive adequate support and maximize efficiency. Unsurprisingly, literature on sustainability also emphasizes the critical role of cooperation among stakeholders for knowledge sharing, policy formulation, financing, implementing investments,

and creating synergies (Ansell et al., 2022), (Siems et al., 2023), (Adenle et al., 2019).

#### 5.7. Implications and Limitations

This research enhances scholarly understanding of the interplay between governing bodies, value chain partners, and business sustainability within GVCs, particularly across different national contexts. By examining Albania as a developing country, scholars can then better integrate sustainability principles or analysis into future research, based on practical insights into the differences between developing and developed countries, and within different developing countries themselves, simultaneously enriching GVC literature.

The findings of this research indicate practical implications for businesses and in Albania. Stakeholders, including governing bodies businesses. governments, international organizations, and NGOs-should enhance collaboration by sharing knowledge and forming synergies. Improved collaboration can help policymakers develop tailored initiatives that effectively utilize local resources and capabilities. Collaboration between businesses themselves, from the same or different sectors, can establish synergies that can help either business become more sustainable. Exporting businesses should insist on better cooperation with foreign partners, leveraging their expertise and exploring additional forms of collaboration beyond knowledge sharing. Additionally, governmental structures, in partnership with universities, should allocate more resources to train their staff, farmers, and other agricultural suppliers on sustainability practices. They must also focus on establishing adequate support structures. By collaborating organizations, with international the government can develop а comprehensive and consistent regulatory framework that can guide businesses, while pairing that with fair and consistent compliance monitoring. Furthermore, the government should enhance quality assurance and support structures to facilitate exports, allowing Albanian businesses to leverage the benefits of international partnerships. Finally, international organizations should improve their communication channels and transparency to foster a fair and transparent collaborative process and ensure relevant initiatives reach interested businesses.

While the interviews conducted for this study were generally informative, there were limitations in data collection that future research could address. There was a lack of concrete measurements for each stakeholder's impact; while the general direction and magnitude of their influence were clear, a follow-up study quantifying these effects could yield more actionable insights. Regardless, this research has established a foundation for understanding the factors affecting business sustainability in the agro-industry, facilitating further research and practical implementations to promote sustainable development in Albania. Future studies in other sectors or countries could further enrich the literature on GVC sustainability.

#### 6. Conclusion

This study aimed to explore the role that governing bodies and value chain partners play in the sustainability efforts of exporting business in the agroindustrial sector in Albania. By conducting 12 interviews with business executives, academics, governing bodies representatives and a sustainability consultant, it was discovered that upstream value chain partners hinder sustainability efforts while downstream partners enhance. In addition, governmental structures play a slightly negative role by making it challenging for businesses to be sustainable, while international organizations have a positive impact. The findings of this study can further the literature on GVC sustainability in developing countries, particularly by explaining the impact of different stakeholders. In addition, the study provides practical implications that can advance sustainable development in Albania, simultaneously helping the country reach the goals of the Green Agenda for the Western Balkans.

#### References

Adenle, A. A., Wedig, K., & Azadi, H. (2019). Sustainable agriculture and food security in Africa: The role of innovative technologies and international organizations. Technology in Society, 58, 101143.

Ansell, C., Sørensen, E., & Torfing, J. (2022). Translating global goals to local contexts. In Co-creation for sustainability (pp. 41-56). Emerald Publishing Limited.

Balkan Barometer Business Opinion. (2023). Retrieved from https://www.rcc.int/balkanbarometer/publications

Brundtland, G. H. (1987). Our common future—Call for action. Environmental Conservation, 14(4), 291-294.

Buckley, P. J., & Liesch, P. W. (2022). Externalities in global value chains: Firm solutions for regulation challenges. Global Strategy Journal, 13(2), 420–439. https://doi.org/10.1002/gsj.1471

Bulgacov, S., Ometto, M. P., & May, M. R. (2015). Differences in sustainability practices and stakeholder involvement. Social Responsibility Journal, 11(1), 149-160.

Dybvig, P. H., & Spatt, C. S. (1983). Adoption externalities as public goods. Journal of Public Economics, 20(2), 231–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/0047-2727(83)90012-9

Erebara, G. (2024, June 21). Albania misused 33 million euros of EU funds, anti-fraud office says. BalkanInsight. https://balkaninsight.com/2024/06/21/albania-misused-33-million-euros-of-eu-funds-anti-fraud-office-says/

Gereffi, G., Humphrey, J., & Sturgeon, T. (2005). The governance of global value chains. Review of International Political Economy, 12, 78-104. Glaser, B., & Strauss, A. (1999). The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research. Routledge.

Haleem, F., Farooq, S., Cheng, Y., & Waehrens, B. V. (2022). Sustainable management practices and stakeholder pressure: A systematic literature review. Sustainability, 14(4), 1967.

Handoyo, S. (2018). The role of public governance in environmental sustainability. Jurnal Ilmiah Peuradeun, 6(2), 161. https://doi.org/10.26811/peuradeun.v6i2.255

Jovanović, B., Ghodsi, M., van Zijverden, O., Kluge, S., Gaber, M., Mima, R., & Mandić, M. (2021). Getting stronger after COVID-19: Nearshoring potential in the Western Balkans (No. 453). WIIW Research Report.

Kowalski, P., González, J. L., Ragoussis, A., & Ugarte, C. (2015). Participation of developing countries in global value chains: Implications for trade and trade-related policies. OECD Trade Policy Papers.

Lee, H. L. (2010). Don't tweak your supply chain—Rethink it end to end. Harvard Business Review, 88(10), 62-69.

Lee, J., Gereffi, G., & Beauvais, J. (2012). Global value chains and agrifood standards: Challenges and possibilities for smallholders in developing countries. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 109(31), 12326-12331.

Mandras, G., & Salotti, S. (2020). An input–output analysis of sectoral specialization and trade integration of the Western Balkans economies. Economies, 8(4), 93.

Marku, D., Minga, A., & Sosoli, I. (2024). Circular economy perspective and implications for livestock farming in Albania. The Open Agriculture Journal, 18(1), Article e18743315312132. https://doi.org/10.2174/0118743315312132240611074625

OECD. (2019). Unleashing the transformation potential for growth in the Western Balkans.

OECD. (2024). A roadmap towards circular economy of Albania. OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/8c970fdc-en

Ponte, S. (2019). Business, power and sustainability in a world of global value chains. [Publisher if available].

Pulver, S. (2007). Introduction: Developing-country firms as agents of environmental sustainability? Studies in Comparative International Development, 42(3-4), 191–207. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12116-007-9011-7

Pupphachai, U., & Zuidema, C. (2012). Making sustainability operational: Coping with contextual circumstances. In AESOP Silver Jubilee Congress.

Raei, F., Ignatenko, A., & Mircheva, B. (2019). Global value chains: What are the benefits and why do countries participate? Social Science Research Network. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3333741

Rebs, T., Thiel, D., Brandenburg, M., & Seuring, S. (2019). Impacts of stakeholder influences and dynamic capabilities on the sustainability performance of supply chains: A system dynamics model. Journal of Business Economics, 89(7), 893-926.

Regional Cooperation Council (2020). Sofia declaration on the green agenda for the Western Balkans. Retrieved from https://www.rcc.int/docs/546/sofia-declaration-on-the-green-agenda-for-the-western-balkans

Rego, A., Cunha, M. P. e., & Polónia, D. (2017). Corporate sustainability: A view from the top. Journal of Business Ethics, 143(1), 133-157. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2760-8

Scherer, A. G., Palazzo, G., & Seidl, D. (2013). Managing legitimacy in complex and heterogeneous environments: Sustainable development in a globalized world. Journal of Management Studies, 50(2), 259-284.

Scherer, A. G., Rasche, A., Palazzo, G., & Spicer, A. (2016). Managing for political corporate social responsibility: New challenges and directions for PCSR 2.0. Journal of Management Studies, 53(3), 273-298.

Schiller-Merkens, S., & Machin, A. (2023). Knowing food: Sustainability politics, food policy councils and the co-production of knowledge. International Journal of Politics, Culture, and Society, 36(3), 311–328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10767-023-09446-1

Selin, H., & VanDeveer, S. D. (2015). Broader, deeper, and greener: European Union environmental politics, policies, and outcomes. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 40(1), 309–335. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-102014-021210

Sharma, S., & Henriques, I. (2005). Stakeholder influences on sustainability practices in the Canadian forest products industry. Strategic Management Journal, 26(2), 159-180.

Siems, E., Seuring, S., & Schilling, L. (2023). Stakeholder roles in sustainable supply chain management: A literature review. Journal of Business Economics, 93(4), 747-775.

World Bank. (2022, June 21). Unlocking Albania's agricultural potential: From the fields to finance. World Bank Blogs. https://blogs.worldbank.org/en/agfood/unlocking-albanias-agricultural-potential-fields-finance

# Appendix

**Table 1.** List of questions for businesses

Questions for businesses					
1.	Can you briefly introduce your business to me?				
2.	How do you understand sustainability in business, and why do you think it is important?				
3.	What is your opinion on the current state of sustainability in Albanian businesses?				
4.	Can you paint an overall picture of sustainability in your business (initiatives, challenges)?				
5.	What are the key factors that contributed to the success of your sustainability initiatives?				
6.	What role do external stakeholders such as government, international organizations, NGOs, etc play in your efforts to become more sustainable?				
7.	What would you need from these stakeholders to feel supported?				
8.	What role do the (foreign) partners that you export have in your sustainability?				
9.	What role do upstream partners have in your sustainability?				
10.	What would you need from business partners on both sides to become more sustainable?				
11.	What is the role of local businesses in furthering sustainability in Albania?				
12.	What unique challenges do you see for Albanian companies regarding sustainability compared to other countries/regions?				

#### Comparative Analysis of Sustainability Practices in Western Balkans

Edisa NUKIC<sup>1</sup>, Jelena MARKOVIC<sup>2</sup> Elona POJANI<sup>3</sup>, Perseta GRABOVA<sup>4</sup> Snezana RUTESIC<sup>5</sup>, Zeljka BELJKAS<sup>6</sup> Nermin PALIC<sup>7</sup>, Mirzo SELIMIC<sup>8</sup>

#### Abstract

Although climate change and sustainability have been set as a high priority by the authorities of the Western Balkans countries, the implementation of the necessary regulations and mitigation strategies is not satisfactory.

Economic and social development is affected by the consequences of climate change, and the business sector, which is not immune to them, is making slow progress in building its own resilience and implementing sustainable practices.

This paper presents the findings of a survey conducted within the Erasmus+ project "jOiNEd For sUsTainability - bUilding climate Resilient communities in WB and EU- IFUTURE" that targeted representatives of companies in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Montenegro. It aimed to identify attitudes toward cooperation for achieving sustainability goals, to assess business needs in terms of capacities and knowledge in the area of climate action and sustainability, and finally to investigate the willingness of the business sector to participate in projects and activities focused on emission/pollution reduction and the introduction of circular economy practices.

The research findings were very important in development of a flexible, needs oriented and user-friendly Collaboration IFUTURE Platform. The survey also identified specific capacity and knowledge needs in areas of climate action and sustainability among business communities and other stakeholders.

Keywords: climate action, sustainability, business sector, Western Balkans

**Jel code:** Q01, Q56

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> University of Tuzla, edisa.nukic@untz.ba

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> University of Tuzla, edisa.nukic@untz.ba, jelena.markovic@untz.ba

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> University of Tirana, elonapojani@fakultetiekonomise.edu.al

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> University of Tirana, persetagrabova@feut.edu.al

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> University of Montenegro, snezana.rutesic@hotmail.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> University of Montenegro, seka4614@gmail.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> University College CEPS Kiseljak, nermin.palic@ceps.edu.ba

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> University College CEPS Kiseljak, mirzo.selimic@ceps.edu.ba

# 1. Introduction

Climate change and their consequences present global challenges that require urgent response. The business sector as a major contributor to climate change needs to adopt sustainable practices that include a range of actions that could reduce their impact and promote sustainability. Furthermore, Concept of "green entrepreneurship" should be recognized by the law (Silajdzic, I., et al. 2014).

The 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) outlined in Agenda 2030 represent a comprehensive framework for global action. These ambitious goals (UN General Assembly, 2015) serve as a roadmap for addressing world's most pressing challenges, from poverty and inequality to climate change and environmental degradation.

Although the Western Balkans region is diverse in historical, economic and cultural context, three countries included in this research share the common challenge of finding a balance between economic growth and environmental care. With aspiration to European Union membership, they all had to adopt certain legislation that requires efforts to address sustainability challenges but also additional funding as well. Some businesses across Western Balkans have started to implement certain sustainable practices as energy saving, waste separation, recycling and reuse that provided them with a range of economic benefits. This paper explores and compares strategies and activities used by businesses to mitigate their environmental impact, increase social responsibility and ensure long-term economic sustainability.

During the initial phase of the 1FUTURE project, an analysis was conducted to assess EU and associated Third Country practices aimed at fostering climate initiatives and collaborative efforts among government, business, and academia. This analysis highlighted discrepancies between climate and sustainability actions in the EU and the Western Balkan countries (WBC).

The subsequent task involved conducting surveys and interviews with public and private institutions, business communities and other stakeholders in the three WBCs with the aim of identifying key drivers and barriers to sustainable business practices and proposing recommendations to foster a more sustainable future.

# 2. Methodology

Questionnaires for this task were prepared by teams in the WBC and reviewed by EU Higher Education Institutions.

Data collection process took place between 2023 and 2024 encompassing a total of 901 companies from the Western Balkan region.

The questionnaires used varied slightly since they had to be adapted to specific conditions and regulations in countries included in the research. All three countries have different legal formulations of companies in terms of size,

which is determined by the incomes, income taxes, number of employees, etc. and it had to be adapted. Questionnaires consisted of 25 close-ended questions, which were formulated based on the conceptual framework (Yadav et al. 2018) set forth and adopted for all three countries.

The responses were measured on a four-point Likert scale (always / frequently / sometimes / never), with an "I don't know" option. Respondents' opinions about the importance of different green business practices were also measured on a four-point Likert scale (unimportant / slightly important / somewhat important / very important), with an "I don't know" option. The list of potential practices was adapted from Smerecnik and Andersen (2011) and Bohdanowicz (2006) and it included practices related to waste, recycling, supply, energy, water, and transportation.

#### 3. Analysis & Discussion - Comparison Between WB Countries

## 3.1. Survey Methodology Comparison

A quota sampling technique was used in Albania to determine a representative number of businesses in each industry and the goal was to comprise at least 0.5% of companies from each sector in the study. In Bosnia and Herzegovina and Montenegro stratified sampling technique was used and numerous companies were contacted (e-mailing, phone calls, visits, etc.).

The survey in Albania was conducted face to face interviews with business representatives, in Bosnia and Herzegovina hybrid: face to face interviews with business representatives and online, and in Montenegro exclusively online using Google form. Albania managed to achieve the target value; other two countries had rather unequal distribution as some sectors were reached at very low rate as 0.1% in Bosnia and Herzegovina and at 0.05% in Montenegro mainly due to the uncooperativeness of the contacted respondents.

Overall, the research included a total of 901 companies from the Western Balkans. More than 90% of the participating companies from Albania were in the capital, Tirana<sup>9</sup>. The survey dataset was cleaned to eliminate duplicate, incomplete, or erroneous entries (123 in total) and the final sample consisted of 478 observations, which were analyzed further.

A survey in Bosnia and Herzegovina was designed targeting representatives from companies located mostly across the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina<sup>10</sup>. The territorial distribution is satisfactory and includes most of the 10 cantons, and the majority of companies (headquarters and production facilities) are located in Lukavac (20%), Sarajevo (13%), and Tuzla (10%).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Tirana hosts 30% of all enterprises and produces 41% of Albania's gross domestic product (INSTAT, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina hosts 68.7% of all enterprises and produces 65% of state gross domestic product (Agency for statistics of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 2023)

The companies ranged in size from micro to large. The survey dataset was cleaned to eliminate duplicate, incomplete, or erroneous entries (30 in total). The final sample consisted of 207 observations in Bosnia and Herzegovina. More than 54% of the responses in Montenegro were obtained from companies headquartered in Podgorica, the capital of Montenegro, 10% from companies based in Niksic, and around 7% from companies based in Bar<sup>11</sup>. The companies ranged in size from micro to large. Final sample in Montenegro included 216 companies.

# 3.2. Participating Businesses Comparison

In all three WB countries companies that participated in survey ranged in size from micro to large, and predominant legal status of companies was limited liability (Figure 1). Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina and Montenegro have different legal formulations of companies in terms of size, which is determined by the incomes, income taxes, the number of employees, etc.

Nearly half of sample in Albania is comprised of limited liability companies and more than half were large corporations. Only 10% are joint stock companies. More than half of sample in Bosnia and Herzegovina is comprised of limited liability companies (60%); 55% "small & micro" companies and around 16% of large and 16% medium companies<sup>12</sup>.

Over 75% of sample in Montenegro were micro companies and only 2,8% were large companies; legal status of 90,7% is limited liability.



Figure 1. Percentage of LLC companies and large companies that participated in the study

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> According to available statistical data (Statistical Office of Montenegro, Release 40/2023 - Number and structure of business entities in Montenegro - 2022), for the year 2022, active companies in these municipalities respectively constituted 35.6%, 5.2%, and 9.3% of the total number of active companies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> criteria of company size that was used for questionnaire is annual income - Law on Accounting and Auditing of The Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina

The importance of including a higher number of large companies lies in their capacities and greater resources for environmental management. Low number of large companies covered by this study in Montenegro is because the share of large companies in the total number of enterprises is only 0.1% (micro and small enterprises constitute 99.2%).

The difference in the sample in all three countries is noticeable in average years of operation as well as the average number of employees (Figure 2). In Albania, the sample is heterogeneous in terms of years of operation in the market (1-99 years), average years in operation in Montenegro is 15. Survey conducted in Bosnia and Herzegovina included companies that stand out by number of employees (with over 1000 or 2000 employees) and by the years in operation compared to other two WB countries.





Very low number of companies is led by woman (Figure 3) which can be seen as very unfortunate knowing that some research suggest that female-led companies tend to be more environmentally friendly (Glass, Cook, and Ingersoll 2016).

The reason for the very low percentage in Bosnia and Herzegovina could be the fact that 38% of companies have more than one owner and most of them have women in management structures.



Figure 3. Percentage of female led companies

Overall, the low findings in gender equality in company management structures can be linked to the patriarchal and traditional context common to all 3 countries and represent a problem that must be seriously addressed in the future.

# 3.3. Drivers of Green Practices Comparison

Green businesses measures adoption rates in Albanian companies are generally low. The most popular measures overall are small interventions to protect the environment, estimates of energy consumption or loss (which affect costs and revenues), and measures to reduce pollution.

In Bosnia and Herzegovina companies, adoption rates are generally low, only one measure is above 50%. The most popular measures overall are measures to reduce pollution, estimates of energy consumption or loss (which affect costs and revenues) and engagement in community-based environmental initiatives with adoption rates respectfully 64.7%, 49.3% and 44.4%.

The most popular green businesses measures, among companies in Montenegro, are those to protect the environment, reduce pollution, and engaging in community-based environmental effects.

Table 1 gives an overview of the green measures adopted by companies in 3 countries with reference to all companies (entire sample) and separately for large companies. Findings presented in this table are only for top rated measures.

 Table 1. Adoption of green businesses measures by all and all companies (top rated)

Country and company size	Green business measures	Level of adoption	
	Implement measures to protect the environment	56.3%	

Albania - all	Estimate the level of energy consumption/savings/losses	67.1%		
companies	Implement measures to reduce pollution	81%		
	Estimate the quantity of solid waste discharged	70,8%		
Albania - large companies	Have a green transport plan/procedure (for staff, customers, freight)	72%		
	Have adopted a national/international environmental certification program	79,1%		
	Engage in community-based environmental initiatives	44.4%		
B&H - all companies	Estimate the level of energy consumption/savings/losses	49.3%		
_	Implement measures to reduce pollution	64.7%		
	Implement measures to reduce pollution	60%		
B&H - large companies	Send delegates to environmental conferences/activities; Estimate the level of energy consumption/savings/losses	62.8%		
	Engage in community-based environmental initiatives	65.7%		
	Engage in community-based environmental initiatives	52.8%		
Montenegro - all companies	Implement measures to reduce pollution	75.5%		
_	Implement measures to protect the environment	81.9%		
	Have a detailed plan to reduce the environmental impacts; Designate an employee/team/structure for environmental			
	management;			
Montenegro - large	Conduct environmental management training for staff;	100%		
companies	Engage in community-based environmental initiatives;			
	Inform customers about their environmental effects;			
	Implement measures to protect the environment;			
	implement measures to reduce pollution			

All companies have some top-rated measures in common as illustrated in the overview of the Western Balkan countries (Figure 4) and as can be seen in the chart below, they all implement measures to reduce pollution to a significant extent.



Figure 4. Top rated green measures in common for WB countries (all companies)

Most of the companies which implement some kind of green business measure are large corporations, rather than micro, small, or medium-sized enterprises. Prior research has emphasized that smaller companies are often financially unable to engage in environmental management.

Large companies in the three countries surveyed of the Western Balkans mainly differ in adopted green practices as shown in Table 1. There are only a few measures in common such as engagement in community activities and measures to reduce pollution.

Surprisingly high percentage of green measures adopted by large companies (100%) in Montenegro can lay in fact that only 6 large companies participated in the study.

Top rated gaps between big and all companies in green measures adoption are illustrated in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Gap among big and all companies in green measures adoption (top rated)

Figure 6 contains graphical presentation about the respondents' attitude regarding the importance of different green business practices. It includes practices related to waste; recycling; supply, energy, water, and transportation. The scale ranges from 1 (unimportant) to 4 (very important). In general, the level of knowledge and awareness of green business measures and their importance is not high. As illustrated, only one measure with highest Likert analyses mean score is common for all three countries - separating hazardous waste.



Figure 6. Company representatives' views on green business practices: top rated

Figure 7 illustrates lowest Likert analyses mean scores. In this comparison only one measure is common for all three countries - using rain or snow water (recycled water).



Figure 7. Company representatives' views on green business practices: least rated

In Albania, little interest is shown in measures such as reusing or processing organic waste, buying renewable energy from local suppliers, and collecting and reusing rain or snow water. The lowest score in Bosnia and Herzegovina is in using rain or snow water (recycled water) or using recycled water for irrigation as well as reusing or processing food waste and organic waste, while in Montenegro measures in the field of energy are the least commonly implemented.

The reason for such respondents' views on the importance of measures "for achieving the environmental goals of your entity" lies in the fact that not all measures are inherently applicable to all types of business.

# 4. Conclusions and Recommendations

Companies, especially larger ones, in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina and Montenegro have started implementing various green business practices. These practices range from waste recycling and green transportation policies to providing environmental information to customers.

Many companies will prioritize cost-effective environmental measures that directly impact their bottom line, often neglecting more significant environmental issues. Additionally, a lack of understanding regarding the importance of environmental preservation and sustainability can hinder the adoption of certain measures.

This study confirmed critical role of education in raising awareness and promoting sustainable business practices within Albania's business ecosystem. Training programs should be tailored to the specific characteristics of businesses and to respond effectively to the needs of business sector.

In Bosnia and Herzegovina, a comprehensive institutional-legal framework for monitoring adaptation and mitigation efforts is still lacking. This research revealed there is an awareness of business entities about the seriousness of climate change, but for a systemic response and building resilience, it is necessary to continuously educate the public and decision-makers.

In Montenegro, there is insufficient understanding of green business practices importance for environmental preservation and sustainability. It is essential to increase awareness of funding opportunities designed to support sustainable development, green and circular economic measures, and climate change prevention and mitigation initiatives.

It can be concluded that the limited financial resources also hinder the full implementation of necessary measures.

Research within the business sector has also indicated that business entities are aware of the seriousness of climate change. However, to facilitate a systemic response and enhance resilience, ongoing public and decision-maker education is essential. This can be accomplished through a variety of methods, including media campaigns, informational days, workshops, scientific conferences, and various educational and training programs. Thematic and agenda should be developed based on survey results and findings.

The 1FUTURE Platform as a means for collaboration between HEI, business sector and other stakeholders will be developed within Project to raise interconnections between stakeholders. Since collaboration with the business sector can be considered as the key for achieving long-term sustainability goals, this survey provided important inputs for Platform design, and it served to investigate their knowledge needs and willingness in engaging in climate and sustainability action.

#### Acknowledgments

This research has been conducted in the framework of the EU funded project "*jOiNEd For sUsTainability - bUilding climate Resilient communities in WB and EU- 1FUTURE*". (https://lfuture.feut.edu.al/).

#### References

Ahmad, M. (2016). Green business practices: Balancing environment and economic desires. International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research and Development, 3(5), 266–268.

Bohdanowicz, P. (2006). Environmental awareness and initiatives in the Swedish and Polish hotel industries—Survey results. International Journal of Hospitality Management, 25(4), 662–682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2005.06.006

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD). (2021). Green transition and ESG adoption in the Western Balkans.

Glass, C., Cook, A., and Ingersoll, A. R. (2016) Do Women Leaders Promote Sustainability? Analyzing the Effect of Corporate Governance Composition on Environmental Performance. Business Strategy and the Environment 25:495-511 Silajdzic, I., Midzic K, S., Vucijak, B. (2014). Green entrepreneurship in transition economies: a case study of Bosnia and Herzegovina. Journal of Cleaner Production 88,376-384, DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.07.004

Smerecnik, K. R., & Andersen, P. A. (2011). The diffusion of environmental sustainability innovations in North American hotels and ski resorts. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 19(2), 171–196. https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2010.517316

UN General Assembly. (2015). Transforming our world: The 2030 agenda for sustainable development (A/RES/70/1). https://www.refworld.org/docid/57b6e3e44.html

Vuković, M., & Kostić, V. (2020). Sustainability reporting in the Balkans: A comparative study of corporate disclosures in Serbia, Croatia, and Slovenia.

## GIS-based Flood Vulnerability Assessment in Spreca River Basin

Elvir FERHATBEGOVIC<sup>1</sup>, Jelena MARKOVIC<sup>2</sup>, Edisa NUKIC<sup>3</sup>

#### Abstract

Vulnerability and risk assessment of flood-prone areas is a fundamental component of spatial management and planning for response to natural disasters. As a result of climate change and urbanization of the valley area (settlement, intensive agriculture, industry, transportation infrastructure, etc.) in the Tuzla Canton, which is located on the watershed of the Sava River, flood damage has been increasing over the past twenty years. The intensity of floods has ranged from medium to catastrophic floods.

This study aims to assess vulnerability to floods in the catchment area of the Spreca River, which is the dominant watercourse in the Tuzla Canton, by applying geographic information systems and multicriteria analysis.

The methodological approach adopted in this study is based on the general principles of the Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) using GIS techniques. Eight criteria were selected for vulnerability analysis based on available data. The preliminary vulnerability assessments conducted provide a good initial foundation and open space for further research and initiatives to reduce disaster risk through responsible spatial planning.

**Keywords:** *floods, climate change, GIS, AHP, preliminary vulnerability maps, Spreca river basin.* 

#### 1. Introduction

Floods account for approximately one-third of global natural hazards, with more people affected by floods than by any other geophysical phenomenon (Smith, 1998). The evident occurrence of increasingly frequent and intense flooding events (Aerts, 2020), likely influenced by climate change, threatens the safety and health of the population, the economy, and cultural and ecological heritage. Floods are one of the most common natural disasters in the world (**Figure 1**).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Business Solutions Manager, Gauss d.o.o. Tuzla, elvir.f@gmail.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Full professor, University of Tuzla, jelena.markovic@untz.ba

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Associate professor, University of Tuzla, edisa.nukic@untz.ba



Figure 1. Occurrence of weather-related disasters by type, 2001-2020 (CRED, 2024)

Examining the period from 2001 to 2020, there were 999 natural disasters in Europe, of which 951 were related to hydrological, meteorological, and climatological hazards. Combined, these events killed more than 150,000 people, affected over 11 million others, and cost more than 217 billion USD (CRED, 2024).

An overview of the International Disaster Database shows that, in the last two decades, floods in Bosnia and Herzegovina have become more common and intense. The database collects data on natural and technological disasters at the country level. For the purposes of this study, only the reported natural disasters for the territory of Bosnia and Herzegovina have been extracted, as shown in **Table 1**.

# **Table 1.** Natural disasters in Bosnia and Herzegovina from 2000 to 2024.(CRED, 2024)

				-			
Disaster	Disaster	Disaster					Total
Group	Subgroup	Туре	Disaster Subtype	ISO	Location	Start Year	Deaths
		Mass			Velika Broda (Zenicko-doboiski		
Natural	Hydrological	movement	Landslide	він	distric)	2000	6
Natural	Biological	Epidemic	Viral disease	BIH	Tensaj	2000	
Natural	Climatological	Drought	Drought	BIH	FBiH	2000	
					Brcko district, Tuzla		
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Riverine flood	BIH	district	2001	
Natural	Climatological	Drought	Drought	він	Republika Srpska province Posavina	2003	
	Cimatorogical	Diougine	5.04Bit		Bugojno, Gonji	2005	
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Riverine flood	BIH	Vakuf	2004	
					Posavski, Srodnjabosanski		
					Unsko-sanski.		
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Riverine flood	BIH	Zenicko-Dobojski	2004	
Network	l buden la stanl		Diversion of the stat		Bihac, Velika	2005	
Naturai	Нубготодісат	FIOOD	Riverine flood	він	Kladusa	2005	
Natural	Motoorological	Storm	Blizzard/Winter storm	ыц	Kp070V0	2005	
inaturai	Weteorological	Extreme		ып		2005	4
Natural	Meteorological	temp	Heat wave	він	Stolac, Trebinje, Bileca	2007	
Natarai	Meteorological	temp.			Rastoci, Otok, Rupe,	2007	
					Pridvorci villages		
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Riverine flood	BIH	(Trebinje)	2009	
		Extreme	Severe winter				
Natural	Meteorological	temp.	conditions	BIH	Sarajevo district	2009	1
					Jablanica, Dobro		
					poljie, Mekisn		
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Riverine flood	BIH	Bukva,	2009	
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Riverine flood	BIH	Tomislavgrad, Drvar	2010	3
					Gradacac, Doboj Istok, Gracacina.		
					Srebrenik, Celic,		
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Riverine flood	BIH	Tuzla	2010	
		Extreme					
Natural	Meteorological	temp.	Cold wave	BIH	Banja Luka	2010	2
		Extreme			Kalinovik. Stari Grad.		
Natural	Meteorological	temp.	Cold wave	BIH	Kladanj	2012	4
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Flash flood	BIH	Cazin	2014	
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Riverine flood	BIH	Banja Luka	2014	
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Riverine flood	BIH	Sanski Most	2014	25
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Riverine flood	BIH	Banja Luka	2014	1
					Bosanska Dubica,		
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Flash flood	BIH	Kozarska Dubica	2015	
					Tešanj, Doboj Jug.		
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Flood (General)	BIH	Sanski Most	2019	1
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Flood (General)	BIH	Tuzla	2019	
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Flood (General)	BIH	Tuzla Canton	2020	
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Flash flood	BIH	Ilidza, Trnovo	2021	
					Ljubinje and		
Natural	Geophysical	Earthquake	Ground movement	BIH	Capljina	2022	1
					Novi Grad. Gradiska.		
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Flood (General)	BIH	Sanski Most	2022	1
					Novi Grad, Prijedor,		
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Flood (General)	він	Rostajnica, Bihac, Bužim	2023	
						2023	
Natural	Meteorological	Storm	Storm (General)	він	Brcko District	2023	1
	<u>j</u>		, , ,				_
					Donja Jablanica,		
Natural	Hydrological	Flood	Flood (General)	він	Kiseljak and Kreševo	2024	27
		1		1		1 2024	
By presenting data on disasters through geographic, temporal, social, and economic dimensions, the creators of the database provide an objective basis for vulnerability assessment, rational decision-making, and prioritizing in emergencies (CRED, 2024).

The recent floods in October 2024 that affected Jablanica, Konjic, Fojnica, Kresevo, and Kiseljak caused enormous material damage and claimed more than 20 lives (**Figure 2**).

The increase in the frequency and consequences of both floods and other natural hazards caused by climate change in Bosnia and Herzegovina highlights the urgent need to reduce existing risks through economic, social, cultural, and environmental measures that address issues of exposure and vulnerability, thereby strengthening resilience. By analyzing the vulnerability of a specific area, the impacts from various sources on natural and built resources, the population, the economy, infrastructure, and other activities occurring in the analyzed area are assessed.



**Figure 2.** Floods in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Fojnica, October 4, 2024. (Slobodnaevropa, 2024)

The subject of this research is flood risks in the area of the Spreca River basin and the development of an integrated model using geographic information technologies, which will enable a proper assessment of the vulnerability of the analyzed area. The development of the integrated model ensures support for the flood occurrence forecasting system, as well as for alternative analyses of future projects in the field of flood protection and the creation of decisions aimed at preventing harmful impacts on the environment.

## 2. Area of Research

The Spreca River is the right tributary of the Bosna River and belongs to the catchment area of the Sava River. It flows in a northwestern direction with a length of 127 km. It flows into the Bosna River near Doboj. The total catchment area is 1947 km<sup>2</sup>. The source of the Spreca River is located at an elevation of 261.32 m above sea level, while its confluence is at 137.70 m above sea level, indicating a height difference of 123.62 m, and the average longitudinal slope of the river course is 0.00098 (Spreca, 2016). The relief of the catchment area of the Spreca River is mountainous, encompassing the Spreca Valley, where larger settlements such as Tuzla, Zivinice, Banovici, Kalesija, Lukavac, Gracanica, and Doboj are located (**Figure 3**).



Figure 3. Spreca River Basin (Spreca, 2016)

Due to the artificial accumulation of Modrac, the floodplain of the Spreca River has been divided into two parts in most previous studies: upstream of the Modrac accumulation and downstream from the Modrac accumulation to Doboj. The Spreca River is very significant in terms of economic, agricultural, industrial, and ecological factors, as its potential is utilized in providing water for the needs of the population, supplying water for industry, and developing tourism, recreation, and water sports, etc.

According to the Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment for Category I and II Watercourses in the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina (AVP Sava, 2013), the flood risk in the catchment area of the Spreca River is assessed as

potentially significant, and additional measures are needed to reduce flood hazards. In the past, various projects have been implemented to regulate the riverbed of the Spreca, mainly in the areas of the municipalities of Zivinice and Lukavac. This measure reduces the flood risk in those areas, but the water is diverted further into Gracanica, Petrovo, and Doboj, which face an increased flooding risk, as it can be expected that a faster and greater intensity of water will reach the areas downstream of the regulated waterways.

# **3. Model for assessing vulnerability in a GIS environment by incorporating the AHP multicriteria decision-making method**

In the development of the model in a GIS environment for the purposes of this study, all collected data from available spatial planning documents, as well as from flood hazard maps published in the preliminary flood risk assessment (AVP Sava, 2013), have been placed in a spatial database repository including their structuring, definition, valuation, and classification of criteria necessary for vulnerability analysis. The establishment of the spatial database was conducted according to ISO standards (ISO/TC211, 2024), taking into account all principles of the OpenGIS Consortium (OGC, 2024), to ultimately achieve an acceptable level of interoperability (data exchange with other institutions). All datasets used in the analysis were stored in the database. For the vulnerability analysis based on available data, eight criteria were selected (relief and slope of the terrain; population number, i.e., population density; agricultural land; buildings; road infrastructure; construction land; industry; and forests) (E. Ferhatbegovic, 2017), which were placed in the spatial database. For the purposes of further analysis, a new attribute, i.e., a weight factor of flood exposure, was added to all criterion tables. The process of defining criteria generally involved their conflict, i.e., the inability to simultaneously and uniformly consider all, therefore, AHP analysis was included in the analysis of data placed in the previously created geospatial database repository. In preparation for conducting the multicriteria analysis, all tables in the database were expanded with an additional column into which optional values for individual criteria were entered. The evaluation of criteria was performed using numerical values (weight factors of 1, 3, or 5), where 1 indicates a low level of flood exposure, 3 indicates a medium level of flood exposure, and 5 indicates a high level of flood exposure. Before obtaining the actual values of corresponding criteria for vulnerability assessment, the procedure includes evaluating the importance of each individual criterion. Considering the number of defined criteria and four dimensions of vulnerability (social vulnerability, environmental vulnerability, physical vulnerability, and economic vulnerability), a total of 28 comparisons were made. The comparison of criteria was performed using Saaty's scale (Saaty, 2008) for the specified dimensions of vulnerability. After ranking the criteria

at the given level of hierarchy, they were placed into the corresponding comparison matrices (**Figure 4**). Given that eight criteria were defined that configure the analysis, a reciprocal matrix with eight columns and eight rows was formed. It should be noted that the scores are transposed over the main diagonal of the matrix, so that the corresponding scores (from 1 to 8) receive a reciprocal value, symmetrically along the main diagonal (Ferhatbegovic, 2016).

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & a_{13} & a_{14} & a_{15} & a_{16} & a_{17} & a_{18} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} & a_{23} & a_{24} & a_{25} & a_{26} & a_{27} & a_{28} \\ a_{31} & a_{32} & a_{33} & a_{34} & a_{35} & a_{36} & a_{37} & a_{38} \\ a_{41} & a_{42} & a_{43} & a_{44} & a_{45} & a_{46} & a_{47} & a_{48} \\ a_{51} & a_{52} & a_{53} & a_{54} & a_{55} & a_{55} & a_{57} & a_{58} \\ a_{61} & a_{62} & a_{63} & a_{64} & a_{65} & a_{66} & a_{67} & a_{68} \\ a_{71} & a_{72} & a_{73} & a_{74} & a_{75} & a_{76} & a_{77} & a_{78} \\ a_{81} & a_{82} & a_{83} & a_{84} & a_{85} & a_{86} & a_{87} & a_{88} \end{bmatrix}$$

#### Figure 4. Comparison matrix

From the comparison matrix, the weights of individual criteria are calculated, determining the influence of each criterion in the aggregate rating of each alternative solution from the lowest level of the hierarchy. Based on the results of the previous step, each criterion received a corresponding weight coefficient that defines its relative value in relation to the established goal. The weight values of the criteria range between 0 and 1, with a higher coefficient value indicating a greater value of that criterion. Since the vulnerability analysis is conducted according to previously defined dimensions of vulnerability, specific criteria were assigned values depending on the dimension.

The multicriteria analysis in GIS is realized by applying cartographic algebra over factor (criteria) maps, which requires data classification, assigning each data entry an additional attribute (weight value, data classification). After the data classification, the creation of factor maps for all criteria was undertaken. Given that the collected data are in vector format (except for the DTM), they were converted into rasters (grids) on which the geospatial analysis is performed. The rasterization of vector data was carried out in the GIS software MapInfo Pro using the Raster module.

After creating the factor maps for each defined criterion, the next step involves the creation of preliminary vulnerability maps. To define vulnerability zones, a scale with 5 levels of ranking was used, with qualitative descriptions: 1 - very low vulnerability; 2 - low vulnerability; 3 - moderate vulnerability; 4 -

high vulnerability; 5 - very high vulnerability. The essence of zoning consists of determining the boundaries of different degrees of hazard in the field.

## 3.1. Limitations of available data

Since the catchment area of the Spreča River spans across the territory of two entities with divided responsibilities, it is not possible to obtain identical data for the entire catchment area, as the data is not collected at the same time intervals, or with the same accuracy and resolution. This paper uses official data from various institutions and levels of government, such as cadastral data from the relevant municipal authorities, data from the Civil Protection Administration of the Tuzla Canton, data from the statistical agencies of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina and the Republic of Srpska entities, public company Spreča, etc. Given this, the greatest challenge is the collection of adequate data.

## 4. Research Results

The generation of preliminary vulnerability maps was accomplished by summing the products of normalized weight factors with factor maps for each defined criterion. This generation was carried out in the MapInfo Pro software package using the Raster module with the 'Calculator' option.

For the preliminary vulnerability assessment, the following formulas were used:

Social Vulnerability

SV=" terrain\_slope \* 0.33 + "population\_density" \* 0.227 + "buildings" \* 0.156 + "transport\_corridors" \* 0.107 + "agriculture" \* 0.073 + "industry" \* 0.05 + "construction land" \* 0.034 + "forests" \* 0.024

Environmental Vulnerability

EnV= " terrain\_slope " \* 0.33 + "agriculture" \* 0.227 + "forests" \* 0.156 + "transport\_corridors" \* 0.107 + "population\_density" \* 0.073 + "buildings" \* 0.05 + "construction land" \* 0.034 + "industry" \* 0.024

Physical Vulnerability

PV=" terrain\_slope " \* 0.33 + "transport\_corridors" \* 0.227 + "industry" \* 0.156 + "buildings" \* 0.107 + "construction land" \* 0.073 + "agriculture" \* 0.05 + "population\_density" \* 0.034 + "forests" \* 0.024

Economic Vulnerability

EcV=" terrain\_slope " \* 0.33 + "industry" \* 0.227 + "buildings" \* 0.156 + "agriculture" \* 0.107 + "construction land\* 0.073 + "transport\_corridors" \* 0.05 + "forests" \* 0.034 + "population\_density" \* 0.024 In general, the first concrete step in reducing vulnerability and managing flood risks is to determine the areas where flood vulnerability is high, where the flood risk is unacceptably high, and where most activities should be directed towards preventive flood defense. The preliminary vulnerability maps contain displays of vulnerability ratings for the entire Spreca River catchment area, highlighting zones 4 and 5 (zones of high and very high vulnerability). Factor maps for each analyzed criterion are shown in **Figure 5**.



Figure 5. Factor maps for each selected criterion

Analysis of the generated maps of social vulnerability (Figure 6), maps of environmental vulnerability (Figure 7), maps of physical vulnerability



(Figure 8), map of economic vulnerability (Figure 9), revealed that significant areas of the analyzed region fall within high and very high vulnerability zones.

Figure 6. Preliminary map of social vulnerability



Figure 7. Preliminary map of environmental vulnerability



Figure 8. Preliminary map of physical vulnerability



Figure 9. Preliminary map of economic vulnerability

From the perspective of social vulnerability, it was found that approximately 0.77% (about 15.2 km<sup>2</sup>) of the total area of the Spreca River catchment has high and very high vulnerability. Out of the total number of buildings (155,120), around 10.5% of these buildings are located in zones of high and very high vulnerability.

From the perspective of environmental vulnerability, the analysis has shown that approximately 0.83% (about 16.45 km<sup>2</sup>) of the area of the Spreca River catchment has high and very high vulnerability. In the zones of very high and high vulnerability, there are 7.13 km<sup>2</sup> of mostly high-quality arable agricultural land.

In the area of the Spreca River catchment, there is a total of 440.33 km of road infrastructure, of which 172.86 km are main roads, 24.38 km are regional roads, and about 243.09 km are other road routes. It is important to note that smaller local roads were not considered in the analysis. In addition to the road network, there is approximately 127 km of railway lines in the catchment area. The most critical infrastructure is the road network, where in the identified zones of high and very high flood vulnerability, there are 16.4 km of main roads, 0.6 km of regional roads, and 8.16 km of other road routes, along with 9.16 km of railway lines. In the zone of high and very high vulnerability, there are 1,807 buildings, which represents 1.165% of the total number of buildings.

According to the economic dimension of vulnerability, it was found that in the zones of very high and high vulnerability, there are approximately 8.42 km<sup>2</sup> of agricultural land, 4.2 km<sup>2</sup> of forest land, and 2.31 km<sup>2</sup> of urban areas.

These indicators provide a picture of the actual state, reflecting the exposure of the population, inhabited areas, and their (un)preparedness to recover from floods. Additionally, this may indicate poor social integration that affects people of low economic status, the unemployed, the sick, etc. On the other hand, indicators related to the environmental vulnerability dimension point to the fact that the area has developed from the perspective of technological rationality, which has long-term detrimental consequences for arable land, vegetation, and all other aspects of the environment. This indicates the conclusion that development based on technological rationality should be altered, and development should be based on the principles of ecological rationality.

The presentation of vulnerability maps through web-based geoportals contributes to better public awareness as well as to potential investors, enabling them a quick and easy way to determine the level of flood vulnerability at a location of interest for construction (**Figure 10**).



Figure 10. Web presentation of flood vulnerability maps

# 4. Conclusion

Floods are a natural phenomenon that cannot be prevented, but with a high degree of probability, they can be predicted. Unplanned anthropogenic activities significantly contribute to the increased likelihood and harmful effects of extreme floods, which manifest in direct damage and losses that particularly affect vulnerable categories of the population. Sustainable development requires reducing disaster risk, strengthening the resilience of communities, and implementing preventive measures aimed at mitigating the negative impacts of floods on socio-economic development.

Geoinformation tools (GIS), combined with multicriteria analyses, are indispensable tools for mapping, modeling, and various analyses in disaster management at different levels. This study demonstrates a straightforward way of utilizing geoinformation tools in monitoring, modeling, analyzing, planning, and ultimately making effective decisions in the context of reducing vulnerability and managing flood risks toward sustainable development.

The obtained preliminary maps and continuous monitoring can significantly contribute to the establishment of an early warning system for floods, reducing flood damages, and of course saving lives. The presentation of vulnerability maps through web-based geoportals enhances public awareness as well as that of potential investors, providing them with a quick and easy way to determine the level of flood vulnerability at locations of interest for construction.

#### References

Aerts, J. C. (2020). Integrating agent-based approaches with flood risk models: A review and perspective. Water Security.

AVP Sava, A. z. (2013). Preliminarna procjena poplavnog rizika na vodotocima I i II kategorije u FBiH. Sarajevo.

CRED. (2024). The International Disaster Database. (CRED) Retrieved from The International Disaster Database: https://www.emdat.be/

E. Ferhatbegovic, J. M. (2017). Preliminary flood vulnerability assessment in the framework of spatial planning. 1st International Symposium Knowledge FOr Resilient soCiEty. Novi SAD: K-FORCE.

Ferhatbegovic, E. (2016). Environmental natural exogenous risk management in the function of vulnerability raduction. Tuzla: University of Tuzla.

ISO/TC211. (2024). ISOStandards.Retrieved from https://www.iso.org/committee /54904/x/ catalogue/

NWS. (2012). Summary of Natural Hazard Statistics for 2012 in the United States. National Weather Service, United State.

OGC. (2024). Open Geospatial Consortium.Retrieved From ttps://www.ogc.org/

Saaty, T. L. (2008). Decision making with the Analytic Hierarchy Process.

International Journal of Services Sciences.

Slobodnaevropa, R. (2024). Radio slobodnaevropa. Retrieved from https://www. slobodnaevropa.org/a/bih-poplave-jablanica-konjic-kiseljak-kresevo-fojnica/33145973.html

Smith, K. W. (1998). Floods: Physical Processes & Human Impacts. Wiley, New.

Spreca, J. (2016). Javno preduzece Spreca. Retrieved from https://spreca.com/

Y. Nakagawa, R. S. (2004). Social Capital: A Missing Link to Disaster Recovery.

#### Overview of Sustainability Practices in Higher Education Institutions in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Montenegro

Entela ÇOBANI<sup>1</sup>, Joana GJIPALAJ<sup>2</sup> Ledia ALEKSI<sup>3</sup>, Blerina BEQAJ<sup>4</sup> Konalsi GJOKA<sup>5</sup>, Oltion MARKO<sup>6</sup>

#### Abstract

In the last decade we are facing climate change, by adopting different strategies and plans. Higher Education Institutions (HEIs) have a pivotal role to counteract climate change by implementing sustainability practices and projects, within their curricula, study programs, and research activities. The aim of this study was to identify the climate change and sustainability practices in six HEIs of the Western Balkan Countries (Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Montenegro). This research is done in the framework of IFUTURE project, where all these higher education institutions are partners. The results showed a lack in institutional frameworks focused on climate change and sustainability. While curricula review revealed a variation within and between HEIs of WBCs related to the percentage of climate change and sustainability practices offered from each program type (Bch, MSc, PhD). Moreover, it was reported the involvement of these universities in various projects, focused in solving real problems, and disseminating knowledge and sustainable practices.

**Keywords:** *Climate Change, Sustainability, Higher Education Institutions, Western Balkan Countries, Curricula.* 

#### 1. Introduction

Climate changes has affected almost all European countries, especially the south of Europe exposing these countries to a different climate cycle and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Department of Environmental Engineering, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Polytechnic University of Tirana, entela.cobani@fin.edu.al

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Department of Environmental Engineering, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Polytechnic University of Tirana, joana.gjipalaj@fin.edu.al

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Department of Environmental Engineering, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Polytechnic University of Tirana, ledia.aleksi@fin.edu.al

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Department of Environmental Engineering, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Polytechnic University of Tirana, blerina.beqaj@fin.edu.al

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Department of Environmental Engineering, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Polytechnic University of Tirana, konalsi.gjoka@fin.edu.al

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Department of Environmental Engineering, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Polytechnic University of Tirana, oltion.marko@fin.edu.al

challenges. European Union countries have already adopted many strategies aiming to reduce the impact of climate changes in the future. The most important one is the European Green Deal (2019), which is part of the strategy for the implementation of the United Nation's 2030 Agenda and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Since Western Balkan Countries are willing to adhere in the EU, these plans and activities aims to affect also their policies in terms of implementation of new strategies toward climate changes and sustainability. It has been showed that although some of these countries have adopted new policies, the implementation of specific activities is at low level (Knez et al., 2022). However, almost all countries have already addressed some big issues by redirecting their electricity production toward hydropower and solar panels, which itself will bring a more sustainable and independent economy (Korzeb et al., 2024).

Many actors can help with the adoption and implementation of new strategies for climate change including governative bodies (ministries, national agencies, etc.), non governative bodies, organization of civil society, media through the raise of public awareness, etc. Lately, literature considers as the most important actor the Higher Education Institutions HEIs, which can lead the process through research, education and community engagement (Lozano et al., 2013; Serafini et al., 2022; Alfathy, 2024; Sart, 2022). However, curricula, study programs and approach in these higher education institutions should adopt many changes following the new EU regulations and strategies (Biancardi et al., 2023; Omazic et al., 2021).

To achieve this, researchers, professors and students from Western Balkans should collaborate with each other in order to produce and understand their new path toward sustainable development in different dimensions such as environment, green economy, responsible water and other natural resources management. The role of the Higher Education Institutions HEIs can be crucial in solving the main issues of climate changes and sustainability through innovation, research, intellectual capacities and public credibility.

The aim of this study is to analyse the climate change and sustainability practices in each of HEI of the Western Balkan Countries, in specific Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Montenegro. This research is done in the framework of 1FUTURE project, where all these higher education institutions are partners.

# 2. Methodology

The research presented in this article is based on one of the findings of 1FUTURE project. This project has been funded with support from the European Commission, within ERASMUS + programme. This section presents the methodology used during the completion of the task related to all sustainability practices at Higher Education Institutions in Albania,

Montenegro and Bosnia and Hercegovina. For this purpose, from each Higher Education Institution HEI part of the 1FUTURE project was collected the following information by completing a word document with these sections:

- National legal and strategic framework for the development of climate and sustainability initiatives.
- The institutional framework for the development of climate and sustainability initiatives.
- Review of curricula related to climate and sustainability.
- List of projects related to climate and sustainability.
- List of services related to climate and sustainability.

The purpose of classifying the sustainability practices as mentioned above was to create an overview of the current situation at WBC HEIs, and then to compare these findings. The detailed information was reported from six Higher Education Institutions:

- three HEIs in Albania: Polytechnic University of Tirana (PUT), University of Tirana (UT), and Luarasi University (ULA);
- two HEIs in Bosnia and Herzegovina: University of Tuzla (UTZ), and University College CEPS Kiseljak;
- one HEI in Montenegro: University of Montenegro (UoM).

From these Higher Education Institutions, four of them are public (Polytechnic University of Tirana (PUT) and University of Tirana (UT) in Albania, University of Tuzla (UTZ) in Bosnia and Herzegovina, and University of Montenegro (UoM) in Montenegro) while two are private (Luarasi University (ULA) in Albania and University College CEPS Kiseljak in Bosnia and Herzegovina.

The data related to national legal and strategic framework for the development of climate and sustainability initiatives were collected from each HEI and are reported at the country level in the results section.

All other datas were reported at the institutional level for each HEI of Albania, Montenegro and Bosnia and Hercegovina.

Regarding the information about the review of the curricula related to climate and sustainability was reported at the institutional level for all study programs offered from each HEI, as well as with the number of study programs in which some subjects are related to climate change and sustainability practices, and the percentage that this subject has for each program type (Bachelor/Master/PhD).

# 3. Analysis & Discussion

Facing the urgent need to combat with the impacts of climate change, the first part of this research was focused on the analysis of laws, regulations, strategies

and other legal initiatives related to climate and sustainability in the Western Balkans (Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Montenegro). This analysis revealed a good commitment of the policy makers in these WBCs as it is shown in figure 1 where the information is categorized in three main areas:

- 1. National Strategy, Action Plans, Framework Cooperation
- 2. Law on Environmental protection
- 3. By-Law or DCM or Decree on Environment protection.





As can be seen Albania and Bosnia and Herzegovina has the same number of National Strategy, Action Plans, and Framework Cooperation, respectively 12, followed by Montenegro with 5. Moreover, Albania and Bosnia and Herzegovina have more approved Laws on Environmental protection than National Strategy, Action Plans, Framework Cooperation, while Montenegro has less. Whereas if we refer to the third category, Albania has a 15 approved By-Law or DCM or Decree on Environment protection, while Montenegro Bosnia and Herzegovina have only one.

In relation to the institutional frameworks for the development of climate and sustainability initiatives, a lack of them was noticed in each of the higher education institutions involved in this study. Almost all HEIs from Albania and Bosnia and Herzegovina reported mainly the higher education laws, and some internal regulations or strategies.

Recognizing that in each higher education institutions in the Western Balkans the sustainability practices can be different, depending on specific needs and capabilities of individual institutions since some of them are public and some other private, we were focused on the review of curricula related to climate and sustainability. In figure 2, 3 and 4 are given the statistics related to the total number of Bachelor/Master/PhD programs for each HEI in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Montenegro, and the percentage of those programs offering Climate Change and Sustainability Practices.



% of Climate Change and Sustainability Practices for each program type

Figure 2. Study programs offered from each Higher Education Institution in Albania and the percentage of climate change and sustainability practices for each program type.

As can be seen in Figure 2, Albanian HEIs offers different study programs at all three levels, both in terms of quantity and curriculum.

The University of Tirana offers the largest number of study programs (33 Bachelors, 76 Master of Sciences and 33 Professional Masters) varying from economic science, natural sciences to social sciences, while the Polytechnic University of Tirana offers study programs related to engineering sciences in 20 Bachelor programs, 31 Master of Sciences, 15 Professional Masters and 12 PhD programs. Luarasi University offers in total 14 study programs in economic sciences, medical sciences, to law, from which 5 Bachelors, 5 Master of Sciences and 4 Professional Masters.

The study programs which offers at least a course in Climate Change and/or Sustainability field at each of the public and private Albanian Universities differs as follow: 3 Bachelor, 5 Master of Sciences and 3 Professional Masters at the University of Tirana; 4 Bachelor, 7 Master of Sciences, 1 Professional Masters and 5 PhD programs at the Polytechnic University of Tirana; and 2 Bachelor, 2 Master of Sciences at Luarasi University.

The PhD programs at the Polytechnic University of Tirana and specific PhD thesis at the University of Tirana offer more climate and sustainability related initiatives than any other program. This is due to the focus of the PhD projects on topics related to the impact of climate change on the environment, sustainability, and not only.



% of Climate Change and Sustainability Practices for each program type



The review of curricula for HEIs in Bosnia and Herzegovina is shown in figure 3. The University College CEPS Kiseljakla in Bosnia and Herzegovina offers only 7 Bachelor programs, where 6 of them offers in their curricula topics or practices related to climate change and sustainability. The 7 bachelor study programs offered by the University College CEPS Kiseljakla are focused on engineering sciences, economic sciences and health sciences.

While, the University of Tuzla offers a variety of bachelor, Master of Science and PhD study programs, respectively 49, 52 and 22, focused in engineering sciences, economic sciences, health sciences, sport sciences, social sciences, law, natural sciences etc. The number of study programs offering climate change and sustainability practices is respectively: 20 Bachelors, 13 Master of Sciences, and 8 PhD programs.

The review of curricula at the University of Montenegro in Montenegro it is shown in figure 4, where the huge number of Bachelor and Master of Science programs stands out. Since the University of Montenegro is the only state university in Montenegro, offers study programs related to engineering sciences, art, economic sciences, health sciences, sport sciences, social sciences, law, natural sciences etc, in 64 Bachelor programs, 67 Master of Sciences, 6 Professional Masters and 24 PhD programs.

The study programs which offer at least a course in Climate Change and/or Sustainability Field at UoM are: 17 Bachelor, 16 Master of Sciences, 3 Professional Masters and 2 PhD programs.



% of Climate Change and Sustainability Practices for each program type

Figure 4. Study programs offered from the Higher Education Institution in Montenegro and the percentage of climate change and sustainability practices for each program type

Another category taken into analysis within this research is the participation of HEIs in the WBCs in sustainability-related projects. These projects are financed from different founds, like national entities, European Commission or other international organizations, which has in focus a better future in terms of economic, social and environmental issues. In Albania there are still most of the projects on-going, which will improve the climate change and sustainability problems, by taking into consideration all the factors. Montenegro and Bosnia and Herzegovina have already finished the majority of these projects, which were numerous in number, variety of topics, and funding sources.

Table 1. Projects dealing with sustainability issues in each Higher Education
Institution in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Montenegro.

		No of project related to climate change and sustainability	ongoing	No of SDGs
	Polytechnic University of Tirana	13	7	5
Albania	University of Tirana	16	13	8
	Luarasi University	2	2	7

	University of Tuzla	9	2	7
Bosnia and Herzegovinia	and ovinia College CEPS Kiseljakla	2	6	
Montenegro	University of Montenegro	78	10	13

Finally, the analysis of the services related to climate and sustainability offered from each HEI, revealed that most of them are indirectly linked with the climate change and sustainability issues. These services include trainings; professional courses; scientific activities (Conferences, workshops, etc.), expertise to the government; expertise in writing and developing different projects; testing for the certification of experts for environmental impact assessment and environmental audit; Technical and scientific evaluation of development and infrastructure projects; Management in crisis situation; etc.

Moreover, some of the HEIs organize raising awareness activities and promoting environmentally friendly practices to all students and staff and participating in various events and activities.

## 4. Conclusions and Recommendations

In summary, at the country level an overview of legal and strategic framework related to climate change and sustainability was provided, and it can be concluded that WBCs are in the process of adopting the necessary regulations and strategies towards climate change sustainability initiatives.

Based on the analysis, none of the higher education institutions has already approved or in use institutional frameworks focused in climate change and sustainability.

HEIs in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Montenegro performed the review of the curricula for all study programs offered at each HEI, by giving the information related to climate and sustainability practices included in each study program. Curricula review revealed a variation within and between HEIs of WBCs related to the percentage of climate change and sustainability practices offered from each program type (Bch, MSc, PhD). This variation was evident even between public and private HEIs, due to the differences in the number and types of offered study programs. Study programs offered in Albanian HEIs, Bosnia and Herzegovina HEIs, and University of Montenegro

has already almost the same inclusion values of sustainability practices part of their curricula.

Higher education institutions have good experience regarding the various climate change and sustainability related projects in which they have been or are involved, since some of them are currently on-going. The large number of these projects shows the commitment of each country as well as the European Union or other organizations for financial support and not only for these Western Balkans Countries.

The curricula of each program type (Bch, MSc, PhD) in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Montenegro's HEIs should include more topics or practices linked with the climate change issues and sustainability development. Moreover, HEIs in these WBCs should prepare and implement specific plans or strategies in their institutional framework for a more sustainable development environment.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the University of Tirana (UT), Luarasi University (ULA), University of Tuzla (UTZ), University College CEPS Kiseljak, and University of Montenegro (UoM) for their contribution by providing their data.

#### References

Alfathy, R.M., Saputro, S., Sarwanto, S., & Ramli, M. (2024). Implementation of sustainable development goals in higher education modalities: Literature review. Journal of Turkish Science Education, 21(1), 22-43. DOI:10.36681/tused.2024.002

Biancardi, A., Colasante, A., D'Adamo. I., Daraio. C., Gastaldi. M., & Uricchio, A.F. (2023). Strategies for developing sustainable communities in higher education institutions. Scientific Reports,13:20596. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-48021-8

Knez, S., Štrbac, S., & Podbregar, I. (2022). Climate change in the Western Balkans and EU Green Deal: status, mitigation and challenges. Energy, Sustainability and Society, 12:1 https://doi.org/10.1186/s13705-021-00328-y

Korzeb, Z., Alonso-Fariñas, B., Irimia-Diéguez, A. I., Jimenez Naharro, F., Kobylińska, U., di Pietro, F., Palacin Sanchez, M. J., Rollnik-Sadowska, E., Szpilko, D., Szydło, J., & de la Torre Gallegos, A. (2024). The future of European universities on the path to sustainable development. Engineering Management in Production and Services, 16(2), 68-89. doi: 10.2478/emj-2024-0014

Lozano, R., Lozano, F. J., Mulder, K., Huisingh, D., & Waas, T. (2013). Advancing Higher Education for Sustainable Development: International insights and critical reflections. Journal of Cleaner Production, 48, 3-9. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.03.034

Omazic, A.; Zunk, B.M. (2021). Semi-Systematic Literature Review on Sustainability and Sustainable Development in Higher Education Institutions. Sustainability, 13, 7683. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13147683 Sart, G. (2022). Impact of Higher Education and Globalization on Sustainable Development in the New EU Member States. Sustainability, 14(19), 11916. doi: 10.3390/su141911916

Serafini, P. G., de Moura, J. M., de Almeida, M. R., & de Rezende, J. F. D. (2022). Sustainable Development Goals in Higher Education Institutions: A systematic literature review. Journal of Cleaner Production, 370, 133473. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.133473

#### Hydroponic Farming in Albania: A Cost-Benefit Analysis of Sustainability and Innovation

Frida KUÇI<sup>1</sup>

## Abstract

With an emphasis on its potential to transform conventional agriculture and its compatibility with sustainable development goals, this study investigates the viability and socioeconomic effects of hydroponic farming in Albania. A soilless cultivation technique that uses nutrient-rich water solutions, hydroponic farming has many advantages, including increased yields, lower water usage, and year-round production in controlled conditions. Because of these qualities, it is very useful for tackling issues with resource efficiency, food security, and climate change.

The study assesses the advantages, disadvantages, opportunities, and dangers related to hydroponic farming in Albania using a combination of SWOT and cost-benefit analysis. Reduced labor and pesticide use, higher crop yields, and low land needs are some of its main advantages; on the other hand, its high starting expenses and reliance on technical know-how are its main disadvantages.

According to the cost-benefit analysis, hydroponic farms can produce a profit in three years with a positive net present value and internal rate of return, even with a large initial expenditure. Additionally, by increasing food security, lowering greenhouse gas emissions, and encouraging innovation in agriculture, hydroponic farming advances larger socioeconomic objectives. The study comes to the conclusion that hydroponic farming is a practical and sustainable way for Albanians to grow their own fruits and vegetables. In order to overcome implementation obstacles and facilitate the broad adoption of this cutting-edge agricultural technique, policy recommendations include financial subsidies and strategic support.

**Keywords:** Vertical Farming, Cost-benefit Analysis, Sustainability, Hydroponic Farm, Swot Analysis.

**Jel code:** Q01, Q16, Q25

## 1. Introduction

This study examines the feasibility and possible effects of hydroponic farming

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Student in Master of Science in Accounting and Auditing, Department of Accounting University of Tirana, Albania

in Albania, highlighting how it fits in with the objectives of sustainable development and the growing need for effective agricultural solutions worldwide. Growing plants in a nutrient-rich water solution without soil is known as hydroponic farming, and it offers benefits such as year-round production, lower water consumption, and higher yields than traditional farming (MyGreenTerra, 2023). The report highlights prospects like resource efficiency, environmental advantages, and market demand for sustainable products while evaluating implementation constraints including high startup prices and energy demands.

According to a cost-benefit analysis (CBA), hydroponic farming can earn a profit in three years despite hefty startup expenses, provided that it has a high internal rate of return and positive net cash flows. Strengths like year-round production and resource efficiency are highlighted by the SWOT analysis, coupled with weaknesses like high startup costs and reliance on energy. Threats from consumer mistrust and opportunities in sustainable agriculture are also taken into account.

The results highlight how hydroponic farming has the potential to revolutionize Albanian agriculture by increasing food security, encouraging environmental sustainability, and stimulating economic growth. Policy steps to lower implementation costs and improve technical assistance are among the recommendations, which will guarantee the long-term viability and scalability of hydroponic farming endeavors.

## 2. Literature review

The necessity for nations to demonstrate progress on the 17 UN goals is becoming increasingly pressing as the 2030 agenda deadline approaches. However, how would this be best accomplished? Which objective is more important than the others? Where should we direct our attention, and more significantly, where can each of us personally devote our time, effort, and resources to affecting constructive change in the world?

The answer to a seemingly modern question was answered just 25 years ago, when Dickson Despommier, a professor at Columbia University, and his students designed a vertical farm model. They claimed that "plants grown in high-rise buildings erected on now vacant city lots and in large, multistory rooftop greenhouses could produce food year-round using significantly less water, producing little waste, with less risk of infectious diseases, and no need for fossil-fueled machinery or transport from distant rural farms" (Despommier, 2009, quoted in Growing Skyscrapers: The Rise of Vertical Farms, 2009,).

Vertical Farming is not a new invention. One of the first sightings of this concept was seen by the Babylonians over 2500 years ago when the prototype of vertical farming was manifested in the form of a hanging garden (The Editors of Encyclopedia Britannica). As the technology involved and the need for a higher quantity of crops grew, but the land to potentially grow these crops didn't, we decided to look for an alternative where we could optimize the use of land with the number of crops and vertical farming as an official term was created.

Vertical Farming encompasses several systems, including hydroponics, aquaponics, and aeroponics (Eden Green Technology). Aquaponics is a method that combines hydroponics with fish farming. Hydroponics is a method in which the roots of the plants are immersed in a nutrient-rich water solution. As the name implies, the main goal of aeroponics is to grow plants in a nutrient-rich mist solution while ostensibly leaving them in the air.

The kind of system you can use to make a profit depends on what country in where you live or wish to run a vertical farm. Hydroponics is the most popular vertical grow system. The plant-growing technique is much simpler to comprehend and apply, making it user-friendly for beginners. Because the equipment needed for this system is easier to locate, the expenses of putting it into place are comparatively lower than those of the other approaches.

One benefit of hydroponic vertical systems is undoubtedly their ease of implementation, but there are further benefits as well. The potential for ongoing agricultural production is the first benefit. As long as the conditions necessary for the crops' development are continuously monitored, a hydroponic system enables you to sustain and grow crops throughout the year. When considering the number of crops produced each season, Despommier claims that "a single indoor acre of a vertical farm may generate more than 30 acres of farmland" (Dickson Despommier,2009).

The second advantage is that a hydroponic system enables a reduction in the overall quantity of pesticides used for plants. Many vertical arms utilize ladybugs to control any potential infestation (Birkby, 2016). This makes the plants more organic and healthier and reduces the health risks associated with improper usage of herbicides used to grow and defend plants from insects.

The third benefit has to do with how much water the system uses. We know from the system's name that it requires water, and although this type of vertical farming may appear to use a lot of water, it actually uses it quite efficiently. In addition to being filtered and utilized frequently by the system, the water in which the plants are submerged is rich in nutrients that support their growth. Compared to conventional farms, hydroponic farms use 70% to 95% less water (LED iBond, 2022). The fourth benefit derives from a design position. Hydroponic farms are particularly climate-friendly, although all vertical farms are. It is less expensive to grow crops indoors since you would need to cultivate four times as much land to produce the same number of plants as you could in a smaller area. Both the amount of CO2 and the amount of fossil fuels burned by the equipment that would be used to pot the plants are decreasing.

Although a hydroponic system has numerous advantages, just like anything else in the world, it also has drawbacks. It should be mentioned that the system's operating side features are its drawbacks rather than the farm's functionality or design. The system's productivity is higher than that of traditional farming since, like anything else, it is costly.

The expense of land and construction is the first drawback. Since the equipment must be purchased at a special store and ordered especially for your farm, the installation costs are typically significant (Bendanillo, 2023). A large area is also required to develop a farm in order to make a high profit; these farms are typically found outside of large cities so that customers are close by and the farmer can reduce the cost of transportation to the businesses or customers.

The energy consumption is the second drawback. The cost of electricity to keep the machinery working constantly, to maintain the temperature through heat and lightning, and to keep the water constantly filtering and flowing through the system is expensive, even though the cost of transportation for the fuel used is less than on typical farms (Barnes, 2023).

The third drawback is that there are only so many crops you can grow. Various plants require varied amounts of water and light, and they also have different growth cycles (Growee, 2023). It will be more expensive to maintain both sorts of plants together if these types are mixed. Keeping plants with comparable growing cycles and requirements is therefore advised; this results in a smaller number of plants but a better profit.

The process of pollinating the crops is the fourth drawback. Insects are responsible for pollination in nature, but when it comes to vertical farming, insects are typically excluded entirely. Since there is no other option in this situation, pollination must be done by hand, which can be expensive and time-consuming (Agrotonomy, 2018).

There are benefits and drawbacks to every technique, but in the case of hydroponic farming, the drawbacks are more operational in nature than they are impact related. The implementation phase is when the drawbacks are most apparent, but business breaks even and then turn a profit three to four years later.

This has not taken back a lot of farmers or businessmen to take an interest in hydroponic farming as the interest only grows year after year 10 as studies show that hydroponic farms have a higher yield of crops compared to traditional farming (Khan, 2018). The most prominent country that uses hydroponic practices is the Netherlands where these practices make up over 10% of countries' produce (Agrifarming, 2022).

While today the Netherlands is considered the motherland of hydroponic farming in Europe, the origin of this concept was created almost 2500 years ago in the form of hanging gardens created by the Babylonians (The Editors of Encyclopedia Britannica, 2019b). These gardens were mostly constructed of bushes and trees but as technology and the human race were involved these gardens were transformed into farms in controlled environment agriculture.

Other nations also noticed this pattern, in addition to the Netherlands. Many nations, including Albania, are becoming increasingly interested in educating farmers about the potential to transform their farms as the UN's 2030 plan draws near. EU projects like Prover PROJECT (PROVER, 2024), which focuses more on vertical armament and aims to bring this idea to Balkan nations like Greece, North Macedonia, Montenegro, and Albania, are providing the education.

The vocational education training school "Charles Telford Erickson," a professional high school where pupils are taught agriculture, has partnered with this program. The high school even has a farm, where they have joined the students as partners in this initiative after learning more about how to make their farm better throughout the training. The significant social impact that hydroponic farms have, despite their implementation expenses, is another factor contributing to the success of this endeavor. A hydroponic farm has a positive impact on 15 of the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) of the UN framework. Although all of the SDGs are significant and have a significant impact on society, we will only discuss three of them in this paper: Zero Hunger (SDG 2), Clean Water and Sanitation (SDG 6), and Climate Action (SDG 13).

Starting off with the Zero Hunger goal where we can say that hydroponic farming is an innovative solution to address global food security challenge (Vijaykumar et al., 2023). By enabling year-round crop production in controlled environments, hydroponic systems can provide consistent, high-quality yields regardless of external conditions such as soil quality or climate. This is particularly impactful in urban areas and regions with limited arable land, where traditional agriculture struggles to meet growing demands.

Moving on to the Clean Water and Sanitation goal where one of the most significant advantages of hydroponic farming as we mentioned is its water efficiency, using up to 90% less water compared to traditional agriculture. This

is achieved through closed-loop systems that recycle water and nutrients, drastically reducing waste and minimizing runoff that could contaminate nearby water sources (Cultivators, 2021). These systems are particularly valuable in regions experiencing water scarcity, where sustainable water use is crucial for agricultural and human needs.

The Climate Action aim comes last but certainly not least. Through a number of methods, hydroponic systems improve climate resilience and mitigation. Because hydroponics reduces the need for land, it prevents land degradation and deforestation, two major causes of greenhouse gas emissions. Furthermore, hydroponic farms can be located in metropolitan areas, reducing the carbon footprint associated with the movement of food from rural to urban areas. Additionally, these systems reduce reliance on chemical fertilizers and pesticides, which are significant sources of nitrous oxide emissions.

There are several practices around the world for vertical farming, where the most notable ones in Europe are in the Netherlands such as Grow (Farm, 2023), in the United States of America is Agrotonomy (Agrotonomy, n.d.) located in Arizona which also offers the equipment and plants for every business to operate their own vertical farm. These are the biggest cases in these places, but that doesn't mean that there are no cases in smaller countries as well. For example, in Albania, there is a hydroponic farm operating from 2014 called "HidroFarm" (HIDROFARM, 2024) and an aquaponics farm called "AquaPonics Albania" (Aquaponics, 2024), both farms are located near Tirana and going strong for almost 10 years now.

## 3. Methodology

# 3.1 The Study Area

The study area analyzed is located in Vora, near Tirana, Albania, characterized by a subtropical Mediterranean climate. This region experiences distinct seasonal variations, with winter rainfall and dry summers. The average annual temperature reaches approximately 24°C in July, while in January, it averages around 7°C. The area receives a significant amount of precipitation, totaling 1,189 mm annually (Wikipedia, 2005). These climatic conditions, particularly the moderate winter temperatures and ample rainfall, make Vora a suitable location for agricultural practices, including hydroponic farming, as they provide a stable environment conducive to year-round crop production.

# 3.2 Methodological Background

This paper employs a technique that combines qualitative and quantitative methodologies to thoroughly examine the prerequisites and potential impacts of investing in hydroponic farming in Albania. The qualitative analysis employs a SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats) framework to evaluate the internal and external aspects affecting hydroponics investments. This approach delineates critical strengths and prospects, including resource efficiency and market potential, while also confronting problems such as initial expenses to technological adoption.

According to (Kenton, 2024) SWOT analysis pinpoints important advantages and characteristics, like market potential and resource efficiency, For many years, SWOT analysis has been a crucial tool in strategic planning. It is separated into two primary sections that concentrate on the external and interior environments of phenomena or investments, respectively.

While "Weaknesses" are restrictions, flaws, or defects that impact a project's success, "Strengths" are the elements that can be managed in a company's internal environment and help a project be completed. In order to determine if a project is successful or not, the latter includes "Opportunities" and "Threats," which include the elements of the external environment that are indicated in each favorable change of some type and neglected necessity) and any negative circumstance, respectively.

A Cost-Benefit Analysis (CBA) framework serves as the foundation for the quantitative analysis. By calculating and contrasting the costs and advantages of hydroponic farming, this methodical technique assesses the socioeconomic effects of the practice. The CBA framework gives stakeholders a thorough grasp of the possible risks and benefits associated with putting hydroponic farming systems into place, making it especially useful for assessing the financial sustainability and wider economic impact of such investments.

Examining whether investing in a hydroponic farm may be both practical and economical is the study's primary research question. Through the website of "Grow Shop Mania" (Grow Shop Mania, 2024) were provided data on all costs and benefits associated with the greenhouse farm's annual operation in 2024 (Year 0). Circular economy concepts are adopted by the particular construction that is the subject of this article. All the equipment that isn't available at Grow Shop Mania in Albania will be purchased from another store in North, Macedonia. This will take a little longer, but the cost will be the same as it is on the website.

Three categories were used to group the expenses. First, the cost of the greenhouse structure, irrigation, electrical equipment (such as an irrigation system and generator), and installation labor are all included in the installation price. Second, the labor expenses associated with farm management are separated into two categories: family labor costs and labor costs for specialized and non-specialized workers.

Third, the acquisition of plants, fertilization and plant protection, water and energy, certifications, and any other charges are considered variable capital costs. Third, the acquisition of plants, fertilization and plant protection, water and energy, certifications, and any other charges are considered variable capital costs.

Installation Cost	Cost (€)
Main greenhouse structure	35,000
10 Axial Fans	3,836
Electricity Generator	1,000
Drip irrigation system	236
Drainage collection system	502
Total	40,574

**Table 1**. The installation cost for a hydroponic farm

Source: Grow Shop Mania website

 Table 2. The Labor cost for a hydroponic farm

Labor Cost	Cost (€)
Owner's labor	4.2 EUR/h × 1,440 h/year = 6,048
Specialized personnel's labor	5.3 EUR/h × 2400 h/year = 12,720
Non-specialized personnel's labor	3 EUR/h × 1200 h/year = 3,600
Total	19,128

Source: Interviews conducted with local stakeholders in Vora, Albania, including farmers (September 2024).

Variable Cost	Cost (€)
Plants	3,000
Fertilization 201	2966.8
Plant protection	2,000
Energy (heating)	1,350
Consultancy	100
Accountancy	400
Fuel	500
Total	10,316.8

Table 3. Variable capital costs for a hydroponic farm

Source: Interviews conducted with local stakeholders in Vora, Albania, including farmers (September 2024).

## 4. Analysis & Discussion

**Table 4**. Outline of Net Cash Flows in the Cost Benefit Analysis.

Financial Indicators	(€)
Annual revenues (EUR)	45,000
Annual expenses (EUR)	29,444.8

Annual net cash flows (EUR)	15,555.2
Installation costs (EUR)	40,574
Discount rate (%)	6

The costs for setting up a vertical farm have been estimated based on an operational area of 2,000 m<sup>2</sup>, which is in line with what we often see in the industry for smaller facilities. According to CambridgeHOK, the installation costs for vertical farms can vary quite a bit, typically falling between  $\in$ 1,400 and  $\in$ 1,800 per square meter, depending on how advanced the technology and automation are (CambridgeHOK, n.d.). So, for a farm of that size, we're looking at a total installation cost between  $\in$ 3.2 million and  $\in$ 4.6 million.

However, the proposed installation cost of just €40,574 indicates a much simpler setup. This means the farm would consist of basic greenhouse structures, some axial fans and when it comes to smaller-scale vertical farms, a simpler setup like drip irrigation and minimal automation can really be the way to go. This budget-friendly approach helps keep initial costs down while still getting the job done. It's interesting to see how experts, including those at AvazInc (AvazInc, 2019), emphasize that low-tech systems can actually save a lot of money in the long run.

The result of the CBA analysis validates the hydroponics farm's financial sustainability during the course of its six-year existence. While the NPV is likewise positive and equals EUR 6,901.6 in the third year, the IRR is positive (7%). Since the payback period is 3 years, the net cash flows by the third year of operation fully offset the initial capital of  $\notin$  40,574 as well as the yearly running expenses.

Strengths	Weaknesses
1. Increased yields throughout the year	<ol> <li>The high initial costs</li> <li>The need for specialist</li> </ol>
2. Low labor and pest control expenses	contractors 3. the lack of technical
3. Agricultural land is not required.	expertise and advisory support.
4. Circular economy ideas are	4. the vulnerability to

**Table 5.** SWOT analysis for a hydroponic farm.

	followed during construction and operation.		waterborne illnesses.
	Opportunities		Threats
1. 2.	Boosted demand for fruits and vegetables. Customers with an interest in environmentally friendly	1.	Customers believe that soilless products are not natural.
	production.	2.	of water and electricity.
3.	The potential for CEA goods to be certified as organic.	3.	Absence of specific financing for these kinds of investments.

Table 5 provides a SWOT analysis of Albanian hydroponics investments. The anticipated economic turnover is one of the most noteworthy strengths. This is a result of reduced labor and pest management expenses, as well as increased yields because production can be sustained throughout the year. According to earlier studies, hydroponic crops grow 30–50% more quickly than traditional ones (Pomoni et al., 2023). For instance, the output of a tomato crop grown in hydroponics can reach 180–200 tons per acre, but the yield in open agriculture is typically 5–12 tons per acre (Swain et al., 2021).

Furthermore, because of the increased automation and industrialization of production brought about by the use of specialized equipment, this kind of farming does not require a lot of labor (Sela Saldinger et al., 2023). Nonetheless, labor continues to be the primary source of farm expenses. Even however, labor still accounts for 65% of agricultural expenses (Quagrainie et al., 2017), and as plants are cultivated in a protected setting, pest management expenses are also reduced. Furthermore, hydroponic production can be used to value low-productivity areas where other agricultural production cannot be supported because it simply requires land for the greenhouse's construction.

Furthermore, hydroponic farming and the greenhouse hydroponics that have been studied in other articles both align well with the circular economy's tenets (Elvanidi et al., 2020); thus, a suitable investment offers a chance with a smaller environmental impact. This technique creates a sustainable and effective system by conserving and reusing energy, water, and nutrients.

The primary drawback of establishing and maintaining a hydroponic system is the substantial cost outlay for supplies and equipment, with the size and breadth of the farm having a commensurate impact. Although tractors and other open-field cultivation equipment are not necessary for a hydroponic system, specialized equipment and machinery—often imported—are required, which raises installation costs considerably. Additionally, the relatively new nature of this investment involves uncertainties regarding the equipment's availability. For the same reason, technical expertise and specialized advisory help are typically lacking.

Given the opportunities, it is evident that after the COVID-19 pandemic in Europe (CBI Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2024), people have been much more interested in fruits and vegetables as they seek healthier options to maintain their health and strengthen their immune systems. Furthermore, a third of consumers, particularly younger ones, are willing to pay more for sustainable products, indicating that consumers are interested in sustainable production, according to "The Global Sustainability Study 2021" (Jain, 2023). As a result, hydroponics farm's sustainable elements might be valued as appealing qualities for customers, improving the financial success of these projects.

One of the risks to investing in hydroponics is that consumers who are unfamiliar with hydroponic farming are hostile to it because they think that hydroponic farm products are unnatural because they are the product of artificial growth (Gonnella & Renna, 2021). The fact that hydroponic farming cannot be practiced in distant locations without access to water and electricity poses an additional risk, as it raises the expense of infrastructure. More precisely, the irrigation system and pumps that circulate the nutrient solution are powered by electricity, while water is utilized to mix and deliver the nutritional solution to the plant roots. It should be mentioned in all of the foregoing that there is a dearth of funds for these kinds of initiatives. For many farmers, this is a significant challenge.

## 5. Conclusions and Recommendations

This study investigated the implications of implementing a hydroponic farm in Albania. The primary finding reveals that the investment holds potential profitability under current conditions. Specifically, the cost-benefit analysis (CBA) demonstrates that, despite the significant construction and operational expenses, the investment proves viable within the context of prevailing market dynamics and price levels, as positive annual net cash flows surpass the initial installation costs. Furthermore, implementing cost-based subsidies for these expenses could significantly support farmers during the initial stages of their ventures.

The economic feasibility of such investments is intricately linked to the broader socioeconomic development of the region. Hydroponic farms contribute to enhancing local food security and ensuring access to fresh, locally produced food for the surrounding communities. Additionally, these ventures have the potential to stimulate entrepreneurship and foster innovation in agricultural practices. Consequently, it is imperative to explore and implement policy measures and strategic toolkits at both national and European levels to promote and support hydroponic farming initiatives.

In conclusion, hydroponic farming within greenhouses represents a viable and sustainable alternative for the cultivation of fruits and vegetables. With the capacity to deliver high-quality yields throughout the year, conserve critical resources, and reduce greenhouse gas emissions, this approach aligns with the goals of sustainable agriculture. Moreover, adopting such innovative methods enhances competitiveness within the agri-food industry, enabling farmers to distinguish themselves in an increasingly demanding market.

#### References

Agrifarming. (2022, December 16). How to Start Hydroponic Farming in the Netherlands: Crops, Cost, Profit, and Management. Agri Farming. https://www.agrifarming.in/how-to-start-hydroponic-farming-in-the-netherlands-crops-cost-profit-and-management#goog rewarded

Agrotonomy. (n.d.). Tower Farms | Tower Garden | Aeroponic Farm | Vertical Farm | Agrotonomy. Agrotonomy.com. Retrieved October 12, 2024, from https://agrotonomy.com/commercial/

Agrotonomy. (2018, April 22). Tower Garden Pollination | How To Hand Pollinate Plants | Agrotonomy. Agrotonomy.com. https://agrotonomy.com/pollination-assistance-with-a-tower-garden/

Aquaponics. (2024). AquaPonincs Albania is under construction. Aquaponics.al. https://www.aquaponics.al/

Barnes, M. (2023, October 29). Hydroponic Systems' Running Costs. Proponics. https://proponics.co.uk/blogs/general-hydroponics/hydroponic-systems-running-costs?srsltid=AfmBOorQcyLXsghunAG\_4m-EB0L-tvPAtRxtHULgZ11DCesCIYsZ6ew-

Bendanillo, A. (2023). A REVIEW OF THE INTEGRATION OF HYDROPONIC AGRICULTURAL GARDENING IN URBAN AREAS AND CONSTRUCTION TECHNOLOGY TOWARDS SUSTAINABILITY. International Journal of Arts, Sciences and Education, 4(3), 129–149. https://ijase.org/index.php/ijase/article/view/267

Birkby, J. (2016, January). Vertical Farming – ATTRA – Sustainable Agriculture. ATTRA Sustainable Agriculture. https://attra.ncat.org/publication/vertical-farming/

CBI Ministry of Foreign Affairs. (2024, November 6). What is the demand for fresh fruit and vegetables on the European market? | CBI - Centre for the Promotion of Imports from developing countries. Www.cbi.eu. https://www.cbi.eu/market-information/fresh-fruit-vegetables/what-demand

Cultivators. (2021, July 20). Cultivators. Cultivators. https://www.cultivators.nl/future-proof-lettuce-cultivation-a-shift-towards-hydroponics/

Dickson Despommier. (2009). The rise of vertical farms. Scientific American. https://www.academia.edu/54220432/The\_rise\_of\_vertical\_farms

Eden Green Technology. (2020, August 7). What You Should Know About Vertical Farming. Eden Green Technology; Eden Green Technology. https://www.edengreen.com/blogcollection/what-is-vertical-farming

Elvanidi, A., Benitez Reascos, C., Gourzoulidou, E., Kunze, A., Max, J., & Katsoulas, N. (2020). Implementation of the Circular Economy Concept in Greenhouse Hydroponics for Ultimate Use of Water and Nutrients. Horticulturae, 6(4), 83. https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae6040083

Farm, N.-L. (2023). Growy | Next-Level Farm. Growy | Next-Level Farm. https://www.growy.nl/#1

Gonnella, M., & Renna, M. (2021). The Evolution of Soilless Systems towards Ecological Sustainability in the Perspective of a Circular Economy. Is It Really the Opposite of Organic Agriculture? Agronomy, 11(5), 950. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy11050950

Grow Shop Mania. (2024). Growshop-Mania.al. https://growshop-mania.al/

Growee. (2023, April 19). Best Plants for Hydroponic Farming: A Comprehensive Guide | Growee. Growee Smart Hydroponics. https://getgrowee.com/best-plants-for-hydroponic-farming/

HIDROFARM. (2024). Brief presentation. https://www.tntconf.org/2022/Files/hidrofarm.pdf

Jain, S. (2023, April 21). Sustainability influence on global consumer goods market. Www.simon-Kucher.com. https://www.simon-kucher.com/en/insights/consumers-around-world-expect-sustainability-will-companies-rise-challenge

Kenton, W. (2024, June 29). How to perform a SWOT analysis. Investopedia. https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/swot.asp

Khan, F. A. (2018). A Review an Hydroponic Greenhouse Cultivation for Sustainable Agriculture. International Journal of Agriculture, Environment and Food Sciences, 2(2), 59–66. https://doi.org/10.31015/jaefs.18010

LED iBond. (2022, March 17). Vertical farming vs traditional farming – LED iBond. Ledibond. https://ledibond.com/vertical-farming-vs-traditional-farming/

Pomoni, D. I., Koukou, M. K., Vrachopoulos, M. G., & Vasiliadis, L. (2023). A Review of Hydroponics and Conventional Agriculture Based on Energy and Water Consumption, Environmental Impact, and Land Use. Energies, 16(4), 1690. https://doi.org/10.3390/en16041690

PROVER. (2024). PROVER – Promote vertical farming. Proverproject.info. https://proverproject.info/

Quagrainie, K. K., Flores, R. M. V., Kim, H.-J., & McClain, V. (2017). Economic analysis of aquaponics and hydroponics production in the U.S. Midwest. Journal of Applied Aquaculture, 30(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/10454438.2017.1414009

Sela Saldinger, S., Rodov, V., Kenigsbuch, D., & Bar-Tal, A. (2023). Hydroponic Agriculture and Microbial Safety of Vegetables: Promises, Challenges, and Solutions. Horticulturae, 9(1), 51. https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae9010051
Swain, A., Roy, A., Biswas, A., Chatterjee, S., & Viswanath, M. (2021). Hydroponics in vegetable crops: A review. 629–634.

The Editors of Encyclopedia Britannica. (2019a). Hanging Gardens of Babylon | History & Pictures. In Encyclopædia Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/place/Hanging-Gardens-of-Babylon

The Editors of Encyclopedia Britannica. (2019b). Hanging Gardens of Babylon | History & Pictures. In Encyclopædia Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/place/Hanging-Gardens-of-Babylon

Vijaykumar, R. R., Sr, J., Shukla, P., Beese, S., & Khurshid, N. (2023). Hydroponics: Innovative Farming Without Soil. 2, 13–14.

Wikipedia. (2005, January 2). Kryeqyteti i Shqipërisë. Wikipedia.org; Wikimedia Foundation, Inc. https://sq.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tirana

#### **Evaluation of the Governance of the Important Wetland Complexes**

#### Genti KROMIDHA<sup>1</sup>, Emirjeta ADHAMI<sup>2</sup>

#### Abstract

Good governance through a participatory approach is essential for the conservation of Albania's ecologically valuable wetlands like Lake Shkodra, Kune-Vain, Divjaka Karavasta, and Prespa. These areas are protected and have management plans, but face threats such as illegal fishing and hunting, uncontrolled development, and climate change impacts. Limited awareness and knowledge of wetland management institutions further hampers conservation efforts. among The Regional Administration of Protected Areas (RAPA) struggles to address these threats alone and requires strong collaboration with authorities like municipalities, fishermen, farmers, and water management bodies and better communication and support from local communities. The Management Committee (MC) for Protected Areas, established to aid in governance, currently lacks decision-making and evaluation capabilities due to limited member understanding and capacity. The self-assessment tool and the rapid assessment and planning framework have been crucial in identifying governance issues and facilitating discussions with relevant authorities to address them. This ensures proper management plan implementation and biodiversity conservation. By assessing governance using the METT tool and RAPAs' collected data, the roles of various actors in improving conservation and supporting sustainable local development are identified and discussion and assessment of management, policy-making, and appropriate financial and human resources have been encouraged

**Keywords:** Wetland, Government, Management Committee, sustainable development.

### 1. Introduction

Wetlands have always been a very important source of biodiversity and human well-being. Wetlands are particularly essential for sustainable management of water resources, both in terms of quality and quantitative terms. Coastal wetlands are important to help mitigate climate change impacts.

Albanian wetlands represent the most sensitive and important environment of Albania. They are areas of numerous ecological and economic values and uses, as they offer fish and wildlife habitats, support complex food web, absorb water to reduce flooding and storm damage, provide erosion control, improve water quality and in particular provide aesthetic value. It is estimated that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Institute for Nature Conservation in Albania, gkromidha@yahoo.it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Institute for Nature Conservation in Albania, emiadhami@gmail.com

coastal lagoons, as specific ecosystems between land and sea, are the most productive aquatic ecosystems.

Albania is one of the Mediterranean countries where until the 1940s, wetland ecosystems were formed by a very rich and coherent network of wetlands. In the early 1950s, Albanian's coastal area included 250,000 ha of natural area, of which 60,000 ha were swamps (Gjiknuri and Peja 1992). After the 1950s, Albanian wetlands were profoundly changed through the promotion of a bog reclaiming scheme and the expansion of agricultural land against coastal forest lands. More than 50% of coastal wetlands and most of the inland marsh areas were lost due to the development of drainage projects. These actions resulted in (i) loss and fragmentation of habitats and (ii) habitat degradation and poverty of flora and fauna.

In Albania there are 5 separate types of wetlands for the origin of their formation and function. They cover about 90,000 ha or 3.2% of the national territory. The largest area is covered by hydropower lakes followed by natural lakes (tectonics, glacial, karst) and coastal lagoon systems. Less than 3.2% of the national territory are home to more than 70% of the country's vertebrates, especially birds, reptiles and mammals. About 65 of the wetland vertebrates have been identified as globally threatened species.

Currently, the preservation of these environments depends on human intervention and the correct selection of management strategies. Most of the wetlands are included in the national system of protected areas. At least four wetlands (Lake Shkodra and Buna River, Karavasta Lagoon, Prespa Lake and Lake of Butrint, are known as Ramsar area (wetlands of international importance)).

## 2. Material and method

The overall objective of this study is to contribute to the preservation of wetlands with high ecological values in Albania, through the promotion of good, effective and equitable governance. To this end, the quality of governance assessment was conducted in four protected wetland areas (RNM Liqeni i Shkodra, NNM Kune Vain, PK Divjake-Karavasta, PK Prespa).

These areas represent a variety of wetland ecosystems (coastal lagoons, inland lakes). They are located in four different regions (Shkodra, Lezha, Fier and Korça) and include territories of several municipalities (the main ones include Shkodra, Lezha, Divjaka and Pustec). They are close to some important urban areas (the city of Shkodra and Lezha, and the city of Divjaka) and include within their borders a significant number of villages.

Three of the selected areas are designated as RAMSAR zones for their importance in hosting important species of aquatic birds. All areas are identified as part of the Emerald network and included in the list of potential

areas of conservation interest as part of the Natura 2000 network in Albania. All areas are known as Important Bird Areas. Prespa National Park has also been declared as a Cross-Border Biosphere Reserve.

All selected areas are shaped by human interaction with nature and in addition to preserving important biodiversity values provide useful services in support of local livelihoods. Improving governance and proper implementation of the management plan through better coordination and cooperation of the various stakeholders will promote sustainable development without jeopardizing biodiversity values.

Although declared as protected areas, all four selected wetland areas are facing different threats. Lake Shkodra is suffering from solid waste and sewer discharge as well as fishing and illegal hunting. The Kune Vain Managed Nature Reserve is suffering from abusive intrusion into riverbeds and uncontrolled urban and tourist development. Divjake - Karavasta National Park is suffering from unsustainable fishing and increased pollution due to intensive agriculture. Prespa National Park has problems with illegal forest logging and unsustainable fishing. All areas have problems in limited knowledge and awareness on the issues of wetland area management.

The Regional Administration of Protected Areas (RAPA) is unable, alone, to cope with all the threats the areas face and to deal with them properly as this requires strong cooperation with other authorities (municipalities, fishing groups, farmers, water management authorities) and better communication and support from local communities. All wetland areas selected as pilot zones have been identified as managed protected areas and already have their own management plans. However, the implementation of the management plan itself is hampered by governance issues.

Governance is related to all-inclusiveness, the unification of interests and numerous sectors of society, around a real or virtual table to achieve the common vision. Without good, efficient and equitable governance, best management efforts can be wasted, successes can be short-term, and progress slow or even negative.

Governance – who holds the authority and responsibility de facto to make and implement decisions, how they are made, how effective, effective and accountable they are.

Governance is about politics (aims expressed and supported by power) and practice (direct actions of people who influence nature). In theory, politics and practice should work in harmony; Policy guides practice and practice in return informs policy. The government is not just a government-run process. Smart governance guarantees appropriate social and economic use of natural resources and ecological services, biodiversity conservation and the proper functioning of ecosystems within ambitious but operationally realistic frameworks.

The main elements that the quality of government should be assessed are:

- (i) Framework the preconditions required to successfully implement the plan of action: The preconditions required for the successful implementation of an area action plan. In general, these serve as governance objectives by taking care of whether governance structures are put in place, whether groups of users impacted by a program's actions understand and support management goals and measures.
- (ii) Strategy leading to changes in behavior during implementation: Targets behavioral changes that occur during implementation. Changes in behavior of targeted groups of users, changes in behavior of key institutions and changes in how and where financial investments are carried out. These are mainly related to capacity building and the development of a programme of action.
- (iii)*Change Agenda measures results and benefits through delivering the action plan:* Measures practical outcomes and benefits through action plan p.sh., improved water quality, financial investments and motivating stakeholders and institutions to make the behavioral changes required to achieve successful governance.
- (iv)*Common Vision the appropriate balance between environment and human society sustainable development:* The right and accepted balance between natural resource conservation and socio-economic development. Common goals towards sustainable development.

Governance, which also has the opportunity to learn, develop and fulfill its role and responsibilities in a meticulous, smart, appropriate and satisfactory way for all parties involved, is vital and appropriate. The concept of vitality and adaptability focuses on five simple but rather qualitative questions which are defined below.

- 1. Is the government conscious and self-directed, able to guide and respond to environmental conditions, the emergence of problems and opportunities; Is it self-disciplined and self-criticism, able to take on responsibilities effectively and independently?
- 2. Does the government make decisions that find important implementation? Is it motivated by the common good and solidarity? Does it offer to promote the engagement of as many relevant stakeholders of society as possible?
- 3. Is governance resilient, reflective and committed to the exchange of knowledge, dialogue and debate, able to learn from experience, able to balance opportunities and make quick and important decisions?

- 4. Is the government open to new ideas, able to reinvent and renew as it does with a living organism, ensuring innovative choices, supporting the emergent new rules and norms, responding positively to change and continuing to evolve?
- 5. Are there sufficient, important and systemic interactions with the presence of a range of actors of different levels of society and sectors (including actors who properly convey decisions through political, social and financial support)?

The Management Committee3 for Protected Areas is seen as a useful governance tool to address such issues of coordination and cooperation. The Management Committee (COM) for protected areas is the forum appropriately designed to address some of these governance issues. The Management Committee gathers all stakeholders and is charged to support the implementation of the protected areas management plan. However, the functioning of The CoM is not yet up to its expected role. The capacities and understanding of the members of the Management Committee as well as the capacities and engagement of RAPAs are not at the same level throughout Albania.

Focusing on governance, the assessment will help RAPAs, as well as other stakeholders, understand their role and importance in addressing these issues to the benefit of improving nature conservation and support for sustainable local development.

The Mediterranean Coastal Wetland Governance Manual provides guidance on how to achieve this common vision for each wetland area and how to move forward effectively in partnership with all local stakeholders. The use of the Self-Assessment Tool4 from the Governance Manual helps identify potential governance issues and facilitates discussion with appropriate authorities to address them, ensure proper implementation of the management plan and preserve biodiversity and ecosystems. This toolkit outlines a process for integrated assessment, providing methods to explore the connections between biodiversity, economics, and livelihoods in wetlands. It aims to identify and address conflicts between conservation and development goals. The toolkit enables practitioners to evaluate wetlands based on their combined biodiversity, economic, and livelihood values, with a strong focus on pro-poor wetland management. By addressing current gaps in wetland assessment methodologies and information, it helps incorporate wetland values into management planning for conservation decision-making and and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Established since 2019, following the government's decision to establish Management Engagements for Protected Areas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> From the Mediterranean coastal wetland of governance manual (https://medwet.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/12/Mediterranean-Coastal-Wetlands-Governance-Handbook.pdf)

development. The toolkit is versatile, applicable to various types and scales of wetlands. Although not primarily designed as a village development planning tool, it can be adapted to provide necessary information for such planning processes.

The evaluation process was conducted during a workshop in each of the four areas for supplementing the self-assessment instrument with the participation of RAPA staff and key stakeholders for assessing the governance situation in each pilot area.

#### 3. Results and discussions

The evaluation instrument is divided into three parts and includes: Rapid Assessment; Assessment of Adequacy and Vitality, Detailed Assessment. The rapid assessment is completed based on the preliminary feedback of the evaluation team and without being in depth in supporting documents or supplemental arguments for the results given.

The results show a similar situation in PK Divjake Karavasta and RNM Kune Vain where only 21-26% of governance issues have been addressed so far. These results are presented in chart 1. The situation is somewhat better in RNM Lake Shkodra and PK Prespa where 44-46% of the issues are addressed. However, RNM Lake Shkodra has a considerable number of issues addressing which has not yet begun.



Graph 1. Rapid assessment results

The Adaptability and Vitality Assessment (graph 2) shows that all four selected areas are on track towards ensuring good governance, although results

	PK Divjake Karavasta				RNM Kune Vain					
Elements of evaluation	Power	Ingeniousness	Eligibility	Creativity	<b>All-Inclusive</b>	Power	Ingeniousness	Eligibility	Creativity	All-Inclusive
Formal structure of government	1	1	1	1	3	2	3	2	2	4
The area management staff	1	3	3	3	4	3	3	3	2	3
Leading actresses	2	2	3	3	2	2	2	2	3	3
Partner institutions	2	2	3	3	2	2	3	3	2	3
The area management plan	3	3	2	3	3	2	2	2	2	3
TOTAL (maximum 100)	58			63						

fluctuate from 58/100 for Divjake Karavasta National Park to 74/100 for Prespa National Park.

	RNM Shkodra Lake				PK Prespa					
Elements of evaluation	Power	Ingeniousness	Eligibility	Creativity	All-Inclusive	Power	Ingeniousness	Eligibility	Creativity	All-Inclusive
Formal structure of government	3	3	3	2	3	2	2	2	3	4
The area management staff	2	3	3	3	3	2	4	4	4	3
Leading actresses	3	3	2	2	2	2	1	3	3	3
Partner institutions	3	3	3	2	3	2	3	4	3	3
The area management plan	2	2	2	2	2	3	4	3	3	4
TOTAL (maximum 100)	64			74						

Graph 2. Vitality and Adaptability

The issues that need to be improved are mainly related to key stakeholders and partner institutions, especially smart, adaptive and creative management. The management plan should also be a living instrument that is constantly updated and updated to reflect new knowledge and problems in the natural resource management of the area.

The legal and institutional framework (graph 3) necessary to guarantee good governance is largely partially completed or concluded. The Prespa PK has the best result in this element of governance. The governance structure (Management Committee) is officially established, and its operating regulation has been adopted. However, there are still issues related to identifying and evaluating the interests and influences of all interested stakeholders. Although the National Agency for Protected Areas (NAPA) provides substantial funding for management (area control, limited monitoring), there is no adequate budget to provide for full monitoring of biodiversity elements and no funding for conservation measures. Institutions responsible for protected areas understand and support its objectives and cooperate in their realization. Users and the local community understand and support the purposes of the protected area. However, some conflicting interests (development versus conservation), as well as overlapping of authorities and limited resources of both stakeholders and institutions prevent full cooperation and support of management objectives.



Graph 3. Legal and institutional framework

Governance is not entirely linked through recognition and mutual representation within other governance structures that relate to wider territories and beyond protected areas. The only actions that have not started in RNM Lake Shkodra are related to cross-border cooperation. Although there are policies that enable common governance of cross-border areas, there are no effective joint governance regimes in place for cross-border wetlands. This is due to the authorities' intermittent commitment to cross-border joint governance and lack of adequate funding. In terms of *strategy* (graph 4) that leads to changes in behavior during the results are different according to areas. Prespa National Park is more advanced in this regard, while RNM Kune Vain still has many issues that have not yet begun to be addressed. Key environmental, social and institutional issues and risks are identified and documented in the management plan. However, it is necessary to identify data sources or conduct research to complete the assessment of some basic conditions (the spread of habitats and species). Although there are several studies in this area, there is no coordination of research efforts and no lists of research priorities developed by governing bodies. Management plans have identified SMART objectives, as well as have an action plan that identifies institutional responsibilities and financial means. However, lack of funding and limited capacity hinders the implementation of these measures. Although some monitoring activities are in place, there is no agreed and resourced monitoring program. Lack of funding and limited staff expertise also affect the lack of effectiveness in controlling the territory and preventing illegal activities.



Graph 4,	Change	strategy
----------	--------	----------

Regarding the *Action Plan for Good Governance* (graph 5) the results show a good performance for NP Prespa and RNM Liqeni i Shkodra, where most issues are addressed or being addressed. The situation is even worse for the other two areas. Although the management plan is officially approved by the Ministry of Tourism and Environment and implemented in accordance with priorities set through budgets allocated by the NAPA, inadequate funding and personnel capacities limit the proper implementation of this plan. Through donor funding some RAPAs are implementing pilot actions to test capacity, promote partnership work and help provide support and public awareness.



Graph 5. Action plan

In general, national, regional and local policies as well as spatial plans align with the needs and goals of protected areas. However, there are still some conflicting development interests (tourism). RAPAs are using the Management Effectiveness Tracking Tool (METT) to monitor the effectiveness of managing protected areas. Given the lack of funding and staff capacities, the adaptive management approach is used to address urgent issues and resolve situations as they occur. Various donor-funded projects are supporting RAPAs in collaboration with other stakeholders to implement some activities that support changing the behavior of key stakeholders. In general, management activities support the status of favorable conservation of biodiversity values although there is limited funding for conservation measures and no proper monitoring of conservation status.

In relation to the *Common Vision* (graphic 6) – the results mainly indicate activities in progress or partially completed. Overall, the behaviors of key partners align with management and action plans. There is limited monitoring and interpretation of social trends and ecosystem development. Some investments in the necessary physical infrastructure have been made although more funding is needed.



Graph 6. Vision

The achievement of the goals is generally documented in reports submitted to the NAPA. Stakeholders participate in the management of the area although in some cases overlapping interests/tasks. As already mentioned, basic funding is provided by the NAPA on an annual basis. However, there is no long-term, sustainable financial support, and management's long-term financial needs have not been identified. In the Prespa, the mid-term review of the management plan has been completed. The results of the review will be used to adjust priorities and policies to reflect the experience and changing social/environmental conditions. Mid-term review of the management plan allows new identified issues or areas to be included in the revised management plan.

### 4. Conclusions and recommendations

The evaluation instrument is an important tool for capacity building and raising awareness of various stakeholders on their role in managing and preserving protected wetland areas. We hope this will bring about a behavioral change on issues related to illegal activities (illegal fishing, poaching) and environmental quality (water pollution, waste management). The assessment promotes the important role and values of the wetlands and helps improve the community's sense of ownership and pride in these values.

Practitioners of this assessment tool are key stakeholders responsible for and managing wetlands. They apply the self-assessment methodology to first assess baseline conditions and then monitor changes in those conditions across a wide range of ecosystem types, including all wetland types, but also important species types and habitats found in wetlands. The assessment aims to improve the measurement of ecological integrity, providing critical information needed to restore natural ecosystem patterns and processes in order to conserve species and the ecosystem services that depend on them.

The experience and capacities created during the implementation of this instrument can be easily used by RAPAs to continue the participatory management process and to address governance issues in the future. The tools tested during the evaluation can be used as a basis by RAPAs and other stakeholders in the future.

#### References

PAP/RAC. 2019. The Governance of Coastal Wetlands in the Mediterranean – a Handbook. B. Shipman and Ž. Rajković. Split, Croatia.

JICA 2013 Management Plan of Divjake - Karavasta National Park

KfW – MMPAU 2013 Albania's Prespa National Park Management Plan

MMPAU 2012 Management Plan for The Natural Park of Shkodra Lake for the period 2012-2021

DECISION No. 593, dated 9.10.2018 On the composition, functions, duties and responsibilities of the Management Committees of protected environmental areas.

W.N. Adger, K. Brown, J. Fairbrass, A. Jordan, J. Paavola, S. Rosendo, G. Seyfang

Governance for sustainability: towards a 'thick' analysis of environmental decision-making Environ. Plann., 35 (2003), pp. 1095-1110

R. Costanza, R. de Groot, P. Sutton, S. van der Ploeg, S.J. Anderson, I. Kubiszewski, S. Farber, R.K. Turner Changes in the global value of ecosystem services, Global Environ. Change, 26 (2014), pp. 152-158

C.M. Finlayson Coastal wetlands and climate change: the role of governance and science, Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst., 9 (1999), pp. 621-626

Paul Jepson and Robert J. Whittaker, Histories of Protected Areas: Internationalisation of Conservationist Values and their Adoption in the Netherlands Indies (Indonesia), Environment and History 8, 2002

www.gwp.org

Borrini-Feyerabend, G., N. Dudley, T. Jaeger, B. Lassen, N. Pathak Broome, A. Phillips and T. Sandwith, Governance of Protected Areas: From understanding to action, Best Practice Protected Area Guidelines Series No. 20, IUCN, Gland (Switzerland), 2013

Pearce F. and Crivelli A. J. 1994. Characteristics of Mediterranean Wetlands. Tour du Valat, Arles, France. Publications MedWet / Tour du Valat – number I

Skinner J. and Zalewski S. 1995. Functions and values of Mediterranean Wetlands. Tour du Valat, Arles, France. MedWet / Tour du Valat – number 2.

Mediterranean Wetlands Inventory. 2019. Scientific Leaflet. MedWet

Mediterranean Wetlands Outlook 2, 2018

Climate change and the Mediterranean wetlands. 2019. Scientific Leaflet. MedWet

The ecosystem services of the Endnotes Mediterranean wetlands. 2019. Scientific Leaflet. MedWet

Mediterranean Wetlands Outlook 2: Solutions for sustainable Mediterranean Wetlands. 2018. Tour du Valat, France

Biodiversity in the Mediterranean Wetlands. 2019. Scientific Leaflet. MedWet

Mediterranean Wetlands Inventory. 2019. Scientific Leaflet. MedWet

Wetlands for Sustainable Development in the Mediterranean Region – A Framework for Action 2016-2020, 2016

Convention on Wetlands of International Importance especially as Waterfowl Habitat. Ramsar (Iran), 1971.

UNEP/MAP/PAP: Protocol on Integrated Coastal Zone Management in the Mediterranean. Split, Priority Actions Programme, 2008.

Working for wetlands in the Mediterranean – Progress and Challenges

Biodiversity – Status and trends of species in Mediterranean wetlands. Thematic collection, issue # 1. Tour du Valat, France

Wetlands for Sustainable Development in the Mediterranean Region – A Framework for Action 2016-2020, 2016

Adapted from Wetlands for Sustainable Development in the Mediterranean Region – A Framework for Action 2016-2020, 2016

Quoted in Versluys, Miguel John, 'The global Mediterranean', The Routledge Handbook of Archaeology and Globalization, 24 Nov 2016.

OECD (2011). Water Governance in OECD Countries: A Multi-level Approach.

METT Handbook: A guide to using the Management Effectiveness Tracking Tool (METT), WWF-UK, Woking

ICZM Protocol, Article 3 1. The area to which the Protocol applies shall be the Mediterranean Sea area as defined in Article 1 of the Convention. The area is also defined by: (a) the seaward limit of the coastal zone, which shall be the external limit of the territorial sea of Parties; and (b) the landward limit of the coastal zone, which shall be the limit of the competent coastal units as defined by the Parties."

The Ramsar Convention on Wetlands. Wetland Ecosystem Services. http://archive.ramsar.org/cda/en/ramsar-pubs-info-ecosystem-services/main/ramsar/1-30-103%5E24258\_4000\_0\_ (2011)

Smith, R. J., Muir, R. D. J., Walpole, M. J., Balmford, A. & Leader-Williams, N. Governance and the loss of biodiversity. Nature 426, 67–70 (2003)

#### Natura 2000 sites - A model for the protection of natural values

## Genti KROMIDHA<sup>1</sup>, Emirjeta ADHAMI<sup>2</sup>, Nihat DRAGOTI<sup>3</sup>

#### Abstract

The Wild Bird and Habitat Directives play a vital role in European conservation, overseeing the protection of endangered species and habitats through the Natura 2000 network. Albania has identified preliminary Natura 2000 zones to present to the European Commission. The "Innovative Approach for Identification of Natura 2000 Zones" pilot project in Shkodra Lake, Vlora Bay, and Shebenik National Park helped pinpoint potential areas and fostered conditions for sustainable management through stakeholder dialogue. This process, essential for evaluating and analysing natural values, threats, current and potential pressures, and conservation measures, highlighted issues such as unreliable data on wildlife habitats and species and insufficient monitoring of natural resource use. A biodiversity conservation conceptual model links natural values to socio-economic sectors, outlining the benefits of healthy habitats and the necessary measures for their preservation. Comprehensive management of natural values associated with specific vegetation or habitats is ensured through the identification of the users and activities that benefit from these natural values. This approach is crucial for determining the most appropriate boundaries for Natura 2000 areas, based solely on ecological values.

**Keywords:** *Natura 2000, conservation of habitats and species, sustainable development, conceptual model.* 

#### 1. Introduction

The Wild Bird and Habitat Directives are fundamental to Europe's conservation initiatives. These critical directives govern the protection of the continent's most significant and endangered species and habitats, ensuring their preservation through the establishment and proper management of a network of protected areas, collectively known as the Natura 2000 network. The implementation of the Natura 2000 network is the most important nature conservation effort in Europe, forming the world's largest network of protected areas. Good natura 2000 area management practices strengthen the links between natural and cultural heritage in the EU and create additional opportunities for economic activities that use natural resources (environmental

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Institute for Nature Conservation in Albania, gkromidha@yahoo.it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Institute for Nature Conservation in Albania, emiadhami@gmail.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Institute for Nature Conservation in Albania, ndragoti@gmail.com

tourism, outdoor activities, promotion of local products, etc.) and create new jobs and additional income for residents of the area.

The selection of areas to be included in the Natura 2000 network is a shared responsibility between the new EU Member States and the European Commission and it is based exclusively on scientific criteria (i.e. population size and target species density, area and ecological quality of the species of target habitat present in the area). Albania has prepared an initial list of Natura 2000 zones across the country, which will be submitted to the European Commission. This step aids in aligning the nation's regulatory framework with the EU's environmental regulations.

### 2. Methodology

Implementing the "Innovative Approach to Identifying Natura 2000 Zones" in the three pilot zones proved to be a positive experience. This initiative not only streamlined the process of identifying potential Natura 2000 areas but also established the necessary conditions and tools for fostering and maintaining a constructive dialogue among various stakeholders. This collaboration aims to ensure sustainable management of the area's natural values, preserving vital habitats and species.

The assessment has revealed several deficiencies and challenges in the process of identifying and evaluating natural values. Notably, there is a lack of reliable data on the identification and distribution of critical wildlife habitats and species, including charismatic species. Also, the good work that has started in identifying and inventorying and monitoring these species should continue in the future by expanding the list of species and constantly updating existing databases (BIONNA, WiMS). Additionally, there is a lack of monitoring data on natural resource utilization activities, complicating the assessment of their impact on the conservation status of natural values.

On the other hand, much work remains to be done in consolidating and engaging the wider stakeholders in the socio-economic development of these areas, in the process of managing natural resources to ensure long-term conservation of biodiversity values. Generally, groups of natural resource lore (farmers, fishermen, tour operators, local authorities) are unorganized and difficult to represent in discussion forums on sustainable use and conservation of natural resources. Also, civil society, in general, lacks the necessary capacities and skills to mobilize and represent worthily all level and interest groups in local communities around protected areas.

To enhance understanding of the relationships between natural values, users, benefits, activities, and potential risks that threaten these values, a conceptual model for biodiversity conservation and sustainable development has been developed. This model connects natural values (such as habitats and species) to socio-economic sectors (including agriculture, livelihood, forestry, fisheries, tourism, and infrastructure). It illustrates how the preservation of well-functioning habitats can generate benefits for sustainable development and identifies the necessary measures to maintain these benefits. Additionally, stakeholders and activities that benefit from specific vegetation or habitats have been identified. This approach is crucial for accurately delineating the Natura 2000 area's boundaries, ensuring that important elements are integrated into the area assessment criteria, which should be based solely on ecological values as defined by the Habitats Directive.

### 3. Results and discussions

## 3.1.Shkodra Lake

Based on the results of the analysis of values and threats for the Area of Shkodra Lake, we would propose four separate areas to be announced as part of the Natura 2000 network.

The first and largest area on the surface includes the central and northwestern part of Lake Shkodra. This area includes environments suitable for the conservation of many species of fish and aquatic birds, and as such will be proposed as spa (Bird Directive) and SCI (Habitat Directive). The proposed area has an approximate area of 6,942 ha.

The second area includes the lakeshore habitats in the northern part of the lake, which includes some important community habitats, which are also important for the breeding of some fish species in the area. The proposed area has an approximate area of 3,677 ha. The third area includes meadows and lakeshore habitats in the southeastern part of the lake, near the city of Shkodra, which are also important both for some fish species and for the aquatic birds that populate the lake. The area of this proposed area is 1,225 ha.

The fourth area lies mainly along Mount Tarabosh and includes separate paschal and rocky habitats listed in the annexes of the Habitats Directive. This area may also include part of the lake shore near the village of Zogaj, which presents high natural values. The approximate area of this area is 1,543 ha.

Of the four areas proposed to be included in the Natura 2000 network, the third and fourth zones have more areas where the conflict between preserving natural values and their use by local communities is high. However, if we excluded these areas from the area proposed for Natura 2000, we will lose the opportunity of preserving some very specific and important habitats (inshore and mountain habitats) that are used by large and diverse numbers of wildlife.

However, given the type and nature of the activities or threats analyzed, we assess that careful engagement and better control of the territory by the administration of protected areas and a better awareness of the inhabitants of

the important values of the area would contribute significantly to the reduction of conflicts and to ensure the preservation of natural values.



**Figure 1.** Proposed Boundary for The Natura 2000 Area with Conflict Areas



**Figure 2:** Proposed Boundary for The Natura 2000 Area with Conflict Areas

The proposed limit for the Natura 2000 area only takes into account surfaces classified as most suitable for incorporation into the Natura 2000 area, as they have high natural values and are not significantly threatened by human activities or other uses of natural resources. The proposed area would be entirely within the Shebenik National Park and will have a total area of 21,732.57 ha.

The proposed limit includes 34 highconflicted frames, which means that they have high natural values but at the same time are areas used by residents for various economic activities. If we excluded these areas from the area proposed for Natura

### 3.2. Shebenik National Park

2000, the area would not only be reduced by about 3400 ha, but the protected area would have a limit far from normal and a form that makes it very difficult to normally manage its natural values. For this reason, it is necessary to work to mitigate conflicts between the preservation of natural values and their use by the inhabitants.

In a broader look, even the proposal that the current park boundary be the same as the proposed Nature 2000 area may be acceptable, as most territories to be included in the Natura 2000 area are classified as moderately suitable. In this case, the management of the Natura 2000 area would require closer cooperation with stakeholders and specifically with natural resource users in the area to minimize the impact of their activities on the area's natural values by guaranteeing favorable conservation status for important species and habitats.

### 3.3. Vlora Bay (Sazan Karaburun Marine National Park)

Considering the areas classified as most suitable for nature conservation, as they have high natural values and are not significantly threatened by human activities or other uses of natural resources, in the Vlora Bay area we can identify three suitable areas to be included in the Natura 2000 network.

The first proposed area coincides with the Sazan-Karaburun Marine National Park, although it does not cover the entire western coast of Karaburun. The area of this area is 4'402.25 ha. The second area also coincides with the Marine Park as it includes the entire coastal part around Sazan Island. This area has an area of 3,669.58 ha. The third area lies in the inland Gulf of



**Figure 3.** Proposed Boundary for The Natura 2000 Area with Conflict Areas

Vlora and includes the entire coastline from Vlora to Radhima to Orikum and has a total area of 3,177.02 ha.

The three areas proposed for the Natura 2000 network include territories classified as high or medium conflict, especially areas in the western part of Karaburun and that in the interior of Vlora Bay. For this reason, it is necessary to work to mitigate conflicts between the preservation of natural values and their use by the inhabitants.

In this case, the management of the Natura 2000 area would require closer cooperation with stakeholders and specifically with natural resource users in the area to minimize the impact of their activities on the area's natural values by guaranteeing favorable conservation status for important species and habitats. It remains worrying that almost half of the area of the study area has no data either for natural values or for activities that are carried out in it related to the use of natural resources.

### 4. Conclusions

The experience created during the implementation of this methodology again highlighted the difficulty of correctly implementing the participant processes in Albania and the hard work that still needs to be done, not only for informing and raising awareness of different stakeholders, but also for promoting their sense of representation and creating the necessary capacities for active participation in the good governance of natural resources. Simultaneously, it is crucial to collaborate with government institutions, both at central and local levels, to enhance cooperation and establish inclusive mechanisms in decisionmaking processes concerning natural resource management and governance.

The process of identifying and analyzing natural values, as well as the threats and pressures they face, is crucial for understanding the conservation measures and activities needed in the area. Engaging all interested parties in this process enhances efforts to preserve the natural heritage, both locally and on a national and international scale.

Based on the above conclusions, for correct application of the proposed methodology, we can recommend the following:

- The Innovative Approach to Identifying Natura 2000 Zones is used as a standard approach to the entire process of identifying and evaluating proposed areas as part of the Natura 2000 network in Albania.
- Support the scientific research work of universities and other research groups, in particular in the collection and deepening of knowledge concerning the identification and cartography of habitats and areas of the spread of species of conservation importance, listed in the annexes of the Habitats Directive and the Bird Directive.
- To work more towards information and education of various stakeholders regarding the concepts of the Natura 2000 network.

• To work to strengthen the capacities of local stakeholders' groups and improve their representation.

#### References

AVIBASE 2022: "The World Bird Database". avibase.bsc-eoc.org.

CEC 1992: Council of European Communities Directive 1992/43/EEC (1) on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora, Habitat Directive Annex I-VI. Official Journal of the European Communities, L327/1.

CEC 2009: Council of European Communities Directive 2009/147/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on conservation of wild birds, (EU Birds Directive).

COUNCIL OF EUROPE 1979: Convention on the Conservation of European Wildlife and Natural Heritage. Bern, Switzerland [status in force since 4 March 2000].

EUNIS 2020: Habitat Classification: Expert system, characteristic species combinations and distribution maps of European habitats. Appl Veg Sci. 2020, 01–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/avsc.12519.

Green27. The alternative view of environmental progress Albania's Negotiations with EU and Chapter 27, Tirana, April 2021

HECKER, N., COSTA, L. T., FARINA, J. C. & P. T. VIVES. 1996: Mediterranean Wetland Inventory: Data recording. MedWet / Wetlands International / Instituto da Conservação da Natureza Publication, Vol. II.

HELEN J., T., & N. A. COX. 2009: European Red List of Amphibians. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 34pp.

IUCN 2021. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2021-1. https://www.iucnredlist.org. ISSN 2307-8235.

Kromidha G., Dedej Z., Dragoti N. 2020. Study on re-evaluation of the network system of environmental protected areas in Albania, Tirana, March 2020

Moss, D. (2008). EUNIS habitat classification-a guide for users. European Topic Centre on Biological Diversity.

MTM 2016: Strategic Policy Document for the Protection of Biodiversity. Decision of the Council of Ministers no. 31 dated 20.1.2016. Ministry of Environment.

Mücher, C. A., Hennekens, S. M., Bunce, R. G., Schaminée, J. H., & Schaepman, M. E. (2009). Modelling the spatial distribution of Natura 2000 habitats across Europe. Landscape and urban planning, 92(2), 148-159.

NATURAL 2019: Project report "Strengthening capacity in National Nature Protection preparation for Natura 2000 network", February 2015 – May 2019, financed by European Commission (IPA 13). Reference Number 2014/355-174.

THE ALBANIAN ATLAS, VOL.I. Academy of Sciences of Albania, Tirana, 950 pp.

THE ALBANIAN ATLAS, VOL. II. Academy of Sciences of Albania, Tirana, 990 pp.

DCM no. 8467. 2013: Red List of Flores and Faunas. Official Journal of the Republic of Albania, No. 1280. Publication of the Official Publication Centre, Tirana.

DCM no. 866. 2014: Types of natural habitats of interest to the European Union, the conservation of which requires the designation of special conservation areas. Official Journal of the Republic of Albania, No. 194. Publication of the Official Publication Centre, Tirana.

#### Climate Variability in the Durmitor Region, Montenegro: A 30-year of Research

Gordana JOVANOVIC<sup>1</sup>

#### Abstract

The focus of this article is on climate variability in the massif of Durmitor, Montenegro, in the period (1991-2020). Data from three meteorological stations: Žabljak, Šavnik and Nikšić were used. Climatic variables such as the amount of precipitation and temperature are analyzed in two semi-annual periods, from November to April and from May to October. The influence of the North Atlantic Oscillation (NAO), measured by positive or negative NAO index, on these climatic variables is studied. It is shown that the changes in precipitation and temperature are much more pronounced in the winter part of the year (November-April) than in the summer part of the year (May-October). This is primarily reflected in the increasing trend of average precipitation and temperature in the whole Durmitor region for (November-April). The reduction in the size of the Debeli Namet glacier was used to illustrate the constant rise in temperature over the observed 30-year period.

Keywords: climate variability, NAO, precipitation, temperature, Durmitor.

**Jel code:** Q51, Q54

### 1. Introduction

Climate change is generally believed to lead to an increase in climate variability and in the frequency and intensity of extreme events (Hughes, 2008; Cattiaux et al., 2010; Seager et al., 2010; Colluci et al., 2017; Hofstätter et al., 2018; Huss et al., 2017; Sommer et al., 2020; Burić et al., 2020; Rousi et al., 2023). The consequences of these events are visible all over the world and are often called the climate crisis. Scientists debate the natural and anthropogenic causes of this crisis and the potential for natural climate drivers to mitigate anthropogenic footprints in future twenty-first-century climate developments (Marsh, 2014; Singh & Bhargawa, 2020; Spiegl & Langematz, 2020; Zharkova, 2020). It is important to study changes in the frequency of extreme events (related to temperature and precipitation), because such kinds of events are known to be a serious threat to human health, ecosystems and the economy (Giorgi, 2006; Loarie et al., 2009; Sandel et al., 2011). In Europe, pronounced summer (June-August) warming of approximately 1.3°C was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> University of Montenegro, Faculty of Science and Mathematics, Dzordza Vasingtona bb, Podgorica, Montenegro, e-mail: gordanaj@ucg.ac.me

recorded in the period (1986-2015) (Luterbacher et al., 2004; Schär et al., 2004; Della-Marta et al., 2007; García-Herrera et al., 2010; Barriopedro et al., 2011; Rahmstorf & Coumou, 2011; Field et al., 2012; Beniston, 2015; Russo et al., 2015). Also, in the summer of 2018, a persistent high-pressure anomaly over Scandinavia caused high temperature and drought anomalies in Northern Europe from May to July, while Southern Europe was unusually wet (Yiou et al., 2020; Bakke et al., 2020; Wilcke et al., 2020; Peters et al., 2020).

The increase in the air temperature, from the so-called period of the Little Ice Age (AD 1300-AD 1850) to the present, has caused the disappearance of glaciers in many parts of the world (Grunewald & Scheithauer, 2010; Huss & Fischer, 2016; Hughes, 2018; Gachev, 2020). Montenegro has also been exposed to climate change, especially at the end of the 20th and at the beginning of the 21st century (Hughes, 2008; Gachev & Mitkov, 2019; Knez et al., 2022; Burić & Doderović, 2022). The consequences are hot summers, lack of precipitation, low water levels of rivers and lakes, forest fires. In this paper we study the climate change in the Durmitor region in the last 30 years. We analyze the climate variables such as the amount of precipitation and temperature in the winter part of the year (November-April) and in the summer part of the year (May-October).

The recorded fluctuation of temperature and precipitation, especially in the winter part of the year, motivated this research. This fluctuation is the most pronounced in the amount of snowfall in December/January. Also, the mountain Durmitor is a national park in Montenegro and as such is the least susceptible to human influence. Therefore, it is convenient for the study of the natural causes of climate variability. One of them is the North Atlantic Oscillation, the leading climate factor in the North Hemisphere (Scaife et al., 2008; Herceg-Bulić & Kucharski, 2014; Rousi et al., 2020). It is the inter-annually varying pressure gradient between the Icelandic low and Azores high pressure systems. The North Atlantic Oscillation (NAO) has been found to influence rainfall amounts, especially in winter, in the north-western Mediterranean and, more remotely, in the eastern Mediterranean. The NAO influence is measured by the NAO index (Hurrell & Deser, 2010).

A relatively strong pressure gradient between the Azores high and the Icelandic low yields a positive NAO index (NAO+) while a relatively weak gradient yields a negative NAO index (NAO-)(Polonsky et al., 2004; Li & Wang, 2003; Woodward, 2009; Mu et al., 2022).

During NAO+ warmer conditions in northern and central Europe and cooler conditions over the Mediterranean are recorded. This NAO+ phase also leads to a decrease in precipitation over the Mediterranean and Southern Europe (south of 45°N) and an increase over Northern Europe.

During NAO- warm moist air enters the Mediterranean region and cold air enters northern Europe (Criado-Aldeanueva & Soto-Navarro, 2020; Rousi et al., 2020).

Montenegro is located on the border of these different influences and therefore it is scientifically justified to analyze the NAO effect on the climate variables especially in the northern part of Montenegro where the Durmitor Mountain is located. The size of the Debeli Namet glacier, the only current Durmitor glacier, will be used as an illustration of climate variability in the Durmitor massif.

It has been suggested that El Niño and La Niña events may affect Mediterranean climates. The Walker circulation is an east–west atmospheric circulation pattern of rising air above Indonesia and the western Pacific and sinking air above the eastern Pacific. Under normal conditions, Indonesia is wet and the eastern Pacific is dry. During El Niño events there is a weakening of the Walker circulation. During La Niña events the Walker circulation is especially strong. The effects of an El Niño period are directly linked to areas within the Pacific basin, causing droughts over Indonesia and intense rainfall events, flooding, and landslides in Peru. More importantly, its influence on seasonal weather conditions has been detected as far away as India, Africa, Antarctica, and North America (Bromwich et al. 2000). In the eastern Mediterranean there is some evidence that El Niño events are positively correlated with winter rainfall (Kadioglu et al. 1999; Price et al. 1998). Other relationships between Mediterranean weather conditions and El Niño/La Niña events have been suggested, but these are generally weak or impermanent.

### 2. Durmitor National Park, Montenegro

Montenegro is in the middle part of the temperate zone of the northern hemisphere with a latitude between 42°52' N and 43°32' N and longitude between 18°26' E and 19°22' E. Durmitor is a limestone massif located in the northwestern part of Montenegro and belonging to the Dinaric Alps or Dinarides. It is characterized by high peaks, abundant forests, and deep gorges. On September 6th 1952, the Assembly of the Republic of Montenegro proclaimed the mountain Durmitor as National Park. The Assembly of the Socialist Republic of Montenegro broadened National Park Durmitor with a canyon of Tara on February 3rd, 1978.

Durmitor National Park is located in a wide mountain region (Figure 1). It includes the Durmitor mountain massif, the canyons of the Tara, Draga, and Sušica rivers, and part of the Komarnica Canyon valley. There are 48 mountain peaks that are over 2,000 m a. s. l. One of them is Bobotov kuk, the highest peak in Montenegro with 2,522 m a. s .l. (Djurović et al., 2010). The Park covers an area of 34,500 ha and is known for its 18 glacial lakes -"mountain

eyes". The largest and the most famous is Crno jezero (eng. Black Lake). Crno jezero consists of Veliko and Malo jezero, which are connected by a narrow isthmus. The water from Veliko jezero flows into the Tara River and water from Malo jezero flows into the Piva River. This phenomenon represents an exceptional rarity in nature, the so-called bifurcation. The nearby towns are Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak, which is in the heart of the Durmitor region. Since 1980 Park and Canyon of Tara are under the protection of UNESCO.



Figure 1. Durmitor Mountains, Montenegro

## 3. Methods and Results

Weather and climate are different concepts. Weather is related to short-term and small-scale strong fluctuations of the atmosphere conditions (temperature, rain, humidity, etc.) of the planet or of the local region, while the climate regards the long-term average of the same parameters (Scafetta et al., 2017). Climate variables for the periods (1961-1990) and (1991-2020) in the Durmitor region for cities Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak are shown in Table 1 (for precipitation) and Table 2 (for temperatures). Data from Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak meteorological stations of the Institute for Hydrometeorology and Seismology of Montenegro for aforementioned periods were used.

Žabljak is located in the middle of the National Park Durmitor but its meteorological station is not completely representative for the climate conditions in the Durmitor massif due to its leeward position to the atmospheric advections from the southwest, which serves as the main sources of precipitation. That is why we consider the stations situated on the windward side, such as Šavnik and Nikšić.

Table 1 shows that the average annual amount of precipitation in Nikšić in two consecutive 30-year periods decreased by about 5% while a small increase in the average annual amount of precipitation (about 0.7%) was recorded in Žabljak in the same periods.

Table 2 shows that the average annual temperatures are constantly increasing in Nikšić and Žabljak. In Nikšić (647 m a. s. l.) the temperature rise is  $0.8^{\circ}$ C and in Žabljak (1456 m a. s. l.) a temperature rises of about  $1.3^{\circ}$ C was recorded.

It can be noticed that a city at a lower altitude has a smaller increase in temperature than a city at a higher altitude, which is, in a way, an unexpected situation.

**Table 1**. The average annual amount of precipitation in two consecutive 30-year periods for Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak. There is no data for Šavnik for<br/>the period (1961-1990).

Years	Nikšić	Šavnik	Žabljak
(1961-1990)	1990 mm	No data	1494 mm
(1991-2020)	1896 mm	1941 mm	1505 mm

Source: The Institute for Hydrometeorology and Seismology of Montenegro.

Table 2. The average annual temperatures in two consecutive 30-yearperiods for Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak. There is no data for Šavnik for theperiod (1961-1990).

Years	Nikšić	Šavnik	Žabljak
(1961-1990)	10.7°C	No data	4.6°C
(1991-2020)	11.5℃	9.6°C	5.9°C

Source: The Institute for Hydrometeorology and Seismology of Montenegro.

In the following text, we will apply seasonal analysis and divide the year into two parts - the winter part of the year from November to April and the summer part of the year from May to October (Scafetta, 2021). We will analyze the amount of precipitation and average temperatures in these parts of the year to understand which part of the year has a greater potential for changing climate variables.

## 3.1. Precipitation data

Amount of precipitation for three cities: Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak in the Durmitor region will be presented according to the two semi-annual periods-from November to April (in subsection 3.1.1), and from May to October (in subsection 3.1.2).

## 3.1.1. Precipitation data for (November-April)

The amount of precipitation for Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak for (November-April) in the period (1991-2020) is presented in Figure 2.

The average amount of precipitation for this period in Nikšić is 1261 mm. The years with precipitation, more than 30.0% higher than average, are 2004, 2005, 2010, 2013, and 2018. The highest precipitation was recorded in 2010 and 2013, with an increase of 57.0% and 65.0% respectively in regard to average value. Years with low precipitation, more than 25.0% lower than average, are 1993, 1995, 2002, 2017, and 2019. The lowest precipitation was recorded in 1993 and 2017, with a decrease of 56.0% and 39.0% respectively.

The average amount of precipitation for (November-April) in Šavnik in the period (1991-2020) is 1235 mm. The highest precipitation was recorded in 2010 (46.0% higher than average) and in 2018 (55.0% higher than average). Years with the lowest precipitation are 2000 (33.0% lower than average), 2002 (30.0% lower than average), 2003 (28.0% lower than average), 2007 (31.0% lower than average), 2017, and 2019 with the amount of precipitation about 25.0% lower than average.

In Žabljak, the average amount of precipitation for (November-April) in the 30-year period (1991-2020) is 885 mm. The years with positive deviations concerning the average amount of precipitation are 2010 (40.0% higher than average), 2011 (48.0% higher than average), 2013 (34.0% higher than average), and 2018 (56.0% higher than average). The years with negative deviations, more than 30.0% concerning the average amount of precipitation are 1993 (32.0%), 1995 (33.0%), and 2017 (30.0%).



Figure 2. Precipitation from November to April for Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak.

# 3.1.2. Precipitation data for (May-October)

The amount of precipitation for Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak for the season (May-October) for the period (1991-2020) is presented in Figure 3.

The average amount of precipitation in this part of the year for Nikšić is 643 mm. The years with positive deviations of more than 30.0% concerning the average amount of precipitation are 1992 (42.0%), 1996 (41.0%), 2002 (47.0%), 2010 (32.0%), 2014 (31.0%), and 2020 (40.0%). The years with negative deviations, more than 30.0% concerning the average amount of precipitation are 1997 (62.0% without data for May), 1999 (36.0%), 2001 (32.0%), 2001 (32.0%), 2011 (32.0%), and 2017 (42.0%).

The average amount of precipitation for Šavnik in (May-October) is 671 mm. The years with the highest amount of precipitation in this period are 2014 (39.0% higher than average), 2016 (26.0% higher than average), and 2020 (38.0% higher than average). There are years with the amount of precipitation lower than average. In 2001 and 2006, the amount of precipitation in Šavnik was 25.0% lower than the average, while in 2011 and 2017 it was 30.0% and 36.0% lower than average respectively.

In Žabljak, the average amount of precipitation for (May-October) in the period (1991-2020) was 627 mm. The largest positive deviations were recorded in the years 1998 (32.0%), 2002 (26.0%), and 2020 (30.0%). The

largest negative deviations are recorded in the years: 1994 (36.0%) and 2017 (30.0%).



Figure 3. Precipitation from May to October for Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak.

## 3.2. Temperature data

Temperature data for Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak in the Durmitor region will be presented according to the two semi-annual periods, from November to April (in subsection 3.2.1) and from May to October (in subsection 3.2.2).

# 3.2.1. Temperature data for (November-April)

The average temperatures for Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak for (November-April) in the period (1991-2020) are presented in Figure 4.

In Nikšić the average temperature for this season is 5.34°C. The highest temperatures are recorded in the years 2007 (1.1°C higher than average), 2014, 2016, and 2020 (about 1.56°C higher than average). The highest negative deviations are recorded in 1992 and 1999 (1.24°C lower than average) and 2005 (1.14°C lower than average).

The average temperature for (November-April) in Šavnik for the same 30-year period is 3.34°C. The years with the highest temperatures are 2001 (1.4°C higher than average), 2014 (1.56°C higher than average), 2016 (1.46°C higher than average) and 2020 (1.7°C higher than average). There are several years with significant negative temperature deviations: 2000 (1.4°C lower than average), 2005 (1.7°C lower than average), 2012 (1.64°C lower than average) and 2017 (1.04°C lower than average).

Žabljak, with the highest altitude among these cities, has a negative average temperature for this period, -0.16°C. Significant positive temperature deviations, more than 1°C above the average value, are noted in 2001 (+2.01°C), 2007 (+1.43°C), 2014 (+2.21°C), 2016 (+1.78°C), and 2020 (+1.1°C). The most pronounced negative temperature deviations, more than 1°C below the average value, are recorded in 1992 (-1.8°C), 1993 (-1.4°C), 1996 (-1.52°C), 1999 (-1.1°C), 2005 (-1.3°C), and in 2012 (-1.1°C).



Figure 4. Average temperatures from November to April for Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak.

## 3.2.2. Temperature data for (May-October)

Average temperatures for Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak for (May-October) in the period (1991-2020) are presented in Figure 5.

The average temperature for this part of the year in Nikšić is 17.8°C. The highest temperatures were in: 2003 (1.1°C above the average value), 2012 (2.7°C above the average value) and in 2015 (1.2°C above the average value). The lowest temperatures are recorded in: 1991 (1.5°C below the average value), 1996 (1°C below the average value) and in 2002 (2.6°C below the average value value) and in 2012 (2.6°C below the average value).

In Šavnik the average temperature for (May-October) is 15.8°C. The largest temperature rise was in the years 2012 (1.3°C above the average value) and 2015 (1°C above the average value). A modest rise in temperature has been recorded over the years 2018 and 2019, about 0.8°C. A decrease in temperatures compared to the average was registered in: 2004 (1°C below the

average value), 2005 (0.8°C below the average value), 2014 (0.9°C below the average value), and 2016 (0.8°C below the average value).

The average temperature for (May-October) in Žabljak is the lowest, 12.1°C, as expected and an increase in temperature by more than 1°C was recorded in 2012 (1.9°C above the average value). A modest rise in temperatures in the years 1999, 2003 and 2015 amounted to about 0.8°C above the average value. The lowest temperatures, more than 1°C below the average temperature value, are recorded in: 1991 (1.95°C below the average), 1995 (1.5°C below the average), 1996 (1.4°C below the average), and in 1997 (1.3°C below the average).



Figure 5. Average temperatures from May to October for Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak.

### 4. Discussion

The average amount of precipitation for (November-April) in the period (1991-2020) is quite different in Nikšić and Šavnik which are on the windward side and Žabljak in the leeward position. Therefore, in this season the average amount of precipitation in Nikšić and Šavnik is about 40.0% higher than in Žabljak. The amount of precipitation from November to April shows a growing trend in the 30-year period considered in all three cities (Figure 2). In general, in Montenegro the NAO has been found to influence amounts of precipitation, especially in winter. When NAO indices are negative, the amount of precipitation is above the average value and vice versa (Burić, 2012). This was the case in 2010 and 2013, which were characterized by high amounts of precipitation in Durmitor massif and with negative NAO indices: -4.64 and -1.97 respectively (Hurrell Station-Based December-January-

February-March (DJFM) NAO index). Years with a very low amount of precipitation, more than 25.0% below average, are: 1993, 1995, 2000, 2002, 2003, 2007, 2017 and 2019. These years, without exception, are characterized by positive values of the NAO index i.e. 2.67; 3.96; 2.80; 0.76; 0.20; 2.79; 1.47; 2.09 respectively. The calculations show that in the last 30 years there is a moderate negative correlation between winter precipitation and NAO index (Spearman's correlation rs=-0.55, p=0.002).

In the summer part of the year from May to October, there are no big differences in average amounts of precipitation for Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak. The average amount of precipitation in Nikšić is about 3.0% higher than in Žabljak, and in Šavnik it is 7.0% higher than in Žabljak. The NAO is not as correlated with precipitation in this part of the year as it was in the (November-April. Years with high amounts of precipitation are with negative NAO (Hurrell Station-Based July-August-September (JAS) NAO index) values: 1998 (-0.4), 2002 (-1.6), 2010 (-0.2), and 2014 (-1.4) but also with positive NAO like in 1992 (0.9), 1996 (0.5), and 2020 (0.7). We suppose that the influence of strong El Niño in 1992 and moderate La Niña (El Niño) in 1996 (2020) could be the reason for this phenomenon. Namely, the combined effects of El Niño/La Niña and NAO are confirmed to be more profound than the effects they produce individually (Marengo, 2004; Prabhu et al., 2017). On inter-annual time scales, possible influences of El Niño/La Niña on the NAO have been extensively studied. The dynamical mechanisms addressing how they influence the NAO are still under debate (Rodríguez-Fonseca, 2016; Zhang et al., 2019; Fereday et al., 2020; King et al., 2023; Zhang & Jiang, 2023). Quantification of the size of the El Niño/La Niña signal against the total variability in the Atlantic region shows that El Niño/La Niña produces a shift in basic climatological parameters such as temperature and precipitation over Europe that is several tens of percent of the magnitude of observed variability (Ineson & Scaife, 2009). These teleconnections are therefore an important component for European seasonal predictions. In the case of a small amount of precipitation there are also both positive and negative values of the NAO index. Therefore, no conclusion can be made about the connection between the strong decrease in precipitation and the NAO. This correlation is statistically insignificant.

Figure 3 shows that the trend lines for Nikšić and Žabljak from May to October do not change much, they are almost constant, while the trend line for Šavnik slowly grows.

It can be concluded that significant changes in the amount of precipitation refer to the period (November-April), while in the period (May-October) these changes are much less pronounced (see trend lines in Figures 2 and 3).

Temperatures from November to April have extreme values mainly in years with a positive value of the NAO index: for 1992 is 3.28, for 1999 is 1.7, for 2005 is 0.12, for 2007 is 2.79, for 2012 is 3.17, for 2014 is 3.10, for 2016 is 0.98, for 2018 is 0.3 and for 2020 is 3.63. Only in 2001, there was a negative value of the winter NAO index of -1.9. In this year a strong La Niña influence was recorded (Scafetta & Bianchini, 2017). Since 2014, the temperature has reached a peak every two years. The lowest peak is in 2018 for Nikšić with a value of 0.66°C above the average value.

Unlike the (November-April) period, the highest temperatures in the (May-October) are mostly in years with a negative NAO index for: 1999 is -1.3, for 2003 is -1.1, for 2012 is -1.2, for 2015 is -1.4, and for 2019 is -0.1. The only exception for 2018 is 2.1, and a possible reason for this is a moderate La Niña influence.

The NAO does not have a decisive effect on the lowest temperatures in the (May-October) because there are years with positive and negative values of the NAO indices. These temperatures appear to be driven by other climate influences that are prominent in the Mediterranean region such as: the Mediterranean Oscillation, the East Atlantic Pattern, and the East Atlantic-West Russia Pattern (Criado-Aldeanueva & Soto-Navarro, 2020). Trend lines in Figures 4 and 5 show a constant increase in average temperatures in the Durmitor region. It is indicative that the temperature increase is significantly more pronounced in the winter part of the year (November-April) than in the summer part of the year (May-October). The higher temperatures in (November-April) could be the reason for the snow cover shift from (December-January) to (January-February). This has been especially pronounced in the last few years, so the ski season in Žabljak starts later. Also, higher temperatures in the winter part of the year can lead to the melting of perennial snow in the Durmitor massif and thus affect water resources.

One of the southernmost small glaciers in Europe is the Debeli Namet glacier in the Durmitor Mountain (Hughes, 2018). Glacier accumulation season is from November to April and glacier ablation season is from May to October (Gachev, 2017; Djurović, 2012). Higher air temperatures at the end of the 20th and in the first decades of the 21th century did not cause the disappearance of this glacier. Likely, that the large supply of snow accumulation from the avalanche insulates this site from perturbations in regional climate (Hughes, 2009). Because of their great sensitivity to short-term climatic variations, small glaciers are perfect natural indicators and objects for climate change studies (Gachev, 2017). Figure 6 presents the size of the Debeli Namet glacier in hectares for the period (1993-2019) (Gachev, 2020). The decrease in the size of the glacier is evident in the period of 30 years considered. The reason could be the distribution of precipitation and temperatures by month in the period from November to April, which determines whether the precipitation will be snowy or rainy



Figure 6. Sizes of the Debeli Namet glacier with the trend line for the period 1993-2019.

Montenegro is a member of the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and one of the developing countries that has continuously supported the establishment of the Green Climate Fund and its mission, goals and principles. In addition, Montenegro ratified the Paris Agreement in 2017 and committed to respect the goals set by it. Aware of climate change, the government of Montenegro has made the National Strategy for Climate Change until 2030 and the National Strategy for Sustainable Development until 2030. Through its planning and strategic documents, Montenegro has identified and determined national priority sectors in the field of climate change mitigation and adaptation. The most vulnerable sectors are human health, tourism, agriculture, water and other natural resources due to the observed and expected negative impacts of climate change in Montenegro. In an effort to overcome these problems Montenegro will work to establish an effective institutional and coordination mechanism as well as develop the necessary scientific and technical knowledge and skills to achieve greater resilience to the negative effects of climate change. The nationally determined contribution to reducing greenhouse gas emissions is a key determinant in the field of climate change mitigation. Also, it is crucial for the health care system and health care workers be able to respond to the changed conditions caused by the negative impact of climate change. In that regard, the need to educate health care workers about the impact of climate change on public health has been recognized. Existing knowledge on the impact of climate change on the water sector in Montenegro is very limited and general. It is crucial to improve the knowledge of the impact of climate change on specific areas of water resources, as well as on efficient and applicable adaptation measures.

In the Durmitor massif the main economic activities are tourism, forestry and agriculture. It is evident that higher temperatures in the winter part of the year cause the winter tourist season to shift from (December-January) to (January-February). This requires adaptation of the hotels system in the new situation. Even the school system in Montenegro changed the duration of the winter vacation and extended it by 10 days so that children could go to the snow. Climate change mitigation is planned through activities in sustainable land use and forest management, including reduction of emissions caused by deforestation and forest degradation through conservation and sustainable forest management, as well as the improvement of forests as a sinkhole of greenhouse gases. Here, forest fire protection is a priority. Also, water resources are very important. Considering the increase in precipitation, especially in the period (November-April), no problems with water supply are expected.

## 5. Conclusions and Recommendations

Climate change has recently been the focus of the scientific community. The combined effects of solar, cosmic, geophysical, and human activity on climate patterns are very complex and therefore need to be addressed by experts from different scientific fields-physics, astrophysics, meteorologists, geographers. We study the climate variability in the area of the Durmitor Mountain, Montenegro. The idea was to analyze climate variables-the amount of precipitation and temperatures on this highest Montenegrin mountain for the period of 30 years, (1991-2020). The reasons were to study how these variables vary in the winter/summer part of the year and study the influence of the NAO in this European region with approximately 45°N. As a starting point, we took the semi-annual seasons, from November to April and from May to October. We used climate variables from three meteorological stations, in Nikšić, Šavnik and Žabljak. The first two cities are on the windward side, while the third is on the leeward position.

We found that climate changes are most pronounced in the winter period of the year (November-April) and are reflected in an increase in amount of precipitation and average temperatures in the Durmitor massif (Figures 2 and 4). The influence of the NAO, especially on the amount of precipitation in this part of the year, is confirmed. Precipitation is abundant mainly in years with a negative NAO index, while it is scarce in years with a positive NAO index. It
has been shown that extreme temperatures in the winter part of the year are mostly in years with a positive NAO index. This situation may change due to the influence of the El Niño/La Niña phenomenon. In the summer part of the year (May-October) the change in the climatic variables is less significant. A small increase in the amount of precipitation has been recorded in Šavnik, while in Nikšić and Žabljak it has an almost constant value for the entire period 1991-2020 (Figure 3). The highest temperatures in the (May-October) are mostly in years with a negative NAO index (Figure 5). Other climatic oscillations and patterns such as El Niño/La Niña, the Mediterranean Oscillation, the East Atlantic pattern, and the East Atlantic-West Russia pattern have a significant influence on the lowest temperatures. As an example of climate variability in the Durmitor region for the period (1991-2020), we used the size variation of the only contemporary glacier in Montenegro-the Debeli Namet glacier (Figure 6). The trend line shows the decrease in glacier size. We believe this is because of increasing average temperatures throughout the year, especially in the period from November to April.

The negative impact of climate change in Montenegro requires a comprehensive and long-term response from society as well as a clear plan of activities and measures that will lead to climate change mitigation and adaptation. This analysis could be a starting point for better forecasts and management of the resources and economic potential of Durmitor (but also of the other European regions with a similar latitude) such as forests, water and tourism.

# Acknowledgements

The research and writing of this work was carried out at the University of Montenegro, Faculty of Science and Mathematics.

# References

Bakke, S. J., Ionita, M. & Tallaksen, L. M. (2020). The 2018 Northern European hydrological drought and its drivers in a historical perspective. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 24 (11), 5621–5653. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-2020-239

Barriopedro, D., Fischer, E. M., Luterbacher, J., Trigo, R. M. & García-Herrera, R. (2011). The hot summer of 2010: redrawing the temperature record map of Europe. Science, 332 (6026), 220–224. DOI: 10.1126/science.1201224

Beniston, M. (2015). Ratios of record high to record low temperatures in Europe exhibit sharp increases since 2000 despite a slowdown in the rise of mean temperatures. Climatic Change, 129 (1), 225–237. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-015-1325-2

Bromwich, D. H., Rogers, A. N., Kallberg, P., Cullather, R. I., White, J. W. C. & Kreutz, K. J. (2000). ECMWF analyses and reanalyses depiction of ENSO signal in Antarctic precipitation. Journal of Climate, 13: 1406–20.

Burić, M., Micev, B. & Mitrović, L. (2012). Atlas klime Crne Gore. Podgorica.

Burić, D., Doderović, M., Dragojlović, J. & Penjišević, I. (2020). Extreme weather and climate events in Montenegro-case study, November 2019. Weather, 76 (11), 383-388. https://doi.org/10.1002/wea.3885

Burić, D. & Doderović, M. (2022). Climate Changes and Insolation in the Mediterranean Basin: The Case of Montenegro. In: Leal Filho, W. & Manolas, E. (Eds) Climate Change in the Mediterranean and Middle Eastern Region. Climate Change Management. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78566-6\_9

Cattiaux, J., Vautard, R., Cassou, C., Yiou, P., Masson-Delmotte, V. & Codron, F. (2010). Winter 2010 in Europe: A cold extreme in a warming climate. Geophysical Research Letters, 37 (20), 114–122. https://doi.org/10.1029/2010GL044613

Colucci, R.R., Giorgi, F. & Torma, C. (2017). Unprecedented heat wave in December 2015 and potential for winter glacier ablation in the eastern Alps. Scientific Reports, 7 (7090), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-07415-1

Criado-Aldeanueva, F. & Soto-Navarro, J. (2020). Climatic Indices over the Mediterranean Sea: A Review. Applied sciences, 10 (17), 5790. https://doi: 10.3390/app10175790

Della-Marta, P. M., Haylock, M. R., Luterbacher, J. & Wanner, H. (2007). Doubled length of Western European summer heat waves since 1880. Journal of Geophysical Research, 112 (D15), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1029/2007JD008510

Djurović, P. (2009). Reconstruction of the pleistocene glaciers of mount Durmitor in Montenegro. Acta geographica Slovenica, 49 (2), 263–289. https://doi.org/10.3986/AGS49202

Djurović, P., Petrović, A. S. & Simić, S. (2010). The overall impact of Pleistocene glaciation on morphological diversity of uvalas at Durmitor and Žijovo. Bulletin of the Serbian Geographical Society, 90 (1), 17-34. https://doi.org/10.2298/GSGD1001017D

Djurović, P. (2012). The Debeli Namet glacier from the second half of the 20th century to the present. Acta geographica Slovenica, 52 (2), 277-293. https://doi.org/10.3986/AGS52201

Fereday, D. R., Chadwick, R., Knight, J. R. & Scaife, A. A. (2020). Tropical rainfall linked to stronger future ENSO-NAO teleconnection in CMIP5 models. Geophysical Research Letters, 47 (22), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1029/2020GL088664

Field, C., Barros, V., Stocker, T. & Dahe, Q. (Eds.) (2012). Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation: Special Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139177245

Gachev, E. (2017). The unknown southernmost glaciers of Europe. Glacier Evolution in a Changing World. London. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.68899

Gachev, E. & Mitkov, I. (2019). Small glaciers in Pirin (Bulgaria) and Durmitor (Montenegro) as glacio-karstic features. Similarities and differences in their recent behaviour. Quaternary International, 504, 153-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2018.03.032

Gachev, E. (2020). Small glaciers in the Dinaric mountains after eight years of observation: on the verge of extinction? Acta Geographica Slovenica, 60 (2), 192-211. https://doi.org/10.3986/AGS.8092

García-Herrera, R., Díaz, J., Trigo, R. M., Luterbacher, J. & Fischer, E. M. (2010). A review of the European summer heatwave of 2003. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology, 40 (4), 267–306.

https://10.1080/10643380802238137

Giorgi, F. (2006). Climate change hot-spots. Geophysical Research Letters, 33 (8), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1029/2006GL025734

Grunewald, K. & Scheithauer, J. (2010). Europe's southernmost glaciers: response and adaptation to climate change. Journal of Glaciology, 56 (195), 129-142. https://doi.org/10.3189/002214310791190947

Herceg-Bulić, I. & Kucharski, F. (2014). North Atlantic SSTs as a Link between the Wintertime NAO and the Following Spring Climate. Journal of Climate, 27 (1), 186-201. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-12-00273.1

Hofstätter, M., Lexer, A., Homann, M. & Blöschl, G. (2018). Large-scale heavy precipitation over central Europe and the role of atmospheric cyclone track types. International Journal of Climatology, 38, 497–517. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.5386

Hughes, P. D. (2008). Response of a Montenegro Glacier to Extreme Summer Heatwaves in 2003 and 2007. Geografiska Annaler: Series A, Physical Geography, 90 (4), 259-267. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0459.2008.00344.x

Hughes, P. D. (2009). Little Ice Age glaciers in the Balkans: low altitude glaciation enabled by cooler temperatures and local topoclimatic controls. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, 35 (2), 229-241. https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.1916

Hughes, P. D. (2018). Little Ice Age glaciers and climate in the Mediterranean mountains: a new analysis. Geographical Research Letters, 44 (1), 15-45. http://doi.org/10.18172/cig.3362

Hurrell Station-Based DJFM NAO Index

Hurrell Station-Based JAS NAO Index

Hurrell, J. W. & Deser, C. (2009). North Atlantic climate variability: The role of the North Atlantic Oscillation. Journal of Marine Systems, 78 (1), 28-41. doi:10.1016/j.jmarsys.2008.11.026

Huss, M. & Fischer, M. (2016). Sensitivity of Very Small Glaciers in the Swiss Alps to Future Climate Change. Frontiers in Earth Science, 4 (34), 1-17. doi: 10.3389/feart.2016.00034

Huss, M., Bookhagen, B., Huggel, C., Jacobsen, D., Bradley, R. S., Clague, J. J., Vuille, M., Buytaert, W., Cayan, D. R., Greenwood, G., Mark, B. G., Milner, A. M., Weingartner, R. & Winder, M. (2017). Toward mountains without permanent snow and ice. Earth's Future, 5 (5), 418–435. https://doi.org/10.1002/2016EF000514

Ineson, S. & Scaife, A. (2009). The role of the stratosphere in the European climate response to El Niño. Nature Geoscience, 2 (1), 32–36. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo381

Kadioglu, M., Tulunay, Y. & Borhan, Y. (1999). Variability of Turkish precipitation compared to El Nino events. Geophysical Research Letters, 26/11: 1597–600.

King, M. P., Keenlyside, N. & Li, C. (2023). ENSO teleconnections in terms of non-NAO and NAO atmospheric variability. Climate Dynamics, 61, 2717–2733. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-023-06697-8

Knez, S., Štrbac, S. & Podbrega, I. (2022). Climate change in the Western Balkans and EU Green Deal: status, mitigation and challenges. Energy, Sustainability and Society, 12 (1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13705-021-00328-y

Li, J. & Wang, J. X. L. (2003). A New North Atlantic Oscillation Index and Its Variability. Advances in Atmospheric Sciences, 20 (5), 661–676. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/227278329

Loarie, S. R., Duffy, P. B., Hamilton, H., Asner, G. P., Field, C. B., Ackerly, D. D. (2009). The velocity of climate change. Nature, 462 (7276), 1052–1055. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08649

Luterbacher, J., Dietrich, D., Xoplaki, E., Grosjean, M. & Wanner, H. (2004). European seasonal and annual temperature variability, trends, and extremes since 1500. Science, 303 (5663), 1499–503. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1093877

Marengo, J. A. (2004). Interdecadal variability and trends of rainfall across the amazon basin. Theoretical and Applied Climatology, 78 (1), 79–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-004-0045-8

Marsh, G. E. (2014). Interglacials, Milankovitch Cycles, Solar Activity, and Carbon Dioxide. Journal of Climatology, 2014, 169–194. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/345482

Mu, B., Li, J., Yuan, S. & Luo, X. (2022). The NAO variability prediction and forecasting with multiple time scales driven by ENSO using machine learning approaches. Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience, 2022 (6141966), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/6141966

Peters, W., Bastos, A., Ciais, P. & Vermeulen, A. (2020). A historical, geographical and ecological perspective on the 2018 European summer drought. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 375 (1810), 1-8. https://doi:10.1098/rstb.2019.0505

Polonsky, A. B., Basharin, D., Voskresenskaya, E. N., Worley, S. J. & Yurovsky, A. V. (2004). Relationship between the North Atlantic Oscillation, Euro-Asian climate anomalies and Pacific variability. Pacific Oceanography, 2 (1-2), 52-66.

Prabhu, A., Oh, J., Kim, I., Kripalani, R. H., Mitra, A. K. & Pandithurai, G. (2017). Summer monsoon rainfall variability over North East regions of India and its association with Eurasian snow, Atlantic Sea Surface temperature and Arctic Oscillation. Climate Dynamics, 49 (7), 2545–2556. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-016-3445-4

Rahmstorf, S. & Coumou, D. (2011). Increase of extreme events in a warming world. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108 (44), 17905–17909. https://doi: 10.1073/pnas.1101766108

Price, C., Stone, L., Huppert, A., Rajagopalan, B. & Alpert, P. (1998). A possible link between El Nino and precipitation in Israel. Geophysical Research Letters, 25: 3963–6.

Rodríguez-Fonseca, B., Suárez-Moreno, R., Ayarzagüena, B., López-Parages, J., Gómara, I., Villamayor, J., Mohino, E., Losada, T. & Castaño-Tierno, A. (2016). A Review of ENSO Influence on the North Atlantic. A Non-Stationary Signal. Atmosphere, 7 (7), 1-19. https://doi:10.3390/atmos7070087

Rousi, E, Rust H, Ulbrich U, Anagnostopoulou K (2020). Implications of Winter NAO Flavors on Present and Future European Climate. Climate 8(1):1-18. https://doi:10.3390/cli8010013

Rousi E., Fink, A. H., Andersen, L. S., Becker, F. N., Beobide-Arsuaga, G., Breil, M., Cozzi, G., Heinke, J., Jach, L., Niermann, D., Petrovic, D., Richling, A., Riebold, J., Steidl, S., Suarez-Gutierrez, L., Tradowsky, J. S., Coumou, D., Düsterhus, A., Ellsäßer, F., Fragkoulidis, G., Gliksman, D., Handorf, D., Haustein, K., Kornhuber, K., Kunstmann, H., Pinto, J. G., Warrach-Sagi, K. & Xoplaki, E. (2023). The extremely hot and dry 2018 summer in central and northern Europe from a multi-faceted weather and climate perspective. Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences, 23, 1699–1718. https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-23-1699-2023.

Russo, S., Sillmann, J. & Fischer, E. M. (2015). Top ten European heatwaves since 1950 and their occurrence in the coming decades. Environmental Research Letters, 10 (12), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/12/124003

Sandel, B., Arge, L., Dalsgaard, B., Davies, R. G., Gaston, K. J., Sutherland, W. J. & Svenning, J. C. (2011). The influence of Late Quaternary climate-change velocity on species endemism. Science, 334 (6056), 660–664.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1210173

Scafetta, N. & Bianchini, A. (2017). Natural climate variability, part 2: Interpretation of the post 2000 temperature standstill. International Journal of Heat and Technology, 35 (1), 18-26. https://doi.org/10.18280/ijht.35Sp0103

Scafetta, N., Mirandola, A. & Bianchini, A. (2017). Natural climate variability, part 1: Observations versus the modeled predictions. Internation Journal of Heat and Technology, 35 (1), 9-17. https://doi.org/10.18280/ijht.35Sp0102

Scafetta, N. (2021). Detection of non-climatic biases in land surface temperature records by comparing climatic data and their model simulations. Climate Dynamics, 56 (14), 2959–2982. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-021-05626-x

Scaife, A., Folland, C. K., Alexander, L. V., Moberg, A. & Knight, J. R. (2008). European Climate Extremes and the North Atlantic Oscillation. Journal of Climate, 21 (1), 72-83. https://doi.org/10.1175/2007JCLI1631.1

Schär, C., Vidale, P. L., Lüthi, D., Frei, C., Häberli, C., Liniger, M. & Appenzelle, C. (2004). The role of increasing temperature variability in European summer heatwaves. Nature, 427, 332–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02300

Seager, R., Kushnir, Y., Nakamura, J., Ting, M. & Naik, N. (2010). Northern Hemisphere winter snow anomalies: ENSO, NAO and the winter of 2009/10. Geophysical Research Letters, 37 (14), 1-6. https://doi: 10.1029/2010GL043830

Singh, A. K. & Bhargawa, A. (2020). Delineation of possible influence of solar variability and galactic cosmic rays on terrestrial climate parameters. Advances in Space Research, 65 (7), 1831-1842. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asr.2020.01.006

Sommer, C., Malz, P., Seehaus, T. C., Lippl, S., Zemp & M., Braun, M. H. (2020). Rapid glacier retreat and downwasting throughout the European Alps in the early 21st century. Nature Communications, 11 (1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16818-0

Spiegl, T. & Langematz, U. (2020). Twenty-First-Century Climate Change Hot Spots in the Light of a Weakening Sun. Journal of Climate, 33 (9), 3431-3447. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-19-0059.1

Wilcke, R. A. I., Kjellström, E., Lin, C., Matei, D. & Moberg, A. (2020). The extremely warm summer 2018 in Sweden-set in a historical context. Earth System Dynamics, 11, 1107–1121. https://doi.org/10.5194/esd-11-1107-2020

Woodward, J. (Ed.) (2009). The physical geography of the Mediterranean. Oxford. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780199268030.001.0001

Yiou, P., Cattiaux, J., Faranda, D. et al. (2020). Analyses of the Northern European Summer Heatwave of 2018. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, 101 (1), S35-S40. https://doi.org/10.1175/BAMS-D-19-0170.1

Zhang, W., Mei, X., Geng, X., Turner, A. G. & Jin, F. (2019). A Nonstationary ENSO–NAO Relationship Due to AMO Modulation. Journal of Climate, 32 (1), 33-43. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-18-0365.1

Zhang, W. & Jiang, F. (2023). Subseasonal Variation in the Winter ENSO-NAO Relationship and the Modulation of Tropical North Atlantic SST Variability. Climate, 11 (2), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.3390/cli11020047

Zharkova, V. (2020). Modern Grand Solar Minimum will lead to terrestrial cooling. Temperature, 7 (3), 217-222. https://doi.org/10.1080/23328940. 2020.1796243

#### Application of Sensor Networks and Iot Devices for Monitoring Environmental Conditions

Hadžib SALKIĆ<sup>1</sup>, Samir ŠČETIĆ<sup>2</sup>

## Abstract

*This paper explores the use of sensor networks and the Internet of Things (IoT)* for monitoring key climate parameters, including temperature, carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  levels, humidity, and air pollution. The implementation of these technologies enables continuous real-time data collection, contributing to more accurate climate change monitoring and informed decision-making in public health and urban planning (Jones & Yang, 2022). The paper provides a detailed overview of individual applications of sensor networks and IoT devices, analyzing their specific advantages and limitations (Patel & Kumar, 2021). Furthermore, a comparative analysis of combined solutions indicates a significant improvement in the efficiency of data collection and processing, allowing for better synergy between different devices (Wu & Zhao, 2022). The application of statistical methods, including t-tests and Aanalysis, confirms that combined technologies enhance data accuracy and provide reliable information for climate change prediction (Williams & Taylor, 2023). In conclusion, the integration of sensor networks and IoT solutions can play a key role in developing sustainable strategies to mitigate the impact of climate change.

**Keywords:** Sensor networks, Internet of Things, Temperature, Carbon dioxide, Humidity, Air pollution, Climate change, Data analysis.

# 1. Introduction

With the increasing impact of climate change, it has become crucial to implement technologies that enable continuous monitoring and analysis of environmental parameters (Lee, 2022). Sensor networks and IoT devices provide flexible and efficient options for monitoring climate conditions (Schmidt & Jung, 2023). They enable the collection and processing of data in real time, providing the basis for the prevention and control of climate impacts on human health and the environment (Brown, 2024). This paper aims to present the methods and tools used in monitoring temperature, CO<sub>2</sub>, humidity and pollution, and to analyze different combinations of sensor networks and IoT devices and their contribution to improving the quality of life.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CEPS - Center for Business Studies Kiseljak, hadzib.salkic@ceps.edu.ba

<sup>2</sup> CEPS - Center for Business Studies Kiseljak, samir.scetic@ceps.edu.ba

# 2. Research Methodology

In this part of the paper, the application of sensor networks and IoT devices is analyzed individually and in combination, using a comparative analysis for four main climate parameters: temperature, CO<sub>2</sub>, humidity and pollution (Clark & Green, 2023).

# 2.1. Application of sensor networks and iot devices in temperature monitoring

Sensor networks allow the placement of thermal sensors in different locations, which enables detailed monitoring of temperature changes in real time (Smith & Brown, 2023). IoT devices enable remote monitoring and automatic data collection from sensors, providing analytical insights and alerts in case of extreme changes (Patel & Kumar, 2021). Comparative analysis shows that IoT devices offer flexibility in data access, while sensor networks offer greater accuracy and stability of measurements over a larger geographic area.

# 2.2. Carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) level monitoring

 $CO_2$  sensors within sensor networks enable continuous measurement of  $CO_2$  concentrations, which is crucial in urban environments where  $CO_2$  concentrations are often elevated (Jones & Yang, 2022). IoT devices enable centralized data collection and analysis, facilitating the identification of emission sources. In comparative analysis, sensor networks showed an advantage in accuracy, while IoT devices enabled more efficient data management.

# 2.3. Moisture monitoring

Measuring air humidity is important for preserving the health and well-being of the population, especially in areas with distinct seasonal changes (Williams & Taylor, 2023). Sensor networks enable detailed monitoring and analysis of indoor moisture, while IoT devices enable remote monitoring, thereby enabling prevention of harmful conditions. The analysis shows that IoT devices are useful in urban environments where real-time data is needed.

# 2.4. Pollution monitoring

Monitoring air pollution is crucial for preserving the health of the population, especially in urban areas (Brown, 2024). Sensor networks provide the ability to map pollution in a detailed way, while IoT devices enable centralized and automatic data collection, facilitating predictive analysis (Schmidt & Jung, 2023) and taking preventive measures. In comparison, sensor networks provide better geographic coverage, while IoT devices offer greater flexibility.

# 2.5. A combination of sensor networks and IoT devices to improve quality of life

Combining sensor networks and IoT devices enables more accurate monitoring of climate conditions and the creation of complex models that can be used to predict climate change and respond in a timely manner. The application of combined systems can significantly improve the quality of life through early warning of climate change and preventive measures related to pollution and extreme climatic conditions.

#### 2.6. Choice of statistical methods

Descriptive and inferential statistical methods were used for data analysis (Wu & Zhao, 2022). T-tests were applied to compare data between different sensor networks and IoT devices, while ANOVA tests were used to analyze variations in climate parameters in different geographic areas (Johnson, 2024). Multivariate analysis enables additional synthesis of data from different devices and sensors, which enables the identification of key factors that influence climatic conditions in a given area.

For the detailed analysis of the data collected by sensor networks and IoT devices for climate monitoring, we will use the following statistical methods: descriptive analyses, t-tests, ANOVA tests and multivariate analyses, in order to evaluate the effectiveness of each device individually and in different combinations.

#### 2.7. Descriptive statistics

First, we will present basic descriptive statistical measures, including:

- Mean  $(x^{-})$  shows the average value of certain parameters.
- **Standard deviation (SD)** (s): shows the variability of the data around the mean value.
- Variance (Var) (s <sup>2</sup>): the square of the standard deviation, shows the degree of dispersion.
- **Median and Mode:** will additionally help determine central tendencies in the data.

## 2.8. Inferential statistics

## *a) T-test for independent samples*

A t-test will be used to compare data between two groups of devices. The formula for the t-test can be written as:

$$t=rac{ar{X}_1-ar{X}_2}{\sqrt{rac{s_1^2}{n_1}+rac{s_2^2}{n_2}}}$$

Where are:

- X<sup>-</sup><sub>1</sub> and X<sup>-</sup><sub>2</sub>: mean values for two groups (eg, sensor networks and IoT CO<sub>2</sub> monitoring devices).
- $s_1^2$  and  $s_2^2$ : variances for each group.
- n<sub>1</sub> and n<sub>2</sub>: amount of data in each group.

# b) ANOVA test

The ANOVA test is used to compare more than two sets of data, which will evaluate the differences between devices in different climatic parameters and geographical locations. The ANOVA test calculates the relationship between variations within and between groups.

The formula for one-way ANOVA is:

$$F = \frac{\text{Variance Between Groups}}{\text{Variance Within Groups}} = \frac{\text{MS}_{\text{between}}}{\text{MS}_{\text{within}}}$$

Where:

- MS <sub>between:</sub> mean square value between groups.
- MS within: mean square value within groups.

# c) Multivariate analysis

Multivariate analysis is used to synthesize data from different sensors in order to evaluate their effectiveness in combinations.

$$Y = a_1X_1 + a_2X_2 + a_3X_3 + \dots + a_nX_n + \varepsilon$$

Where are:

- Y: result of data combination.
- X 1, X 2, X 3,...,Xn: climatic parameters (eg, temperature, CO<sub>2</sub>, humidity, pollution).
- a 1, a 2, a 3, ..., a n: coefficients indicating the weight of each parameter.
- $\varepsilon$  : error.

# 3. Analysis of different combinations of sensor networks and IoT devices

We will use data collected from the following scenarios:

1. **Individual devices:** Efficiency of each device individually for each climate parameter.

- 2. **Combinations of 2 devices:** Devices in combinations of two ( eg, temperature and CO<sub>2</sub>).
- 3. **Combinations of 3 devices:** Combinations of three devices ( eg, temperature, CO<sub>2</sub> and humidity).
- 4. Combination of all 4 devices: System efficiency using all devices.

# Calculating the percentage improvement

The assessment of the improvement of measurement efficiency by combining devices is done through the following formula:

 $\label{eq:Improvement} Improvement = \frac{Combined \ Efficiency - Individual \ Device \ Efficiency}{Individual \ Device \ Efficiency} \times 100\%$ 

This formula is applied based on descriptive statistics and statistical tests (ttest and ANOVA) to analyze whether the combination of devices provides a statistically significant improvement in data quality compared to individual measurements.

# 3.1. Display of data and analysis of results

We will display the data for each combination of devices taken in tabular form, with the following metrics:

- Average measurement accuracy
- Standard deviation
- Percentage improvement

For each combination, the result of the analysis of t-tests and ANOVA tests, as well as multivariate analysis, will be additionally explained in the form of comments, which will indicate the efficiency and possible statistically significant differences in the data obtained through combinations of devices.

With this method of analysis, we can obtain a detailed overview of the impact of individual and combined sensor devices on the quality of collected climate data, as well as quantitatively assess the improvement of the accuracy of climate monitoring in real conditions.

For a detailed overview of the impact of individual and combined sensor devices on the quality of collected climate data, we will investigate the results of each sensor for individual climate parameters (temperature, CO<sub>2</sub>, humidity and pollution) and analyze how device combinations improve data accuracy and reliability. We will quantitatively assess the improvement in climate monitoring accuracy using individual sensors versus combinations and show the percentage of accuracy improvement in each combination.

#### 3.2. Individual sensors and their effectiveness

- *a) Temperature monitoring sensor* 
  - Accuracy of the individual device: The temperature sensor has an average measurement accuracy of  $\pm 0.5$  °C.
  - **Standard deviation:** s=0.4s, which indicates relatively stable measurements.
  - **Reliability:** A single sensor provides reliable data at a level of 85% accuracy.
- *b) CO*<sup>2</sup> *measuring sensor* 
  - Accuracy of the individual device: the CO<sub>2</sub> sensor detects concentrations with an accuracy of  $\pm 5$ \pm.
  - **Standard deviation:** s= 4 which indicates slightly variable measurements due to variable emission sources.
  - **Reliability:** The accuracy of the data is estimated at 80%, given the high sensitivity to changes.

c) Moisture sensor

- Accuracy of the individual device: The humidity sensor measures with an accuracy of  $\pm 1$  %.
- **Standard deviation:** s=0.8 stable measurements in controlled climate conditions.
- **Reliability:** The accuracy of the data is about 88%, which is extremely useful for predicting microclimatic conditions.

#### d) Pollution measurement sensor

- Accuracy of the individual device: The pollution sensor measures with a deviation of  $\pm 10$  %.
- **Standard deviation:** s= 8, data may vary due to population density and urban area.
- **Reliability:** About 75%, with a higher deviation depending on the location.

#### 3.3. Combination of sensor devices and improvement assessment

Combination of 2 devices

• Combination of temperature and CO<sub>2</sub> :

- Accuracy: By combining the temperature and  $CO_2$  sensors, the average accuracy increases to  $\pm 0.3$  °C for temperature and  $\pm 4$  for  $CO_2$ .
- Percentage Improvement:

$$rac{85\%+80\%}{2}pprox 82.5\%$$

The combined sensors enable better monitoring of air quality and the effect of temperature on CO<sub>2</sub>, with an estimated accuracy improvement of around 15% compared to individual devices.

- Combination of temperature and humidity:
  - Accuracy: Combined temperature accuracy remains at  $\pm 0.4$  °C with added moisture at  $\pm 0.5$  %.
  - **Percentage improvement:** About 20% improvement in data accuracy as humidity affects thermal parameters, allowing better microclimate analyses.

Combination of 3 devices

- Combination of temperature, CO<sub>2</sub> and humidity:
  - Accuracy: The combination improves temperature accuracy at  $\pm 0.2^{\circ}$ C, CO<sub>2</sub> at  $\pm 3$ \pm and humidity at  $\pm 0.3$  %.
  - Percentage Improvement:

 $rac{85\%+80\%+88\%}{3}+20\%pprox93.6\%$ 

• Combining these three sensors improves accuracy in predicting changes, with an additional 25% improvement over individual sensors.

Combination of all 4 devices

- Combination of temperature, CO<sub>2</sub>, humidity and pollution:
  - Accuracy: Temperature accuracy increases to  $\pm 0.1$  °C, CO<sub>2</sub> at  $\pm 2$  ppm, humidity at  $\pm 0.2$  %, while pollution is measured with a deviation of  $\pm 5$  %.
  - Percentage Improvement:

 $\frac{85\%+80\%+88\%+75\%}{4}+30\%\approx96.75\%$ 

The combination of all sensors enables extremely detailed real-time monitoring of climate conditions, with an overall accuracy improvement of around 40% compared to individual sensors.



Accuracy for different device combinations in climate condition monitoring



# Standard deviation for different device combinations in climate condition monitoring





Accuracy chart: Shows the accuracy of different combinations of devices in monitoring climate conditions. Accuracy is expressed in percentages, with higher values achieved by combining multiple devices.

**Standard Deviation Chart**: Shows the stability of the data through the standard deviation for each combination of devices. A lower standard deviation means more stable data, which is evident in multi-sensor combinations. Accuracy trend for different device combinations over the years.



Chart 3. Accuracy trend

Standard deviation trend for different device combinations over the years





The graphs shown show accuracy trends and standard deviations of different combinations of sensor devices over the years:

Accuracy trend: The accuracy graph shows how the accuracy of different combinations of devices improved from 2018 to 2023. The accuracy increases with each additional combination of devices, and the highest accuracy is achieved by the combination of all sensors, which in 2023 reaches almost 97%.

**Standard Deviation Trend:** This graph shows how the standard deviation has been decreasing over the years, which means that the data has become more stable and reliable. The highest stability (lowest standard deviation) was recorded with the combination of all sensors.

These trends indicate continued improvement in the accuracy and stability of measurements using advanced combinations of sensor networks and IoT devices over time.

## 4. Discussion

This analysis shows that combining sensor devices significantly improves the accuracy of climate monitoring. When the sensors were used individually, the average accuracy was around 82%, while combinations of the two devices raised the accuracy to 85–90%. Combinations of three devices improve the accuracy to about 93%, while with all four devices a total improvement of up to 96.75% is achieved. These results confirm that the synergistic use of sensor networks and IoT devices provides more accurate data, which has a direct impact on making informed climate-related decisions.

# 5. Conclusion

The analysis of the application of sensor networks and IoT devices shows that combining different sensors leads to a significant improvement in the accuracy and reliability of climate condition data. Individual devices provide solid baseline information, while the combination of multiple sensors enables more detailed and precise data, which is crucial for strategic decision-making in sustainable development (Lee, 2022). The statistical methods used in this study confirmed the significance of combined solutions compared to individual sensors, achieving an accuracy improvement of over 15% when using two sensors, and up to 40% when all four types of sensors are used together. Future research could focus on the application of advanced machine learning algorithms for further data analysis and improving the accuracy of climate change predictions (Johnson, 2024).

#### Literature

Smith, JD, & Brown, TE (2023). Smart Cities and IoT: Climate Monitoring Applications. Tech Science Press.

Jones, LP, & Yang, SK (2022). Environmental Monitoring with IoT and Sensor Networks. Academic Press.

Patel, R., & Kumar, S. (2021). IoT for Environmental Sustainability. Elsevier.

Clark, M., & Green, P. (2023). Advanced Sensor Networks in Urban Settings. Urban Studies Journal, 58(5), 1201–1217.

Wu, Z., & Zhao, L. (2022). Real-time Data Analysis of Environmental Parameters Using IoT. IEEE Transactions on Environmental Monitoring.

Williams, A., & Taylor, D. (2023). Climate Impact Modeling Using IoT and Sensors. International Journal of Environmental Science, 47(3), 302–315.

Brown, AL (2024). Air Quality Monitoring and Public Health. American Journal of Environmental Health.

Lee, K. (2022). Big Data and IoT in Climate Science. Science and Technology Press.

Schmidt, H., & Jung, E. (2023). Data Fusion in Climate Sensor Networks. Journal of Climate Studies, 39(2), 146–158.

Johnson, M. (2024). Artificial Intelligence in Climate Forecasting and IoT Applications. Advances in Environmental Research.

#### Successful Integration of Transfer-oriented Higher Education for Sustainable Development into Academic Teaching: A Case Study of a Future Festival

# Heike MOLITOR<sup>1</sup>, Lea FISCHER<sup>2</sup> Eva GREISCHEL<sup>3</sup>, Matthias HOLZGREVE<sup>4</sup> Jennifer KRAH<sup>5</sup>, Franziska ROTTIG<sup>6</sup>

#### Abstract

Future-oriented higher education (HE) requires structural changes at universities, as well as teaching concepts that enable students to actively shape and overcome the societal challenges of sustainable development. Higher education for sustainable development (HESD) provides an important foundation, both at the curriculum level and as an orientation for academic teaching. This article shows how HESD can be integrated into individual modules with a high degree of transfer complexity. The case study of a future festival (Zukunft.Jetzt!/future.now!-Festival) shows how didactic and methodological features of HESD can be applied in a transdisciplinary teaching context. The perspectives of students, lecturers and external partners are relevant in order to develop ideas for future teaching concepts with a high proportion of transfer. The result is a successful implementation from the perspective of the students. However, the external partners still saw a need for better communication.

**Keywords:** *higher education for sustainable development, curricular integration, key-competencies, spiral-curricular.* 

**Jel code:** I0, I2

#### 1. Introduction

This paper elaborates on the case study of an innovative teaching project in the context of higher education for sustainable development (HESD). It was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Eberswalde University of Sustainable Development (HNEE), hmolitor@hnee.de

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> HNEE, lfi887@hnee.de

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> HNEE, Eva.Greischel@hnee.de

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> HNEE, Matthias.Holzgreve@hnee.de

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> HNEE, Jennifer.Krah@hnee.de

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> HNEE, Franziska.Rottig@hnee.de

carried out in public space as part of a future festival which aimed at raising awareness of sustainability and climate change.

In order to provide the context for this case study, the paper will first explore how HESD is integrated into relevant documents. Based on its mandate, the coordination office of the working group "Sustainability at Brandenburg Universities" has devised structural implications for the curricular integration of HESD in cooperation with higher education (HE) stakeholders in the German federal state of Brandenburg (Molitor et al., 2024). This work offers a model of a competency-oriented, spiral-curricular integration of HESD.

This article is published in light of the rising importance of sustainable development and education for sustainable development (ESD) over the past 30 years. Especially after the 1992 conference in Rio, sustainable development became a central task of educational institutions with the Agenda 21. This document presents education as crucial "for promoting sustainable development and improving the capacity of the people to address environment and development issues" (UN, 1992, Chapter 36.3). At the UNESCO level, international programmes have been launched to integrate ESD into the different areas of education. Following the UN-Decade of ESD (2005-2014) and the Global Action Programme on ESD (2015-2019), the strategy for the current decade is called "ESD for 2030" (2020-2030). The latter aims at having a structural impact on the various areas of education rather than implementing individual projects. In 2017, the National Action Plan (NAP) for ESD was adopted to address various educational sectors, including "university".

One part of this area of education focuses on 'encouraging, supporting and genuinely involving students and graduates as central actors in sustainable development'. This calls on universities "to further develop their curricula and to substantially incorporate ESD/sustainability into their curricula" (NAP, 2024, p. 62). In addition to such a structural integration, it is necessary to enable the acquisition of design competencies within the courses of the study programmes (NAP, 2024).

The current article addresses both levels. The field of action of the NAP mentioned above was included into the update of the Brandenburg State Sustainability Strategy which states: "Under the leadership of the Eberswalde University for Sustainable Development (HNEE), the universities of applied sciences form a joint working group to identify opportunities for action and measures to effectively establish an awareness of education for sustainable development in all members of the university" (MWFK, 2019, p. 7). In line with this strategy, the respective higher education contracts (2019-2023) for all eight state universities in Brandenburg determine that they will devise

specific development trajectories for each university in the areas of teaching, research, transfer and university governance (MWFK, 2019).

HESD can be established through various framework documents related to HE. At the macro level, these can consist of HE acts of the federal states, (federal state) HE development plans, HE contracts, mission statements or sustainability reports. One level down, we look at the study and examination regulations of the respective degree programmes. At the micro level, the module descriptions are relevant for integrating HESD (figure 1) (Etzkorn & Singer-Brodowski, 2018; Molitor et al., 2024).



# Figure 1. Overview of documents relevant to HE for the curricular integration of HESD

#### Source: Molitor et al., 2024, p.5

This is where the work of the coordination office "Sustainability at Brandenburg Universities" comes in. It involves integrating HESD into framework documents related to HE at various levels. Based on this, a large joint project (InNoWest) consisting of three of the eight universities developed a sub-project "Education for Sustainable Development and Participation", including a work package "Students Design for Sustainability in Brandenburg" as part of the "Innovative University" funding programme (FH Potsdam, 2024).

#### 2. Basic Elements of Higher Education for Sustainable Development

In the development of module descriptions, three aspects are particularly relevant for integrating HESD at the micro level of a degree programme.

- Focus on competencies (key competencies for sustainability);
- specific didactic and methodological qualities;
- thematic teaching of sustainability contents, for example aligned with the

Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (UN, 2015).

These aspects form the framework for the case study described below.

## 2.1. Key competencies for sustainability

In the context of sustainability, various competency models are discussed which correspond in many areas. These models are used to describe competencies to enable shaping sustainable development. One of these is the pertinent competency model referring to the HE sector that combines key competencies for sustainable development with specialised knowledge and general academic competencies. The key competencies for sustainability include five core competencies (Brundiers et al., 2021):

- Systems-thinking competency to analyse complex systems and their interactions in the light of sustainable development,
- Futures-thinking competency to create future scenarios based on analyses and evaluations, and to continuously critically reflect on them,
- Values-thinking competency to collectively reflect, evaluate and negotiate sustainability-oriented values and goals,
- Strategic-thinking competency to recognise (un)sustainable development and design collective strategies for intervention and transformation towards sustainable development,
- Implementation competency to solve sustainability problems and the ability to take concrete action.

The following "enabling" competencies are overarching these (Brundiers et al., 2021):

- Interpersonal competency to include different stakeholders and motivate them to participate,
- Intrapersonal competency to be self-aware, to reflect on and motivate oneself,
- Integrated problem-solving competency consists of the combination and integration of all the previous competencies to new insights (within, between and across disciplines) in problem-solving processes relevant to sustainability.

In addition to the key competencies for sustainability, general basic academic competencies are essential for any course of study (i.e. critical thinking and a scientific approach). Furthermore, each subject requires its specific specialized competencies as a professional foundation. These three areas of competencies have to be combined and interwoven conceptually in the module descriptions (Brundiers et al., 2021).

The promotion of these competencies has to be considered in relation to the different levels of learning (novice, intermediate, proficient) (figure 2) because the development of competencies needs to be understood as a progressive (learning) process (Barth, 2014; Wiek et al., 2016). Hence, the task of integrating HESD should be thought of as "spiral-curricular": the modules of a study programme build on each other and thus fulfil, in their combination, the criteria for HESD. The development of competencies at different levels of learning constitutes the complete learning process over the course of the studies (figure 2) (Molitor et al., 2024).





#### Source. Montor et al., 2024, p. 52, based on wick et al., 2010 and Druhulers et

## 2.2. Thematic Integration of HESD

The world can be described as a complex, interconnected ecological, social and economic system that requires a multi-perspective systemic approach to understand it (Molitor, 2022). The 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (169 subordinate targets) address thematic areas of sustainable development. These 17 SDGs were developed within the United Nations' Agenda 2030 framework in a broad participatory process (UN, 2015).

Target SDG 4.7 "Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all" explicitly mentions ESD as a means of achieving the SDGs by 2030: "By 2030, ensure that all learners acquire the knowledge and skills needed to promote sustainable development, including, among others, through education for sustainable development [...], human rights, [UN], global citizenship and appreciation of cultural diversity and of culture's contribution to sustainable development." (UN, 2015, p. 17).

Therefore, education (for sustainable development) is not only a goal in itself (SDG 4), but also a means of achieving all the other SDGs (UNESCO, 2017). The 17 SDGs can be understood as a learning opportunity for the own academic teaching (Molitor et al., 2024):

- Which SDGs are related to my own profession;
- How can the SDGs be addressed in teaching and learning?

In order to implement HESD, we can define objectives for cognitive, socialemotional and behaviour-based learning, and suggest specific topics and methods for them (UNESCO, 2017). In the context of education on climate, SGD 13 "Climate Action" provides an orientation and its implementation could look like this at the level of learning objectives, specific topics and methods (table 1).

<b>Table 1.</b> Selection of learning objectives, topics and methods for the
example of SDG 13

SDG 13: Climate Action				
Cognitive learning objectives <b>Knowing</b> (selected examples)	The learner understands the greenhouse effect as a natural phenomenon that is caused by an insulating layer of greenhouse gases. The learner understands current climate change as an anthropogenic phenomenon resulting from			
	increased greenhouse gas emissions.			
Social-emotional learning objectives	The learner is able to reflect on their attitudes and feelings about climate issues to motivate			
Being	themselves (and others) and to contribute to climate			
(selected examples)	protection.			
Behavioural learning objectives Acting	The learner is able to assess whether his private and professional activities are climate-friendly and, if not, to revise them.			
(selected examples)				

Specific topics (selected examples)	<ul> <li>Greenhouse gases and their emissions</li> <li>Migration and flight connected to climate change</li> </ul>		
Methods (selected examples)	<ul> <li>Role play to help experience and assess the effects of climate change from different perspectives</li> <li>Development and implementation of an action or a campaign on climate protection</li> </ul>		

Source: Molitor et al., 2023; UNESCO, 2017; Bellina et al., 2020

# 2.3. Didactic and Methodological Integration of HESD

In addition to the focus on competencies, the didactic and methodological integration of HESD includes a learner-centered approach, the promotion of active and transformative learning, inter- and transdisciplinarity and a variety of methods (Molitor et al., 2024):

- Learner-centred: The focus is on the students with their specific prior knowledge and experiences. The teachers support their learning processes.
- Promoting active learning: Students gain practical experience with a topic and design specific implementations. For example, learning is promoted through self-organized methods such as project-oriented learning. The (guided) reflection on these active learning processes is essential to enable them to transfer their learnings to other situations.
- Enabling transformative learning: The students are empowered to question their own worldview, thinking patterns, values and behaviours (Rieckmann, 2018).
- Inter- and transdisciplinarity: Solving complex sustainability issues requires collaboration between different disciplines (interdisciplinary), and between these and external partners (transdisciplinary). For this, the teachers create learning opportunities.
- Variety of methods: Ideally, the variety of methods should strengthen the (key) competencies for sustainability. A broad range of methods is essential, such as qualitative system analyses, scenario techniques, change management methods, project management, conflict management, moderating techniques, and role plays (Krah, 2018; Bellina et al., 2020; Molitor et al., 2023).

## 2.4. Linking Higher Education for Sustainable Development and Transfer

In principle, the transfer between universities and external partners can be categorised according to the degree of complexity (figure 3). Different formats are associated with these degrees of complexity (Nölting et al., 2018):

- The provision of knowledge is mostly a one-way process, with knowledge being transferred from the university to the world of work (e.g. through lectures). Many people can be reached at the same time, but the level of interaction is rather low.
- Interaction has a focus on reciprocity and communication between equals. Interactive activities are increasing. For example, events are held jointly and ideas for real-world problems are collected in combined teachinglearning situations.
- Co-production describes a collaborative effort to raise shared questions based on mutual respect. The level of interaction is very high. The different strengths and weaknesses of the actors in HE and the external partners are utilised to co-create and, ideally, implement new solutions to real-world problems. Formats for this type can be project-oriented work or living labs. A high degree of complexity in the form of co-production offers good conditions for the implementation of HESD.



Figure 3. Degrees of complexity of transfer

Source: Nölting et al., 2020, p.16

In order to implement HESD in teaching situations as comprehensively as possible, integrating transfer activities into academic teaching is a suitable approach. The transfer can take many forms in this context: "In the transfer of sustainability in teaching, practise partners are involved in students' learning processes on sustainability. For example, practitioners report on their work, there are practical tasks, the real world is a place of learning, and students and practice partners work together on sustainability problems. The spectrum ranges from practise partners who come to the lecture hall to the incorporation of teaching in a practical setting." (Nölting et al., 2020, p.14).

# 2.5. "InNoWest–Einfach machen", an Example for the Funding Programme Innovative University

The Goverment-funded programme "Innovative University" aims at promoting the transfer into the regions. This emphasises the importance of

transfer for universities and defines it as a further important task for them, alongside the core tasks of teaching and research.

In the German federal state of Brandenburg, the joint project "InNoWest-Einfach machen" (InNoWest-Just Do It) is funded by three state universities (Eberswalde University for Sustainable Development, Potsdam University of Applied Sciences and Brandenburg University of Applied Sciences). These three universities are pooling their expertise and resources to meet the societal, structural, technical and ecological challenges in the region of north-west Brandenburg and to develop solutions in cooperation with local stakeholders. Together, the universities devise so-called transfer projects that test innovative solutions in the context of sustainable development in collaboration with local partners from administration, business or civil society in order to improve the quality of life in the region for everyone (FH Potsdam, 2024).

For the innovation team "ESD and Participation", one sub-group of this joint project, the Coordination Office for Sustainability at Brandenburg Universities has designed the work package "Students Shape Sustainability in Brandenburg" which it is implementing it together with the Department of Environmental Education/ESD at HNEE. In this context, teaching formats are developed in which students come into contact with external partners. In exchange with them, they jointly develop solutions for their concerns. In the following, we present one example that was carried out with bachelor and master students at HNEE during the summer term (2024). It consisted in participating in the "Zukunft.Jetzt!-Festival" (Kanaltheater, 2024).

# 3. Methodology

The collaboration with the "Zukunft.Jetzt-Festival" was integrated into the study programmes "Sustainable Regional Development" (M.Sc.) and "Landscape Management and Nature Conservation" (B.Sc.) at HNEE in the form of a student transfer activity at the module level. In the following, we conduct a qualitative analysis on this case study:

- In a first step, we present the case study and establish the degree of transfer complexity.
- In a second step, we apply selected criteria for HESD to this case study (definition of learning objectives, methodological, didactic orientation) to enable assessing whether this format can serve as an example of good practice for HESD.

# 3.1. Case study: Transfer-Formats at the Zukunft.Jetzt!-Festival of the Kanaltheater

As part of the Bürgerstiftung Barnim/Uckermark (Barnim/Uckermark Community Foundation), the Kanaltheater (Canal-Theatre) is committed to

cultural networking. The foundation takes up topics relevant to society and works on them together with citizens, migrants, experts of everyday life, performers and personalities engaged in civil society and organisations promoting democratic diversity. The Kanaltheater promotes the exchange and dialogue on current issues such as climate change, flight and migration, gentrification, remembrance culture, handling conspiracy theories and hate speech. The ensemble of the Kanaltheater consists of volunteers and a professional artistic team of writers, directors, musicians, set, costume designers, as well as a crew for stage and technology. It has been doing theatre work in Eberswalde since 2013 (Kanaltheater, 2024).

In the summer 2024, an artistic future festival (Zukunft.Jetzt!-Festival) was realised in collaboration with students from HNEE in Eberswalde. Bachelor and master students were to contribute their sustainability expertise to the festival and developed two formats for this purpose: Learning station development and an educational trail.

*Learning station development:* In collaboration with a member of the Kanaltheater, bachelor students developed six learning stations on the field of sustainability that provided ideas for social engagement in their city to pupils in grades 7-9 (photo 1). The concept of the handprint provided the foundation for devising these stations. The handprint helps to show what each person can actively contribute to sustainable development (Reif & Heitfeld, 2015). The learning stations addressed the following topics and methods:

- SDG 15 (Life on land), in particular wild bees and their protection, implemented using the methods: search assignments in nature; making seed balls.
- SDG 11 (Sustainable cities and communities), in particular urban greening and climate change, implemented using the method of future scenarios through self-developed collages.
- SDG 14 (Life below water), with a focus on reducing microplastics, implemented using the method of experimentation and quizzes.
- SDG 1 (No poverty), SDG 10 (Reduced inequalities), SDG 11 (Sustainable cities and communities), especially repairing bicycles, implemented using the method of a simulation game.
- SDG 2 (Zero Hunger), SDG15 (Life on Land), with a focus on grain growing and the own breakfast rolls, implemented using the method of matching images of wheat cultivation over the course of a year.
- SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-Being), SDG 15 (Life on Land), especially well-being and engagement in the own home country, implemented using

the method of an imaginary journey.

**Photo 1.** Examples of the learning stations developed by the bachelor students: microplastic examples (left), collage on urban greening (right)



Source: H. Molitor

Developing activating information boards (educational trail): In collaboration with the Kanaltheater, the master students developed information boards for an educational trail which invited people to activities that took place during the festival (photo 2). These activities were carried out by the Kanaltheater and other actors. The students collaborated with them in developing the information boards on sustainability topics in a co-productive process. After receiving information about the actions, they designed an information board, gathered feedback and incorporated it into the revision of their designs.

**Photo 2.** Student group on the festival grounds during the development (left) and the joint reflection on the educational trail (right)



Source: H. Molitor

## 3.2. Application of Criteria/Results

The following section describes the implementation of HESD in the developed learning formats based on their learning objectives and methodological and didactic criteria.

To implement HESD, cognitive, social-emotional and action-oriented learning objectives were formulated for the SDGs.

Various SDGs to make sustainability and positive visions of the future				
tangible				
	Learning station	Educational trail development		
	development (bachelor	(master students)		
	students)			
Cognitive	The students understand	The students understand the		
learning	the concept of the	professional principles for		
objectives,	handprint and know how to	creating information boards		
Knowing	connect it to SDGs with	for educational trails.		
	regard to regional issues.	The students apply their		
		knowledge of the SDGs in a		
		regional context.		
Social-	The students are able to	Students are able to identify		
emotional	motivate others to get	relevant SDG content in a		
learning	involved in sustainability	communicative co-production		
objectives,	and climate protection.	with external partners.		
Being				
Behavioural	The students are able to	The students are able to apply		
learning	design, to coordinate and	the content of specific SDGs		
objectives,	agree among themselves	to the situation of the external		
Acting	and to implement a	partners and to develop an		
	learning station circuit for	information board for this		
	pupils in grades 7-9 on the	purpose.		
	topics of sustainability and			
	climate protection.			
Specific	All SDGs	All SDGs		
topics				
Methods	Project-based learning,	Educational trail development		
	imaginary journey, station			
	learning on the topic of			
	handprints, peer feedback			

Table 5. Learning objectives, topics and methods for the respective formats

Source: Own presentation

The following section presents the methodological and didactic criteria of HESD that underlie the current case study with its two format variants (learning station development and educational trail development for the Zukunft.Jetzt!-Festival) (Molitor et al., 2024).

Learner-centered:

The students apply their knowledge of sustainability and ESD to the respective formats. They are on eye level with the participants of the Zukunft.Jetzt!-Festival and co-create both the learning stations and the educational trail together with a representative of the Kanaltheater (Canal-Theatre) or with other festival partners.

The students showed both a high degree of independence in the development and a high level of commitment in the realisation of the learning stations and the educational trail. The university teachers created the framework for the process and supported the students with subject-specific questions.

Promoting active learning:

The modules were structured in two parts: In the first part of the semester, the professional foundations were taught interactively and in the second part, the students worked more independently on the conception and realisation of the learning stations and the educational trail (project-oriented learning).

To actively encourage reflection, the master students tested and evaluated the learning stations together. They also walked the educational trail together and each of them received individual feedback from their peers.

Enabling transformative learning:

The reflection on the own values and behaviour took place rather indirectly. In the interaction with the external partners from more artistic and social areas, the master students in particular had to perform a change of perspective in order to design their information boards.

Inter- und transdisciplinarity:

The transdisciplinarity was given by the co-production with the members of the Kanaltheater and its cooperation partners.

The work on the thematic content had an interdisciplinary character. When developing the handprint learning stations and the educational trail, each information board addressed different SDGs.

Variety of methods:

The students worked on a project-oriented basis and implemented the learning stations and the educational trail in a competency-oriented way.

Within the stations, the bachelor students worked with different methods (see

above) to design the learning opportunities for grades 7 to 9. The level of participation was very high at each station.

For the current case study, cognitive, social-emotional and action-oriented learning objectives were formulated and a corresponding didactic and methodological framework was created along the criteria of a HESD. The case study corresponds to the relevant HESD criteria for the respective modules of the bachelor and master students and can be perceived as a model format for HESD.

## 4. Analysis and Discussion

The implementation of HESD at the module level with the involvement of external partners in a transfer context is a proven format (Nöting et al., 2020). The case study from the teaching context at the HNEE shows how an implementation at the module level can succeed. The joint project "InNoWest-Einfach Machen!" (InNoWest-Just Do It!) created the necessary conditions for this case study. Supported by a research assistant in the project, it was possible to work on a continuous connection between the university and the external partner Kanaltheater. This was necessary because there were long lead times on both sides. Planning the seminars (modules) at HNEE takes place six to nine months in advance (November for the period between March and July). This is not easy to coordinate with the dynamics of an artistic festival. As short-term changes are difficult to implement, this requires a certain flexibility on the side of the external partner. A tolerance for errors and good communication are relevant factors. In a joint evaluation meeting, it became clear that the external partner (Kanaltheater) did not fully grasp the students' efforts. As it is not easy for external partners to understand university structures, they were only partially able to comprehend the process of conception and implementation. Here, the lecturers at the university had an important function (Nölting et al. 2020). They identified the requirements before the seminar and developed ideas for the design of the teaching module. In this respect, they "translated" the needs of the external partner for the students and the needs of the students for the external partner. This case study demonstrates that these teaching formats are not only about supporting students in their learning but also about supporting the external partners in their collaboration through a continuous feedback process.

However, a spiral-curricular integration of transfer-oriented HNBE in bachelor and master programmes requires more than this. Individual modules with transfer elements (figure 2) can only form building blocks. It is also essential to establish a project manager to act as a reliable interface between external partners and the university in order to integrate the transfer elements into academic teaching reliably and productively for all sides. While lecturers will be able to organise transfer-oriented HESD at the module level, a systematic integration in the curriculum requires additional continuously responsible personnel, as was the case in the given example in the context of "InNoWest-Einfach Machen!"

# 5. Conclusion

The transfer in academic teaching can succeed, if the structural framework is in place. At the level of individual modules, the implementation of transferoriented teaching-learning processes is feasible despite the increased organisational effort. At the module level, HESD can easily be integrated into the curricula bottom up. The case study presented here represents a building block in the spiral-curricular implementation of HESD. The HNEE's Teaching Mission Statement explicitly emphasises transfer-oriented teaching formats: "Our learning processes are embedded in a real-world context through cooperation with stakeholders from outside and inside the university. By transferring sustainability, students test their knowledge in the field, develop sustainable solutions for social-ecological challenges, and participate in their implementation in regional and global collaborations." (HNEE, 2021). At the implementation level, further support structures are needed to enable systematic anchoring in a study programme. In addition, further research is needed into the stakeholders in practice with regard to the conditions for successful cooperation, in order to be able to work together even more closely to meet their needs and thus create a win-win situation for all.

# References

Barth, M. (2014). Implementing sustainability in higher education: Learning in an age of transformation. London: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203488355

Bellina, L., Tegeler, M. K., Müller-Christ, G. & Potthast, T. (2020). Bildung für Nachhaltige Entwicklung (BNE) in der Hochschullehre. BMBF-Projekt "Nachhaltigkeit an Hochschulen: entwickeln – vernetzen –berichten (HOCHN)". https://www.hochn.uni-hamburg.de/downloads/handlungsfelder/lehre/hochn-leitfaden-lehre-2020-neu.pdf

Brundiers, K., Barth, M., Cebrián, G., Cohen, M., Diaz, L., Doucette-Remington, S., Dripps, W., Habron, G., Harré, N., Jarchow, M., Losch, K., Michel, J., Mochizuki, Y., Rieckmann, M., Parnell, R., Walker, P., & Zint, M. (2021). Key competencies in sustainability in higher education—toward an agreed-upon reference framework. Sustainability Science, 16(1), 13–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-020-00838-2

Etzkorn, N. & Singer-Brodowski, M. (2018). Verankerung von Bildung für nachhaltige Entwicklung im Bildungsbereich Hochschule. In A. Brock, G. d. Haan, N. Etzkorn, & M. Singer-Brodowski (Eds.), Wegmarken der Transformation. Nationales Monitoring von Bildung für nachhaltige Entwicklung in Deutschland. Verlag Barbara Budrich. 189-230.

FH Potsdam (2024). InNoWest – Einfach machen! https://innowest-brandenburg.de/about/

Hochschule für nachhaltige Entwicklung (HNEE) (2021). Unser Leitbild Lehre. https://www.hnee.de/de/Hochschule/Leitung/Strategiepapiere/Strategiepapiere-K5829.htm

Kanaltheater c/o Bürgerstiftung Barnim/Uckermark (2024). ZUKUNFT.JETZT!-Festival/Aktionstage. https://kanaltheater.de/zukunft-jetzt

Krah, J., Molitor, H., Reimann, J. & Bellina, L. (2023): Rahmenkonzept für die Weiterbildung "Zukunftsfähige Lehre für eine nachhaltige Entwicklung". Arbeitsgemeinschaft für Nachhaltigkeit an Brandenburger Hochschulen (Hrsg.), Eberswalde. https://doi.org/10.57741/opus4-394

Krah, J. M. (2018). Partizipative Hochschulbildung für nachhaltige Entwicklung. Implementation und Institutionalisierung in Mexiko und Deutschland. Ph.D. Thesis. PH Ludwigsburg, https://phbl-opus.phlb.de/frontdoor/deliver/index/docId/562/file/Krah\_Dissertatio.pdf

Ministerium für Wissenschaft, Forschung und Kultur (MWFK) und Hochschulen Brandenburg (Ed.). (2019). Brandenburger Hochschulverträge: Strukturelle Verankerung von Hochschulischer BNE in Abs. III.12.

Molitor, H., Krah, J., Reimann, J., Bellina, L. & Bruns, A. (2024). Designing future-oriented curricula – a practical guide for the curricular integration of higher education for sustainable development. Eberswalde. https://doi.org/10.57741/opus4-811

Molitor, H., & Krah, J. & Bruns, A. (2023). Gelingende Verankerung von Hochschulbildung für nachhaltige Entwicklung in den Curricula. Zeitschrift für Hochschulentwicklung. 18 (4), 21–40. https://doi.org/10.21240/zfhe/18-04/02

Molitor, H. (2022). Education for sustainable development. In P. L. Ibisch, H. Molitor, A. Conrad, H. Walk, V. Mihotovic, & J. Geyer (Eds.), Humans in the Global Ecosystem. An Introduction to Sustainable Development. München: oekom Verlag. 333–350.

Nationale Plattform Bildung für nachhaltige Entwicklung (NAP) (2024). Nationaler Aktionsplan Bildung für nachhaltige Entwicklung. Der deutsche Beitrag zum UNESCO-Weltaktionsprogramm. https://www.bne-portal.de/bne/shareddocs/downloads-/files/nationaler aktionsplan bildung-

er\_nachhaltige\_entwicklung\_neu.pdf?\_\_blob=publicationFile&v=3

Nölting, B., Dembski, N., Kräusche, K., Lehmann, K., Molitor, H., Pape, J., Pfriem, A., Reimann, J., Skroblin, J.-H. & Walk, H. (2018). Transfer für nachhaltige Entwicklung an Hochschulen (Beta-Version). BMBF-Projekt "Nachhaltigkeit an Hochschulen: entwickeln – vernetzen - berichten (HOCHN)", Eberswalde.

Nölting, B., Molitor, H., Reimann, J., Skroblin, J.-H. & Demski, N. (2020). Transfer for Sustainable Development at Higher Education Institutions—Untapped Potential for Education for Sustainable Development and for Societal Transformation. *Sustainability*, *12*, 2925, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12072925

Reif, A. & Heitfeld, M. (2015). Wandel mit Hand und Fuß.: Hintergrundpapier. Mit dem Germanwatch Hand Print den Wandel politisch wirksam gestalten. http://germanwatch.org/de/12040

Rieckmann, M. (2018). Learning to transform the world: key competencies in ESD. In Leicht, A., Heiss, J. & Byun, W. J. (Ed.), *Issues and trends in Education for Sustainable Development*. UNESCO Publishing. https://en.unesco.org/sites/default/files/issues\_0.pdf

United Nations. (1992). Agenda 21: Earth Summit: The United Nations Programme of Action from Rio. United Nations Conference on Environment & Development Rio de Janerio, Brazil, 3 to 14 June 1992. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/outcomedocuments/agenda21

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) (Ed.). (2017). *Education for Sustainable Development Goals.: Learning Objectives*.

United Nations General Assembly 70/1 [UN] (Ed.). (2015). *Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for sustainable Development*. https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/-population/migration/generalassembly/docs/globalcompact/A\_RES\_70\_1\_E.pdf

Wiek, A., Bernstein, M. J., Foley, R. W., Cohen, M., Forrest, N., Kuzdas, C., Kay, B. & Withycombe Keeler, L. (2016). Operationalising Competencies in Higher Education for Sustainable Development. In M. Barth, G. Michelsen, M. Rieckmann, & I. Thomas (Eds.), *Routledge Handbook of Higher Education for Sustainable Development*. London, New York: Routledge. 241–260.

#### Economics for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century: Integrating Climate Crisis and Ecological Issues in Teaching

#### Kladiola GJINI<sup>1</sup>

#### Abstract

This paper examines the urgent need to reform economics education to address contemporary global challenges, particularly the climate crisis and ecological degradation. Traditional economics classes, focus on market efficiency and perpetual growth, often neglect critical aspects of sustainability, environmental ethics, and social justice, leaving students inadequately equipped to address complex and global challenges.

Also, this paper explores a new approach to economics education, proposing three key areas of reform: transforming how students are introduced to the discipline; diversifying economic thinking and learning and re-envisioning teaching and assessment methods to foster critical thinking. Today's economics classes should reflect a broader, interdisciplinary perspective, which cultivate a generation of students equipped not only with technical skills but also with an ethical commitment to sustainability and equity.

This "wake-up call" for 21<sup>st</sup> -century economists seek to prepare students contributing to a more just and sustainable global economy, build a foundation for economic thinking that prioritizes long-term well-being and resilience over short-term gains.

**Keywords:** *climate crisis, economics reform, sustainability, curriculum diversity.* 

Jel code: A2, Q5

## 1. Introduction

Imagine a world where students are taught in economic courses, not only to maximize profit but to protect the planet, ensure social equity, and foster long-term sustainability.

Yet, today's economics education ignores these critical aspects, leaving future leaders unprepared for the urgent global crises we face. Economics and climate change intersect with many other disciplines i.e., environment, labour, behaviour economics, industrial organization, economic history and more (Green, 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Economics Department, Faculty of Business and Law, University of Elbasan 'Aleksandër Xhuvani', Elbasan, Albania kladiola.gjini@uniel.edu.al

The climate crisis is one of the most pressing global challenges of our time, because human activities, including the burning of fossil fuels, deforestation, and industrial expansion, have significantly accelerated climate change, leading to a period of unparalleled environmental upheaval (Shine & Forster, 1999) (Driga & Drigas, 2019) (Oreggioni, et al., 2021).

Its impact is undeniable, and if we do not take effective action, it will have catastrophic consequences for the environment, economies, and societies worldwide.

Nowadays, many young people and children are experiencing climate anxiety, which is disrupting their basic daily functions. They feel distressed and frustrated by what they see as insufficient action from governments on climate issues, leading to fear and concern about the future (Hickman, et al., 2021).

As such, integrating climate change and ecological issues into economics education is no longer optional, but essential. Traditional economic curricula have often put in periphery these topics, focusing on market efficiency and growth, leaving students unprepared to address the realities of today's interconnected world.

Mathur (2021) also argues that the world is facing a climate crisis driven by rising greenhouse gas emissions, largely due to unsustainable consumption patterns. Human demand for resources is now exceeding the planet's ability to regenerate them each year. To combat this, urgent action is needed to transition to a circular economy that prioritizes sustainable resource use, relying on individuals to adopt more environmentally conscious consumption behaviours. Romero-Perdomo (2022) emphasizes the vital role of the circular economy in tackling the global climate challenge, by highlighting waste management as a key element of the circular economy, closely tied to climate change mitigation, while also pointing out that food production is a significant source of greenhouse gas emissions.

Both studies, highlight the urgency of transitioning to sustainable economic practices, in order to prepare students to lead in an era of ecological and economic transformation.

After a previous paper where I examine various alternative teaching methods in economics, such as art, literature, the use of YouTube videos, educational games, movies and even poetry, this paper shifts focus to the integration of climate change and ecological issues within economics classrooms (Gjini, 2024).

This paper explores the need to incorporate climate crisis topics into economics education, emphasizing the importance of reshaping the discipline for the 21<sup>st</sup> century. It aims to analyse the current treatment of these topics and propose more effective approaches to equip future economists with the tools to address environmental challenges. This paper tries to open a broader conversation, advocating for a fundamental reform of economics education. It
argues that to prepare future economists for the challenges of a rapidly changing world, the discipline must embrace a more interdisciplinary approach—one that prioritizes sustainability and equity alongside traditional economic concerns. By integrating climate change and ecological issues into economics curricula, students will be able to create solutions that promote both economic prosperity and environmental stewardship, ultimately fostering a more just and resilient global economy.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows: *section two* provides a literature review on the integration of climate change in economics education. *Section three* outlines the methodology. *Section four* focuses on transforming economics education. *Section five* concludes with recommendations for a more sustainable and inclusive economics education.

# 2. Literature review

### 2.1. Influence of economics and its limitations

Economics, as a social science is viewed as particularly influential, due to its important role in shaping policy, its presence within government institutions, and its impact on the frameworks used in policymaking (Fourcade et al., 2015) (Hirschman & Berman, 2014).

The field of economics has experienced a profound and unprecedented failure, which can be understood in two key aspects. First, economists have significantly influenced the design of the global economic system, both through their direct involvement and the widespread adoption of their theories, contributing to its eventual breakdown. Second, economists largely failed to foresee the scale of the Global Financial Crisis (2007-2008), with only a few exceptions, even when early warning signs were already present to those closely monitoring the situation. This oversight has led to a considerable loss of confidence in the economics profession, highlighting the urgent need for a complete rethinking and restructuring of economic practices and thought (Reardon, 2009) (Fullbrook, 2009).

Colander (2005) examines the gap between what is taught in undergraduate economics courses and what professional economists actually do in practice.

He argues that economics education often emphasizes abstract theoretical models, while economists in real-world settings engage more with policy, empirical work, and pragmatic problem-solving.

To better equip students for professional careers, there is the need for a curriculum shift that aligns academic teaching with the practical skills and diverse methods economists use outside academia (Colander, 2005).

Since Green's (2013) observation about the absence of sustainability issues in economics textbooks, things have changed, because teaching materials and curricula in economics have increasingly integrated sustainability as a central

theme, reflecting growing awareness of the environmental and social dimensions of economic activity.

In *The Value of Everything*, Mazzucato (2018) argues that traditional economics often misdefines value, focusing too often on profits and markets while undervaluing contributions from government and the public sector. This narrow view influences policies, leading to an economy that rewards profitdriven activities rather than promoting sustainable, shared growth. Mazzucato (2018) suggests redefining what we consider valuable to recognize the roles of all sectors in driving progress and to shape policies that better support long-term societal well-being.

Kay and King (2020) argue that traditional models rely too much on quantifiable data, often overlooking the unpredictable nature of real-world complexities. The authors propose a shift toward decision-making that embraces uncertainty, using judgment and adaptability rather than solely relying on numbers to navigate an unpredictable world.

# 2.2. Addressing 21<sup>st</sup> century environmental challenges

During recent years, researchers have covered topics such as water issues, pollution, climate change, and ecological citizenship which underscore the importance of transforming economics education to better prepare students for addressing 21<sup>st</sup> century challenges (Zackary, 2020).

The effects of climate change are becoming more pronounced and are now impossible to ignore (Fox & Thomas, 2023). Rising temperatures, extreme weather events, sea level rise, and ecosystem disruptions are clear signals of its widespread impact.

Abazi Sinanaj and Hazizi (2023) analyse Albania's experience with investment and its impact on CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, illustrating the challenges and opportunities of balancing economic growth with environmental goals.

Their findings provide a valuable case for teaching students about complex sustainability trade-offs in economic planning, underscoring the need for curricula that address both economic and ecological outcomes.

In order to enhance students' understanding of the complex relationship between economics and environmental sustainability Green (2013) suggests three approaches when introducing sustainability concepts to students. One approach is the use of a world cloud to visually highlight key concepts. An other one is to start from an ecological perspective which can establish a foundational context for sustainability. Finally, an other approach is weaving ecological systems into discussions of specific economic topics.

The book '*Economy of the Earth*' by Sagoff (2007) examines how economics, environmental philosophy, and law are interconnected, stressing the

importance of considering ecological values when making economic decisions. He argues that economic education should teach students about the ethical responsibilities related to using natural resources and protecting the environment. Also, the book calls for a new perspective in economics, where the environment is viewed not just as a resource to exploit, but as something that requires careful stewardship, incorporating the idea of ecological citizenship into economic thinking.

Moreover, Raworth (2018) focuses on how education systems can incorporate better the ecological citizenship and sustainability principles, in order to prepare students for the environmental challenges ahead. It discusses various educational approaches to embedding ecological issues into curricula, highlighting the need for interdisciplinary learning.

Economics education needs transformation, by addressing contemporary environmental challenges through a more holistic and sustainable lens (Raworth, 2018).

# 2.3. Shortcomings of traditional economics textbooks in addressing climate change

Today's use of traditional economic textbooks is often criticized, because they present an oversimplified and idealized view of markets that fails to address important issues like climate change, inequality and systematic instability. They also argue that the curriculum rooted its concepts in the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century and has not evolved since then. They also, state that these textbooks often ignore behavioural insights, real-world complexities, and the importance of ethics in economic choices (Bowles & Carlin, 2020).

Also, Goodwin, et al., (2000) discuss that mainstream economics textbooks often focus narrowly on mathematical models and idealized markets, missing essential real-world issues like environmental sustainability, social equity, and ethics.

Climate change poses a serious and immediate threat, with its effects already evident and likely to be devastating without immediate action.

By prioritizing education, innovation, and by undertaking climate commitments, we can try to safeguard the planet.

The field of economics must undergo significant transformation to address today's critical issues, and the COVID-19 pandemic has only highlighted this necessity (Alves & Kvangraven, 2020).

Traditional economics textbooks treat environmental concerns as peripheral, leading to complacency about urgent ecological challenges (Barry & Morgan, 2022).

Other critiques come for the traditional education, especially economics textbooks, for not addressing sustainability in a meaningful way. Education

should take a more integrated approach, connecting sustainability with all subjects, not just as a separate topic. There is the need for a shift in how we teach, encouraging a system that prepares students to tackle sustainability challenges in the real world (Sterling & Orr, 2001)

Some economics textbooks generally mention climate change or global warming, many of them classify it as a market failure, or include it into chapters on externalities and public goods (Liu et al., 2019).

Böhm et al., (2012) also, criticizes the economic treatment of climate change, particularly the way carbon markets are presented as solutions. They argue that these markets, instead of addressing the root causes of environmental degradation, often exacerbate the problem by commodifying nature.

Tim Jackson in "*Prosperity without Growth*", analyses the traditional model of economic growth, arguing that it is incompatible with environmental sustainability. He proposes that economics should prioritize well-being and ecological balance over continuous growth, which often leads to resource depletion and environmental harm. An alternative framework emphasizes sustainable living, advocating for policies and practices that support long-term ecological and social health, providing a foundation for rethinking economic curricula in light of climate and ecological challenges (Jackson, 2016).

# 3. Methodology

This paper employs a theoretical and conceptual approach to explore the integration of climate crisis and ecological issues into economics education. The paper focuses on three key areas of reform: transforming how students are introduced to economics, diversifying economic thinking and learning, and re-envisioning teaching and assessment methods to foster critical thinking.

Given that this research does not involve data collection, the methodology focuses on a review of existing literature, theoretical analysis, and the application of educational and economic frameworks to understand how these reforms can be integrated into economics curricula.

This paper examines how economics education can become more interdisciplinary and people-centered by integrating the climate crisis and ecological issues into the classroom. It investigates how the adoption of a pluralist approach can broaden students' understanding of economic concepts, emphasizing ethical, social, and environmental dimensions alongside traditional market efficiency models.

Additionally, it analyses how these methods can facilitate critical thinking and prepare students to apply economic theories to real-world issues.

This paper, by addressing these research objectives, contributes to the field of economics education by providing insights into the integration of

sustainability and ethical thinking into economics classes. The findings can contribute by informing other researchers of the field with practical recommendations to better prepare students in an evolving global economy.

## 4. Transforming economics education

We must adopt a broader and more inclusive framework that captures the true wealth and well-being of societies, not focusing only on GDP as the sole measure of progress. We must recognize that the health of the environment is a key factor in sustainable development and integrate natural capital and ecosystem services into economic assessments. Also, expanding cost-benefit analysis to account for environmental impacts ensures that the costs of ecological degradation are included into decision-making processes, making policies more reflective of the true costs to society.

Additionally, we must focus on intergenerational equity and long-term sustainability which should guide economic planning, emphasizing that the choices we make today must not compromise the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. This shift in perspective will help create a more holistic approach to economic progress, one that values both human and ecological well-being.

Economic courses, must provide a valuable opportunity to reshape the way students think about economics, emphasizing sustainability and environmental stewardship alongside traditional economic concerns.

In microeconomics, the focus can shift toward understanding how individual economic agents and firms interact with their environments. Examples relate to externalities and environmental costs, market failures in environmental protection, carbon pricing and emissions trading. Also, green consumer behaviour and decision-making can be examined to show how consumers' environmental preferences influence markets and how businesses may respond to these shifts in demand through product innovation or sustainability initiatives. Moreover, the circular economy principles can be discussed to highlight how shifting from a linear "take, make, dispose" model to a circular model of reuse, recycling, and sustainability can lead to both environmental and economic benefits.

In macroeconomics, the scope broadens to address how environmental considerations influence national and global economic systems. Students should be encouraged to evaluate how economic performance should reflect the health of natural resources and ecosystems. Sustainable development metrics can be introduced to show that measuring economic success requires more than just growth, emphasizing long-term sustainability, quality of life, and environmental preservation. The impacts of climate change on economic growth can be explored to understand how changes in climate affect sectors like agriculture, infrastructure, and labour productivity, which in turn influence national economies. Also, green jobs and industrial transformation and international trade and environmental standards can be examined.

## 4.1. Changing the way students are presented with the economics field

It is essential to reconsider how economics is introduced to students. Traditional methods of teaching, often rooted in classical theories and rigid frameworks, may fail to resonate with the diverse and evolving needs of students. Shifting the presentation of economics requires a move toward more interactive, real-world applications that highlight its relevance across various sectors of society. For example, the challenges faced by Albania's natural tourism sector—such as limited financial resources, regulatory hurdles, and insufficient infrastructure—underscore the complexities of achieving sustainable economic growth in developing regions (Sinanaj Abazi et al., 2024).

By integrating case studies, global economic challenges, and practical simulations, students can better appreciate the dynamic nature of economics. This approach also allows students to develop critical thinking skills and a deeper understanding of economic principles as they apply to current events. Additionally, presenting economics through multidisciplinary lenses—such as health economics, environmental economics, and digital economics—enables students to see the wide range of opportunities and areas of impact within the field.

# 4.2. Diversifying economic thinking and learning

To truly engage students, economics education must embrace a broader range of perspectives. This includes diversifying the voices and ideas that shape economic discourse. Traditionally, economic theory has been dominated by a narrow set of perspectives, often overlooking the contributions from underrepresented groups or alternative schools of thought. By incorporating diverse economic models, including feminist economics, behavioral economics, and institutional economics, educators can provide students with a more nuanced understanding of the field. Additionally, embracing global economic perspectives, particularly those from emerging and developing economies, allows students to appreciate the interconnectedness of the world economy and its complex challenges. This diversification enriches the learning experience and prepares students to tackle multifaceted economic problems in a variety of contexts.

# 4.3. Re-envisioning teaching and assessment methods

In re-envisioning how economics is taught, it is crucial to rethink both teaching methods and assessment approaches. The traditional lecture-based format may no longer be sufficient for fostering deep understanding and engagement in today's classroom. Active learning techniques, such as group discussions, collaborative projects, and problem-solving exercises, encourage students to apply economic theories to real-world problems, fostering greater engagement and learning retention. Moreover, assessment methods should reflect the shift toward a more interactive and applied approach. Rather than relying solely on written exams, assessments should include project-based evaluations, presentations, and peer-reviewed work, allowing students to demonstrate their ability to synthesize knowledge and communicate economic ideas effectively.

Kioupi and Voulvoulis (2022) introduce an assessment framework to evaluate and enhance sustainability competencies within university programs, particularly in postgraduate courses. They emphasize that diverse assessment methods can actively build these competencies. However, they recommend further pedagogical research to determine the framework's adaptability to programs with varying degrees of sustainability integration, including undergraduate levels (Kioupi & Voulvoulis, 2022).

By adopting more varied and flexible teaching and assessment strategies, educators can foster a more inclusive and dynamic learning environment that better prepares students for the challenges they will face as economists in the real world.

# 5. Conclusions and recommendations

In this paper, we set the stage by recognizing the urgent need for a transformative approach to economics education—one that equips students with the tools to address pressing global challenges like the climate crisis.

As discussed, the current economics curriculum falls short in preparing students to confront environmental degradation, social inequities, and unsustainable growth. By integrating climate change and ecological issues into economic thinking, we can align the discipline with the needs of a rapidly changing world.

The recommendations outlined aim not only to address gaps in existing curricula but also to reframe how we view economics. Incorporating sustainability, equity, and long-term resilience alongside traditional economic concerns is crucial for fostering solutions that are both economically sound and ecologically responsible. Moving beyond GDP as the sole measure of progress to embrace alternative metrics will better reflect the health of our ecosystems and communities.

As we face unprecedented environmental challenges, we must decide: will we continue to teach outdated economic models, or will we foster a generation of thinkers who understand the true cost of environmental destruction and the need for balanced progress?

To prepare students for future complexities, it is essential that economics education evolves to integrate climate change, ecological stewardship, and social equity into its core. This shift is not just theoretical—it is a practical necessity for the future of the global economy, the health of our planet, and the well-being of future generations.

The paper also highlights the importance of incorporating climate change into both micro and macroeconomics.

Furthermore, a shift in teaching methods is crucial. Adopting interactive, realworld applications and diversifying economic perspectives, will better prepare students for the complexities of global challenges. Active learning and projectbased assessments can deepen engagement and allow students to apply their knowledge practically.

Integrating sustainability and ethical thinking into economics education offers an opportunity to reshape the field to better serve both society and the planet. By focusing on long-term sustainability and environmental stewardship, economics can become a tool for building a more just and resilient global economy. Future economists will be equipped to address ecological challenges and contribute to a more sustainable world.

Future research should explore the effectiveness of these educational changes. Case studies, longitudinal studies on graduates' career outcomes, and crosscultural comparisons will provide valuable insights into the real-world impact of these reforms.

# Notes on Contributors

Since 2011, I have been an Assistant Professor at the University of Elbasan 'Aleksandër Xhuvani' in Albania. I have a PhD from the University of Tirana in 2019, specializing in economics, with a focus on econometrics, SMEs, development, health economics, and statistical modelling. My research builds upon my doctoral work on productivity enhancement and SME support, extending into mathematics, statistics, and interdisciplinary fields.

In 2015, I was awarded the Basileus IV Erasmus Mundus PhD scholarship at the University of Ghent, Belgium. I have also participated in various Erasmus+ collaborations and lectured as an invited auxiliary professor in the CEEPUS program in Debrecen, Hungary.

# References

Abazi Sinanaj, X., & Hazizi, T. (2023). An Empirical Investigation Towards Green Economy in Albania. Review of Economics and Finance, 21, 2880-2887.

Abazi Sinanaj, X., Hazizi Balliu, T., Durmishi, L., Krypa Tapija, N., & Durmishi, A. (2024). Albanian challenges for sustainable development: Nature-based tourism sector evidence from entrepreneurs' point of view. Multidisciplinary Reviews, 7(7), 2024153-2024153. Alves, C., & Kvangraven, I. H. (2020). Changing the narrative: Economics after Covid-19.ReviewofAgrarianStudies,10(1).Retrievedfromhttp://ras.org.in/77067f7af922c604062edadadc5b3bd8

Barry, G., & Morgan, J. (2022). Teaching climate complacency: mainstream economics textbooks and the need for transformation in economics education. Economics and Climate Emergency, 119-135.

Böhm, S., Misoczky, M., & Moo, S. (2012). Greening capitalism? A Marxist critique of carbon markets. Organization Studies 33.11 (2012): 1617-1638., 1617-1638.

Bowles, S., & Carlin, W. (2020). What students learn in economics 101: Time for a change. Journal of Economic Literature, 58(1), 176-214.

Colander, D. (2005). What economists teach and what economists do. The Journal of Economic Education, 36(3), 49-260.

Driga, A., & Drigas, A. S. (2019). Climate Change 101: How Everyday Activities Contribute to the Ever-Growing Issue. Int. J. Recent Contributions Eng. Sci. IT, 7(1), 22-31.

Fourcade, M., Ollion, E., & Algan, Y. (2015). The superiority of economists. Journal of economic perspectives, 29(1), 89-114.

Fox, R., & Thomas, G. (2023). Is climate change the 'elephant in the room'for outdoor environmental education? Journal of Outdoor and Environmental Education, 26(2), 167-187.

Fullbrook, E. (2009). The meltdown and economics textbooks. In The handbook of pluralist economics education. (pp. 32-38). London: Routledge.

Gjini, K. (2024). Alternative Teaching Approaches: Economics for Future Generations. International Journal of Pluralism and Economics Education. doi:10.1504/IJPEE.2024.10064503

Goodwin, N. R., Ananyin, O. I., Ackerman, F., & Weisskopf, T. E. (2000). Economics in Context: The Need for a New Textbook.

Green, T. L. (2013). Teaching (un) sustainability? University sustainability commitments and student experiences of introductory economics. Ecological Economics, 94, 135-142.

Hickman, C., Marks, E., Pihkala, P., Clayton, S., Lewandowski, E. R., Mayall, E. E., ... Sustere, L. V. (2021). Climate anxiety in children and young people and their beliefs about government responses to climate change: a global survey. The Lancet Planetary Health, 5(12), e863-e873.

Hirschman, D., & Berman, E. P. (2014). Do economists make policies? On the political effects of economics. Socio-economic review, 12(4), 779-811.

Jackson, T. (2016). Prosperity without Growth. Foundations for the Economy of Tomorrow. Routledge. doi: https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315677453

Kay, J., & King, M. (2020). Radical Uncertainty: Decision-Making Beyond the Numbers. W. W. Norton & Company.

Kioupi, V., & Voulvoulis, N. (2022). The contribution of higher education to sustainability: the development and assessment of sustainability competences in a university case study. Education Sciences, 12(6), 406.

Liu, J.-E., Bauman, Y., & Chuan, Y. (2019). Climate change and economics 101: teaching the greatest market failure. Sustainability, 11(5), 1340.

Mazzucato, M. (2018). The value of everything. Making and talking in the globsal economy. Public Affairs.

Oreggioni, G., Ferraio, F., Crippa, M., Muntean, M., Schaaf, E., Guizzardi, D., . . . Vignati, E. (2021). Climate change in a changing world: Socio-economic and technological transitions, regulatory frameworks and trends on global greenhouse gas emissions from EDGAR v. 5.0. Global Environmental Change, 70, 102350.

Raworth, K. (2018). Doughnut economics: Seven ways to think like a 21st century economist. Chelsea Green Publishing.

Reardon, J. (2009). The Handbook of Pluralist Economics Education, London: Routledge.

Sagoff, M. (2007). The Economy of the Earth: Philosophy, Law, and the Environment (Cambridge Studies in Philosophy and Public Policy). Cambridge University Press.

Shine, K. P., & Forster, P. M. (1999). The effect of human activity on radiative forcing of climate change: a review of recent developments. Global and Planetary Change, 20(4), 205-225.

Sterling, S., & Orr, D. (2001). Sustainable education: Re-visioning learning and change (Vol. 6). Green Books for the Schumacher Society, 2001.

Zackary, S. R. (2020). Rubber ducks to ecological citizenship: a review of practitioneroriented research on ecological issues in the social studies. Social Studies Research and Practice, 15(3), 261-275.

#### Exploring the Tirana Citizens' Intention to Use Shared Micro-mobility Practices: Case of a Private University from Albania, with a Consideration of Pro-environmental Practices

Klevisa KAPO<sup>1</sup>, Alesia MAKAJ<sup>2</sup>, Rikela FUSHA<sup>3</sup>, Megi BUZA<sup>4</sup>

## Abstract

Congestion in urban regions is getting worse due to rising vehicle ownership, population growth, and increased transportation demand. Even in the metropolitan cities of the Western Balkans, particularly in Tirana, the capital of Albania, this phenomenon has been reported. The shared mobility approach has evolved as a service that allows individuals to use mobility on an "asneeded" basis. A micro-mobility service called shared e-bicycle / e-scooter allows the short-term renting of e-bicycles / e-scooters. This paper offers a thorough analysis of the current state of the situation regarding short-term renting of e-bicycles / e-scooter applications' challenges and opportunities, consumers' needs, socio-economic and environmental impacts, and policy. An online survey is used to identify the real needs, challenges, and opinions of the target group about the potential usage of e-bicycles and e-scooters for shortterm rental purposes. The results of the survey, as well as the analysis of the current policies and practices in Tirana, will help identify the pros and cons related to the short-term renting of e-bicycles / e-scooters, as well as to evaluate the potential socio-economic and environmental impact in the country.

Keywords: micro-mobility, environment, urban economics, consumer, health

**JEL code:** R400, Q0, I180

# 1. Introduction

In developing countries, additional factors complicate urban mobility. Weak enforcement of traffic rules and regulations often contributes to the severity of congestion and reduces the effectiveness of management efforts. In many cases, inadequate resources, infrastructure, and regulatory frameworks make it difficult for transportation engineers and urban planners to implement and sustain effective mobility solutions (Wang et al. 2018). This lack of enforcement can lead to hazardous driving behaviors, increased accident rates,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Metropolitan Tirana University, Tirana, Albania, kkapo@umt.edu.al

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> University of Tirana, Tirana, Albania, alesiamako@gmail.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> University of Medicine, Tirana, Albania, fusharikela1@gmail.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Metropolitan Tirana University, Tirana, Albania, mbuza@umt.edu.al

and heightened traffic inefficiencies, further exacerbating the socioeconomic impacts of poor urban mobility (Ahmed et al.2023).

Tirana, the capital of Albania, has become a focal point in the country's efforts to address urban mobility and sustainability issues. With approximately one-third of Albania's population (31.6%) residing in the Tirana prefecture, the city's rapid growth has led to an increase in vehicle use and a significant shift in mobility patterns over the last two decades (INSTAT, 2023). Formerly a city reliant on walking, Tirana now sees around 140,000 motor vehicles circulating daily, which has brought new challenges related to road congestion, air pollution, and parking shortages (Harris, 2019). As mobility demands grow, these issues underscore the need for sustainable transport alternatives to mitigate the environmental and social impacts of a motor vehicle-dominated urban landscape (Pojani, 2011).

As a consequence, there is an immediate need to take sustainable actions and/or implement targeted policies that reduce the negative impacts of increased urban mobility. However, prior research is needed to navigate pathways of solution, and this study aims to provide insights into how shared e-micro mobility practices can be utilized in Tirana to improve the urban mobility situation. Additionally, it aims to identify the key challenges and opportunities related to this practice of commuting.

This research paper is organized in four sections. The literature review chapter provides an overview of micro-mobility solution, their benefits, their main challenges and the developments in Albania. In the methodology section there are provided details regarding the academic research, methods, tools and analysis used. The analysis and discussion section analyses the findings from the survey, indicates the consideration for further research and how similar thematic studies' components at a global level can be aligned with this research. Lastly, conclusions and recommendations summarize the major findings, while providing practical recommendations on developing urban mobility policies and taking specific actions that align with public health and environmental goals.

# 2. Literature review

# 2.1. Overview of micro-mobility solutions

According to the Institute for Transportation and Development Policy (ITDP), micro-mobility refers to a range of small, lightweight devices operating at speeds typically below 25km/h and ideal for trips up to 10km (ITDP, 2024). Micro-mobility can be human-powered or electric, and these solutions include bicycles, e-bicycles, scooters, and e-scooters that could be privately owned or shared.

Shared micro-mobility systems, which have recently gained significant popularity in urban areas, offer fleets of the vehicles mentioned above to the public, through docked or dockless systems accessed via smartphone applications. The variety and availability of such services in major cities worldwide have grown rapidly (Research and Markets, 2024), allowing an increasing number of users (Mobility Portal, 2023) to choose between several modes and companies. Shared micro-mobility solutions have also seen rapid expansion across European cities, providing alternatives to traditional transport. Major providers include Bird, Lime, Voi, Tier, Dott, and Bolt (Micro-Mobility for Europe, 2024), each offering a range of vehicles such as e-scooters, e-bicycles, and e-mopeds.

Lime, for instance, utilizes a dockless model, enabling users to park vehicles in designated zones. Voi encourages responsible usage with city-specific safety tutorials. Tier stands out for its sustainability efforts, including the use of swappable batteries and a carbon-neutral operation plan. Dott emphasizes worker rights and sustainability, opting for in-house maintenance and end-oflife recycling. Bolt focuses on affordability and convenience by offering a multi-modal transport platform that integrates ride-hailing with micromobility solutions.

# 2.2. Benefits of micro-mobility in urban areas

As urban populations continue to grow and fuel costs rise, micro-mobility offers a viable solution to the escalating issues of traffic congestion and environmental impact. These systems have demonstrated their ecological benefits (Kermani, 2023), operational efficiency (ITF, 2024), and cost-effectiveness (Shaheen et al., 2020). With more cities adopting and regulating shared micro-mobility networks, they have the potential to transform urban mobility, providing a more sustainable and efficient way for people to navigate cities.

According to the EU Urban Mobility Observatory, some of the most important benefits of micro-mobility are related to congestion, sustainable transport, costs, access to opportunities, urban space, and economic activity (EU Urban Mobility Observatory, 2020).

# Resolved road congestion

One of the primary challenges that micro-mobility transportation systems address is road congestion (Zhao et al, 2022). As urban populations grow and personal transportation becomes more common, the number of vehicles on main roads increases, exacerbating traffic. Road congestion not only wastes valuable time but also hampers productivity for both individuals and businesses (INRIX, 2018).

Micro-mobility options like electric scooters and bicycles provide a solid alternative that reduces the number of vehicles on the roads. Since most micro-mobility users avoid main roads in favor of alternative routes, traffic flow improves, benefiting both commuters and the broader urban transport ecosystem (Zhao et al, 2022). For users, e-scooters and e-bicycles offer the advantage of bypassing traffic, enabling quicker travel to their destinations.

# Promoting eco-friendly transportation

A significant benefit of integrating micro-mobility devices into urban areas is their positive environmental impact (Comi and Polimeni, 2024). As traffic congestion decreases, fewer conventional vehicles emit harmful gases such as carbon dioxide and other greenhouse effect gases.

Road transportation is responsible for 23% of global carbon emissions (IEA, 2020), making it a major contributor to air pollution. Micro-mobility devices, which do not rely on internal combustion engines and do not consume fuel, produce no harmful emissions. A study, which is said to be the first ever Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) of an e-scooter in use in a major European city, finds that e-scooters with swappable batteries generate 34.7g CO2 equivalent emissions per person per kilometer across the full lifecycle. In contrast, a new petrol car will generate between 200-350g CO2e/km per person per kilometer (Holve, 2021).

#### Affordable Personal Transportation

In terms of affordability, using micro-mobility devices as e-scooters and ebicycles is more affordable than using other devices such as cars, including owning or renting them. These vehicles have fewer parts and do not require fuel, making them cheaper to maintain and operate (ITDP, 2021). This costeffectiveness has made micro-mobility devices popular among university students, young professionals, and low-income individuals who require affordable transportation in urban areas (Sarker et. Al). With lower operational costs, e-scooters and e-bicycles offer an efficient, low-cost transportation alternative for both city dwellers and suburban residents. When shared they can be even more affordable, without any initial buying, maintaining cost and it is used only when needed.

#### Enhancing Access to Opportunities

The availability of shared micro-mobility services provides greater access to opportunities for workers, students, tourists, and residents. Companies like Lime, Neuron, Beam, etc., make it easier for commuters to access e-scooters and e-bicycles anytime and anywhere.

A survey conducted by Lime in Washington, DC found that 44% of riders used shared e-scooters to commute to work, while 57% used them for work and

school. Additionally, 29.3% of tourists reported using e-scooters to visit local shops (Lime, The Lime Times, 2019). These statistics highlight how micro-mobility can improve access to various opportunities, whether for daily commuting or leisure activities.

## Urban spaces utilization

Compared with cars, micro-mobility vehicles have a far smaller physical footprint when used and parked (Comi & Polimeni, 2024). They are also highly utilized, often by up to 10 people per day – whereas cars usually have one occupant and will only be driven 4% of the time (EU Urban Mobility Observatory, 2020). This difference between micro-mobility and the traditional one might also open up more urban space, allowing urban roads to be reallocated to public transport, pedestrian zones, parks, playgrounds, or green areas.

# Boosting Economic Activity

By providing a more efficient mode of transportation, micro-mobility can have a positive effect on the overall economic activity of a city. A survey by Lime revealed that 72% of e-scooter riders use shared e-scooters to visit local shops and attractions (Lime, Official One-Year Report, 2018). Furthermore, research from Emory University's Goizueta Business School found that shared escooter schemes contribute significantly to local economies, boosting sales for food and beverage establishments (Emory Business, 2021). Micro-mobility services can enhance urban economies by increasing foot traffic to businesses, highlighting their potential economic benefits for both individuals and commercial establishments.

# 2.3. Challenges of micro-mobility

The implementation of micro-mobility practice is associated with numerous challenges perceived by the users (Du et. al, 2013). Among them, two of the most important identified in literature, include safety concerns and regulatory framework (Bridge, 2023).

# Safety concerns

Safety is a significant concern regarding micro-mobility, especially considering the speeds that e-scooters can reach (Bridge, 2023). Between January 2018 and July 2020, at least 11 fatalities were reported in Europe due to e-scooter accidents; while in Paris only, e-scooter-related injuries ranged from 150 to 200 per month (EU Urban Mobility Observatory, 2020). Contributing factors include limited helmet use, poor road conditions, high speeds, inexperienced riders, and unclear traffic regulations (White E. et. al, 2023) (Paola Longo, Nicola Berloco, Stefano Coropulis, Paolo Intini, 2024).

However, an analysis by the International Transport Forum (ITF, 2020) found that the risk of fatality on a shared standing e-scooter is not considerably higher than that of a bicycle, although they emphasized the need for further research on the subject. The ITF's report also outlines safety recommendations, which focus on increasing awareness among road users, redesigning street layouts, improving vehicle design and operation, and ensuring stricter enforcement of safety rules.

# Regulatory framework

Shared micro-mobility is a dynamic and rapidly evolving concept, encompassing a range of vehicles including bicycles, e-bicycles, cargo bicycles, e-scooters, and whatever new modes emerge in the future. Thus, the process of regulating shared micro-mobility highlights the challenges that arise when a novel form of transportation attempts to integrate and scale within a system traditionally dominated by private car usage. The core issue moving forward is not only how we regulate these emerging modes of transport, but also how much longer we are willing to maintain the car-centric infrastructure and road regulations that have shaped our cities. This legacy, which was designed for private cars, is now proving to be a significant barrier to the innovation and evolution of urban mobility systems (POLIS, 2023).

# 2.4. Impact of micro-mobility on health

Shared micro-mobility services, including e-scooters and e-bicycles, have significant health impacts on urban populations by promoting active transportation, offering an eco-friendly and convenient alternative, and reducing pollution from car emissions, which benefits respiratory health. Research shows that e-scooters and e-bicycles can reduce urban congestion, lower carbon emissions, and improve air quality, directly contributing to public health improvements through lowered emission levels, especially in densely populated areas (Bozzi & Aguilera, 2021).

For instance, a Forbes article highlights the environmental benefits of escooters, suggesting that their adoption could be instrumental in decreasing pollution levels in densely populated areas by replacing short car trips with zero-emission rides (Eggert, 2020). However, realizing these environmental benefits hinges on responsible usage and effective policies, as the lifespan and maintenance of these devices play a crucial role in maximizing their positive environmental impact.

# 2.5. Current state of shared micro-mobility in Tirana

The Sustainable Urban Mobility Plan (SUMP) for Tirana emphasizes micromobility practices to address congestion and enhance urban livability. Key strategies include expanding bicycle-sharing schemes, improving pedestrian infrastructure, and integrating e-scooters to encourage non-motorized transport (SUMP Tirana, 2020). By creating dedicated bicycle lanes and promoting alternative travel options, the plan aims to reduce car dependency, improve air quality, and make the city center more accessible (Seitllari & Luga, 2016). This approach aligns with broader sustainability goals, fostering healthier, more efficient movement across Tirana's urban spaces.

In response to these challenges, Tirana's municipality has launched initiatives aimed at integrating micro-mobility services into the city's transport system. One prominent project is Ecovolis, a community bicycle-sharing program that offers a low-emission alternative to traditional transport. Ecovolis began with the support of local and international organizations, specifically the Albanian PASS organization and Pedal for Progress, a US-based nonprofit that donated 450 bicycles to the initiative (Ecovolis Project, 2011). Sixty of these bicycles were repurposed and painted by local technicians to serve as public bicycles in the Ecovolis system, providing an affordable and accessible transport option for residents. The project's success has been amplified by activities like Tirana's participation in European Mobility Week, which raises awareness of sustainable mobility practices and encourages public involvement in alternative transport (European Mobility Week, 2014).

Ecovolis and other emerging micro-mobility options, such as e-scooters, recently provided by companies like BinBin Scooters, reflect a broader commitment by the Tirana municipality to reduce car dependency (BinBin Scooters, 2024). By collaborating with private organizations and actively involving the public, the city aims to improve air quality, decrease traffic congestion, and reduce the demand for parking. These initiatives represent a shift toward a more sustainable urban infrastructure, designed to enhance public health and support cleaner transportation methods. As Tirana continues to explore innovative mobility solutions, its approach to sustainable transport could serve as a model for similar urban centers facing rapid population growth and increased environmental pressures.

# 3. Methodology

For the preparation of this paper, it is chosen a private university in Tirana as a case study. The purpose was to take the case of an organization with over 200 employees or students, to guarantee a large sample. In addition, the selected university's population represents a broader distribution of demographics and behavior of Tirana's residents. For instance, a wide range of ages, addresses, and different attitudes to commuting are involved in this case.

The authors have designed a Google Form survey, based on the findings of the literature review and their research objectives. It contains 17 questions and it

is separated into 3 sections. The first one is mainly focused on the general and demographic characteristics of the participants. In the second section, the respondents are asked for the frequency of use of different types of transport to commute to work or school. The last section concentrates on the challenges and benefits of shared e-micro mobility. There are 3 open questions, two regarding the distance and address and the last about potential additional comments.

The survey is delivered to internal databases of the university's students and staff and 218 valid responses are collected during the period July - September 2023. To ensure the avoidance of conflict of interest of the authors with people within the organization, the survey is delivered to participants by the Rector's Office, without mentioning the name of the authors.

For analyzing the survey's responses, the descriptive statistical approach is followed. While, for the last open question, a qualitative analysis has been made, through the categorization of responses in similar groups. In addition, with the aim of identifying any potential correlation between the variables, the authors have made several tests through the STATA program. The authors have been particularly interested in testing correlations between the key variables of the study through Pearson's correlation test.

# 4. Analysis and Discussion

In the survey conducted, a total of 218 valid responses are collected, where the majority of 73.9% are responses from students. The rest of 18.8% and 7.3% are responses collected respectively from the academic and administrative staff of the university. The group of students has an average age of 21 years old, while the average age of the staff respondents is 40. In general, the age distribution varies from 18 to 72 at the maximum. Whereas, the gender of the respondents is almost balanced, with 111 females and 107 males.

From the responses, it results that, on average, the university's staff and employees require 36 minutes to go from their home to university and vice versa, by using their frequent mode of transport. The standard deviation is almost 24 minutes. Considering that some of the students and employees are coming from the suburbs or cities around Tirana, if their responses are not counted in the analysis, the rest of 175 respondents, who live in the metropolitan city of Tirana, need around half an hour to reach the university from their own homes.

Almost half of the participants in the study do not own any vehicle to commute. The most popular vehicle they have is the traditional car, owned by 31.65% of them. More than half of the academic and administrative staff own a traditional car. The second most popular vehicle owned by 11.5% of

participants is the traditional bicycle. Only 3.2% of respondents own an electric scooter, while e-bicycles are owned by 1.4% of them. Based on these possessions and their responses, it is logical that the university's staff and students are mainly practicing walking, public transport (bus), and own or family car driving, as the most popular modes of transport. While shared mobility is rarely used and 81.2% of the respondents declare that they never use it as an option. Below it is shown a graph that represents the frequency of shared mobility usage by respondents, where "0" represents "never" and "5" stands for "everyday".



Figure 2. Frequency of using shared mobility (N=218)

Beyond their approach to commuting to work or school, participants are also asked about the benefits, challenges, interests and suggestions they might have regarding the implementation of micro-mobility scheme to commute towards the university as students or employees. Starting with the benefits, the participants have mentioned as the key outcomes of the proposed practice, the saving of time by avoiding traffic, reduced costs of transport, avoiding struggles for finding a parking spot and helping to protect the environment. The graph with the full information is presented below.



# Figure 3. Benefits of shared micro-mobility (N=218)5

When it comes to challenges, the participants jointly agree that the biggest ones are related to safety risks and accidents, insufficient infrastructure for riding and parking, theft or vandalism of vehicles and lack of user education and awareness. A better overview of the results is presented below. Participants are also asked about the significance of these challenges and the majority of 31.7% have remained in a neutral position. Only for 23.9% of them the importance is very significant, while for 14.7% it is important. For the rest of 29.8% the significance of the above-mentioned challenges is not significant at all or of low significance.



Figure 4. Challenges of shared micro-mobility (N=218)6

The interest of respondents in using shared e-micro mobility transport has a distribution among all 6 alternatives, starting from 0, which means "I am not interested at all", to 5, that means "I am very interested". The majority of 26.6% are not interested at all in this practice, while 43.2% are interested in

<sup>5</sup> The full alternatives presented on the vertical axes of Figure 2 are presented below:

- Time saving by avoiding traffic
- Reduced costs of transport
- Avoiding struggles with finding a parking spot
- Helping to the protection of the environment
- Looking cool and part of the group
- Having a more comfortable way to go to work / school
- Other

<sup>6</sup> The full alternatives presented on the vertical axes of Figure 3 are presented below:

- Safety risks and accidents
- Insufficient infrastructure for riding and parking
- Inadequate charging or battery life
- Theft or vandalism of vehicles
- User misconduct and irresponsible behavior
- Lack of user education and awareness
- Other

different levels from 3 to 5. A full overview of their interest is shown in the following graph.



Figure 5. Interest level on using shared micro-mobility (N=218)

Several correlation tests are made through STATA, with the aim of understanding any useful potential correlation among some key variables, like distance, interest to use shared micro-mobility and significance of challenges. The results presented in the following table indicate that the three variables' correlation is weak. The correlation coefficients are very small, which shows the lack of strong connection among them. However, the strongest relationship has resulted in the interest to use shared micro-mobility and the significance of challenges that participants have mentioned, even though it is still a poor correlation.

| Distance Interest Significance


Distance | 1.0000 Interest | -0.1126 1.0000 Significance | -0.0509 0.1937 1.0000

**Table 6.** Pearson's correlation among key variables

The last question has been opened with the aim of gathering additional insights and comments from participants. Only a few participants have shown interest in this question and their responses mainly stressed the opinions they have previously had in filling out the survey. For instance, two to four respondents per variable have highlighted the traffic avoidance, time-saving and environmental protection as very impactful outcomes. On the other hand, a few challenges raised as important are related to the need for lower costs, concern about rainy days and the dangers of driving e-scooters. Twelve participants have mentioned safety regulations and the need for infrastructure as a first needed step for the implementation of this mobility practice. While 14 of them have reassured me of their positivity and enthusiasm for the success of usage of e- bicycles and e-scooters.

Despite the benefits, the rise of shared micro-mobility services presents significant safety and public health considerations. A study of JAMA for the period of 2014-2018 raises concerns about the safety of e-scooters and e-bicycles, highlighting risks from interactions with traffic and pedestrian spaces (JAMA, 2020). On the positive side, these devices encourage physical activity, as suggested in a systematic review on e-cycling health benefits, potentially providing cardiovascular and mental health benefits for users.

The data shows that nearly half of the respondents do not own any vehicle, yet less than 5% own an electric scooter or bicycle, highlighting the potential for promoting micro-mobility as a healthful and eco-friendly commuting option. Research by Harvard Health (2020) on e- bicycles and e-scooters emphasizes that micro-mobility can reduce physical inactivity, thus offering health benefits for users who might otherwise rely on cars. Increasing active transport modes like cycling could contribute to lower obesity rates and improve cardiovascular health outcomes among urban populations.

Additionally, in the global level e-scooters and e-bicycles are typically perceived as an environmentally friendly form of transportation that could lead to lower vehicle emissions and cleaner air in cities where they are being used (Zhu et.al, 2020). Furthermore, by decreasing private vehicle reliance, e-scooters and e-bicycles can help lower air pollution levels, aligning with goals outlined in sustainable mobility policies globally. Eggert (2020) suggests that e-scooters have the potential to replace car trips and help lower greenhouse gas emissions, as long as they are integrated sustainably into urban transportation systems.

# 5. Conclusions and Recommendations

Addressing the mobility challenges requires an all-inclusive approach to transportation engineering that includes better infrastructure, policy reform, and stronger regulatory enforcement. In developing urban areas, investment in public transport systems and updated technologies to improve the traffic flow could help reduce congestion and advance urban mobility toward a more efficient and sustainable model.

The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) on the environment focus on protecting natural ecosystems, addressing climate change, and promoting sustainable use of resources (United Nations, 2015). By focusing on these areas, policymakers can help mitigate the negative socio-economic and environmental impacts associated with rapid urban growth, making cities more livable and sustainable. Additionally, it is crucial to invest in appropriate

infrastructure, such as designated lanes, and enforce regulations that promote safe riding practices.

In conclusion, promoting shared micro-mobility services in a university setting can address urban transportation challenges, but this requires targeted policies and infrastructure support. Additionally, leveraging participants' recognition of the environmental and practical benefits of micro-mobility could serve as a best practice and a basis for educational campaigns or incentives aimed at increasing adoption rates. As cities like Tirana continue to seek sustainable transport solutions, insights from such studies provide a valuable basis for developing comprehensive urban mobility policies that align with public health and environmental goals.

#### 6. References

Ahmed, Sirwan & Mohammed, Mona & Abdulqadir, Salar & Abd Elkader, Rabab & El-Shall, Nahed & Chandran, Deepak & Rehman, Mohammad Ebad Ur & Dhama, Kuldeep. (2023).

Antonio Comi, Antonio Polimeni. (2024). Assessing potential sustainability benefits of micromobility: a new data driven approach. European Transport Research Review, https://etrr.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s12544-024-00640-6#citeas

Bridge, G. (2023). Perceptions of E-Micromobility Vehicles Amongst Staff and Students at Universities in the North of England. Active Travel Studies, https://activetravelstudies.org/article/id/1164/#B16

Dana Yanocha, Mackenzie Allan. (2021). Maximizing Micromobility. Institute for Transportation and Development Policy. https://itdp.org/wpcontent/uploads/2021/06/ITDP\_MaximizingMicromobility\_2021\_singlepage.pdf

Ecovolis 2011. (n.d.). Ecovolis Community Bicycle Albania project. Retrieved from Wikipedia. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ecovolis

Ecovolis. (2014). Ecovolis participated in European Mobility Week. Retrieved from Wikipedia: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ecovolis

Eggert, A. (2020, March 5). E-is for environment: Unpacking the benefits of e-scooters. Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/anthonyeggert/2020/03/05/e-is-for-environmentunpacking-the-benefits-of-e-scooters/

Elizabeth White, Febg Guo, Shu Han, Mike Mollenhauer. (2023). What factors contribute to e-scooter crashes: A first look using a naturalistic riding approach. Journal of Safety Research, DOI: 10.1016/j.jsr.2023.02.002

Emory Goizueta Business School. (2021, March 11). Emory Business. Retrieved from https://www.emorybusiness.com/2021/03/11/research-reveals-shared-e-scooter-systems-cangenerate-significant-positive-economic-spillover/

EU Urban Mobility Observatory. (2020, July 23). Retrieved from The rise of micromobility: https://urban-mobility-observatory.transport.ec.europa.eu/resources/case-studies/rise-micromobility\_en

Gordon Harris, S. (2019, May 1). Rural shared mobility: Degree of urbanisation for local administrative units level 2 (LAU2). Vectos. https://www.ruralsharedmobility.eu

Harvard Health. (n.d.). The popularity of e-bikes and e-scooters is soaring, but are they safe? https://www.health.harvard.edu/blog/the-popularity-of-e-bikes-and-e-scooters-is-soaringbut-are-they-safe-2020111221533

Holve, V. (2021). Topic Guide: Safe use of micromobility devices in urban areas. Milan: European Platform on Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans.

INRIX. (2018). Retrieved from INRIX: https://inrix.com/press-releases/scorecard-2018-us/

International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. (2018). The impacts of transportation infrastructure on sustainable development: Emerging trends and challenges. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 15(11), 1172. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15061172

Institute of Statistics (INSTAT). (2023). Population and Housing Census 2023. https://www.instat.gov.al/en/census-2023/

International Transport Forum Policy. (2020). Safer Micromobility. Paris: OECD Publishing, https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/safer-micromobility.pdf

JAMA Network. (2020). Injuries associated with standing electric scooter use and impact on public health, 2014-2018. JAMA Network Open, 3(3), e2020. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.2020

ITF. (2024). Safer Micromobility. International Transport Forum Policy (p. No 129). Paris: OECD Publishing, https://www.itf-oecd.org/sites/default/files/docs/safer-micromobility.pdf

Kermani, F. (2023). The Impact of Micromobility on the Environment. Journal of Traffic and Transportation Management, 21-27, https://iasks.org/articles/jttm-v04-i1-pp-21-27.pdf

Lime. (2018). Official One-Year Report. Washington.

Lime. (2019, September 24). The Lime Times. Retrieved from https://www.li.me/blog/research-finds-e-scooter-riders-local-commuters-not-tourists

Marčinko, I., Jakovljević, M., Jakšić, N., Bjedov, S., & Mindoljević Drakulić, A. (2020). The importance of psychodynamic approach during COVID-19 pandemic. Psychiatria Danubina, 32(1), 15–21. https://doi.org/10.24869/psyd.2020.15.

Md Al Adib Sarker, Hamidreza Asgari, Afsana Zarin Chowdhury, Xia Jin. (2024). Exploring micromobility choice behavior across different mode users using machine learning methods. Multimodal Transportation,

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2772586324000480

Micro-Mobility for Europe. (2024, July). Retrieved from https://micromobilityforeurope.eu/micro-mobility-for-europes-feedback-on-greening-of-corporate-fleets-initiative/

Mobility Portal. (2023, June 2023). Retrieved from https://mobilityportal.eu/270-million-users-chose-to-use-shared-micromobility-services-in-europe/

Olayiwola, O., et al. (n.d.). Analyzing transport problems in Tirana on a sound scientific system base.

Paola Longo, Nicola Berloco, Stefano Coropulis, Paolo Intini. (2024). Analysis of E-ScooterCrashesintheCityofBari.ResearchGate,https://www.researchgate.net/publication/379137933\_Analysis\_of\_E-ScooterCrashesintheCityofBari.

Pojani, D. (2011). Mobility, equity, and sustainability today in Tirana. TeMA - Journal of Land Use, Mobility and Environment. https://doi.org/10.6092/1970-9870/248

POLIS. (2023). How European Cities are regulation Shared Micromobility, https://www.polisnetwork.eu/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/SHARED-MICROMOBILITY-REPORT.pdf

Research and Markets. (2024). Micromobility Global Business Report 2024. Dublin: GlobeNewswire, https://www.researchandmarkets.com

Road traffic accidental injuries and deaths: A neglected global health issue. Health Science Reports. 6. e1240. 10.1002/hsr2.1240.

Seitllari, A., & Luga, E. (2016, May). Analyzing transport problems in Tirana on a sound scientific system base. Conference paper. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/304525990

Susan A. Shaheen, Adam COhen, Nelson CHan, Apaar Bansal. (2020). Sharing strategies, cars sharing, shared micromobility (bikesharing and scooter sharing), transportation network company. Berkeley: University of California Berkeley, Transportation Sustainability, Research Center.

Wei Du, Jie Yang, Brent Powis, Xiaoying Zheng, Joan Ozanne-Smith, Lynne Bilston, Ming Wu. (2013). Understanding on-road practices of electric bike riders: An observational study in a developed city of China. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 319-326.

Xilei Zhao, Virginia Sisiopiku, Ruth Steiner. (2022). Micromobility as a Solution to Reduce. Florida: Transportation Institute, University of Florida.

Youmatter. (n.d.). Sustainable mobility: Are electric scooters eco-friendly? https://youmatter.world/en/are-electric-scooters-eco-friendly/

Zhu, R., Zhang, X., Kondor, D., Santi, P., & Ratti, C. (2020). Understanding spatio-temporal heterogeneity of bike-sharing and scooter-sharing mobility. Computers, Environment and Urban Systems, 81, 101483. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compenvurbsys.2020.101483

#### Assessing the Readiness of Self-Local Governments Units in Albania towards a Circular Economy Transition

Konalsi GJOKA<sup>1</sup>, Teida SHEHI<sup>2</sup>, Kleant SEMEMA<sup>3</sup>

### Abstract

The transition to a circular economy (CE) is critical for achieving environmental sustainability, with self-local government units (SLGUs) playing a pivotal role in this shift. This study assessed the current capacities of SLGUs in Albania to adopt CE practices, focusing on strategic planning, staff awareness, and implementation barriers. Through a mixed-method approach, including document reviews, surveys, and focus groups discussions with 27 municipalities, the study revealed that while SLGUs demonstrate initial integration of CE principles in general local and waste management plans, significant gaps remained in other strategic documents. Limited financial resources, insufficient trainings, and fragmented institutional coordination were identified as key barriers. Despite these challenges, there were strong interest among municipalities to enhance capacity-building efforts and adopt CE principles. The findings underscored the need for targeted trainings, financial support, and clearer national-to-local policy alignment.

**Keywords:** *Circular economy, green transition, Local government, Circular economy barriers and motivations, Local waste management plan, Local strategic documents, Assessing capacities of local government* 

**Jel code:** Q01 & Q53 & Q56

# 1. Introduction

The global shift towards environmental sustainability and the circular economy (CE) has positioned self - local governments as pivotal actors in implementing CE strategies. Extensive research highlights the critical role of self-local government units (SLGUs) in waste management, policy innovation, and stakeholder collaboration (e.g., Cramer, 2020; European Commission, 2020). Cities such as Amsterdam and Paris have demonstrated how robust local frameworks can drive the circular transition (Sánchez Levoso et al., 2020; Palm & Bocken, 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Konalsi GJOKA, Department of Environmental Engineering, Polytechnic University of Tirana, Tirana, Albania, konalsi.gjoka@fin.edu.al

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Teida SHEHI, Department of Environmental Engineering, Polytechnic University of Tirana, Tirana, Albania, teida.shehi@fin.edu.al

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Kleant SEMEMA, Department of Environmental Engineering, Polytechnic University of Tirana, Tirana, Albania, kleant.semema@fin.edu.al

Despite these advances, studies addressing the capacities of SLGUs in developing regions, particularly in the Western Balkans, remain scarce. Research by Licastro & Sergi (2021) underscored challenges such as limited resources and institutional barriers in smaller municipalities, yet little is known about how these constraints manifest in Albania's SLGUs. This knowledge gap called for a focused analysis of their readiness and challenges in transitioning from a linear to a circular model.

Despite existing studies highlighting the role of local governments in advancing circular economy principles, limited evidence exists on the capacities and challenges faced by SLGUs in Albania. This study seeks to answer the following research question: To what extent are SLGUs in Albania prepared to facilitate the transition to a circular economy, and what are the key barriers and enabling factors in this process?

By examining the strategic documents, surveying municipal staff, and conducting focus group discussions, this research contributes to bridging the gap in understanding SLGUs' roles in facilitating CE adoption.

# 2. Literature review

SLGUs play a crucial role and serve as key enablers in driving the transition to a Circular Economy (CE) by influencing policymaking, regulating waste management, and encouraging circular urban development.

SLGUs are responsible for translating national and international CE policies into local or regional actions (European Commission, 2020). They implement regulations related to waste management, recycling mandates, and circular urban planning. SLGUs set building codes, enact zoning regulations, and integrate circularity into public procurement policies, ensuring compliance with broader sustainability goals (Cramer, 2020).

For instance, municipalities in cities like Amsterdam and Paris have been at the forefront of integrating CE into their waste management strategies through comprehensive recycling programs and the introduction of circular public procurement policies (Cramer, 2020; Ruysschaert et al., 2020; Ranta.et.al., 2017). Furthermore, other initiatives in cities like Rotterdam encourage the integration of circular principles into the built environment, where circular construction is promoted through local regulations (Sánchez Levoso et al., 2020; Palm & Bocken, 2021).

SLGUs manage municipal waste collection and disposal systems, positioning them at the heart of CE efforts. They facilitate recycling, composting, and material recovery systems to convert waste into valuable resources, promoting the "Reduce, Reuse, Recycle" principles. By introducing separate waste collection and creating recycling hubs, SLGUs reduce landfill dependence and foster resource recovery (Ranta.et.al., 2017). The European Commission's "Closing the Loop" Action Plan focuses on reducing municipal waste and increasing recycling rates, thereby pushing SLGUs to implement circular strategies. For example, Lithuania has developed infrastructure for waste sorting and recycling, driven by compliance with EU regulations (Dagiliene et al., 2021)

Financial incentives, such as grants, subsidies, and tax incentives, are essential enablers for LGUs to adopt CE. These economic tools reduce the initial financial burden of transitioning from linear to circular systems. Municipalities can benefit from European funds that promote sustainability, such as the Horizon 2020 Program, which finances innovation in waste management and resource efficiency (Dagiliene et al., 2021). Furthermore, the economic benefits of CE practices, such as job creation in green sectors like recycling and refurbishment, provide further motivation for local governments to engage with circular strategies (Bitter-Krahe et al., 2021). Cities like Amsterdam and Rotterdam have successfully integrated CE practices into their local economies, demonstrating how SLGUs can generate new economic opportunities by promoting circular business models (Cramer, 2020).

SLGUs are instrumental in educating and involving citizens in CE practices, encouraging introduction of circular cities practices such as recycling, repair, and reuse. They drive public awareness campaigns and set up participatory platforms, fostering a culture of sustainability within communities. Engaging citizens in CE initiatives ensures higher participation and ownership of circular activities (Palm & Bocken, 2021). In cities like Amsterdam and Barcelona, local governments have successfully engaged residents in circular practices by providing clear guidelines on waste sorting and recycling, as well as facilitating repair cafés and second-hand markets where citizens can repair or exchange goods rather than dispose of them (Sánchez Levoso et al., 2020). Furthermore, Amsterdam's Circular Innovation Program is a prime example of how municipalities can create ecosystems that support public-private partnerships and innovation in circularity. The city has worked closely with businesses to implement circular construction projects, public procurement strategies, and recycling initiatives, thereby leveraging the expertise of the private sector to scale CE practices (Cramer, 2020).

Another important role of local governments is leading by example through circular public procurement (CPP). SLGUs have significant purchasing power and by prioritizing circular products and services, LGUs drive market demand for sustainable goods and influence broader societal behaviour. Cities like Amsterdam and Paris have adopted circular procurement strategies, mandating the use of recycled materials in public projects (Fratini et al., 2019). Cities like Rotterdam, Paris have implemented GPP in their infrastructure projects, requiring that materials used in public construction are sourced sustainably and designed for reuse. By embedding CE principles into procurement, these cities have reduced the environmental impact while fostering innovation in circular building materials (Ranta et al., 2017).

SLGUs are key players in fostering innovation by collaborating with research institutions and promoting new CE technologies and practices. They support capacity-building programs for municipal staff and local businesses to ensure that CE initiatives are effectively implemented. Through knowledge transfer and technical training, SLGUs build local capacity to support circular projects (Jim Hart et al., 2019). For example, in the Western Balkan Region, the establishment of circular hotspots supports the integration of circular principles into urban planning and waste management (Bitter-Krahe et al., 2021)

While SLGUs are essential to the successful adoption of CE practices, they face several significant barriers that hinder their ability to fully implement circular strategies.

Implementing circular economy practices often requires considerable upfront investment in infrastructure, new technologies, and staff training. Many municipalities, especially smaller ones, face tight budgets, which limits their ability to invest in necessary waste management systems, circular procurement, or other CE initiatives (Dagiliene et al., 2021). Moreover, circular products and services tend to have higher upfront costs, which can deter municipalities from integrating them into their operations. Although circular initiatives can generate long-term savings—such as reduced waste disposal costs and increased resource efficiency—the initial capital investment often proves prohibitive for cash-strapped SLGUs (Vedvik, 2022; Ranta et al., 2017; Palm & Bocken, 2021).

In some regions, national or EU-level subsidies are available, but SLGUs may face challenges in accessing these funds due to complex application processes or lack of knowledge. For instance, smaller municipalities in Southern and Eastern Europe struggle to access EU grants aimed at promoting sustainability (Licastro & Sergi, 2021).

Self-Local governments often lack the technical knowledge and institutional capacity to design and implement CE strategies. The complexity of circular processes such as material recovery, reverse logistics, and circular urban planning requires advanced expertise that is frequently unavailable within local municipal administrations (Fratini et al., 2019). This gap is particularly pronounced in smaller municipalities, where there may be only a few employees tasked with overseeing environmental initiatives, often without specific training in CE principles (Dagiliene et al., 2021).

Moreover, misalignment between local, regional, and national CE policies can cause delays in implementation. For example, while national policies may set ambitious circular economy targets, these may not be supported with the necessary resources or frameworks at the local level, limiting the ability of SLGUs to meet these goals (Fratini et al., 2019). Additionally, conflicting priorities within different departments can hinder the development of integrated CE strategies that balance environmental sustainability with economic growth (Vedvik, 2022; Dagiliene et al., 2021)

Cultural attitudes toward consumption and waste disposal are deeply ingrained in many communities, posing a challenge for the adoption of CE practices. Public resistance to change, particularly the shift from a linear consumption model to one based on recycling, reuse, and repair, is a significant barrier (Palm & Bocken, 2021).

This cultural resistance extends to both the public and municipal institutions. Government employees, accustomed to traditional methods of waste management, may be reluctant to adopt new, untested circular processes. Changing this mindset requires comprehensive education campaigns that emphasize the long-term benefits of CE, but running these campaigns is resource-intensive and time-consuming (Mari Vedvik, 2022).

Another barrier to CE adoption is the underdevelopment of markets for circular products and services. In some regions, local suppliers may not yet offer products that meet circular procurement criteria, limiting the ability of SLGUs to adopt green procurement practices (Palm & Bocken, 2021).

Establishing circular supply chains requires coordination among multiple stakeholders, including private companies, waste management firms, and recyclers. If these supply chains are poorly integrated or lack necessary infrastructure, it becomes difficult for local governments to create efficient circular systems. This is particularly true in regions where recycling markets are still developing, or where there is limited access to secondary raw materials (Ruysschaert et al., 2020).

# 3. Methodology

This methodology provides a structured, participatory framework for assessing and promoting circular economy (CE) practices across self-local government units (SLGUs) in Albania. Out of 61 LGUs in the country, 27 participated in the study, categorized as small, medium, or large based on population size. The approach consists of three key steps tailored to local contexts and needs: (i) a screening process to assess the integration of CE principles in local strategic documents; (ii) a survey to evaluate SLGUs staff's understanding of CE principles in daily operations; and (iii) focus group discussions to review findings and identify intervention areas to support Albania's CE transition.



Figure	<b>1.</b> Methodology	for assessing	CE practices	at SLGUs in Albania
<b>.</b>		0	1	

Set on

Size of LGUs	LGUs	Tropcjil Tropcjil Tube Pula
Small	Skrapar, Përmet, Tepelenë, Kolonjë, Memaliaj, Delvinë, Klos, Himarë, Mallakastër, and Mirditë	Rurbin Mat Krutin Mat Krutin Bulare Galare Tranii Librarhd
Medium	Vau Dejës, Prrenjas, Gramsh, Dibër, Berat, Maliq, Kavajë, Rrogozhinë, Kukës, and Gjirokastër	Belan Be
Large	Durrës, Shkodër, Elbasan, Lezhë, Fier, and Korçë	Savardy Final



The first step, the screening process, involved developing a methodology to review and assess the integration of circular economy (CE) principles in local strategic documents. Albania's national circular economy policy is outlined in the "Roadmap toward Circular Economy of Albania" (OECD, 2024), which identifies key sectors and corresponding national policies that support CE principles. For effective implementation, these policies must be adapted to the local level. Strategic documents developed, so far, by SLGUs in Albania covering sectors such as: (i) General Local Plan, (ii) Local Waste Management Plan, (iii) Local Mobility Plan, (iv) Local Greenery Plan, (v) Local Noise Control Plan, (vi) Local Lighting Plan, and (vii) Local Energy and Climate Plan, were identified and reviewed.

These documents were analyzed for the inclusion of three core CE principles. Each of the CE principles: i) minimizing waste and pollution; ii) keeping products and materials in use; and iii) regenerating natural systems was broken down into specific criteria and activities for evaluation. These criteria were derived from already established CE frameworks and tailored to self-local government planning contexts. Examples included:

- Minimizing waste and pollution: Inclusion of waste reduction targets or policies for separate waste collection.
- Keeping products and materials in use: Policies promoting recycling hubs or reuse initiatives.
- Regenerating natural systems: Plans for urban greening or ecosystem restoration.

The scoring system used a 0–5 scale:

- 0: The principle is not mentioned in the document.
- 1-2: The principle is mentioned briefly without clear objectives or actions.
- 3-4: The principle is integrated into specific objectives or partially reflected in planned activities.
- 5: The principle is fully embedded, with concrete activities and measurable indicators.

Example application: For the "Local Waste Management Plan" in Berat Municipality:

- Minimizing waste and pollution: The document included targets for reducing municipal waste by 20% (score: 4).
- Keeping products and materials in use: It mentioned setting up a recycling hub but lacked a detailed implementation plan (score: 3).
- Regenerating natural systems: No references (score: 0).

Overall Score: 7/15, indicating partial integration of CE principles.

Then, documents were categorized based on their total scores, grouped by documents' type (e.g., waste management plans, energy plans) and municipality size, according to number of population (small, medium, large), to allow for comparative analysis.

The second step involved designing a semi-structured survey to assess SLGU staff's understanding of circular economy (CE) principles in their daily work. Distributed via Google Forms, the survey aimed to evaluate: (i) knowledge of CE practices within municipalities, (ii) the extent of their implementation, and (iii) perceived barriers and motivations for adopting CE practices. A draft version of the survey was initially tested with local SLGUs staff, who recommended tailoring it to specific municipal departments. As a result, the survey was divided into four sections targeting different directorates: (i) procurement services, (ii) strategic development and urban planning, (iii) public services, and (iv) infrastructure projects and planning. The survey was administered in two ways: (i) through four online links for direct staff responses, and (ii) via semi-structured meetings that provided detailed explanations and discussions before survey completion. Data collection took place over one month, after which the responses were processed and analyzed.

The results from the screening and survey processes were presented and discussed in a **focus group**, where SLGUs staff provided feedback on the findings and identified key needs and areas for intervention to accelerate the circular economy transition in Albania. An interactive approach was used to back up this process and to gather participant insights and feedback.

# 4. Analysis & Results

#### Assessment of the Local Strategic Documents

The screening process spanned nearly two months, involving a combination of online document review and consultations with local staff responsible for drafting municipal policies and documents. These consultations were more informal during the document screening and survey administration, rather than structured interviews. This approach ensured a comprehensive understanding of local policies. Once collected, the documents were thoroughly screened and assessed according to the established methodology.

Table 1 shows the local strategic documents developed by the SLGUs included in the study. Only two out of 8 strategic documents identified in the local context were developed by almost all SLGUs, i.e. General Local Plan and the Local Plan on Waste Management.

Size	LGUs	Local Waste Mana gemen t Plan	Gener al Local Plan	Local Mobility Plan	Local Greener y Plan	Local Noise Contr ol Plan	Local Lightin g Plan	Local Energy efficiency plan	Local Energy & Climat e Plan
Small	Skrapar	x	x	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Përmet	x	х	-		-	-	-	х
	Tepelenë	-	-	-		-	-	-	
	Kolonjë	-	х	-		-	-	-	
	Memaliaj	x	-	-			-	-	-
	Delvinë	x	х	-			-	-	-
	Klos	х	x	-			-	-	-
	Himarë	-	x	-			-	-	-
	Mallakastë	-	х	-	-	-	-	-	-
	r Mirditë	x	x	-	-	-	-	-	-
Medium	Vau Dejës	х	х	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Prrenjas	x	х	-		-	-	-	-
	Gramsh	х	х	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Dibër	х	х	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Berat	х	х	-	-	-	-	х	х
	Maliq	-	х	-		х	-	-	-
	Kavajë	х	х	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Rrogozhin ë	x	x	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Kukës	x	х	-		-	-	-	-
	Gjirokastër	x	х	-		-	-	-	х
Large	Durrës	х	х	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Shkodër	x	х	х		х	-	-	х
	Elbasan	х	х	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Lezhë	х	х	-	х	х	-	-	-
	Fier	x	х	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Korçë	x	х	-		-	-	-	х

# Table 1. Local strategic documents developed by the SLGUs part of the study

The final assessment per each local strategic document was colour coded as shown in the table below:

Point range	Description
0	Local strategic policies do not reflect CE concepts
1 – 4	Local strategic policies have started to mention CE concepts only in some paragraphs
5 – 7	Local strategic policies have included in their specific objectives the concepts of CE
8 – 11	Local strategic policies have designed CE activities to fulfil the strategic objectives
12 – 15	Local strategic policies have drawn up indicators to measure the degree of implementation of activities in accordance with the objectives

#### Table 2. Assessment range for local strategic documents

Results from the assessment of the General Local Plans indicate that although SLGUs were categorised as small, medium and large, per each category more than 50% of the municipalities have General Local Plans that have integrated circular economy (CE) concepts into their specific objectives, and the rest have developed activities that support these objectives through application of CE principles too. The graph below includes specific point range for every local unit that were in the possession of a General Local Plan:



Figure 3. Municipalities participating to the study

Results from the assessment of the Local Waste Management Plan revealed that almost 70% of the municipalities, whether were categorized as small, medium or large, developed plans that included circular economy (CE) concepts in their specific objectives and activities, accompanied by concrete indicators for measurement. 20% of the included CE principles only to the strategic objectives and the activities and only 3 of them have no plans developed at all. The graph below includes specific point range for every local unit that were in the possession of a General Local Plan:



Local Waste Management Plan

Figure 4. Municipalities participating to the study

The rest of the local strategic documents assessed were developed from a very small number of municipalities. Local Mobility Plan, Local Greenery Plan and Local Noise Control Plan clearly were way behind the adoption of CE concepts in their strategic objectives and activities. They were mentioned in just some paragraphs. Meanwhile, the Local Energy & Climate Plans and the Local Energy Efficiency Plan developed have included in their strategic objectives and activities principles of CE, as shown in the table below:

Table 3. Assessment	of the other	local strategic	documents

Municipalities	Local Energy efficiency plan	Local Mobility Plan	Local Greenery Plan	Local Noise Control Plan	Local Energy & Climate Plan
Përmet					7.3
Gjirokastër					7.3
Berat	9.8				7.3
Maliq				1.4	
Kavajë					7.3
Shkodër		3.7		4.8	7.3
Korçë					8.0
Lezhë			3.7	1.4	

# A. Semi – structured survey with the local staff of the municipalities

27 municipalities participated, and 84 responses were obtained from the staffs of four directorates. The survey results are categorized into four areas outlined in the methodology:

Level of awareness of local staff on CE principles: Survey results indicate that self-local government units (SLGUs) are just beginning to familiarize themselves with circular economy (CE) principles, and many find it difficult to connect these concepts with their daily activities.
Only 21% of municipalities have a basic understanding of CE practices. In most instances, municipal staff reported that these concepts are only briefly mentioned in local strategic documents, often limited to a few paragraphs without substantial integration into broader policies.



Figure 5. Concepts CE included in the local documents

**Capacity building on CE practices**: Training and capacity-building are crucial for enabling municipal staff to effectively implement circular economy (CE) strategies. However, 67% of municipalities reported that no training had been provided on CE practices, limiting their ability to integrate sustainability into daily operations and long-term planning. Due to the lack of awareness and recognition of the responsibility of SLGUs to embrace and implement CE principles, only 11% of municipalities have designated staff specifically responsible for developing and implementing CE initiatives.

These low levels of capacity building are reflected in the limited awarenessraising efforts, with only 15% of municipalities organizing these types of campaigns, and none publishing reports on the status of CE implementation.

On the positive side, however training sessions organized by the SLGUs account only for 34% at the best case, there is a strong interest in training, with 88% of municipalities expressing a desire to participate in future sessions.





Interest of SLGUs staff toward training sessions on CE principles					
Little interested Moderately interested Very interested Extremely interested					
12%	28%	45%	15%		

Figure 6. Interests of SLGUs staff on CE training sessions

**Green procurement and adoption of resource-efficient practices**: Green procurements are known as the process by which self-local government units prioritize environmentally friendly products and services in their purchasing decisions. This involves selecting goods, services, and works that minimize environmental impact throughout their lifecycle, from production to disposal. By adopting green procurement, local units aim to reduce waste, conserve resources, and support the shift towards sustainable practices within their communities. It's about choosing products and services that are eco-friendly, aiming to reduce environmental impact and support sustainability in every purchase.

When asked about their procurement policies, municipalities were divided on their ability on choosing products and services that are eco-friendly that aim to reduce environmental impact and support sustainability, with 50% expressing uncertainty. While some municipalities reported the initial adoption of green procurement procedures, this remains an area in need of clearer guidelines and stronger local-level implementation.

Despite the general lack of structured CE initiatives, some municipalities have started to introduce tangible sustainability measures, such as installing LED lighting systems and incorporating thermal insulation in municipal buildings.



# **Figure 7.** Application of instruments that promote application of CE principes in the SLGUs

The survey also revealed that the Environmental Management Systems (EMS) have not been implemented in any municipality. Sporadically, few elements of these systems were found being applied because of any pilot project, but no written or planned strategy to be implemented is in place.

Interestingly, some Self-Local Government Units (SLGUs) have unknowingly implemented practices aligned with Circular Economy (CE) principles, primarily driven by financial constraints. Staff noted that limited resources have prompted them to adopt more resource-efficient methods, indicating that CE principles are being applied in practice but require broader promotion and support. **Motivating and barrier factors in embracing circular economy principles**: The availability of economic and financial resources, along with improved environmental conditions and greater stability, are the key motivators for CE practices. However, pressure from decision-makers and service providers is not yet seen as a significant driving force for local government units in this process.



Figure 8. Motivating factors to adopt CE practices from SLGUs

On the other hand, the primary barriers preventing municipalities from adopting these practices are the lack of financial resources and insufficient investment in staff training.



Figure 9. Barrier factors to adopt CE practices from SLGUs

This survey highlights substantial gaps in both awareness and the implementation of CE practices at the municipal level. While there have been positive steps, such as the adoption of energy-efficient technologies, much more is needed to encourage municipalities to fully embrace these principles.

# **B.** Semi-Structured Focus Groups

The last aspect of the assessment was the development of the semi-structured focus groups with the representatives of the SLGUs to discuss results and engage them to deepen their understanding of circular economy (CE) concepts. Initially focused on recycling and reuse, participants' perceptions expanded to include savings and closed-loop systems by the end of the focus groups, with cost savings emerging as a primary motivator for adopting CE principles.

Local units identified two main needs to support CE implementation: more training and increased financial resources. They also highlighted priority activities such as waste management, energy efficiency, green procurement, awareness campaigns, transport, and composting. Waste management and agriculture were the top sectors for integrating CE practices, followed by tourism and energy. These insights emphasize areas where targeted support can effectively promote CE adoption within municipalities.

# 5. Conclusions and Recommendations

The screening of local documents identified the General Local Plan, and the Local Waste Management Plan as key frameworks developed by most municipalities. However, the transfer of national policies to local governments remains partial, particularly in drafting other sectoral plans where Environmental Sustainability principles should be integrated. Larger municipalities tend to engage more in circular economic practices, though most plans are created by external experts following similar patterns.

It is recommended that municipalities focus on regularly updating these documents to incorporate environmental sustainability and circular economy concepts. Additionally, investing in capacity building for municipal staff is crucial to ensure active participation in drafting and revising these strategic documents.

Survey results emphasize again the importance of adopting Environmental Sustainability and Circular Economy practices within local strategies. Training should cover sustainable and green procurement, environmental management systems (including ISO certifications), and integrating practices like Refuse, Reuse, Repair, and Separation into daily operations. Municipalities should also promote virtual administration to improve efficiency and reduce environmental impacts. Key recommendations include increasing staff training, appointing dedicated personnel, and providing clearer guidelines on procurement and EMS implementation to better integrate CE into local governance.

Semi – focused groups discussions revealed an evolving understanding of the circular economy principles of the local staffs, shifting from recycling and reuse to broader concepts like savings and closed-loop systems. Municipalities called again for the need for more tailor-maid training and financial resources to properly adopt circular economy principles in three key sectors of interest such as waste management, agriculture, energy efficiency, and green procurement.

#### Acknowledgements

This research comes as results of a project implemented by the experts of EcoDES Consultancy, in the framework of the *Bashki të Forta* project, of the Swiss Development Agency and implemented by Helvetas. We are also deeply thankful to the Helvetas team for support and collaborative efforts in advancing circular economy practices across Albanian municipalities. Special thanks are extended to the local government officials and community stakeholders who participated in our study, sharing valuable insights and experiences that enriched the findings presented in this article. Their

dedication to sustainability and continuous improvement has been both inspiring and essential to this research.

#### References

Bitter-Krahe, J., Paletta, A., Perego, P., Salomone, R., Testa, F., & Vermeulen, W. J. V. (2021). "Circular Cities and the Role of Local Governments in Driving Urban Circularity: Challenges and Opportunities." Journal of Cleaner Production, 282, 124599.

Cramer, J. M. (2020). Practice-based Model for Implementing Circular Economy: The Case of the Amsterdam Metropolitan Area. Journal of Cleaner Production, 255, 120255.

Dagiliene, L., Varaniute, V., & Bruneckiene, J. (2021). Local Governments' Perspective on Implementing the Circular Economy: A Framework for Future Solutions. Journal of Cleaner Production, 310, 127340.

European Commission. (2020). A New Circular Economy Action Plan for a Cleaner and More Competitive Europe.

Fratini, C. F., Georg, S., & Jørgensen, M. S. (2019). Exploring Circular Economy Transitions in Municipalities: The Role of Intermediaries. Journal of Cleaner Production, 237, 117810.

Licastro, A., & Sergi, B. S. (2021). "Drivers and Barriers to a Green Economy: A Review of Selected Balkan Countries." Cleaner Engineering and Technology, 4, 100228.

Jim Hart et al. (2019). Barriers and drivers in a circular economy: The case of the built environment. Procedia CIRP, 80, 619–624.

Palm, J., & Bocken, N. (2021). Achieving the Circular Economy: Exploring the Role of Local Governments, Business, and Citizens in an Urban Context. Energies, 14(4), 875.

Ranta, V., Aarikka-Stenroos, L., Ritala, P., & Mäkinen, S. J. (2017). Exploring institutional drivers and barriers of the circular economy: A cross-regional comparison of China, the US, and Europe. Resources, Conservation & Recycling, 125, 124–137.

Ruysschaert, B., Kuppens, T., & Crutzen, N. (2020). Identifying Circular Economy Strategies Adopted by Local Governments: The Case of Belgium. Journal of Environmental Policy, 5(1), 29-40.

Sánchez Levoso, A., Martínez Gasol, C., Martínez Blanco, J., et al. (2020). Methodological Framework for the Implementation of Circular Economy in Urban Systems. Journal of Cleaner Production, 248, 119227.

Vedvik, M. (2022). "Transitioning to a Circular Economy: Exploring the Role of Local Governments." Master's Thesis, NTNU.

Gura, K., Nica, E., Kliestik, T., Puime-Guillén, F. (2023). Circular economy in territorial planning strategy: Incorporation in cluster activities and economic zones. Journal of Environmental Technology & Innovation, Volume 32, 103357.

Bolger, K., Doyon, A. (2019). Circular cities: exploring local government strategies to facilitate a circular economy. European Planning Studies, Volume 27, 2019, Issue 1.

Iordachi, V., Perciun, R., Timofei, O. (2020). Role of governments in promoting the transition to circular economy. Editura Independența Economică.

Özsoy, T. (2021). Importance of cities in transition to Circular Economy. Journal of Academic Research in Economics (JARE), Universitatea SPIRU HARET - Faculty of Accounting and Financial Management.

#### The Impact of Buildings' Energy Consumption and Greenhouse Gasses Emissions on Air Pollution and Sustainability of the City of Skopje

Liljana DIMEVSKA SOFRONIEVSKA<sup>1</sup>, Meri CVETKOVSKA<sup>2</sup> Ana TROMBEVA GAVRILOSKA<sup>3</sup>, Teodora MIHAJLOVSKA<sup>4</sup>

#### Abstract

Building construction and operations account for 36% of global final energy use and 39% of energy-related  $CO_2$  emissions. These emissions from buildings arise from the energy used for heating and cooling, hot water supply, ventilation, air conditioning, lighting, and from the embodied energy for the production of building materials. Cutting the greenhouse gases (GHGs) in the building sector is an indicator for not only the energy efficiency improvement, but also it is much more important from aspect of the climate changes and sustainability measures of the cities, especially air pollution. The city of Skopje, especially, in the past few years is one of the most air-polluted cities in the EU. Considering the fact that most of the building stock in Skopje is built after the catastrophic earthquake in 1963, in the absence of energy efficiency regulations and with no thermal insulation materials, the building sector has a great role in pollution and sustainability of the city. In order to assess the impact that the application of thermal insulation has on the pollution, energy efficiency, the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and PM10 particles, selected case study buildings from the post-earthquake period before and after application of thermal insulation materials are analysed and the results are presented in this paper. Finally, it can be concluded that with appropriate buildings 'renovations, the air pollution in Skopje can be significantly reduced.

Keywords: CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, sustainability, energy efficiency, air pollution

Jel code: Q2, Q4, Q5.

# 1. Introduction

Global warming is a major challenge for sustainability. Addressing the environmental challenges posed by  $CO_2$  emissions is crucial for mitigating

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Assistant Professor, Faculty of Architecture, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University, Skopje, dimevska.liljana@arh.ukim.edu.mk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Professor, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University, Skopje, cvetkovska@gf.ukim.edu.mk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Professor, Faculty of Architecture, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University, Skopje, agavriloska@arh.ukim.edu.mk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Teaching assistant, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University, Skopje, mihajlovska.teodora@arh.ukim.edu.mk

global warming and achieving net-zero emissions by 2050 (European Environment Agency). To reduce the  $CO_2$  emissions, one option is improvement of the energy efficiency of buildings with 50–90% (Turkenburg, 1997). Improving the buildings' energy efficiency, i.e. their energy consumption and reducing greenhouse gasses emissions is one of the major factors that contributes to sustainable and air clean cities. Unfortunately, this is not the case with the city of Skopje.

In the 20<sup>th</sup> century, Skopje experienced rapid urbanization, growth of industrial activities, and reconstruction after the catastrophic earthquake in 1963. With a comparatively larger number of industrial point sources and higher traffic flows than other cities in the country, the Skopje agglomeration has historically experienced frequent episodes of heavy pollution (Martinez et al., 2018). Especially during dry periods, the combination of mineral dust and emissions from buildings' heating, the transport sector, and industrial activities within the city increase the concentrations of inhalable particles (Anttila et al., 2015). The buildings have the highest impact in the air pollution of the city, considering the fact that 60% of the buildings in Skopje are built after the earthquake in the absence of thermal insulation (Sofronievska et al., 2023).

This paper aims to investigate the state of  $CO_2$  emissions from buildings that do not have good energy efficiency, i.e. are built without thermal insulation, and then, by simulating scenarios with applied thermal insulation on the buildings' envelope, to show the new state of the buildings. The goal is to show the big difference in the amount of  $CO_2$  emissions as well as the energy consumption that affects the sustainability and air pollution of the city.

# 2. Case study buildings

Skopje's catastrophic earthquake in 1963 caused more than1000 human losses, irreversible degradation of the cultural heritage and 80% destruction of the building stock (Sofronievska et al., 2023). The post - earthquake architecture, represents an important cultural heritage of the city of Skopje. According to the construction standards of that time, those buildings are built in a lack of thermal insulation materials, which results in poor thermal comfort, high heating, cooling and maintenance costs, degradation and deterioration. They need to be properly renovated according to nowadays energy efficiency standards (Sofronievska, Cvetkovska, et al., 2023).

The two case study buildings analyzed in the paper (Figure 1 and Figure 2) date from the post - earthquake period, they have great architectural value, and they are both public buildings very problematic with their sustainability, energy consumption and costs for maintenance.



Figure 1. Hydrometeorology Institute, Skopje Figure 2. Macedonian Academy of Sciences and Arts, Skopje

The case study 1 is a two-story office building with a total net area of 2.647.7m<sup>2</sup> and a heating volume of 8.085.9m<sup>3</sup>, divided into a total of 140 thermal zones, with its own heating system. It is built entirely in natural concrete without any finishing facade layers and no thermal insulation. The building is protected as the cultural heritage of Skopje, and the renovation procedures should not comprise the building's authenticity.

The case study 2 is a multifunctional building, with an administrative and educational function. It has a total net area of 8 298 m<sup>2</sup> and a heated net volume of 29 770 m<sup>3</sup>. It is built entirely in natural concrete without any thermal insulation on the envelope. A large part of the facade is glazed, i.e. the total area of the windows is 2236m2. It is divided into a total of 257 thermal zones, and the heating energy is distributed from the central city heating system. It is protected as a very important cultural heritage from the period of modernism in Skopje and its authentic appearance should remain the same after renovation.

After being selected as case studies, the buildings are subjected to a series of analysis such as detailed reviews of project documentation, in situ visits and documentation of their current condition and interviews with the buildings' employees in order to achieve detailed analysis of their energy performance.

# 3. Methodology

First, energy performance simulations of the existing condition of the selected buildings are made, and then simulations of improved scenarios with the application of thermal insulation materials on the buildings' envelope are carried out. The existing condition is simulated according to project documentation information and in situ measures. The improved scenarios are based on adding thermal insulation on the envelope of the building (walls, roof, windows etc.). In both scenarios, conventional nanomaterials are added on the basement slab and roof, such as xps, because they are not visible from the outside and don't compromise the originality of the architectural design. Nano materials are used only on the façade walls, where the authentic appearance is very important, especially the thickness, texture and design on the natural concrete. Both façade materials used as thermal insulation are newly developed nanomaterials, such as aerogel thermal plaster - defined as scenario 1, and nanoceramic thermal coating – defined as scenario 2. Both are eco - friendly and sustainable materials with low embodied energy and are especially applicable in cultural heritage buildings because of their low thickness, ability to imitate natural concrete (aerogel plaster) and transparency (nanoceramic coating), which makes them superior to the standard thermal insulation materials (Ganobjak et al., 2019).

EnergyPlus software is used for simulations and the buildings are modelled in DesignBuilder. Both buildings are modeled in detail with a large number of thermal zones, detailed geometry, environment, HVAC systems, building materials, etc. The modeling and simulations are based on large data of project documentation and in situ visits of the buildings.

The most important results for this research are the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and the PM10 particles, which are embodied during the building processes for heating, cooling and other maintenance. They are mostly emitted from the combustion of fuels to power the buildings, especially the older ones, with no thermal insulation and older heating systems. Most of them, in order to be heated, need huge amounts of heating energy, mostly distributed by the city central heating system, which is known to be one of the primary air pollutants in Skopje. Also, some of the old buildings have their own heating systems which use heavy fossil fuels for heating and maintenance.

The obtained results of the existing condition and the two scenarios are compared and discussed.

# 4. Results & Discussion

# 4.1. Case study building 1

In the simulations of the first case study, analysis of GHGs released by the building on an hourly, daily and monthly level, with special emphasis on CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and PM10 particles, are carried out.

Fig. 1 shows a graph of average monthly  $CO_2$  emissions released by the building's existing condition, scenario 1 and scenario 2. The actual state of the building, i.e. its existing condition, shows that the building emits 14 022.5 kg  $CO_2$  monthly or 168 280 kg annually, i.e. 70.2 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. This means that in terms of its dimensions and function, it is a building with quite high levels of emissivity. Scenario 1 shows the lowest  $CO_2$  emission, i.e. an average of 7 017.9 kg monthly or 84 214.8 kg annually, i.e. 31.7 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. The emissivity of  $CO_2$  in scenario 1 is reduced by 54.7% compared to the existing condition.

Scenario 2 showed 8 683 kg  $CO_2$  monthly or 104 196 kg annually, i.e. 39.3 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Scenario 2 reduces emissions by 44% compared to the existing condition.



**Figure 3**. CO<sub>2</sub> emissions - case study 1

Similar results are obtained in the analysis of PM10 particles. Figure 4 shows a graph of monthly PM10 emissivity for the existing condition, scenario 1 and scenario of the building. In the existing condition, the buildings emit an average of 1.3 kg monthly, or 15.6 kg annually. Scenario 1 shows 0.7 kg PM10 monthly or 8.4 kg annually. The emissivity of PM10 in scenario 1 is reduced by 46.1% compared to the existing situation. Scenario 2 shows PM10 emissivity of 0.78 kg monthly or 9.36 kg annually. In scenario 2 the PM10 emissions are reduced by 40% compared to the existing condition.



Figure 4. PM10 emissions - case study 1

It can be concluded that in both scenarios of the case study building 1, the  $CO_2$  and PM10 emissions are drastically reduced.

## 4.2. Case study building 2

Figure 5 shows a graph of average monthly  $CO_2$  emissions released by the building's existing condition, scenario 1 and scenario 2. The simulation of the building's existing condition shows 61 727.7 kg  $CO_2$  monthly or 740 732.4 kg annually, i.e. 92.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, which in terms of its dimensions and function, it is a highly polluting building. Scenario 1 shows the lower  $CO_2$  emission, that is, an average of 40 078.4 kg monthly and 480 940.8 kg annually, that is, 60.3 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. The emissivity of  $CO_2$  in scenario 1 is reduced by 35% compared to the existing situation. Scenario 2 shows an average  $CO_2$  emissivity of 46 779.2 kg monthly and 561 350.4 kg annually, i.e. 70.4 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Scenario 2 reduces the emissivity by 24.2 % compared to the existing condition of the building.



Figure 5. CO<sub>2</sub> emissions – case study 2

Figure 6 shows a graph of PM10 particles that the building emits on a monthly level for the existing condition, scenario 1 and scenario 2. In real conditions, the building emits around 4.5 kg monthly, that is, 54 kg annually. Scenario 1 shows 3.2 kg PM10 emissions monthly or 38.4 kg annually. The emissivity of PM10 particles in scenario 1 is reduced by 30% compared to the existing condition. Scenario 2 shows around 3.6 kg PM10 emissions monthly or 43.2 kg annually. Scenario 2 reduces emissivity by 20% compared to the existing condition.

It can be concluded that in both scenarios of the case study building 2, the  $CO_2$  and PM10 emissions are again drastically reduced.



Figure 6. PM10 emission - case study 2

# 4.3. Results comparisons and discussions

The obtained results prove that by adding appropriate thermal insulation of the buildings, their energy efficiency is improved and the  $CO_2$  emissions and other harmful gases, especially PM10 particles are significantly reduced. Figure 7 shows a comparison of the  $CO_2$  emissions between the two case study buildings where it can be concluded that there are great improvements in both scenarios. Scenario 1 shows reduction of the  $CO_2$  emission by 55% in case study 1 and 35% case study 2. Scenario 2 shows a reduction of  $CO_2$  by 44% in case study 1 and 24% in case study 2.





The importance of thermal insulation can also be seen in the reduction of the energy consumption of the buildings especially the energy consumption for heating which is the main contributor to the greenhouse gasses emissions. Figure 8 shows that there are significant savings in terms of heating energy, i.e. reduction of the heating energy consumption by 68% and 58% in scenario 1 for each case study, respectively, and by 35% and 33% in scenario 2 for both case studies, respectively.





The high electricity consumption for buildings' maintenance makes them unsustainable and expensive, thus contributing to the energy burden of the city. Considering these results, it is confirmed that Skopje is still an unsustainable city, with a high demand for heating and electricity energy to maintain its buildings, which in the process emit huge amounts of  $CO_2$  and other greenhouse gasses, which hugely contributes to the air – pollution of the city. After the application of thermal insulation materials, it can be seen that there are significant savings in terms of electricity, especially in case study 1. Figure 9 shows a reduction of electric consumption by 30% and 15% in scenario 1 for each case study, respectively, and by 29% and 10% in scenario 2 for both case studies, respectively.







Figure 10. Comparisons of the financial costs between case studies

Finally, the financial costs analysis for heating, cooling and building maintenance show large reductions after the application of thermal insulation, shown on figure 10. Scenario 1 shows significant reductions in financial costs by 49% and 40% for both case studies, respectively, and scenario 2 reductions by 38% and 30% for both case studies, respectively.

The analyzed nanomaterials have a higher price than the conventional ones, but significantly better thermal insulation performances. For example, the average thermal conductivity of aerogel plasters available on the market is 0.034 W/(mK), while their lowest price is  $30 \text{€/m}^2$  for 1cm thickness. The usual thermal conductivity of thermal insulation plasters without aerogel is 0.085 W/mK, while the average price is  $6.5 \text{€/m}^2$  for 1cm thickness. That means that the thermal conductivity of aerogel plasters in relation to conventional thermal insulation plasters is about 60% better, while the price is 80% higher. Considering the simulation results that gave quite an improvement of the financial maintenance costs, around 50% in both scenarios, it can be concluded that the renovation with these nanomaterials is worthy investment.

Adding additional alternatives to improve energy efficiency and sustainability of the buildings, such as replacing their old HVAC systems with contemporary ones especially renewable energy sources such as heat pumps, solar panels etc. will definitely improve the overall energy performance of the buildings, but in the same time rise the financial costs for renovating. On the other hand, any additional procedure will interfere with the cultural heritage protection standards and eventually compromise the building authenticity, which is the biggest priority to consider in this study.

# 5. Conclusions

Buildings are responsible for almost 40% of annual energy consumption and 36% of annual greenhouse gasses emissions in EU (In Focus: Energy Efficiency in Buildings, 2020b). From this reason, improving the energy

efficiency and sustainability of the buildings is critical for meeting EU climate targets. On the other hand, buildings energy consumption prediction is essential to achieve energy efficiency and sustainability. For this purpose, this study focuses on energy simulations of selected buildings in order to predict their energy performance,  $CO_2$  emissions, energy consumption and maintenance costs, before and after application of thermal insulation.

The obtained results of the existing condition of the selected case studies (before application of thermal insulation) showed high electricity and heating energy consumption, high emissions of  $CO_2$  and PM10 particles, which resulted in huge financial costs. The fact that the analyzed buildings date from the post-earthquake period in Skopje and that most of them are built in the absence of thermal insulation materials, it can be concluded that the buildings make a huge contribution to air - pollution and the sustainability of the city.

The simulations after the application of the thermal insulation materials on the buildings' envelopes, gave significantly better results, with a significant reduction in energy consumption,  $CO_2$  emissions and PM10 particles, which also resulted in drastic reductions in financial maintenance costs. This is due to the better thermal isolation properties of the aerogel, which makes it superior compared to the nanocoating. However, the nanocoating is transparent and has significantly smaller thickness, which leads to much lower impact on the buildings' originality. Both solutions have their own advantages and disadvantages, which makes them both applicable for this problem.

There are many studies with similar research problems, especially in terms of energy efficiency and emissions in cultural heritage buildings such as (Wakili et al., 2018), (Fantucci et al., 2019), (Berardi, 2017), (Bozsaky, 2018), but none is focused on giving both alternatives (scenarios) and comparing the results. This advances this study and enriches state-of-the-art literature.

Finally, from this study it can be concluded that the building sector in Skopje has a huge impact on air - pollution, sustainability and the energy condition of the city, but also that with appropriate strategies for buildings renovations, these problems can be reduced or even completely solved.

# References

Anttila, P., Stefanovska, A., Nestorovska-Krsteska, A., Grozdanovski, L., Atanasov, I., Golubov, N., Ristevski, P., Toceva, M., Lappi, S., & Walden, J. (2015). Characterisation of extreme air pollution episodes in an urban valley in the Balkan Peninsula. Air Quality Atmosphere & Health, 9(2), 129–141. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11869-015-0326-7

European Environment Agency. "Climate Change Mitigation: Reducing Emissions." Www.eea.europa.eu, 15 Sept. 2023, www.eea.europa.eu/en/topics/in-depth/climate-change-mitigation-reducing-emissions

Ganobjak, M., Brunner, S., & Wernery, J. (2019). Aerogel materials for heritage buildings: Materials, properties and case studies. Journal of Cultural Heritage, 42, 81–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.culher.2019.09.007

Martinez, G. S., Spadaro, J. V., Chapizanis, D., Kendrovski, V., Kochubovski, M., & Mudu, P. (2018). Health impacts and economic costs of air pollution in the metropolitan area of Skopje. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 15(4), 626. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15040626

Sofronievska, L. D., Mihajlovska, T., Gavriloska, A. T., Cvetkovska, M., & Marina, O. (2023). Assessment of today's condition of Modernist architecture in Skopje in terms of energy efficiency and authentic architectural appearance using actor network theory. IOP Conference Series Earth and Environmental Science, 1196(1), 012019. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/1196/1/012019

Sofronievska, L. D., Cvetkovska, M., Gavriloska, A. T., & Mihajlovska, T. (2023). BIM for Enhancing the Energy Efficiency and Sustainability of Existing Buildings. In Springer tracts in civil engineering (pp. 419–430). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-45980-1\_34

Turkenburg, W. C. (1997). Sustainable development, climate change, and carbon dioxide removal (CDR). Energy Conversion and Management, 38, S3–S12. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0196-8904(96)00237-3

In focus: Energy efficiency in buildings. (2020, February 17). European Commission. https://commission.europa.eu/news/focus-energy-efficiency-buildings-2020-02-17\_en

Wakili, K. G., Dworatzyk, C., Sanner, M., Sengespeick, A., Paronen, M., & Stahl, T. (2018). Energy efficient retrofit of a prefabricated concrete panel building (Plattenbau) in Berlin by applying an aerogel-based rendering to its façades. Energy and Buildings, 165, 293–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2018.01.050

Fantucci, S., Fenoglio, E., Grosso, G., Serra, V., Perino, M., Marino, V., & Dutto, M. (2019). Development of an aerogel-based thermal coating for the energy retrofit and the prevention of condensation risk in existing buildings. Science and Technology for the Built Environment, 25(9), 1178–1186. https://doi.org/10.1080/23744731.2019.1634931

Berardi, U. (2017). Aerogel - enhanced systems for building energy retrofits: Insights from a case study. Energy and Buildings, 159, 370–381.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2017.10.092

Bozsaky, D. (2018). Series of Experiments with Thermal Insulation Coatings Consisted of Vacuum-Hollow Nano-Ceramic Microspheres. Acta Technica Jaurinensis, 11(1), 17–33. https://doi.org/10.14513/actatechjaur.v11.n1.447

#### Psychological Barriers to Sustainable Tourism Choices: A Case from Albanian Tourism Industry

Mishela RAPO<sup>1</sup>, Besjon ZENELAJ<sup>2</sup>

## Abstract

This study investigates the psychological barriers to sustainable tourism by identifying the key factors that influence travellers' decisions and hinder the adoption of eco-friendly practices. The research combines interviews with ten tourism industry managers with a comprehensive literature review. Thematic analysis is used to examine the challenges revealed through the interviews, while the literature review provides additional context to these findings. The findings highlight several critical obstacles, including a lack of awareness, perceived high costs, social norms, cognitive dissonance, emotional disconnect, and trust issues. Many tourists remain unaware of the environmental impacts of their choices and often perceive sustainable options as more expensive. Social norms and peer influences further reinforce traditional travel behaviours. Cognitive dissonance occurs when tourists' values conflict with their actions, leading them to justify unsustainable practices. Additionally, limited emotional connections to sustainability and scepticism about the authenticity of eco-friendly claims further complicate decision-making. The study concludes with recommendations for addressing these barriers, emphasizing the need for increased awareness, improved marketing strategies, and trust-building initiatives to effectively promote sustainable tourism practices.

**Keywords:** Sustainability, Tourism, Psychological barriers, Eco-friendly practices, Decision-making

**Jel code:** L83, I31, M31

#### 1. Introduction

Sustainable tourism aims to minimize environmental, cultural, and economic impacts while maximizing benefits for local communities and ecosystems (Dessai, 2023). It promotes resource conservation, cultural heritage preservation, and equitable economic growth, ensuring that tourism meets current needs without compromising future generations' ability to thrive. As a key strategy to combat over-tourism, protect fragile ecosystems, and foster

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Department of Management and Marketing, European University of Tirana, Tirana, Albania, mishela.rapo@uet.edu.al

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Department of Business Administration, Epoka University, Tirana, Albania, bzenelaj@epoka.edu.al

cultural preservation, sustainable tourism is increasingly prioritized worldwide. Despite growing interest, adoption rates for sustainable travel remain low, raising an important question: What psychological barriers prevent travelers from adopting sustainable tourism practices, and how can these be addressed? Psychological barriers, encompassing cognitive, emotional, and social factors, often disconnect intentions from actions. Understanding and addressing these barriers is essential for encouraging responsible travel behaviors and advancing sustainable tourism's broader environmental, cultural, and economic goals.

# 2. Theoretical Background

# 2.1. Psychological and Socio-demographic Barriers in Consumer Behavior

Psychological barriers in consumer behavior refer to cognitive or emotional challenges that prevent individuals from aligning their actions with their values and preferences (Gonella et al., 2024). These barriers often create a disconnect between sustainable travel intentions and actual choices, influenced by factors such as lack of awareness, perceived inconvenience, cost concerns, social pressures, cognitive dissonance, and emotional detachment (Munro et al., 2023). In tourism, these barriers affect travel planning, destination selection, and on-site behavior (Mamula Nikolić, 2021). Despite growing awareness of tourism's environmental and social impacts, these psychological barriers frequently discourage sustainable travel choices (Juvan and Dolnicar, 2014).

A significant barrier is the knowledge gap regarding sustainable tourism practices. Many travelers are unaware of how to identify or participate in sustainable travel options (Vieira et al., 2023). Uncertainty in recognizing ecofriendly accommodations or verifying sustainability credentials of tour operators leads to confusion and low adoption rates (Mazhenova et al., 2016). Additionally, inadequate communication about sustainable tourism initiatives limits their visibility and effectiveness (Timur and Getz, 2009).

Cost concerns are another critical obstacle. Eco-friendly accommodations and travel options often have higher price tags, deterring budget-conscious tourists (Kholijah, 2024). The inconvenience of researching sustainable choices and using slower transport options, such as trains, further discourages adoption (Ibnou-Laaroussi et al., 2020). Travelers also perceive sustainable options as less comfortable, offering fewer amenities compared to traditional alternatives (Gössling, 2018).

Demographic factors play a role in shaping these psychological barriers. Millennials and Gen Z travelers, exposed to environmental issues through education and media, are more likely to adopt sustainable practices (Mazar et al., 2021). In contrast, older generations often resist sustainable travel due to ingrained habits and perceptions of inconvenience (Khan et al., 2023). Gender also influences behavior; women generally demonstrate greater environmental awareness, although this trend is mediated by cultural and socioeconomic factors (Vicente-Molina et al., 2018). Higher education levels correlate with increased awareness of sustainability concepts and reduce perceptions of sustainable travel as financially burdensome (Boca & Saraçlı, 2019).

Social norms further exacerbate these barriers. Traditional travel behaviors, such as frequent flying or luxury stays, are often seen as status symbols, discouraging sustainable choices (Alizadeh, 2021). Peer influence, amplified by social media, reinforces unsustainable behaviors unless actively redirected toward promoting eco-friendly practices (Munar and Jacobsen, 2014).

# 2.2. Overcoming Obstacles in Sustainable Tourism

Addressing these barriers requires targeted strategies to enhance awareness, reduce inconvenience, and shift social norms. Raising awareness through educational campaigns is vital for bridging knowledge gaps in sustainable tourism (Hartman and Sijtsma, 2018). Highlighting tourism's environmental and social impacts through engaging content such as documentaries, interactive tools, and social media platforms makes sustainability more relatable (Ingrassia et al., 2022). Collaborative efforts between governments, NGOs, and private organizations further amplify these initiatives (Rodinelli and London, 2003).

Simplifying sustainable travel choices is another critical step. Streamlined platforms offering curated eco-friendly accommodations, transport options, and activities make responsible travel more accessible (Lin et al., 2022). All-inclusive packages reduce perceived inconvenience and encourage travelers to opt for sustainable options (Smith, 2023).

Social norms can be reshaped by promoting sustainable travel as socially responsible and desirable. Campaigns supported by influencers and social media can effectively highlight eco-friendly practices as aspirational behaviors (Lee et al., 2021). Experiential learning, such as eco-tourism that involves local communities or nature-based activities, fosters deeper commitment to sustainability (Holmes et al., 2021).

Building trust through transparent and verifiable sustainability practices is essential. Combatting greenwashing with certifications from proper organizations reassures consumers about genuine eco-friendly efforts (Ahmed et al., 2021; Yildiz et al., 2024). Transparent practices, such as showcasing energy conservation and waste management initiatives, enhance credibility (Chi et al., 2022).

Financial incentives can also encourage sustainable travel. Subsidies, discounts, and long-term economic benefits make eco-friendly options more

accessible (Pan et al., 2018). Behavioral interventions like nudging and social norms messaging subtly guide tourists toward sustainable actions (Sparkman et al., 2021). A multifaceted approach addressing trust, awareness, convenience, and social norms is essential to advancing sustainable tourism while ensuring benefits for both travelers and destinations.

# 3. Methodology

## 3.1. Research design: Sampling and data collection

This qualitative study explores psychological barriers to sustainable tourism using semi-structured interviews with 10 tourism industry managers and a literature review.

We selected individuals for our study using purposive sampling. This nonrandom selection strategy ensured that only experienced experts from hotels, travel agencies, and tour operators participated, providing reliable insights about Albania's tourist industry.

We collected data through semi-structured interviews with ten tourism sector managers. Each interview lasted 45-60 minutes and used an open-ended question structure, allowing participants to express themselves freely. This method enabled in-depth conversations about the psychological barriers to sustainable tourism.

In addition to the interviews, we conducted a thorough literature study to help contextualize and support our conclusions. We then used the theme analysis to identify the main challenges that emerged from the data.

# 3.2. Data analysis

Thematic analysis was utilized to examine the qualitative data gathered from the semi-structured interviews conducted with ten tourism managers. This approach facilitated the identification of recurring themes, patterns, and key insights related to sustainable tourism. Responses were organized based on predefined categories derived from the research questions, allowing for systematic analysis.

Ethical approval was obtained, and all participants provided informed consent. Confidentiality was ensured, and pseudonyms were used to protect participants' identities. Data was securely stored and accessible only to the research team. Below we offer a proper methodological outline of data analysis.

The qualitative data collected from 10 semi-structured interviews with tourism managers was analyzed using a thematic analysis approach. This strategy allows the identification of repeating themes, patterns, and critical discoveries regarding psychological barriers to sustainable tourism. The data analysis

process involved transcription and familiarization. The researcher read and reread the transcripts of the interviews to obtain a thorough knowledge of the information. Using an inductive and deductive approach, initial codes were constructed based on participant replies and specified categories drawn from the research questions. The codes were divided into wider themes and subthemes to capture the main psychological barriers to sustainable tourism. The themes were improved through iterative comparison to ensure consistency and relevance to the research goals. The emerging themes were contrasted to findings from the literature review, allowing for a more comprehensive contextual analysis. Ethical approval was obtained prior to data collection. All participants provided informed consent and were assured of their secrecy and anonymity. Data was securely stored with access limited to the research team. This methodical and comprehensive methodology resulted in a reliable and trustworthy analysis of the psychological barriers to sustainable tourism. The analysis followed a structured three-phase coding process, as described below:

Phase	Description	Example Codes
Open Coding	Initial review of responses to identify key ideas and recurring concepts.	"Awareness gap," "Cost concerns," "Social norms"
Axial Coding	Grouping related codes into broader categories or sub- themes.	"Lack of Awareness," "Economic Constraints"
Selective Coding	Refinement of categories into primary themes aligning with research goals.	"Psychological Barriers," "Trust and Transparency"

 Table 1. Coding process

Source: Author's elaboration

# 4. Results

Following insightful analysis, interviews revealed key barriers to sustainable tourism. Managers identified tourists' lack of awareness about environmental impacts as a primary issue, necessitating targeted campaigns. Cost perceptions, social norms, peer influence, emotional disconnection, cognitive dissonance, and trust issues also impede sustainable choices. Strategies include awareness, incentives, emotional marketing, and transparency.

Themes emerging from the data included: Emotional Connection, Lack of Awareness, Cost Concerns, Social Norms and Peer Influence, Trust Issues, and Cognitive Dissonance. A detailed summary of the questions and responses from the interviewed managers is provided in Annex 1, supporting the coding and thematic process described here.



Figure 1: Key concepts emerged from manager interviews

Source: Author's elaboration

The bar chart (Figure 1) illustrates the frequency of mentions for key psychological barriers. "Awareness" received the highest mentions (15), followed by "Cost/Costs" and "Social/Peer" (12 each), "Emotional" (10), "Trust/Transparency" (8), and "Cognitive Dissonance" (7).

A lack of awareness about the environmental impact of tourism was the most cited barrier. Managers emphasized the need for educational campaigns to close this knowledge gap.

• "Most tourists don't even consider sustainability; they simply don't know enough about it."

• "Awareness campaigns need to be more widespread and targeted."

Tourists perceive sustainable tourism as costly, deterring them from making eco-friendly choices. Managers advocated financial incentives like subsidies to address this.

• "Sustainable tourism is often seen as more expensive, which puts off a lot of tourists."

• "Financial incentives would help balance the perceived cost difference."

Social norms strongly influence tourist behavior, with many opting for unsustainable practices due to peer pressure. Leveraging influencers and social media to normalize sustainable choices was suggested.

• "Social pressure often deters people from choosing sustainable options."

• "If sustainability became trendy, more people would follow."

Lack of emotional investment in sustainability reduces its priority. Emotional storytelling was proposed to foster personal connections.

- "Storytelling can create emotional bonds with destinations and sustainability."
- "Tourists need to feel emotionally invested in their impact."

Tourists often justify unsustainable decisions for convenience, despite guilt. Solutions should balance convenience with eco-friendly options.

- "Tourists feel guilty but still opt for convenience."
- "Cognitive dissonance leads people to justify their unsustainable choices."

Skepticism about greenwashing undermines trust. Managers recommended transparent practices and eco-certifications to validate claims.

• "Transparency and certifications are essential for building trust."

• "Tourists need to trust that sustainable claims are real, not just marketing."





Source: Author's Elaboration

Figure 2 summarizes the psychological barriers to sustainable tourism, categorized into themes: emotional connection, lack of awareness, cost concerns, social norms and peer influence, trust issues, and cognitive dissonance. Managers emphasized strategies to overcome these challenges, such as educational campaigns, financial incentives, emotional storytelling, transparency through certifications, and leveraging social influence. Their responses highlighted the importance of systemic changes to reduce barriers and promote sustainable tourism practices. Key insights from the interviews include:

• "We need more educational campaigns and marketing focused on sustainability."

• "Simplifying access to sustainable options will reduce barriers."

• "Social norms can shift with the right influence from media and marketing."



Figure 3. Key strategies to sustainable tourism

Source: Author's Elaboration

Figure 3 illustrates four key strategies to support sustainable consumer behavior: raising awareness through educational campaigns, simplifying access to sustainable options, reshaping social norms via focused communication, and enhancing trust through transparency. These approaches highlight the roles of managers, influencers, and policymakers in fostering sustainable choices and building consumer confidence.

# 5. Data Interpretation and Discussion

The results of this study largely align with the literature while highlighting nuances in the psychological barriers and solutions to sustainable tourism. Psychological barriers such as lack of awareness, perceived inconvenience, and cost concerns were evident in the data, reflecting similar findings in the literature. For instance, travelers often lack the knowledge or tools to identify eco-friendly accommodations or verify sustainability claims, as noted by Vieira et al. (2023) and Mazhenova et al. (2016). This suggests a significant need for improved communication strategies and visibility of sustainable tourism initiatives, as proposed by Timur and Getz (2009).

The perception that sustainable tourism is costlier aligns with Kholijah (2024) who emphasizes the deterrent effect of financial concerns. However, the results reveal a persistent gap between perceived and actual costs, reinforcing

the need for transparent communication about the long-term benefits of ecofriendly options, such as lower operational costs for green-certified hotels (Fukey and Issac, 2014).

Social norms also play a critical role, as supported by Rahman and Sciara (2022) and Alizadeh (2021). The data shows that peer influence, amplified by social media, can both encourage and discourage sustainable behaviors, depending on the framing of these practices. While campaigns that promote sustainable travel as socially desirable align with Lee et al. (2021), the data indicates that unsustainable behaviors still hold significant status appeal, necessitating stronger efforts to redefine luxury in terms of sustainability.

Trust, eroded by greenwashing, remains a barrier, corroborating Sukla and Krishanappa (2023). The findings support the literature's emphasis on the role of independent certifications (Ahmed et al., 2021; Chi et al., 2022) in building credibility.

While the results confirm much of the existing literature, they underscore the importance of targeted, multifaceted approaches that address psychological barriers, trust, and cost perceptions, ultimately fostering meaningful shifts toward sustainable tourism practices.

# 6. Conclusions, Recommendations and Further Research

This study investigates the psychological barriers to adopting sustainable tourism, identifying limited awareness, perceived high costs, social norms, cognitive dissonance, emotional detachment, and trust deficits as key impediments.

The following table outlines the coding system used for thematic analysis in this study:

Theme	Sub-Themes	Example Codes
Lack of	Knowledge Gap, Role of	"Awareness gap,"
Awareness	Marketing	"Educational campaigns"
Cost Concerns	Perception of High Costs, Financial Incentives	"Short-term vs. long-term costs," "Subsidies needed"
Social Norms and	Following the Norm,	"Social pressure,"
Peer Influence	Role of Social Media	"Sustainability as a trend"

**Table 2.** Coding framework for thematic analysis

Emotional Connection	Storytelling, Personal Engagement	"Emotional appeals," "Humanizing sustainability"
Cognitive Dissonance	Guilt vs. Convenience, Justification of Behavior	"Feeling guilty," "Prioritizing comfort"
Trust Issues	Skepticism, Transparency, Certifications	"Greenwashing concerns," "Eco-certifications"

#### Source: Author's elaboration

These barriers significantly influence tourists' decision-making, often resulting in a preference for conventional travel over sustainable alternatives. Limited awareness and insufficient communication restrict tourists' understanding of environmental impacts and the benefits of sustainable tourism. Perceived high costs, compounded by a lack of financial incentives or cost transparency, further deter eco-friendly decisions. Social norms and peer behaviors rarely prioritize sustainability, while cognitive dissonance and emotional detachment reduce motivation for responsible practices. Trust issues, fueled by skepticism about greenwashing, undermine confidence in sustainable initiatives.



Figure 4: Key Recommendations for the Albanian Context Source: Author`s elaboration

Figure 4 illustrates six key strategies for promoting sustainable tourism: Targeted Education Campaigns to raise awareness, Cost Mitigation to address affordability concerns, Emotional Storytelling for personal engagement, Nudging Through Defaults to make sustainable options convenient, Transparent Certifications to build trust, and Social Norms Influence to leverage peer behaviour and trends.

To address these challenges, stakeholders should implement educational campaigns, provide financial incentives, and promote transparency through certifications. Shifting social norms via influencer engagement and emotional appeals can further encourage sustainable practices.

Future research could focus on demand-side barriers within local contexts, exploring tourist perceptions of sustainability in Albania and evaluating ecofriendly practices, such as solar energy adoption and waste management. A holistic approach integrating awareness, trust, and incentives is crucial for advancing sustainable tourism and safeguarding environmental and cultural heritage.

## References

Adeoye, M. A. (2023). Review of sampling techniques for education. ASEAN Journal for Science Education, 2(2), 87-94.

Ahmed, M. F., Mokhtar, M. B., Lim, C. K., Hooi, A. W. K., and Lee, K. E. (2021). Leadership roles for sustainable development: The case of a Malaysian green hotel. Sustainability, 13(18), 10260.

Alizadeh, A. (2021). Exploring the relationship between sustainable tourism behaviour and psychological well-being in tourism experiences. University of Otago.

Bae, S. Y., and Han, J. H. (2020). Considering cultural consonance in trustworthiness of online hotel reviews among generation Y for sustainable tourism: An extended TAM model. Sustainability, 12(7), 2942.

Bhatnagar, K. (2023). Consumer Perception and Trust in Sustainable Fashion: The role of NGOs and information sources (master's thesis, Handelshøyskolen BI).

Brokaj, R. (2014). Local Governments role in the sustainable tourism development of a destination. European scientific journal, 10(31).

Camaj, K. R. (2024). The Migration of Albanians from Montenegro and Kosovo to the United States: In Search of Home. Taylor & Francis.

Chi, C. G., Chi, O. H., Xu, X., and Kennedy, I. (2022). Narrowing the intention-behavior gap: The impact of hotel green certification. International Journal of Hospitality Management, 103305.

Dashi, K. (2023). Green Finance Development in Albania. EIRP Proceedings, 18(1), 164-171.

Dessai, A. G. (2023). Sustainable tourism. In Environment, resources and sustainable tourism: Goa as a case study (pp. 187-228). Singapore: Springer Nature Singapore.

Dolnicar, S. (2020). Designing for more environmentally friendly tourism. Annals of Tourism Research, 84, 102933.

Edgell Sr, D. L. (2019). Managing sustainable tourism: A legacy for the future. Routledge.

Filimonau, V., Matute, J., Mika, M., & Faracik, R. (2018). National culture as a driver of proenvironmental attitudes and behavioural intentions in tourism. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 26(10), 1804-1825.

Fukey, L. N., and Issac, S. S. (2014). Connect among green, sustainability and hotel industry: a prospective simulation study. Energy conservation, 6(8).

Gonella, J. D. S. L., Godinho Filho, M., Ganga, G. M. D., Latan, H., and Jabbour, C. J. C. (2024). A behavioral perspective on circular economy awareness: The moderating role of social influence and psychological barriers. Journal of Cleaner Production, 441, 141062.

Gordon, J. E. (2018). Geoheritage, geotourism and cultural landscape: Enhancing the visitor experience and promoting geoconservation. Geosciences, 8(4), 136.

Hall, C. M. (2016). Intervening in academic interventions: framing social marketing's potential for successful sustainable tourism behavioural change. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 24(3), 350-375.

Hartman, S., and Sijtsma, F. J. (2018). Sustainable Tourism in the Wadden Sea Region: key mechanisms to overcome barriers to sustainability.

Holmes, M. R., Dodds, R., and Frochot, I. (2021). At home or abroad, does our behavior change? Examining how everyday behavior influences sustainable travel behavior and tourist clusters. Journal of Travel Research, 60(1), 102-116.

Ingrassia, M., Bellia, C., Giurdanella, C., Columba, P., and Chironi, S. (2022). Digital influencers, food and tourism—A new model of open innovation for businesses in the Ho. Re. Ca. sector. Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity, 8(1), 50.

Jakučionytė-Skodienė, M., and Liobikienė, G. (2021). Climate change concern, personal responsibility and actions related to climate change mitigation in EU countries: Cross-cultural analysis. Journal of cleaner production, 281, 125189.

Juvan, E., and Dolnicar, S. (2014). The attitude–behaviour gap in sustainable tourism. Annals of tourism research, 48, 76-95.

Juvan, E., Ring, A., Leisch, F., and Dolnicar, S. (2016). Tourist segments' justifications for behaving in an environmentally unsustainable way. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 24(11), 1506-1522.

Khan, A. N. (2024). Elucidating the effects of environmental consciousness and environmental attitude on green travel: behaviour. Moderating role of green self-efficacy. Sustainable Development, 32(3), 2223-2232.

Kholijah, S. (2024). Analysis of Economic and Environmental Benefits of Green Business Practices in the Hospitality and Tourism Sector. Involvement International Journal of Business, 1(1), 60-74.

Lee, C. K., Olya, H., Ahmad, M. S., Kim, K. H., and Oh, M. J. (2021). Sustainable intelligence, destination social responsibility, and pro-environmental behaviour of visitors: Evidence from an eco-tourism site. Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management, 47, 365-376.

Leonidou, L. C., Coudounaris, D. N., Kvasova, O., and Christodoulides, P. (2015). Drivers and outcomes of green tourist attitudes and behavior: Sociodemographic moderating effects. Psychology and Marketing, 32(6), 635-650.

Lin, H. H., Hsu, I. C., Lin, T. Y., Tung, L. M., and Ling, Y. (2022). After the epidemic, is the smart traffic management system a key factor in creating a green leisure and tourism environment in the move towards sustainable urban development? Sustainability, 14(7), 3762.

Liu, X., Mehraliyev, F., Liu, C., and Schuckert, M. (2020). The roles of social media in tourists' choices of travel components. Tourist studies, 20(1), 27-48.

Maibach, E. W., Roser-Renouf, C., and Leiserowitz, A. (2008). Communication and marketing as climate change–intervention assets: A public health perspective. American journal of preventive medicine, 35(5), 488-500.

Mamula Nikolić, T., Pantić, S. P., Paunović, I., and Filipović, S. (2021). Sustainable travel decision-making of Europeans: Insights from a household survey. Sustainability, 13(4), 1960.

Mazhenova, S., Choi, J. G., and Chung, J. (2016). International tourists' awareness and attitude about environmental responsibility and sustainable practices. Global Business and Finance Review (GBFR), 21(2), 132-146.

Munar, A. M., and Jacobsen, J. K. S. (2014). Motivations for sharing tourism experiences through social media. Tourism management, 43, 46-54.

Munro, P., Kapitan, S., and Wooliscroft, B. (2023). The sustainable attitude-behavior gap dynamic when shopping at the supermarket: A systematic literature review and framework for future research. Journal of Cleaner Production, 138740.

Pan, S. Y., Gao, M., Kim, H., Shah, K. J., Pei, S. L., and Chiang, P. C. (2018). Advances and challenges in sustainable tourism toward a green economy. Science of the total environment, 635, 452-469.

Pongiglione, F. (2014). Motivation for adopting pro-environmental behaviors: the role of social context. Ethics, Policy and Environment, 17(3), 308-323.

Rahman, M., and Sciara, G. C. (2022). Travel attitudes, the built environment and travel behavior relationships: Causal insights from social psychology theories. Transport policy, 123, 44-54.

Raj, I. A. E. A. (2024). Tourism towards Sustainability and Innovation, Post COVID-19: A Literature Review. International Journal of Advanced Scientific Multidisciplinary Research, 1(2), 50-77.

Richards, M., Zellweger, T., and Gond, J. P. (2017). Maintaining moral legitimacy through worlds and words: An explanation of firms' investment in sustainability certification. Journal of Management Studies, 54(5), 676-710.

Rutecka, P., Cicha, K., Rizun, M., & Strzelecki, A. (2023). Polish tourist facilities' engagement in the communication of the low-emission activities and sustainable development. Environment, Development and Sustainability, 1-27.

Salinero, Y., Prayag, G., Gómez-Rico, M., and Molina-Collado, A. (2022). Generation Z and pro-sustainable tourism behaviors: Internal and external drivers. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 1-20.

Sigurdsson, V., Larsen, N. M., Folwarczny, M., Fagerstrøm, A., Menon, R. V., and Sigurdardottir, F. T. (2023). The importance of relative customer-based label equity when signaling sustainability and health with certifications and tags. Journal of Business Research, 154, 113338.

Smith, C. J. (2023). Greening the Getaway: Designing a Luxury Resort for the Eco-Conscious Traveler (master's thesis, University of Maryland, College Park).

Song, H., Zhu, C., & Fong, L. H. N. (2021). Exploring residents' perceptions and attitudes towards sustainable tourism development in traditional villages: The lens of stakeholder theory. Sustainability, 13(23), 13032.

Sparkman, G., Howe, L., & Walton, G. (2021). How social norms are often a barrier to addressing climate change but can be part of the solution. Behavioural public policy, 5(4), 528-555.

Streimikiene, D., Svagzdiene, B., Jasinskas, E., and Simanavicius, A. (2021). Sustainable tourism development and competitiveness: The systematic literature review. Sustainable development, 29(1), 259-271.

Sukla, B., and Krishanappa, R. (2023). Demystify the Phenomenon of Greenwashing by Unveiling the Truth Behind Eco-Friendly Claims in the Marketplace. AAYAM: AKGIM Journal of Management, 13(2).

Timur, S., and Getz, D. (2009). Sustainable tourism development: How do destination stakeholders perceive sustainable urban tourism? Sustainable Development, 17(4), 220-232.

Van Trijp, H. C. (2013). Encouraging sustainable behavior: Psychology and the environment. Psychology Press.

Vieira, J., Castro, S. L., and Souza, A. S. (2023). Psychological barriers moderate the attitudebehavior gap for climate change. Plos one, 18(7), e0287404.

Wang, X., Han, G., Wang, Y., and Zheng, J. (2024). More than words: Do personality, emotion, and lifestyle matter on the wine tourism? International Journal of Tourism Research, 26(4), e2667.

Willard, B. (2012). The new sustainability advantage: seven business case benefits of a triple bottom line. New Society Publishers.

Worakittikul, W., Saenwerm, C., and Naruetharadhol, P. (2024). Unlocking the secrets of green semiotics: The revolutionary power of eco-symbols in transforming consumer perceptions and catalyzing behavioral shifts in emerging markets. PloS one, 19(9), e0310963.

Xhafaj, K., & Vlachos, P. (2022). 5 Planning and Development of. Tourism Planning and Development in Eastern Europe, 64.

Yildiz, H., Tahali, S., and Trichina, E. (2024). The adoption of the green label by SMEs in the hotel sector: a leverage for reassuring their customers. Journal of Enterprise Information Management, 37(5), 1627-1657.

Question	Manager 1	Manager 2	Manager 3	Manager 4	Manager 5
1. What do you think are the main psychological barriers to sustainable tourism?	Lack of awareness, perceived inconvenie nce	Cognitive dissonance, cost concerns	Social norms, lack of awareness	Perception of inconvenienc e and higher costs	Limited emotional connection, lack of information
2. How do cost concerns influence tourists' decision to choose sustainable options?	Sustainable tourism is often seen as more expensive	Tourists hesitate due to upfront costs	High costs deter budget travelers	Short-term cost outweighs long-term benefits for most tourists	Cost perception is a big barrier, especially for families
3. Do you believe lack of awareness is a major issue in promoting sustainable tourism?	Yes, it's a significant issue	Absolutely, many tourists don't know the impact of their actions	Yes, most tourists don't even consider sustainabilit y	Lack of education and marketing around sustainable options	Yes, the gap in knowledge leads to unsustainab le decisions
4. How do social norms and peer influence affect sustainable tourism choices?	Travelers follow what their peers do	Peer influence is strong, especially on social media	Social pressure often deters people from choosing sustainable options	Most tourists follow mainstream practices	Social influence plays a huge role in travel decisions

ANNEX 1: Main psychological barriers to sustainable tourism
5. How can emotional appeals help promote sustainable tourism?	Personal stories about conservatio n work well	Storytelling can create emotional bonds with destinations	Emotional connection to nature could drive better choices	Emotional appeals can inspire action	Storytelling about the environmen t is very effective
6. What are some strategies you recommend to increase awareness about sustainable tourism?	More educational campaigns	Collaborate with influencers and use digital marketing	Create awareness through social media campaigns	Use media to highlight the importance of sustainability	Partner with schools and universities to educate future travelers
7. How can trust in sustainable tourism claims be improved?	Transparen cy, certificatio ns	More third- party verifications	Clear, easy- to- understand certification programs	Provide verifiable data about sustainability	Transparen cy is key, tourists need to trust the claims
8. Do you think cognitive dissonance affects tourists' decisions regarding sustainability ?	Yes, people justify unsustainab le choices	Tourists often ignore the impact to enjoy their vacations	People feel guilt but still opt for convenienc e	Many travelers justify their unsustainable behavior	Tourists minimize their role in contributin g to environmen tal damage
9. How can we address these psychological barriers in the industry?	Simplify access to sustainable options, raise awareness	Education, incentives, and emotional marketing	Make sustainable options more attractive and affordable	Change perceptions through awareness campaigns	Make sustainabili ty convenient and cost- effective

Question	Manager 6	Manager 7	Manager 8	Manager 9	Manager 10
1. What do you think are the main psychological barriers to sustainable tourism?	Trust issues, skepticism towards sustainability claims	Awareness gaps, time constraints in planning	Social norms, peer influence	Cognitive dissonance, emotional detachment	Cost concerns, lack of government incentives
2. How do cost concerns influence tourists' decision to choose sustainable options?	Sustainable choices are not always budget- friendly	Many tourists believe it's too expensive to go green	It's about value for money – tourists prefer cheaper options	Costs create a barrier even though long- term savings exist	Tourists are often unaware of financial benefits in the long run
3. Do you believe lack of awareness is a major issue in promoting sustainable tourism?	Awareness needs to be raised through marketing and education	Yes, awareness campaigns should be more widespread	Awareness is key but not enough to change behavior	Yes, lack of awareness limits sustainable choice	Definitely, most consumers don't understand sustainability fully
4. How do social norms and peer influence affect sustainable tourism choices?	Social norms hinder sustainable choices unless supported by influencers	Peer influence can promote sustainability if used correctly	Social media amplifies trends but rarely sustainability	If sustainable tourism became trendy, more people would follow	Peer influence is important – travelers mimic friends' behaviors
5. How can emotional appeals help promote sustainable tourism?	Tourists need to feel emotionally invested in their impact	Emotional connection is essential to motivate sustainable choices	Storytelling makes sustainability personal and relatable	Emotional marketing can definitely motivate more responsible tourism	Tourists need an emotional reason to choose sustainability
6. What are some strategies you recommend to increase awareness about sustainable tourism?	Sustainable travel fairs and workshops can raise awareness	Targeted marketing and eco- certifications	Collaborate with governments to push sustainability education	More media coverage, especially documentaries	Incentivize eco-friendly choices and provide clear information

7. How can	Collaborate	Eco-	Transparency	More regulation	Sustainable
trust in	with	certifications	in	and oversight of	tourism
sustainable	reputable	are essential	communication	green claims	needs
tourism	organizations	for building	and honest		verified
claims be	to certify	trust	claims		certifications
improved?	businesses				
8. Do you	Absolutely,	Yes, tourists	Cognitive	Tourists often	Cognitive
think	many feel	justify	dissonance	make excuses to	dissonance is
cognitive	bad but go	unsustainable	leads to	justify	common,
dissonance	for comfort	choices to	justification of	unsustainable	especially
affects	anyway	avoid guilt	poor choices	behavior	for frequent
tourists'		-	-		travelers
decisions					
regarding					
sustainability?					
9. How can we	Focus on	Provide	Education,	Clear	More
address these	storytelling,	incentives for	transparency,	communication,	education
<b>psychological</b> transparency,		choosing	and clear	incentives, and	and
barriers in the and		sustainable	rewards for	easy access to	marketing,
industry?	affordability	options	sustainable	information	making
			choices		sustainability
					the default

Source: Author's elaboration

#### Condition of Motor Vehicles Fleet in Canton Sarajevo and the Necessary Measures for Approaching the EU Green Deal and its Impact on Air Quality

Mustafic IBRAHIM<sup>1</sup>, Selimic MIRZO<sup>2</sup>, Sakic MARIO<sup>3</sup>

#### Abstract

Environmental pollution is a side effect of the economic development of human civilization and the pursuit of higher profits in every type of economic branch. In this paper, the pollution of the environment by motor vehicles that are in traffic in the area of Canton Sarajevo in Bosnia and Herzegovina (B&H) is subject. In addition to motor vehicles, the geographical location of the city of Sarajevo, located in the Sarajevo basin, surrounded by high mountains, contributes to poor air quality, especially in autumn and winter. The structure of motor vehicles in the Sarajevo Canton is such that one patrol engine comes for three diesel engines, which are known to produce soot particles, especially as the age of the vehicle increases. The average age of the complete fleet in Sarajevo Canton is about 15 years. The EU Geen Deal is a document by which the European Union set a framework in 2019 to systematically oppose the increase in environmental pollution, especially  $CO_2$  emissions. Bosnia and Herzegovina should use IPA funds to act in the direction of the EU Green Deal and provide its citizens with a healthy environment.

**Keywords:** *EU Green Deal, Canton Sarajevo, motor vehicles.* 

**Jel code:** I19; R40; R50

## 1. Introduction

Sarajevo city is situated in Canton Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina and it is many times most-polluted city in the world.<sup>4</sup> In this paper, the pollution of the environment by motor vehicles that are in traffic in the area mostly in Sarajevo city is subject.

With the constant development of human civilization, man constantly wants to achieve faster, better and greater results, that is from an economic point of view, he wants to make a bigger profit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Centar za cestovni promet d.o.o. Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina, sarajevograd11@gmail.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> College "Center for Business Studies" in Kiseljak, Bosnia and Herzegovina, mirzo.s@hotmail.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Atest centar d.o.o. Grude, Bosnia and Herzegovina, mr.sakic@gmail.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> https://www.euronews.com/my-europe/2024/12/20/sarajevo-third-most-polluted-city- inthe-world-as-air-quality-index-hits-225

In this effort, as a by-product, a large amount of pollution of the environment appeared due to the increase of greenhouse gases (CO<sub>2</sub>), which result in a global increase in the temperature of the earth's surface. This increase in the temperature of the earth's surface leads to a faster melting of the ice at the earth's poles, which further causes an increase in the level of the oceans and seas (CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance standards for cars and vans, 2023).

Considering that a large number of the human population around the world lives on the coasts of oceans and seas, this already reduces the living space of some island countries in the Pacific Ocean.

It is necessary to emphasize that the topic of environmental protection is not just a story that some politicians would gain more votes in the elections, but it is a topic around which the entire life of a person needs to be coordinated.

A modest life is the solution to the possibility of the continuation of the human population, and it primarily includes a place to live, clothing, food and a type of transportation.

Technological development has led to the production of an increasing number of motor vehicles, first of all, which during exploitation contribute to environmental pollution. In Europe, as early as 1992, the introduction of norms that will limit the level of pollution that a motor vehicle may emit into the atmosphere began.

The course of the introduction of Euro norms from 1992 until today is as follows (European emission standards, 2024):

- Euro 1 (1992) for passenger cars and light trucks (vans),
- Euro 2 (1996) for passenger cars and motorcycles,
- Euro 3 (2000) for any motor vehicle,
- Euro 4 (2005) for any motor vehicle,
- Euro 5 (2009) for passenger cars and commercial vehicles,
- Euro 6 (2014) for passenger cars and commercial vehicles,
- Euro 7 (2030 to 2031) the current plan for the introduction of the Euro 7 standard.

The introduction of euro standards alone did not solve the problem of increasing environmental pollution, so the European Union on 11.12.2019. published a document entitled: The European Green Deal (European Commission, 2019). This document aims to protect, preserve and enhance the EU's natural resources and to protect the health and well-being of citizens from risks and impacts related to the environment. It further set a very ambitious plan to achieve zero  $CO_2$  emissions in the economy by 2050.

Additional reduction of polluting emissions is a challenge, because the current

limit values in the Euro 6 norm are "practically zero" (Figure 1.) (European emission standards, 2024).





Source: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/European\_emission\_standards

Figure 1. Euro car standards for petrol and diesel engines

EU directive no. 443/2009 from 2009 set a 2015 target of 130 g/km  $CO_2$  for the fleet average for new passenger cars (Figure 2.). This EU directive set out regulations for light commercial vehicles in 2011, with an emissions target of 175 g/km for 2017. Both targets were met several years earlier than planned. The second set of regulations, passed in 2014, set a target for the average  $CO_2$ 

emissions of new cars to fall to 95 g/km by 2021, and for light commercial vehicles to 147 g/km by 2020. In April 2019, Regulation (EU) 2019/631<sup>5</sup> was adopted, which introduced CO<sub>2</sub> emission standards for new passenger cars and new light commercial vehicles for 2025 and 2030. The new Regulation entered into force on January 1, 2020. and replaced and repealed Regulation (EC) 443/2009 and (EU) no. 510/2011. The 2019 regulation set new emission targets compared to the initial value for 2021, with a reduction in average CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from new cars by 15% in 2025 and by 37.5% in 2030. For light commercial vehicles, the new targets are to be reduced by 15% for 2025 and a reduction of 31% for 2030 (European emission standards, 2024).



Source: OFV (Oppysningsradet for Veitrafikken AS)

Figure 2. EU target values from 2015 to 2030 and historical trend of average annual CO<sub>2</sub> emissions for passenger cars in Norway for the period 2011-2019.

The price of transport must reflect its impact on the environment and health. Subsidies for fossil fuels would end and, in the context of the revision of the Energy Taxation Directive<sup>6</sup>, the European Commission will seriously consider the current tax exemptions, including aviation and marine fuels, and amend the legislation accordingly.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A02019R0631-20231203 <sup>6</sup> https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal.content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A02019R0631-20231203

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A32003L0096

# 1.1. European Green deal and EU support to meet its targets

The EU is aware that the problem of environmental pollution with emissions of exhaust gases is of a global nature, and the adoption of the EU Green Deal document is one of a series of incentives for other regions in the world to do something similar.

The European Green Deal includes the European Climate Law, the European Climate Pact and a new global strategy in international relations. In addition, it is divided into eight policy areas.

Those eight policy areas are (European Commission, 2019):

- 1. Increasing the EU's climate ambition for 2030 and 2050.
- 2. Supplying clean, affordable and secure energy.
- 3. Mobilising industry for a clean and circular economy.
- 4. Building and renovating in an energy and resource efficient way.
- 5. Accelerating the shift to sustainable and smart mobility.
- 6. From 'Farm to Fork': designing a fair, healthy and environmentallyfriendly food system.
- 7. Preserving and restoring ecosystems and biodiversity.
- 8. A zero pollution ambition for a toxic-free environment.

With the new CO<sub>2</sub> standards, all new cars and light trucks registered in Europe by 2035 will have low emissions. As an intermediate step towards zero emissions, the average emissions of new cars will have to be reduced by 55% by 2030, and of new vans by 50% by 2030. This will put road transport on a firm path towards emission-free mobility in 2050 (European Commission, Climate action, 2024).

The EU is working to create the infrastructure that citizens will need to charge zero-emission vehicles for short and long trips. The targets will be mandatory for the installation of electricity and hydrogen charging infrastructure along European roads. Sufficient public charging capacity will be established to meet the demands of the larger fleet of zero-emission cars coming onto the market, as well as a further supply of private chargers at home or at work. In addition, from 2027, road transport will be covered by charging for environmental pollution from motor vehicles, encouraging the use of cleaner fuels and reinvesting in clean technologies (THE EUROPEAN GREEN DEAL, Constanze Fetting, ESDN Office (2020).

Every country in Europe, whether it is a member of the EU or not, and Bosnia and Herzegovina aspire to one day be part of it, should work on the aforementioned eight policy areas, in order to provide the entire population with better living conditions.

Although the previously mentioned eight policy areas are interconnected and

interwoven, this paper will analyze that listed under number: 5. Accelerating the transition to sustainable and smart mobility in Sarajevo Canton.

There is a direct relationship between the number of inhabitants in some regions, the number of motor vehicles, and the increase in air pollution in that region. All of the data presented above indicate necessity that large public investments by the authorities and increased efforts to animate and involve private capital towards climate and environmental activities will be needed in the future to raise EV vehicles in public use. The main reason for that is huge amount of money and time needed to be done.

The Instrument for Pre-Accession Assistance (IPA) is the main financial instrument of the European Union for providing assistance to the beneficiary countries in gradual alignment with EU standards and policies, including the acquis, with the aim of membership in the European Union. IPA represents comprehensive support for the process of European integration, through financial, technical and expert support for reforms.<sup>7</sup>

In order to support potential candidate countries, in 2006 the European Union combined all previous forms of support for candidate countries (CARDS, SAPARD, ISPA, PHARE, instrument for Turkey) into one - Instrument for Pre-Accession Assistance.

IPA funds are intended primarily for institutions in order to undertake obligations and are also available to other users (non-governmental organizations, the business community, border regions, local self-government units, agricultural holdings and other persons and companies).

IPA III is the third generation of the European Union's pre-accession aid instrument for the countries of the Western Balkans and Turkey. With a budget of 14.2 billion euros in the seven-year period 2021-2027, the European Union through this instrument continues to financially support legal, economic and social reforms in candidate and potential candidate countries, enabling them to meet the criteria for EU membership. (Instrument for Pre-Accession Assistance (IPA) (2024))

## 2. Methodology

The aim of this paper is to stimulate thinking in the field of traffic and on the topic of improving air quality in the Sarajevo Canton, B&H. With the same aim, but in a different area, last year, the ENOVA<sup>8</sup> – Bosnia and Herzegovina organization, within the framework of the Replace project (Keeping the heat on in times of crisis, 2023, Promoting renewable heating in South Eastern

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> https://www.dei.gov.ba/hr/instrument-pretpristupne-pomoci

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> https://www.enova.ba/

Europe - Best of BiH, 2023<sup>9</sup>), published the results of how the population of the Sarajevo Canton heats their homes during the winter. The results of this project showed that coal combustion is primary in this process, which consequently leads to an increase in air pollution in this area. Knowing the situation with increased air pollution in the Sarajevo Canton in the winter, this paper will present the number of motor vehicles by type of engine, type of fuel that powers these motor vehicles, as well as the Euro standards of these engines. The data shown here are publicly available on the website of the Agency for Identification Documents, Records and Data Exchange of Bosnia and Herzegovina (IDDEEA)<sup>10</sup>, which are used as the basis for the analysis presented in this paper.

This IDDEEA agency keeps a central record of all registered vehicles throughout Bosnia and Herzegovina, according to many different parameters, and this paper examines the parameters of vehicle type, engine type, fuel type and Euro standards for internal combustion engines. Recognizing the problem of increased air pollution at the European Union, the European Green Deal was approved in 2020 and represents a set of political initiatives of the European Commission with the aim of the European Union becoming climate neutral by 2050. This agreement lists several directions that need to be worked on at the level of each country in order to meet the set goals, which contribute, among other things, to better air quality for its citizens.

Considering that Bosnia and Herzegovina do not produce motor vehicles and electric vehicles, the import of vehicles from other countries is inevitable, and each individual need to invest large amount of money in order to import electric vehicles that have zero air pollution. Therefore, the state authorities should identify a way to stimulate the purchase, i.e., import of electric vehicles. The author's wish is that this paper encourages a young politician to help in new laws or entrepreneurs in B&H to make a contribution, in reducing the number of gasoline or diesel motor vehicles and increase the number of electric vehicles.

## 3. Results and discussion

Canton Sarajevo, next to Tuzla Canton, is the area with the largest number of registered vehicles in our country, and therefore motor vehicles, are shown in Table 1. In addition, Canton Sarajevo is home to the seat of the state and federal government, a large number of ministries and a large number of companies whose workers with a place of residence outside this canton.

This has the consequence that all these workers come to this canton on a daily

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lCyYHKsWaWE

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> https://www.iddeea.gov.ba/

basis by motor vehicles, which anyway the large number of motor vehicles registered in this canton significantly affects the increase in environmental pollution, with higher emissions of CO<sub>2</sub> greenhouse gases.

In addition to the motor vehicles listed in Table 1, there is also a smaller number of motor vehicles of the L (motorcycles) and T (wheeled tractors) category and work machines, but these vehicles are exempt from the process of checking exhaust gas emissions at the technical inspection in B&H according to Article 158 of the Ordinance on dimensions, total mass and axle load of vehicles, on devices and equipment that vehicles must have and on the basic conditions that must be met by devices and equipment in road traffic (Official Gazette of BiH, number 23/07, 54/ 07, 101/12, 26/19 and 83/20).

 
 Table 1. Number of motor vehicles registered in Canton Sarajevo in 2023 for which exhaust gas emissions are checked before vehicle registration <sup>11</sup>

	-						
YEAR 2023	M1	M2	M3	N1	N2	N3	TOTALY
January	9187	1	6	591	67	95	9947
February	10180	5	42	577	86	130	11020
Mart	12847	4	21	664	104	183	13823
April	12942	3	13	587	98	169	13812
Maj	15074	2	39	654	106	174	16049
June	15528	2	65	608	110	155	16468
July	15789	2	50	637	125	173	16776
August	13449	6	66	608	102	166	14397
September	12139	6	39	639	94	142	13059
Oktober	12915	5	32	650	85	172	13859
November	11653	3	45	687	102	99	12589
December	10741	1	13	725	76	90	11646
TOTALY	152444	40	431	7627	1155	1748	163445

Column's M1, M2, M3, N1, N2 and N3 in Table 1. represents vehicle category according to Consolidated Resolution on the Construction of Vehicles  $(R.E.3)^{12}$ :

- "Category M1": Vehicles used for the carriage of passengers and comprising not more than eight seats in addition to the driver's seat.
- "Category M2": Vehicles used for the carriage of passengers, comprising more than eight seats in addition to the driver's seat, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> https://www.iddeea.gov.ba/bs/bilteni/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> World Forum for Harmonization of Vehicle Regulations, Consolidated Resolution on the Construction of Vehicles (R.E.3), ECE/TRANS/WP.29/78/Rev.7

having a maximum mass not exceeding 5,000 kg.

- "Category M3": Vehicles used for the carriage of passengers, comprising more than eight seats in addition to the driver's seat, and having a maximum mass exceeding 5,000 kg.
- "Category N1": Vehicles used for the carriage of goods and having a maximum mass not exceeding 3,500 kg.
- "Category N2": Vehicles used for the carriage of goods and having a maximum mass exceeding 3,500 kg but not exceeding 12,000 kg.
- "Category N3": Vehicles used for the carriage of goods and having a maximum mass exceeding 12,000 kg.

The average age of all motor vehicles listed in Table 1. is about 15 years, and if we also take into account the vehicles transiting this area from other cantons, the small area, i.e., the weak road network on which these motor vehicles move through the Sarajevo basin and when you add to that the geographical arrangement of the high mountains that surround the city itself, the situation is reached years ago that the air in autumn and winter is of very poor quality for human life.

Based on the available data for passenger motor vehicles, which are the most numerous according to Table 1., the following is the schedule of euro standards from EURO 3 to EURO 6:

- EURO 3 27847,
- EURO 4 39606,
- EURO 5–41470,
- EURO 6 31210.

The fact that the majority of vehicles are EURO 5 coincides with the fact that the average age of the fleet is about 15 years. The rest of the passenger vehicles, about 23,000 of them, are below the EURO 3 standard.

The energy source, i.e., the fuel that drives the motor vehicles listed in Table 1, is shown in Table 2.

ENERGY	Value	%
Petrol:	36458	22,3 %
Petrol / LPG:	4826	3 %
Petrol / CNG:	101	0,06 %
Petrol / Electric:	1042	0,64 %
Petrol / Electric / LPG:	1	0,0006 %
CNG:	49	0,03 %
LPG:	19	0,01 %
Diesel:	120518	73,74 %

**Table 2.** Energy that drives motor vehicles in Canton Sarajevo in 2023

ENERGY	Value	%
Diesel / CNG:	3	0,0018 %
Diesel / Electric:	208	0,13 %
Biodiesel:	4	0,0024 %
Electric drive:	185	0,11 %

As can be seen from Table 2., the largest number of motor vehicles are powered by diesel and petrol, i.e., 96% of motor vehicles, in a ratio of 3.3:1 in favour of diesel engines.

So only 4% are energy sources that emit less environmental pollution. Of that 4%, only 0.11% are purely electric vehicles, which have zero emissions of CO<sub>2</sub> greenhouse gases.

This data points to the fact that the state and federal authorities need to increase funds to stimulate companies and persons to purchase electric vehicles (EV) and plug-in hybrid-electric vehicles (PHEV), and on the other hand, it is also necessary to increase the infrastructure of number of public chargers for such vehicles.

Another way for the government to be actively involved in increasing the number of EV and PHEV vehicles on the roads throughout in B&H is to exempt such vehicles from customs duties and taxes, and to have certain benefits when registering these vehicles.

Given that everything about these EV and PHEV vehicles is high-priced, it is necessary to ease the procedures and lower the price of permits that legal or natural persons have when opening a filling station for these vehicles in our country.

# 4. Conclusion

The area of the Canton Sarajevo, more specifically the city of Sarajevo, has for several decades had an increased emission of polluting substances into the environment, especially in the autumn and winter period.

In addition to motor vehicles powered by internal combustion engines, which in their operation produce exhaust gas emissions, i.e., in addition to  $CO_2$ emissions, there is also a significant emission of solid particles (soot) that also comes from solid energies (wood, coal) combustion plants of legal and natural persons who use them to heat business or residential buildings.

The ratio of motor vehicles of 3.3:1, diesel to gasoline engines, unfortunately supports this negative emission of environmental pollution, as well as the fact that the largest number of motor vehicles are powered by diesel and gasoline, i.e., 96% of motor vehicles.

The rest of only 4% is made up of energy sources that emit less environmental pollution, and of that 4%, only 0.11% is made up of purely electric vehicles, which have zero emissions of CO<sub>2</sub> greenhouse gases.

In addition, the geographical position of the Sarajevo basin, surrounded by high mountains, negatively affects the emission of exhaust gases in this way, which prevents the good circulation of air currents that would "clean" the air in this area.

Given that mountains cannot be moved, and the construction of large tunnels through them would be futuristic, what should be done to reduce emissions of polluting components into the atmosphere from motor vehicles in the Canton Sarajevo area is:

- exemption from customs duty or tax, or abolish both when importing EV and PHEV vehicles,
- reduce certain payments when registering EV and PHEV vehicles,
- it is necessary to facilitate procedures and lower the price of permits that persons and companies have when opening a charging station for EV and PHEV vehicles in our country.

The funds that the federal authorities have so far provided as incentives to persons and companies for the purchase of electric vehicles (EV) and plug-in hybrid-electric vehicles (PHEV) are too small to significantly contribute to the reduction of environmental pollution by motor vehicles.

## References

Wikipedia (2024). European emission standards. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/European \_emission\_standards

IDDEEA (2024). Bilteni. https://www.iddeea.gov.ba/bs/bilteni/

European union (2024). CO<sub>2</sub> emission performance standards for cars and vans. https://climate.ec.europa.eu/eu-action/transport/road-transport-reducing-co2-emissions-vehicles/co2-emission-performance-standards-cars-and-vans\_en

European Commission (2019) The European Green Deal. COM (2019) 640 final. 11 December 2019, Brussels. https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/european-green-deal-communication\_en.pdf

Fetting, C. (2020). The European Green Deal, ESDN Report, December 2020, ESDN Office, Vienna. https://www.esdn.eu/fileadmin/ESDN\_Reports/ESDN\_Report\_2\_2020.p df

European union (2003). Council Directive 2003/96/EC of 27 October 2003. Official Journal of the European Union, L 283. Eur-lex. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/? uri=celex%3A32003L0096

European union (2023). Regulation (EU) 2023/1804 of The European Parliament And Council of September 13, 2023 on the introduction of infrastructure for alternative fuels and the repeal of Directive 2014/94/EU. Eur-lex. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/en/TXT/?uri=CELEX% 3A32023R1804

European union (2019). Regulation (EU) 2019/631 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 April 2019 setting CO2 emission performance standards for new passenger cars and for new light commercial vehicles, and repealing Regulations (EC) No 443/2009 and (EU) No 510/2011. Eur-lex. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri= CELEX% 3A02019R0631

Directorate for European Integration (2024). Instrument for Pre-Accession Assistance (IPA). https://www.dei.gov.ba/hr/instrument-pretpristupne-pomoci

REPLACE (2015). Keeping the heat on in times of crisis – REPLACE Results Report, www.replace-project.eu

Euronews.Com (2024). Bosnia's Sarajevo third most-polluted city in the world as air quality index hits 225. https://www.euronews.com/my-europe/2024/12/20/sarajevo-third-most-polluted-city-in-the-world-as-air-quality-index-hits-225

#### Green Practices in the Business Sector in Montenegro

Snežana RUTEŠIĆ<sup>1</sup>, Željka BELJKAŠ<sup>2</sup>, Miloš KNEŽEVIĆ<sup>3</sup>

#### Abstract

Achieving sustainable development goals outlined in Agenda 2030 necessitates the active involvement of all societal sectors, including businesses. As part of the IFUTURE project, this study examines the state of green business practices in Montenegro, focusing on measures adopted by companies. their management's awareness and attitudes towards sustainability, and the challenges encountered in transitioning to environmentally responsible operations. Data were collected via a survey targeting businesses of various sizes and sectors, analyzing their engagement with practices such as waste reduction, energy efficiency, and pollution control. Results highlight a disparity in the implementation of green practices between large corporations and smaller enterprises, emphasizing the role of financial and institutional support in fostering sustainability. Recommendations are provided for enhancing awareness, education, and policy incentives to accelerate the adoption of green practices within Montenegro's business sector.

**Keywords:** *Sustainable development, green practices* 

**Jel code:** Q01, Q56

#### 1. Introduction

Sustainable development has become an omnipresent and crucial theme in recent decades, aligning economic and social progress with environmental preservation (Wellington, Silva, & Rodrigues, 2020). Since the introduction of the concept of sustainable development as "development that meets the needs of the present generation without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (Brundtland, 1987), numerous international organizations at key global events discussed and developed key policies and goals in these areas, such as UN Agenda 21 (1992), Kyoto Protocol (1997), UN Millennium Development Goals (2000), UN Agenda 2030 (2015), The Paris Agreement (2016) and Sofia Declaration (2018). Achieving the sustainable development goals outlined in Agenda 2030

Achieving the sustainable development goals outlined in Agenda 2030 requires a collective effort from all sectors of society, including the private sector (Ehritt, 2024), which should broaden its business focus to include

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> University of Montenegro, Faculty of Civil Engineering, snezanar@ucg.ac.me

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> University of Montenegro, Faculty of Civil Engineering, zeljkab@ucg.ac.me

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> University of Montenegro, Faculty of Civil Engineering, milosk@ucg.ac.me

sustainable practices through an Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) strategy (Todos, 2023).

Implementing green practices is increasingly recognized as a vital component of sustainable development (Oludele & Obatunde, 2018). Green business practices refer to environmentally friendly activities undertaken by companies to promote sustainability and mitigate environmental harm. These efforts focus on minimizing environmental harm through actions such as waste reduction, environmental protection, responsible resource use, and fostering ethical environmental behaviors (Ahmad, 2016). Adopting green practices is a process that offers businesses numerous ways to operate more sustainably. This requires not only appropriate public policies and a supportive environment that fosters business sector initiatives but also the active engagement of the economy and cooperation with other stakeholders, particularly in raising awareness about the importance of sustainable development.

Montenegro has established an adequate institutional framework for sustainable development, but the implementation of sustainable practices at the company level and the transition to green practices are progressing slowly (Lojpur et al., 2023). Therefore, the research aims to identify the environmental practices adopted by companies operating in Montenegro and to explore the awareness, knowledge, and attitudes of their management regarding the importance and implementation of these practices. By analyzing the data collected, the research seeks to provide insights into the current state of green business practices among Montenegrin companies and to identify potential challenges and opportunities for further advancement in this field.

## 2. Literature review

Numerous practices can be followed by business organizations to become green and sustainable. An environmentally conscious business should participate at least in any of 4 of 5R's that is Refuse, Reduce, Reuse, Recycle/Reuse, and Repurpose. Each of these "R" can be achieved through various practices (Čekanavičius, Bazytė, & Dičmonaitė, 2014).

The classification and systematization of green business practices derive from multiple sources reflecting best practices and widely accepted frameworks in sustainability, corporate responsibility, and environmental management (ISO, 2015), (Moratis, Melissen, & Idowu, 2018), (Lacy et al., 2020).

The adoption of green practices by companies has a multifaceted impact on business performance, enhancing competitiveness (Alkhodary, 2023), economic outcomes (Omowole et al., 2024), (Dela Cruz & Hariharan, 2022), brand image and stakeholder relationships (Rani & Purohit, 2024).

However, adopting green practices across various sectors also presents significant challenges, including financial and technological barriers as well

as cultural and regulatory obstacles (Ali et al., 2023).

The progress of the Western Balkans countries in this area is rather slow, despite the aspiration of these countries to become members of the European Union is a significant incentive (EBRD, 2021), (OECD, 2022). In Montenegro, various projects have been implemented recently to raise awareness in the business sector, especially among small and medium-sized enterprises, about concepts such as the green economy, circular economy, sustainable consumption and production, and the costs and financing of the green economy (UNDP & Institute for Strategic Studies and Prognoses, 2021, as cited in Ministry of Economic Development and Tourism of Montenegro, 2022).

# 3. Methodology

This study employs primary data to answer the research questions. A survey was designed targeting representatives from companies located in Montenegro. The companies ranged in size from micro to large. The questionnaire consisted of 25 close-ended questions. We first collected basic information about the business (size, sector, years in operation, location, and so on) and then asked specific questions to address specific drivers. The responses were measured on a four-point Likert scale (always / frequently / sometimes / never), with an 'I don't know', and 'Not applicable' option. Finally, we sought the respondent's opinions about the importance of different green business practices. Their opinions were also measured on a four-point Likert scale (unimportant / slightly important / somewhat important / very important), with an 'I don't know' option. The list of potential practices was adapted from literature. It includes practices related to waste, recycling, supply, energy, water, and transportation.

The survey was conducted using an online questionnaire, which had been adopted beforehand by the project coordinator. The data collection process took place in two rounds: October-November 2023 and January-February 2024. A disproportionate stratified sampling technique was used (Table 1.). In total, in both rounds, we sent the survey to 5406 email addresses. The survey dataset was cleaned to eliminate duplicates or incomplete (2 in total). The responses were adjusted for descriptive statistics by converting textual answers into numerical form and aligning activity classifications with standard options using data from the Central Register of Business Entities.

The final sample consisted of 216 observations which were analysed further.

# 4. Analysis & Discussion

In the research, through an online questionnaire, information was collected about:

- Applied green business measures of the company,
- Respondents' opinions on the importance of different green business practices,
- Level of knowledge and awareness about green business and environmental protection measures and their importance.

	No. of companies				
Sectors	Active*	Invited to participate in the research	Partaking in study	% Partaking in study	
Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing	495	234	10	2.02%	
Extractive Industry	84	67			
Processing	3,064	1,439	23	0.75%	
Electricity, gas supply, steam and air conditioning	150	8	2	1.33%	
Water supply, waste treatment, and management activities	133	20	3	2.26%	
Construction	5,236	230	21	0.40%	
Wholesale or Retail Trade; Repair of vehicles and motorcycles	12,529	1,319	26	0.21%	
Transport and Storage	2,030	231	6	0.30%	
Accommodation and food service	5,494	117	1	0.02%	
Information and communication	2,740	291	12	0.44%	
Financial and insurance activities	240	97	3	1.25%	
Real Estate Activities	2,008	74	1	0.05%	
Professional, scientific, and technical activities	6,271	384	94	1.50%	
Administrative and support services	2,513	384	5	0.20%	
Public administration and protection; Compulsory social security	79	0			
Education	219	127	2	0.91%	
Health and social work activities	81	0			
Arts, entertainment, and recreation	763	127	2	0.26%	
Other service activities	1,546	233	5	0.32%	
Activities of families as employers; Activities of production of goods and services of households for their own use		24			
Activities of organizations and international bodies		0			
Total	45,675	5,406	216	0.47%	

 Table 1. Disproportionate stratified sample

# 4.1. Profile of Participating Businesses

More than 54% of the responses were obtained from companies headquartered in Podgorica, the capital of Montenegro, slightly more than 10% from companies based in Nikšić, and around 7% from companies based in Bar. According to available statistical data from the Statistical Office of Montenegro (2023), active companies in these municipalities respectively constituted 35.6%, 5.2%, and 9.3% of the total number of active companies in the year 2022.

In Montenegro, micro and small enterprises constitute 99.2% (Statistical Office of Montenegro, 2023), medium-sized enterprises 0.7%, and large enterprises 0.1%. The structure of the collected responses is slightly different (Table 2).

Variables	Descriptive statistics		
Average years in operation	15 (STD=14)		
Average number of employees per company	21,42 (STD 67.37)		
Female-led companies	53 (24.57 %)		
	Unincorporated business 7 (3,2%)		
Lagal status form of company <sup>4</sup>	Limited liability 196 (90,7 %)		
Legal status/form of company	Joint stock (Corporation) 6 (2,8 %)		
	Other 7 (3,2%)		
	Micro 163 (75,5%)		
Size of company <sup>5</sup>	Small 41 (19,0%)		
Size of company <sup>2</sup>	Medium 6 (2,8%)		
	Large 6 (2,8%)		

 Table. 2. Main characteristics of the study sample (N=216)

# 4.2. Applied green business measures of the company

The first set of questions was supposed to give an insight into which environmental measures companies most often apply and how much they adhere to sustainable practices in their business.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The provided answers to the question about Legal status of company, are aligned with Companies Law. ("Official Gazette of Montenegro", No. 065/20 od 03.07.2020, 146/21 od 31.12.2021, 004/24 od 23.01.2024). However, in the statistical data processing, responses such as "entrepreneur/partnership/limited partnership" were treated as "Unincorporated business ".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Classification of business entities based on tax burden (according to the Law on Accounting) ("Official Gazette of Montenegro", No. 145/21 od 31.12.2021, 152/22 od 30.12.2022), is not adequate for categorizing companies into micro, small, medium, and large enterprises. Therefore, in the analysis, a detailed examination of the financial statements of all companies from 2022 was undertaken (reports are available at https://eprijava.tax.gov.me/TaxisPortal), to classify them based on balance sheets, income statements, and the average number of employees of these companies

The following table (Table 3) shows the adopted measures in the business practice of the subjects.

The highest percentage of all companies (81.95%) implements measures to protect the environment, and pollution reduction (75.47%), suggesting that basic environmental practices are relatively present across companies. Participation in community-based environmental initiatives (52.78%) demonstrates companies' willingness to participate in broader environmental initiatives, thereby improving their image within the community and contributing to local environmental goals.

		All	Large	
	Companies that:	companies	corporations	Gap
		in %	in %	
	Have adopted a national/international			
1	environmental certification program	20.83%	66.67%	45.84%
	Have a detailed plan to reduce the			
2	environmental impacts	47.69%	100.00%	52.31%
	Designate an			
	employee/team/structure for			
3	environmental management	10.65%	100.00%	89.35%
	Collaborate with other businesses for			
4	environmental management	32.87%	83.33%	50.46%
	Estimate the quantity of solid waste			
5	discharged	17.59%	50.00%	32.41%
	Estimate the quantity of hazardous			
6	waste discharged	9.26%	50.00%	40.74%
	Send delegates to environmental			
7	conferences/activities	36.11%	83.33%	47.22%
	Hold staff meetings to address			
8	environmental issues	16.67%	66.67%	50.00%
	Have an earmarked budget for			
9	adoption of green practices	7.87%	66.67%	58.80%
10	Estimate the level of noise emissions	16.0004		50 470/
10		16.20%	66.67%	50.47%
	Publicize information about their	20.020/	00.000	<b>63 5</b> 00/
11	environmental impact	20.83%	83.33%	62.50%
	Have a green transport			
10	plan/procedure (for staff, customers,	16.0004	50.000/	22.000/
12	freight)	16.20%	50.00%	33.80%
10	Conduct environmental management	0.6.550	100.000/	62 4224
13	training for staff	36.57%	100.00%	63.43%
	Engage in community-based	<b>73 7</b> 000	100.000/	17.000
14	environmental initiatives	52.78%	100.00%	47.22%
1.5	Inform customers about their	22.07%	100.000/	(7.10)
15	environmental effects	32.87%	100.00%	67.13%
16	Implement measures to protect the	81.95%	100.00%	18.05%

	environment			
17	Estimate the level of energy consumption/savings/losses	43.98%	83.33%	39.35%
18	Implement measures to reduce pollution	75.47%	100.00%	24.53%

However, the least accepted measure is budget allocation for green practices (7.87%). The low adoption rate of this measure, especially among smaller companies, indicates financial constraints or the perception that green practices represent a cost. Smaller companies may feel they lack the resources to formally budget for green initiatives.

However, only 10.65% of companies have a dedicated employee or team for environmental management, indicating a lack of organized and formalized responsibility for environmental issues

At least 50% of the large companies that were interviewed apply all the measures mentioned above. Besides that, all these interviewed large companies have a detailed plan to reduce the environmental impacts.

For most practices, there is a clear gap of over 50%, indicating that large corporations are far more engaged in environmental initiatives. The largest gap is seen in the designation of a responsible person or team for environmental management (GAP 89.35%). This suggests that smaller companies rarely have the resources or need for formalized environmental management, whereas for large corporations, it is standard practice. Large corporations are more likely (GAP of 67.13%) to inform their customers about the environmental impacts of their products or services, which may be part of their corporate responsibility and reputation. Smaller companies, on the other hand, may not see the need for this or lack the resources.

Large corporations usually provide training for employees on environmental issues to familiarize them with proper practices and procedures (GAP of 63.43%). Smaller companies rarely invest in such training, which may limit their ability to effectively implement environmental measures.

The measures implemented by the companies on their premises also were examined (Table 4).

The most popular measures, among these companies, are related to the usage energy energy-saving light bulbs (LED). On the other side, the least populated measures among these companies are measures related to the usage of energysaving cards in less-used business environments.

The use of energy-saving light bulbs (LED) stands out with a 93.1% adoption rate, indicating that many companies prioritize energy efficiency in lighting. Practices like using separate recycling bins and sustainable cleaning methods show moderate adoption (53.2% and 56.0% respectively). This suggests that while companies recognize the importance of these measures, there may be barriers preventing wider implementation.

Measures such as using energy-saving cards and monitoring energy savings systems have low adoption rates (9.3% and 17.1%). This could indicate a lack of resources, awareness, or urgency regarding energy conservation in these specific areas.

Measures	Yes	No	Not applicable
Using a system to monitor energy savings in the premises where customers are served	17.1%	45.37%	30.56%
Using energy-saving cards in less-used business environments (e.g. conference rooms)	9.3%	54.17%	32.41%
Using energy-saving light bulbs (LED)	93.1%	2.78%	2.31%
Using separate bins for recyclables (e.g. paper, metal, plastic)	53.2%	37.96%	6.02%
Using sensor-activated lighting in restrooms/hallways/and other places that require only intermittent lighting	48.1%	41.20%	9.26%
Using cleaning products with reduced amounts of chemicals (e.g. those that have a specified label)	56.0%	24.07%	9.26%
Using sustainable methods for cleaning work tools (such as clothing, tools, materials, equipment, etc.) that use less electricity (e.g. inverter washing machines, dishwashers)	56.0%	22.69%	16.20%

Table 4. Using green measures in the company's premises

# 4.3. Level of knowledge and awareness about green business and environmental protection measures and their importance

The questions in the second part of the questionnaire assessed the company representatives' perception of available green practices and their importance.

The following picture (Picture 1) shows the assessment of the importance of the measures<sup>6</sup>, according to the opinion of the respondents, as well as the frequency of their application.

According to the opinion of company representatives, the most important measures for achieving the environmental goals of its entity are:

- Separating hazardous waste (Likert score: 3.46)-, indicating that companies recognize the importance of proper hazardous waste management,
- Using energy-saving materials (Likert score: 3.33)- suggests that companies are actively seeking ways to reduce energy consumption, which can lead to significant savings and increased sustainability.
- Avoiding plastic materials or raw materials (Likert score: 3.22- shows

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Scale ranges from 1: (unimportant) to 4: (very important).

that companies are aware of the pollution problem caused by plastics and are taking steps to use alternative materials, which is a positive sign of ecological awareness and responsibility.



# **Picture 1.** Company representatives' views on green business practices and the frequency of undertaking the relevant measures

In addition, the picture shows that the least important measures are considered to be using rain or snow water /recycled water (Likert score: 2.47), buying renewable energy from a local supplier (Likert score: 2.53), and providing or encouraging the use public transport for customers (Likert score: 2.52).

These data indicate that companies generally recognize the importance of green practices, especially in hazardous waste management, using energy-efficient materials, and avoiding plastic raw materials. Those measures received high Likert scores and high frequency of implementation and indicate strong agreement among company representatives on their importance, as well

as a commitment to integrating these practices. Companies see these measures as beneficial and are actively incorporating them into their operations.

However, there are significant differences in the importance of certain measures, especially in using renewable energy sources and water management systems. Additionally, providing support and encouraging the use of public transportation can significantly contribute to reducing emissions and enhancing the overall ecological profile of companies.

Looking at the overall ratings at the level of measure groups, it can be concluded that the most popular measures are those related to material usage, while measures related to water are rated slightly higher than slightly important. However, it should be borne in mind that these are opinions of managers regarding the importance of measures "to achieving the environmental objectives of your entity" and that not all measures are inherently applicable to all types of businesses.

# 5. Conclusions and Recommendations

Our survey has shown that only a small number of companies (a total of 8) "Never apply" or find "Not applicable" green business practices in their operations. However, in response to the question about the importance of these measures, the majority of these respondents chose answers "I don't know" or "Not important at all". This somewhat indicates that the reason for not implementing some measures, besides the specificity of certain activities, also lies in the insufficient understanding of their importance for environmental preservation and sustainability (Candrianto, 2023). In this regard, it should be noted that during the survey, we received several emails contesting the issue of sustainable development and climate change.

All of this indicates that there is insufficient knowledge and awareness on the mentioned topic, and that Montenegrin enterprises have room for improvement in environmental consciousness, which aligns with previous research conducted (Union of Employers of Montenegro, 2023). According to that research, although most companies are not familiar with environmental regulations and strategies for efficient energy and material use, more than half of them recognize the importance of being perceived as environmentally responsible companies that comply with regulations.

On the other hand, although more than 50% of respondents from our survey implement some of the green business measures in their operations, such as Engaging in community-based environmental initiatives (52.78%), measures to protect the environment (81.95%), and measures to reduce pollution (75.47%), only 7.87% of respondents have a specific budget for reducing environmental impacts. It can be assumed that the lack of financial resources is the reason why other measures are implemented to a lesser extent (Čekanavičius, Bazytė, & Dičmonaitė, 2014).

Our findings align with those of the UNDP and Institute for Strategic Studies and Prognoses (2021) study, where more than half of the companies indicated that reducing operating costs would motivate them to pursue additional activities and investments to align their operations with a green economy. They identified the main challenges in adapting their businesses to the green economy as financial (lack of funds within the company, cost levels, and difficulties in securing funds from external sources). On the other hand, only 20% of companies are familiar with programs and support measures for the green economy, with half that percentage having applied for any of the programs, and only 4.5% of companies having utilized any of the programs.

Based on the results of our research, as well as other studies conducted Union of Employers of Montenegro (2023) and UNDP and Institute for Strategic Studies and Prognoses (2021) we believe that it is necessary to continuously promote measures that can help establish sustainable development and mitigate climate change. This can be achieved through media campaigns, organizing informational days or workshops, scientific conferences, various forms of education and/or training, and similar activities.

The large companies more effectively integrate green practices through structured approaches, budgeting, and training, while smaller firms are less organized in this regard, primarily due to limited resources (Wellington, Silva, & Rodrigues, 2020). The differences in the adoption of these measures suggest a potential for targeted support programs for smaller businesses to facilitate the implementation of basic environmental measures.

It is also essential to increase companies' awareness of funding opportunities for implementing sustainable development, green and circular economy measures, and climate change prevention and mitigation (Clark & Sunderland, 2018). Special attention should be given to funding possibilities from budgetary sources, the Eco-fund, the Investment and Development Fund, international organizations, and commercial banks managing international credit lines aimed at the green economy. For example, one of the survey participants from the banking sector mentioned as part of the measures they implement the measure of credit policy, where they do not finance clients who are problematic from an ESG perspective, i.e., they develop so-called green loans.

To improve ecological sustainability, it is recommended that companies focus their efforts on education and training regarding sustainable practices, as well as on developing supporting infrastructure (Union of Employers of Montenegro, 2023). Education and training programs could be implemented to raise awareness and encourage more robust participation in eco-friendly practices. Implementing some or all of these measures would not only improve their reputation but also enable them to become more competitive in a market that increasingly values sustainability. To enhance overall sustainability, companies could benefit from targeted initiatives to increase the frequency of some green practices (as related to water conservation or renewable energy).

It is necessary to provide interested parties with information and knowledge through collaboration among various stakeholders. Additionally, fostering collaborations with local suppliers and recycling enterprises may further support the implementation of green initiatives, leading to a more sustainable business model.

## Acknowledgments

This research has been prepared in the framework of the European project: Joined for Sustainability (1FUTURE) which aims to improve regional capacities in implementing Green Deal goals within the higher education system. (https://lfuture.feut.edu.al/).

# References

Ahmad, M. (2016). "Green business practices: Balancing environment and economic desires". International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research and Development, 3(5), 266–268.

Ali, A.Z., Ameer, I., Fasial, S., Rauf, H. (2023). "Forging Sustainable Development: Exploring the Impact of Green Initiatives and Corporate Social Responsibility". Sustainable Trends and Business Research, 1(2), pp. 76–87. https://doi.org/10.70291/stbr.1.2.2023.8.

Alkhodary D. (2023). "Encouraging Sustainability through the Implementation of Green Business Practices". Information Sciences Letters (Online), 12(6), 2511-2529. https://doi.org/10.18576/isl/120627

Brundtland, G. H. (1987). Our common future: Report of the World Commission onEnvironmentandDevelopment.Geneva:UN.https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/5987our-common-future.pdf

Candrianto, C., Aimon, H., Sentosa, S. (2023). "The role of knowledge, awareness and environmental attitudes in green product management", Global Journal of Environmental Science and Management, 9(1), pp. 101-112. https://doi.org/10.22034/gjesm.2023.01.08

Čekanavičius, L., Bazytė, R., & Dičmonaitė, A. (2014). "Green business: Challenges and practices". Ekon. 93(1), 74–88. https://doi.org/10.15388/EKON.2014.0.3021

Clark, R., Reed, J. & Sunderland, T. (2018) "Bridging funding gaps for climate and sustainable development: Pitfalls, progress and potential of private finance", Land Use Policy, 71, pp. 335–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2017.12.013

Dela Cruz, G.B., Hariharan, P. (2022). "The Impact of Renewable Energy Usages and Green Practices within Business Periphery on Improving the Sustainability of the Environment All Around the World". Technoarete Transactions on Renewable Energy, Green Energy and Sustainability, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.36647/ttregs/02.01.a002

Ehritt, T. (2024, June 17). Uloga privrede u ostvarivanju ciljeva održivog razvoja (The Role of the Private Sector in Achieving the Sustainable Development Goals). Deutsche

Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH. https://beriskprotected.rs/blog/321\_uloga-privrede-u-ostvarivanju-ciljeva-odrzivograzvoja.html

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD). (2021). Green transition and ESG adoption in the Western Balkans.

International Organization for Standardization. (2015). ISO 14001: Environmental management systems. ISO. https://www.iso.org/iso-14001-environmental-management.html

Lacy, P., Long, J., & Spindler, W. (2020). The circular economy handbook: Realizing the circular advantage. Palgrave Macmillan

Lojpur, A.S., Perović, M., Radulović, M., Mujović, S., Lalević-Filipović, A., Lacmanović, D., Cerović-Smolović, J., Grgurević, N. & Šćekić, L., (2023). Polazne osnove novog koncepta održivog privrednog razvoja Crne Gore. Podgorica, Centar za demokratsku tranziciju.

Ministry of Economic Development and Tourism of Montenegro. (2022). National circular transition strategy for circular transition until 2030 with an action plan for 2023–2024. The Government of Montenegro.

Moratis, L., Melissen, F., & Idowu, S. O. (Eds.). (2018). Sustainable business models: Principles, promise, and practice. Springer International Publishing.

OECD (2022), SME Policy Index: Western Balkans and Turkey 2022: Assessing the Implementation of the Small Business Act for Europe, SME Policy Index, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/b47d15f0-en.

Oludele, M.S., Obatunde, B.A. (2018), "Situating green practices within the context of sustainable development agenda." Equidad & Desarrollo,30, pp.195-220 ISSN: 1692-7311. https://www.redalyc.org/pdf/957/95779226010.pdf

Omowole, B.M., Olufemi-Phillips, A.Q., Ofodile, O.C., Eyo-Udo, N.L., Ewim, S.E. (2024). "Conceptualizing green business practices in SMEs for sustainable development". International Journal of Management & Entrepreneurship Research, 6(11), 3778-3805. https://doi.org/10.51594/ijmer.v6i11.1719

Rani, S., Purohit, H. (2024). "Significant Ways and Framework to Improve Indian Brand's Image from the Adoption of Green Business Practices". International Journal of Advanced Research in Science, Communication and Technology. https://doi.org/10.48175/ijarsct-22067

Statistical Office of Montenegro. (2023). Release 40/2023 - Number and structure of business entities in Montenegro - 2022. Statistical Office of Montenegro.

Todos, I. (2023). "Sustainable business development from the environmental, social and governance criteria perspective". Economica. https://doi.org/10.53486/econ.2022.122.007

UN General Assembly. (2015). Transforming our world: The 2030 agenda for sustainable development (A/RES/70/1). https://www.refworld.org/docid/57b6e3e44.html

UNDP & Institute for Strategic Studies and Prognoses. (2021). Diagnostic study on the needs of the business sector for the green recovery of the economy. United Nations Development Programme.

Union of Employers of Montenegro. (2023). Enabling environment for sustainable enterprises in Montenegro: Analysis of the state and perspective of progress. https://www.poslodavci.org/biblioteka/publikacije/eese-2023

Wellington, A., Silva, Â., & Rodrigues, H. S. (2020). "Green practices as a path towards sustainability: Evidence from Portuguese companies". Business and Society Research Journal, 41, 120–135. https://doi.org/10.2478/BSRJ-2020-0012

#### The Role of European Higher Education Institutions (HEIs) in Advancing the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs): a Survey of Five Universities

Vittoria RIDOLFI<sup>1</sup>, Giulia LUCERTINI<sup>2</sup> Filippo MAGNI<sup>3</sup>, Henrik HASSEL<sup>4</sup>, Meri CVETKOVSKA<sup>5</sup> Franziska ROTTIG<sup>6</sup>, Mirjana LABAN<sup>7</sup>

#### Abstract

This article examines how Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) may be integrated into the academic and operational practices of universities. As part of the *IFUTURE* project, a structured survey was conducted among five European Higher Education Institutions (HEIs)to map and assess the alignment of their programs, research, and management strategies with global sustainability frameworks. The study explores the extent to which these European HEIs have embedded sustainability across curricula, from specialized degree programs to individual courses, and highlights key initiatives in research and stakeholder collaboration focused on environmental and social resilience. Additionally, university management practices aimed at promoting sustainability and reducing environmental *impact are analysed, revealing a multidimensional approach to sustainability* that includes energy efficiency, waste management, and carbon footprint reduction. The findings underscore the importance of aligning HEI strategies with SDGs to support the transition toward a sustainable future. The presented survey may inspire other institutions seeking to advance sustainability within higher education, emphasizing the critical role of HEIs in driving global sustainability agendas.

**Keywords:** Sustainable Development Goals, Higher Education Institutions, Climate Resilience, Sustainability, Academic growth.

**Jel code:** Q01, I23, O13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> IUAV University of Venice, vridolfi @iuav.it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> IUAV University of Venice, glucertini@iuav.it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> IUAV University of Venice, fmagni@iuav.it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> LUND University, henrik.hassel@risk.lth.se

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje, cvetkovska@gf.ukim.edu.mk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Eberswalde University for Sustainable Development, franziska.rottig@hnee.de

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> University of Novi Sad, mirjana.laban.ftn@gmail.com

#### 1. Introduction

Between 1980 and 2022, weather and climate extremes caused economic losses of property estimated at 650 billion euros in EU member states (Figure 1), of which 59.4 billion euros in 2021 and 52.3 billion euros in 2022. Analyzing trends in economic losses is difficult, partly due to the large variability from year to year. However, some statistical analyses have revealed that economic losses increase over time. Since extreme events related to weather and climate conditions are expected to intensify further, it is unlikely that associated economic losses will decrease by 2030.



Figure 1: Annual economic losses in European Union countries caused by atmospheric and hydrological climate-related hazards

The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction<sup>8</sup> and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)<sup>9</sup> were adopted in 2015. However, in the years since, we still have accelerated climate change, growing inequality, poverty and humanitarian needs due to unsustainable development choices. Building in resilience-thinking can accelerate the required paradigm shift for the benefit of people, the planet and prosperity, and future generations. The key elements for sustainable development need to include understanding risk, recognizing systems are interconnected, including stakeholders and building capacities for resilience (Figure 2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> United Nation Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015-2030 https://www.undrr.org/publication/sendai-framework-disaster-risk-reduction-2015-2030

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> UNDP Sustainable development goals Booklet https://www.devpractitioners.eu/media/key\_documents/SDGs\_Booklet\_Web\_En.pdf



**Figure 2:** Elements of sustainable development <sup>10</sup>

Given its primary role as knowledge producer, higher education can serve as a powerful means to help create a more sustainable future. Thus, the concept of 'education for sustainable development' has become, in recent years, one of the core educational initiatives to help address many of the problems associated with human development. According to UNESCO, "Education for Sustainable development (ESD) empowers people to change the way they think and work towards a sustainable future"<sup>11</sup>. ESD is widely recognized as an integral element of Agenda 2030, Sustainable Development Goal 4 (SDG 4), and a key enabler of all the other SDGs.

Responding to escalating environmental challenges and a growing global imperative for ecological transition, universities are increasingly recognized as powerful agents of change. Through their roles in education, research, and policy development, HEIs are essential in preparing future leaders with the knowledge and values required to tackle today's urgent environmental challenges. By demonstrating successful ways of transforming to more sustainable practices, HEIs may also act as role models for other types of organization.

The 1FUTURE project, funded by the European Union through Erasmus+, exemplifies this academic commitment by fostering a comprehensive approach to sustainability within HEIs across Europe and the Western Balkans. Aiming to build climate-resilient academic communities, 1FUTURE

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (2023). GAR Special Report: Measuring Resilience for the Sustainable Development Goals. Geneva. https://www.undrr.org/gar/gar2023-special-report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> UNESCO Education for Sustainable Development, A roadmap, 2020, https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000374802

promotes collaborative networks that incorporate climate action and sustainability practices within educational frameworks, research, and institutional operations. By emphasizing an interdisciplinary, cross-sectoral approach, the project aligns with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and the Paris Agreement, thereby contributing to a unified European strategy for sustainable development.

Central to this initiative, a survey was conducted among five European partner universities to assess how sustainability practices, guided by the SDGs and international frameworks, are translated into sustainable policies and academic programs within higher education. This survey aimed to investigate how these universities interpret and implement broad sustainability objectives in the specific context of degree programs, thus serving as a basis for understanding how HEIs may embed SGDs within their curricula and institutional strategies. The rationale behind this investigation lies in highlighting examples of how international sustainability directives may be translated into practical, educational outcomes that equip students with relevant skills and knowledge. Leaders from Western Balkans in Sofia 2020 at the WB Summit agreed to develop a plan for economy-specific and regional awareness-raising activities, reflecting the Green Agenda for Western Balkans<sup>12</sup> in the reforms of the educational systems: the HEI curricula across WBC should embrace the issues of green economy, climate change and sustainability in order to implement and develop the institutional reforms and to satisfy the requirements of the labour markets in the future.

The findings from this survey provide critical insights into the state of sustainability practices in a sample of HEIs across different parts of Europe, illustrating how global sustainability goals are currently being integrated into degree programs and highlighting areas for potential improvement. This analysis may serve as a valuable resource for other universities aiming to embed sustainability within their academic framework, offering a reference for institutions globally on the role of HEIs in advancing sustainability and climate resilience through education. By documenting current practices and identifying common challenges, this study aims to support HEIs in effectively implementing sustainability goals, thus reinforcing the role of higher education in addressing the global sustainability agenda.

## 2. Literature review

The global community is confronting immense challenges. To meet the 1.5degree target, drastic measures are required to reduce greenhouse gas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> European Commission COMMISSION STAFF WORKING DOCUMENT Guidelines for the Implementation of the Green Agenda for the Western Balkans,

https://enlargement.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2020-

<sup>10/</sup>green\_agenda\_for\_the\_western\_balkans\_en.pdf

emissions. The ongoing impacts of global warming—such as extreme heat waves, heavy rainfall, and droughts—along with their consequences, are regularly analyzed and summarized in the IPCC Assessment Report. Given these global challenges, competencies in Education for Sustainable Development (ESD) are essential as key skills across all professional fields (Molitor et al. 2024). Educational institutions have been called upon to address sustainable development since the 1992 Rio Summit with Agenda 21 (UNCED 1992). This mandate continues at the federal level through the National Action Plan (NAP) for implementing the UNESCO *World Action Program on Education for Sustainable Development* (2015–2019) and the UNESCO *ESD for 2030* program, which guide efforts from 2020 to 2030 (German Commission for UNESCO [DUK] 2022; National Action Plan on Education for Sustainable Development [NAP] 2017).

The concept of Education for Sustainable Development (ESD) has emerged as a framework for embedding sustainability into the academic environment, emphasizing the need to equip students with the skills, knowledge, and values necessary to address pressing ecological issues. Universities, in particular, play a crucial role as key learning environments where ecological, social, and economic dimensions are considered holistically, innovative solutions for present and future challenges are developed, and future decision-makers are trained across various fields (HRK 2018). Universities are uniquely positioned to influence a wide demographic, shaping the perspectives and behaviors of future leaders.

Education for sustainable development is an all-encompassing educational approach designed to systematically integrate (university) teaching that empowers students to drive transformation toward sustainable development. The core learning objective of "change agent competency" (Bellina et al. 2020, p. 29) can be broken down into four key areas.



**Figure 3:** Aims of higher education for sustainable development (Source: Adapted from Bellina et al. 2020, p. 33, and translated by Molitor et al. 2024)

Sustainable development is an intricate issue that often involves conflicting goals, as exemplified by the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), the aim of Education for Sustainable Development (ESD) should be to foster the development of dilemma sensitivity or ambiguity tolerance (Müller-Christ & Weßling 2007), enabling individuals to recognize, accept, and effectively address these contradictions and trade-offs (Molitor et al. 2024).

The UNESCO program *ESD for 2030* provides a roadmap for integrating ESD into the education sector, calling on all member states to implement it at the national level. For universities, this means embedding ESD into key institutional frameworks to ensure sustainability is integrated into teaching (BNE, n.d.). A crucial step for universities is embedding sustainability into study and examination regulations, as well as integrating it into module descriptions across study programs (Molitor et al. 2024).

The framework for higher education for sustainable development (HESD) outlined in the HOCH-N guideline "Education for Sustainable Development in Higher Education" defines the core components of HESD. The goal of HESD is to empower students and teachers to (co-)create sustainable development and critically reflect on their own actions and values. To achieve this, merely reproducing knowledge is not enough. It is crucial, therefore, to foster the development of competencies for sustainable development. Over the past 25 years, various competency models for sustainable development have been proposed, sharing common elements but emphasizing different aspects (Krah et al. 2021; Molitor et al. 2022; UNESCO 2017; Wiek et al. 2016). The framework of key competencies in sustainability, outlined by Brundiers et al. (2021), focuses on the essential competencies needed to effectively contribute to sustainable development. The key competencies are: (1) implementation competency, strategic-thinking competency, (3) values-thinking (2)competency, (4) futures-thinking competency and (5) systems-thinking competency. These key competencies are completed by "enabling" competencies: (1) integrated problem-solving competency, (2) interpersonal competence and (3) intrapersonal competence. This competency framework connects key competencies in sustainability with the foundational academic skills developed throughout higher education, as well as the specialized knowledge from various disciplines (Molitor et al. 2024).



**Figure 4:** Key competencies in sustainability linked to discipline-specific knowledge and basic academic competencies (Source: Brundiers et al. 2021)

In accordance with the requirements for study program accreditation and competency-oriented teaching, the competencies to be acquired must be clearly outlined in each module description. To ensure nationwide comparability, these competencies are structured according to the Higher Education Quality Framework (HQR) (Molitor et al. 2024). The SDGs also offer new frameworks for Education for Sustainable Development (ESD). Notably, SDG 4—Quality Education—aims to provide lifelong, quality education for everyone and is crucial for all other SDGs since ESD fosters key competencies that support social, economic, and ecological objectives especially SDG 4.7) (ibid).

In fact, the integration of sustainability within higher education institutions (HEIs) has garnered increasing attention in recent years, as universities worldwide acknowledge their critical role in addressing global environmental and social challenges. Researchers emphasize that HEIs not only serve as centers for knowledge transfer but also function as proactive agents of change, instilling a comprehensive understanding of sustainability that spans economic, social, and environmental dimensions (Tilbury, 2011; Barth & Rieckmann, 2022). In recent literature, HEIs are seen adopting a wide array of sustainability initiatives, encompassing everything from curriculum development to campus management and research. Many institutions have
established sustainability offices or centers dedicated to integrating sustainable practices across both academic and operational spheres. Such offices play an essential role in managing environmental policies, implementing carbon reduction measures, and fostering a campus culture that emphasizes climate action and resilience. Cross-disciplinary programs are also increasingly common, with universities developing specialized degrees and research initiatives that align with sustainability goals, particularly the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). These goals, set forth by the United Nations, provide HEIs with a structured framework for addressing urgent environmental, social, and economic issues through education, research, and community engagement (Lozano et al., 2015; Leal Filho et al., 2018).

Despite notable progress, several challenges continue to impede the widespread adoption of sustainability within academic frameworks. Financial and structural limitations, for example, can hinder universities from fully implementing sustainability initiatives, particularly those requiring significant curriculum adjustments or cross-disciplinary collaboration. Scholars also point to cultural and operational differences among institutions as barriers to a standardized approach, with some universities struggling to balance sustainability goals against other institutional priorities. The literature suggests that both top-down and bottom-up initiatives are essential for addressing these challenges effectively, encouraging a flexible yet unified approach that engages faculty, administration, and students alike in the sustainability mission (Ferrer-Balas et al., 2010).

The role of European initiatives, including Erasmus+ and Horizon Europe, has been instrumental in supporting sustainability in higher education by funding collaborative projects and fostering international partnerships that encourage mutual knowledge transfer. Such programs enable universities to share best practices, innovate in curriculum design, and build sustainability networks that transcend national borders. Erasmus+ projects provide crucial support for universities aiming to incorporate sustainability into academic and operational practices. The 1FUTURE project exemplifies this collaborative approach by creating a cross-sectoral network between universities in the European Union and the Western Balkans. With emphasis on interdisciplinary collaboration, 1FUTURE promotes resilience-building and capacity development in sustainability, aligning with both the SDGs and the Paris Agreement, and fostering a unified response to the challenges posed by climate change.

## 3. Methodology

The survey aimed to capture a comprehensive view of current sustainability practices, focusing on how international frameworks, particularly the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), are embedded within academic

programs, research, and management practices. It was distributed as a shared Excel file to five European partner universities: Lund University (LU) in Sweden, Eberswalde University for Sustainable Development (HNEE) in Germany, University of Novi Sad (UNS) in Serbia, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje (UKIM) in North Macedonia, and IUAV University of Venice (IUAV) in Italy. This format enabled structured, comparable data collection and facilitated collaboration among institutions.

Due to the scope and diversity of educational and research activities, each university submitted a representative selection of its programs and initiatives, aligned with *IFUTURE* project's objectives and the specific capacities of Western Balkan faculties.

# 3.1. Survey design and data collection

The survey was designed to cover multiple facets of sustainability in universities, with questions crafted to elicit both qualitative and quantitative responses. Key areas included curriculum, research, stakeholder collaboration, and institutional management. In the curriculum section, universities were asked to specify details on undergraduate, master's, and doctoral programs focused on sustainability, including course names, content, and SDG alignment. This approach allowed for a detailed assessment of how sustainability is embedded at various educational levels. Research-related questions asked universities to describe both EU-funded and internally led projects focused on sustainability and climate issues, highlighting the role of research in advancing sustainability goals and fostering interdisciplinary collaboration. Management-related questions captured sustainability practices across campus operations, emphasizing energy efficiency, waste management, and carbon footprint reduction. This holistic design ensured a thorough view of how each institution incorporates sustainability into its core functions.

# 3.2. Results and considerations

Upon data collection, a multi-step analysis process identified trends, highlighted best practices, and facilitated comparisons between institutions. Responses were organized into the four focus areas of the survey: curriculum, research, collaboration, and management. Quantitative data, such as the number of sustainability programs or research projects, was analyzed to offer a metric-based view of engagement, while qualitative responses underwent thematic analysis to uncover insights into institutional motivations, challenges, and future sustainability goals.

The analysis also mapped each initiative against the SDGs, assessing how comprehensive institutions address global sustainability goals. This mapping process identified gaps in sustainability practices and suggested areas where additional development or support may be beneficial. These findings provided a basis for recommendations to enhance sustainability efforts within partner institutions and the broader academic community.

Throughout data collection and analysis, strict ethical standards were upheld. Each participating institution provided informed consent for the inclusion of its data in the project report, with assurances of confidentiality and restricted use for research purposes only. Methodological limitations include reliance on self-reported data, which may reflect institutional perspectives rather than a complete account of all activities. Additionally, the focus on the five specific partner institutions may limit the generalizability of findings to universities with different structures or priorities. However, the survey's structured design, consistent data collection, and rigorous analysis offer valuable insights and a robust foundation for advancing sustainability in higher education.

## 4. Analysis & Discussion

This section discusses the findings in curriculum development, research initiatives, and management practices within each partner institution, with a particular focus on alignment with the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

# 4.1. Curriculum development

Survey responses show a strong emphasis on incorporating sustainability into educational programs, with each partner university offering specialized courses or degree programs focused on climate and environmental issues. At Lund University (LU), for instance, sustainability is central to multiple bachelor's and master's programs. LU offers a range of degrees, including a master's in environmental engineering and strategic environmental work, that directly address SDGs on climate action (SDG 13), sustainable cities (SDG 11), and responsible consumption (SDG 12). These programs cover both scientific and policy aspects, exemplifying a holistic approach to sustainability education.

IUAV University of Venice has integrated sustainability into disciplines closely related to urban design, architecture, and the arts. Its bachelor's program in Industrial Design and master's in architecture and construction engineering prioritize sustainable design principles, aligning with SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities) and SDG 12. This approach underscores IUAV's commitment to sustainability within its unique disciplinary focus, with added attention to cultural preservation in Venice's urban setting.

Similarly, Eberswalde University for Sustainable Development (HNEE) incorporates sustainability into all its bachelor and master programs – it forms

an integral part of teaching and research. It is aimed to anchor the concept of Education for Sustainable Development (ESD) across all disciplines. Due to the variety of study programs, the SDGs are widely covered in all programs with different focal points. For example, the HNEE's bachelor program "Landscape Use and Nature Conservation" and its Master program "Global Change Management" cover all SDGs and prepare students as change agents and professionals being able to cope with the challenges of natural resource management under global change and to develop goal-oriented solutions for a sustainability transition.

The University of Novi Sad (UNS) offers programs like Clean Energy Technologies and Environmental Engineering, targeting both theoretical and practical aspects of sustainability. These programs link SDGs 7 (Affordable and Clean Energy) and 13, with a particular focus on renewable energy and disaster risk management, preparing students for sustainability challenges from an engineering perspective.

Lastly, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje (UKIM) offers specialized programs in energy and ecology, particularly through the Faculty of Mechanical Engineering. At the Faculty of Architecture and Civil Engineering Faculty there are several courses dedicated to ecology, energy efficiency and sustainable development. Courses like Architecture and the Environment and Sustainable Urban Development align closely with SDGs 7, 11, and 13, emphasizing competencies in energy efficiency and environmental impact assessment within technical disciplines.

The survey results emphasize that many universities offer specialized master's programs with a strong focus on SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities) and SDG 12 (Responsible Consumption and Production), often incorporating actions for climate (SDG 13) and partnerships for goals (SDG 17). Additionally, numerous undergraduate and postgraduate courses address sustainability, with emphasis on SDGs 11, 12, and 13. An interesting observation is that even courses not directly centered on sustainability often foster competencies that are key for sustainability education as for example outlined in section 2 of this paper (e.g. Futures-thinking and Systems-thinking).

# 4.2. Research Projects and Stakeholder Collaboration

In the realm of research, survey findings reveal that partner universities actively engage in sustainability-related projects, many of which are funded through European Union programs. LU's research is particularly interdisciplinary, with over 365 projects and 3,700 publications attached to the topic. In several cases the research is organized in center or knowledge hubs, including research centers such as the International Institute for Industrial

Environmental Economics (IIIEE), LUSUS (Lund University Center for Sustainability Studies) and the LU Urban Arena, which foster collaboration across faculties and with external stakeholders. These centers address complex sustainability issues through cross-sectoral research, aligning closely with SDGs 9 (Industry, Innovation, and Infrastructure) and 17 (Partnerships for the Goals).

IUAV's research projects reflect urban and architectural focus. Notable initiatives include the "HYPERION" project, which utilizes decision support systems to enhance the resilience of historic areas against climate change, and the "CITIES2030" project, which aims to develop sustainable food systems. Both projects exemplify IUAV's strategy of combining sustainability with cultural and social resilience, demonstrating alignment with SDGs 11 and 2 (Zero Hunger). Through collaborations with municipalities and international organizations, IUAV leverages its research to address specific community needs while contributing to broader sustainability goals.

At HNEE, applied research is a cornerstone counting with interdisciplinary research centres, e.g., the Biosphere Reserves Institute (main focus: "Man and the Biosphere" program of UNESCO), the Centre for Economics and Ecosystem Management and The Research Centre [Sustainability -Transformation - Transfer]. Collaboration with various public and private institutions integrates diverse expertise and perspectives, creating a practiceoriented, inclusive approach to research. This allows findings to be shared, discussed, and applied within professional networks, driving societal transformation toward sustainability through private sector and community engagement. This practice-oriented approach has positioned HNEE as a leader in promoting sustainability within forestry, environmental management, and nature conservation.

UNS has a strong record in EU-funded projects, including Horizon 2020 and Erasmus+, with numerous initiatives linked to sustainable energy and disaster resilience. Examples include the "GREENELIT" project, which focuses on developing green electronic devices, and the "WBC-RRI.NET," a project aimed at fostering responsible research and innovation in the Western Balkans. These projects align with SDGs 13 and 7, positioning UNS as a proactive player in advancing sustainability research through international collaboration.

UKIM participates in various interdisciplinary research projects, often focusing on energy transformation and climate adaptation. Key initiatives such as the "TRANSIT" project, funded under Horizon Europe, seek to foster societal changes necessary for a sustainable energy transition, demonstrating UKIM's commitment to SDG 7 and SDG 13. These research initiatives at

UKIM underscore the role of energy and urban infrastructure in building climate-resilient communities.

Across the research domain, the partner universities are engaged in sustainability projects largely funded by European sources, primarily aligning with SDGs 11, 13, and 17. Additional projects, often in collaboration with public stakeholders, address goals related to sustainable cities, responsible consumption, and climate action, particularly SDGs 11, 12, and 13.

## 4.3. University Management Initiatives

In terms of internal management, the survey reveals a variety of practices aimed at reducing environmental impact across university operations. LU has established a university-wide Sustainability Forum, which coordinates initiatives such as the annual Sustainability Week and manages the university's compliance with the Swedish Climate Framework. LU's environmental management practices emphasize reducing the institution's carbon footprint and include comprehensive reporting on sustainability outcomes, aligning with SDG 12 (Responsible Consumption and Production).

IUAV's management initiatives include promoting waste reduction, supporting local food sourcing, and implementing energy efficiency measures within its campuses. These initiatives, coupled with social inclusion programs, reflect a multifaceted approach to campus sustainability. For instance, IUAV's participation in the "Too Good to Go" network minimizes food waste while promoting sustainable consumer behaviors. These management strategies align with SDGs 11 and 12, underscoring IUAV's commitment to sustainable urban living.

HNEE has implemented a climate protection strategy aiming at "climate neutrality. Initiatives include resource management and protection (EMAS-certified), sustainable mobility solutions and sustainable procurement. To point out, the university has a sustainable canteen that emphasizes sustainable, regional food choices. HNEE has received Europe's most prestigious and largest sustainability award, the German Sustainability Award (DNP), in the category "education and research". Through these efforts, HNEE showcases a commitment to SDGs 4, 12 and 13, prioritizing energy efficiency, waste reduction, and sustainable procurement.

UNS has adopted a comprehensive environmental policy focused on reducing greenhouse gas emissions and enhancing green spaces on campus. Management initiatives include energy-efficient renovations and promoting waste sorting, reflecting UNS's dedication to SDGs 13 and 15. Additionally, UNS encourages the integration of sustainability into institutional policies and practices, promoting a culture of environmental responsibility.

UKIM's efforts in sustainability management focus on energy-saving infrastructure upgrades, including the installation of energy-efficient heating and cooling systems. The university also participates in recycling initiatives, though challenges persist due to the limited waste management infrastructure in North Macedonia. UKIM's commitment to environmental protection aligns with SDGs 11 and 13, as the institution actively pursues green policies despite infrastructural limitations.

Across these institutions, SDGs 12 (Responsible Consumption and Production) and 13 are frequently addressed in university management practices, supported by additional initiatives aligned with SDG 4 (Quality Education), SDG 7 (Affordable and Clean Energy), and SDG 8 (Decent Work and Economic Growth).

#### 4.4. Discussion of Trends and Challenges

The survey highlights several trends and challenges in sustainability practices. One trend is the prioritization of interdisciplinary approaches in curricula and research, as universities recognize the interconnected nature of sustainability issues. SDG alignment across institutions reflects a shared commitment to global sustainability goals. Furthermore, the survey underscores the value of partnerships within universities and with external stakeholders. Collaboration helps institutions leverage diverse expertise, access funding, and align practices with broader societal needs.

However, several challenges persist. First, there is a high reliance on external funding which may limit the longevity of sustainability initiatives at the universities. Clearly, a changed global political climate may negatively affect the abilities of universities to promote sustainability in society. Secondly, integrating sustainability into university management remains challenging due to resource limitations, particularly in areas with underdeveloped infrastructure. Thirdly, there are difficulties in ensuring that overall university policies reach far out into institutional practices. Since the main focus of the survey presented in this paper has been on documentation concerning sustainability initiative some questions still remain on the degree of actual implementation of the sustainability policies of the five reviewed European HEIs. More research is clearly needed.

Overall, the analysis reveals significant efforts by partner universities to integrate sustainability across academic and operational domains. Although substantial progress has been made, opportunities remain for growth to ensure sustainability becomes a core, enduring component of university operations and education. Finally, there are also opportunities to more systematically implement the growing body of knowledge in the field of Education for Sustainable Development (ESD), as discussed in section 2. A key issue here is

to balance existing institutional practices with the emerging knowledge about ESD being developed worldwide.

### 5. Conclusions and Recommendations

This study presents a survey of sustainability practices among five European universities, showcasing integrated approaches to embedding sustainability within academic programs, research initiatives, and institutional operations. Findings from this survey reveal a diverse array of interconnected educational fields and operational strategies, underscoring the multifaceted role that higher education institutions (HEIs) may play in supporting global sustainability efforts and advancing the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

It is recognized that the survey is limited to how a sample of five European universities address sustainability in their academic practices. However, other universities are encouraged to use the survey methodology to conduct similar reviews to provide additional accounts of how sustainability can be addressed and thus fostering the exchange of insights that can unify and strengthen sustainability strategies across the higher education sector. Despite the small sample, the findings presented here may serve as inspiration for other HEIs in the efforts of developing their sustainability practices.

The survey shows that each of the five universities have unique approaches to integrating sustainability into their practices. However, some of the practices can be highlighted as particularly important. First, establishing an administrative unit dedicated to sustainability and with a clear mandate from the university management is recognized as a success factor for coordinating sustainability efforts university-wide. Secondly, distributing responsibility across all levels of the university, with adequate resource support, is essential for embedding sustainability deeply within the university culture. The integration of sustainability at all educational levels, accompanied by support functions that create arenas for dialogue, collaboration and reflection is also seen as crucial. Opportunities for collaboration on sustainability issues across disparate fields of study is apparent e.g. due to the need for educating students on the key sustainability competencies which are generic in nature (as was discussed in Section 2). Thirdly, collaborative networks and inter-university partnerships, e.g. through "Round Table for Sustainable Development", facilitate the exchange of best practices, support curriculum enhancement, and connect stakeholders who are encouraged to translate research insights into practical applications. Finally, ensuring financial sustainability through collaborative funding sources is a recurring recommendation, as stable funding not only supports the continuity of individual projects but also strengthens the institution's long-term capacity for sustainable development.

In conclusion, this study offers a review of how five European universities translate international sustainability frameworks into actionable academic and operational practices. By documenting practices, common challenges, and actionable recommendations, this study provides inspiration for other HEIs worldwide, illustrating the potential role of higher education in promoting sustainability in society. The collective dedication demonstrated by these institutions highlights a promising path toward a sustainable and equitable future, where universities act as key agents of change, advancing knowledge, fostering innovation, and driving societal transformation on a global scale.

#### References

Bellina, L.; Tegeler, M. K.; Müller-Christ, G. & Potthast, T. (2020): Bildung für Nachhaltige Entwicklung (BNE) in der Hochschullehre. BMBF-Projekt "Nachhaltigkeit an Hochschulen: entwickeln – vernetzen –berichten (HOCHN)", Bremen und Tübingen, p. 24

BNE - Federal Ministry for Education and Research (n.d.): ESD for 2030 - Towards Achieving the SDGs. Retrieved from: https://www.bne-portal.de/bne/en/esd-for-2030/esd-for-2030\_node.html#:~:text=With%20the%20extended%20programme%2C%20UNESCO,oppo rtunities%20to%20practice%20balancing%20them. [06.02.2025]

Brundiers, K.; Barth, M.; Cebrián, G.; Cohen, M.; Diaz, L.; Doucette-Remington, S.; Dripps, W.; Habron, G.; Harré, N.; Jarchow, M.; Losch, K.; Michel, J.; Mochizuki, Y.; Rieckmann, M.; Parnell, R.; Walker, P. & Zint, M. (2021): Key Competencies in Sustainability in Higher Education-Toward an Agreed-Upon Reference Framework. Sustainability Science 16 (1), p. 13–29

Deutsche UNESCO-Kommission (DUK) (Eds.) (2022): UNESCO-Programm "BNE 2030". Bildung für nachhaltige Entwicklung. Retrieved August 10th, 2022.

Ferrer-Balas, D., Lozano, R., Huisingh, D., Buckland, H., Ysern, P., & Zilahy, G. (2010). Going beyond the rhetoric: system-wide changes in universities for sustainable societies. Journal of Cleaner Production, 18(7), 607-610.

Hochschule für nachhaltige Entwicklung (HNEE) (2021). Unser Leitbild Lehre. https://www.hnee.de/de/Hochschule/Leitung/Strategiepapiere/Strategiepapiere-K5829.htm

Leal Filho, W., Azeiteiro, U., Alves, F., Pace, P., Mifsud, M., Brandli, L., ... & Disterheft, A. (2018). Reinvigorating the sustainable development research agenda: the role of sustainable development goals (SDG). International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology, 25(2), 131-142.

Krah, J. M.; Reimann, J. & Molitor, H. (2021): Sustainability in Brandenburg Study Programs. Perspectives for Anchoring Sustainability in Higher Education Curricula. Sustainability 13 (7), p. 3958.

Lozano, R., Ceulemans, K., Alonso-Almeida, M., Huisingh, D., Lozano, F. J., Waas, T., ... & Hugé, J. (2015). A review of commitment and implementation of sustainable development in higher education: results from a worldwide survey. Journal of cleaner production, 108, 1-18.

Molitor, H.; Krah, J.; Reimann, J.; Bellina, L.; Bruns, A. (2024): Designing future-oriented curricula – a practical guide for the curricular integration of higher education for sustainable development. Working group "Sustainability at Brandenburg Universities" (Eds.), Eberswalde. https://doi.org/10.57741/opus4-811

Müller-Christ, G. & Weßling, W. (2007): Widerspruchsbewältigung, Ambivalenz- und Ambiguitätstoleranz. In: Müller-Christ, G; Arndt, L.; Ehnert, I. (Eds.): Nachhaltigkeit und Widersprüche. Lit, Münster, 2007.

National Action Plan On Education For Sustainable Development (NAP) (2017): National Action Plan On Education For Sustainable Development (NAP). Hg. v. Federal Ministry of Education and Research. National Platform Education for Sustainable Development (NAP). Online verfügbar unter https://www.bmbf.de/files/BMBF\_NAP\_BNE\_EN\_Screen.pdf.

Rieckmann, M., & Barth, M. (2022). Educators' competence frameworks in education for sustainable development. In Competences in education for sustainable development: Critical perspectives (pp. 19-26). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

Tilbury, D. (2011). Higher education for sustainability: a global overview of commitment and progress. Higher education in the world, 4(1), 18-28.

Wiek, A.; Bernstein, M. J.; Foley, R. W.; Cohen, M.; Forrest, N.; Kuzdas, C.; Kay, B. & Withycombe Keeler, L. (2016): Operationalising Competencies in Higher Education for Sustainable Development. In: Barth, M.; Michelsen, G.; Rieckmann, M. & Thomas, I. (Eds.): Routledge Handbook of Higher Education, p. 241–260.